					\
	30618				
+	National Library of Canada	Bibliothèque nationale du Canada .	CANADIAN THESES	TH ÈSES CANÀID IENNES SUR MICROF ICHE	
	• ·				•
			-		
	N	· · ·			
	, ,				
4					
	FAUTHOR/NON DE L	Roy James Bi	rckhead		
			regtion Of A Comm	unity Of Saints	`
TLE O	F THESIS/TITRE DE LA	THESE			
	. /	,		<u> </u>	
	,		<u></u>		
	SITY/UNIVERSITÉ	University Of	Alberta	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
GREE GRAD	FOR WHICH THESIS W E POUR LEQUEL CETT	AS MESENTED/ TE THESE FUT MESENTEE Ph 1			····-
EAR TH	IS DEGREE CONFERME	ED/ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE GI	ADE 1976	•	
			Regna Darnell		
			*		
erm i s	sion is hereby gra	nted to the NATIONAL LIBRAR	(OF L'autorisation ['] est, p	er la présente, accordée à la BIBL	<i>וסז</i> א ָצ ֿ-
	5	s thesis and to lend or sell co		I CANADA de microfilmer cette ti	h ë se et
fthe			•	e des exemplaires du film.	
		publication rights, and naither		les autres droits de publication	o: ni la
		ate from it may be printed or of	har- thèse oi de lonas ext	raits de calle-ci ne doivent être in	norimes
n os is		acts from it may be printed or of	-	raits de celle-ci ne doivent être in	
hesis		ects from it may be printed or of ne author's written permission.	-	raits de celle-ci ne doivent être in Its sans l'autorisation écrite de l'	
hesis vise n	aproduced without th	ne author's written permission.	ou autrement reprodu	its sans l'autorisation écrite de l'	
hesis vise n	aproduced without th		ou eutrement reprodu	its sans l'autorisation écrite de l'	
hesis Vise R DATED	eproduced without th /OATE <mark>22_ORt</mark>	he author's written permission. <u>1976 signed</u> / <i>signe</i>	ou ourrement reprodu	its sons l'autorisation écrite de l'a	
hesis vise m DATED	aproduced without th	ne author's written permission. <u>1976</u> signed/ <i>signe</i> enice fine Gentlemen C a	ou autrement reprodu	its sons l'autorisation écrite de l'a	

INFORMATION TO USERS

.

THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

This copy was produced from a microfiche copy of the original document. The quality of the copy is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

PLEASE NOTE: Some pages may have indistinct print. Filmed as received.

AVIS AUX USAGERS

LA THESE A ETE MICROFILMEE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS RECJE

Cette copie a été faite à partir d'une microfiche du document original. La qualité de la copie dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise pour le microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

NOTA BENE: La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer. Microfilmee telle que nous l'avons reçue.

Canadian Theses Division Cataloguing Branch National Library of Canada Ottawa, Canada KIA ON4

6

Division des thèses canadiennes Direction du catalogage Bibliothèque nationale du Canada Ottawa, Canada KIA CN4

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

TOWARD THE CREATION OF A COMMUNITY OF SAINTS



O

by

ROY JAMES BIRCKHEAD

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FOLFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

١

DEPARTMENT OF ANTHROPOLOGY

ŝ

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

A

FALL, 1976

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTE OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis edititled "Toward the Creation of A Community of Sgints" submitted by Roy James Birckhead in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

External Examiner

÷

ABSTRACT

\$

This thesis is an ethnographic study of ways in which members of an Appalachian serpent-handling church give meaning to their acts and create a sense of community and distinctive identity as "saints" and "apostles". Through analysis of myth-making, rites, and "accounting practices" an attempt is made to isolate the underlying, invariable rules of community membership. Four non-negotiable premises are isolated and examined as the basis from which the religion is generated and organized. In doing so, serpent-handlers' concepts, utilization, and management of supernatural power are examined and seen as central to community identity. A number of specific cases and examples are given.

iv

PREFACE

This thesis is an ethnographic study of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name in Carson Springs, Tennessee. This church, formed in 1969, has a fluctuating membership averaging abour fifty persons who commonly refer to one another as "saints", "apostles", "snake or serpenthandlers", God's people", or "Holiness people". The church is one of abour 35 independent Pentecostal-Holiness congrega-² tions in Appalachia, the "Deep South", and the Midwestern United States which handle poisonous snakes and fire and drink poisons as routine features of worship.

Since the beginning of the religion in about 1909, 25 to 35 members have died from snakebites or poison, and many others have been bitten by snakes. Two members of The Holiness church Of God In Jesus Name died of strychnine consumed during a church service on April 7, 1973. Despite injury and death from these causes and and concomitant legal difficulties, the religion, as a whole, appears to be growing in numbers of participants and of independent churches, contrary to predictions of its imminent demise made by writers in the 1960's and early 1970's (e.g., La Barre 1962a). Since 1973, three new, independent congregations with 20 to 100 members have been formed by former participants of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name.

1 See Appendix I for Serpent-Handling Lexicon.

This research was prompted by a desire to make sense of a religion that to outsiders seems bisarre, incomprehensible, or irrational. Initially, I sought to explain serpenthandling by viewing it as an acculturative response to the rapid industrialization and resultant shifts of population in Appalachia from farme towns, company towns, and rekhead 1971, 1972). From this urban industria perspective I tries to determine whether "cult" participation was functional or dysfunctional for its members. I abandoned this attempt, as the issue of functional versus dysfunctional significance appeared to impose on the religion an arbitrary simplicity and uniformity that obscured important aspects of its practice. Moreover, it soon became apparent that a study with these goals would be very difficult to do. Ny task " would have been to examine the lives of all members and, on this basis, judge whether participation for each person was functionally positive or negative, a procedure which inevitably would involve value judgments and would have no bearing on many other questions one might ask regarding the religious behavior of these people.

In all of my field research with the group I have tried to examine behavior from the perspective of the actor. I participated in a wide range of formal and informal rites and other events of the group. By this means I was able to collect and systematize a lexicon of terms peculiar to the group, note rules of procedure as applied in various contexts, and gain an idea of the ways in which members made sense of their behavior. My principal aim was to understand the motivating concerns of the saints and the principles underlying their actions. Their religion centers upon a belief in supernatural power. The centrality of this idea is reflected in their lexicon, rules, rites, social organization, eschatology, and decision-making, controversies, leadership, folklore and is integral to their everyday experiences. The chapters which follow present a detailed interpretation following this line of thought.

I have not disguised the names ints or their geographical locations for two reasons. The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Hame has received so much publicity since the strychnine deaths of two members that it would be virtually impossible to disguise the group effectively. Two popular > books (Pelton and Carden 1974, 1976), a video tape production (Barrett 1973), television documentaries, an educational film, a number of radio and television interviews, and innumerable newspaper articles have been produced on this church. Disguising the location of the group is unnecessary since its members do not ordinarily attempt to conceal their practices from the public at large. On the whole, members are more than willing to present the gospel to a wider audience than fellow saints and often take pride in doing so. In part, a saint's validation of status is achieved through "witnessing" to non-believers. Failure on my part to acknowledge the often

artful opel productions of members would, I think be doing them a disservice. As recognized by Goldstein (1964:58): ". . . the collector must remember that his informants have egos not unlike his own, and that they may achieve great satisfaction in knowing that their names and contributions are recorded in print". I have tried to use discretion, or have not used at all, material that I regard as "sensitive", private, or potentially disruptive to the community. It is my sincere hope that to the members of the church, this account is accurate and inoffensive.

For fear of overstatement, I feel constrained to qualify my statement that this account describes the saints and their behaviors from their own point of view. For brief 'periods I was sometimes able to shed my ordinary assumptions and views of the world but, of course, I did not become a saint in the sense of seeing the world through the "spiritual mind" or experiencing an infusion of power. From the perspective of the saints, then, this study suffers from inherent limitations since I have no personal knowledge of certain experiences important to them. I am aware also that my account reflects the tension between my perspectives as a participant in community life and as an anthropologist who must make some theoretical sense of his subjects of study, and I trust that saints as well as fellow anthropologists will understand the problems of attempting to translate one . conceptual system into the logic and terminology of another.

9

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study could never have been completed without the help and cooperation of many individuals.

Drs. Michael Asch, Regna Darnell, C. Roderick Wilson, and David Young served on the study and dissertation committee and provided guidance and intellectual stimulation throughout the course of this project. Dr. Edward Norbeck of Rice University and Dr. Robert Papen of College St. Jean willingly served as my external examiners. I especially appreciate Dr. Norbeck's excellent editorial suggestions and substantive criticisms. Drs. Harold Barclay, Allen Carlson, and Anthony L. Vanek also contributed.

I ove special thanks to Dr. Regna Darnell, thesis director, friend, graduate advisor, and creative anthropologist. The specific focus and approach of the study emerged largely from my seminars, reading courses, and conversations over tea with her.

I thank fellow researchers Dr. Nathan Gerrard, Louise Gerrard, Steven Kane, Dr. Kirk Elifson, Peggy Tripp, Deborah Levy, Kevin Miller, Dr. Ellen Stekert; and writers, Robert Pelson and Karen Carden for generously sharing ideas, news clippings, photographs, or unpublished manuscripts and papers.

Additionally, I thank a number of close friends in the South and in Alberta for their encouragement and support and

4 -

for sharing the joys and sorrows of fieldwork and thesis writing with me.

Of course, I appreciate the patience, friendship, hospitality, and help given by the members of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, and of the other churches that I visited. The late Reverend Jimmy Williams, Nary Kate Williams, the late Reverend Buford Pack, Reverend Alfred Ball, Eunice Ball, Brother Liston Pack, Nellie Pack, Gene Pack, Lester Ball, Ralph and Bea Eslinger, Jackie Eslinger, Reverend Clyde Ricker, Bob and Barb Fraley, Paul Stidham, Floyd McCall, Robert and Agnes Grooms, and many others deserve special mention.

I am grateful to Wendy Walker-Birckhead for introducing me to ethnomethodology, editing innumerable manuscripts, providing insight and criticism, and for her loving support and patience throughout the difficult months of writing.

Finally, I dedicate this thesis to my grandfather, Roy Birckhead, whose many questions, long term interest, and faith helped sustain the project from its inception.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

)

.

.

CHAPTER		PAGE
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	THE THEORETICAL PROBLEM	1
	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	9
	DATA COLLECTION	18
	CHAPTER CONCLUSION	22
11.	HISTORIES OF SERPENT-HANDLING	24
	THE ORIGIN AND DEVELOPMENT OF SERPENT-	
	HANDLING: A CONCEPTUAL PERSPECTIVE FROM	
	RELIGIOUS HISTORY	25
	THE ORIGINS AND DIFFUSION OF SERPENT-	
	HANDLING	33
	A MEMBERS' HISTORY OF SERPENT-HANDLING	43
	CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS	52
III.	THE HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD IN JESUS NAME	
	DOCUMENTARY PRACTICES, ORIGIN, AND DEVELOPMENT	54
	DOCUMENTARY PRACTICES	55
	THE ORIGIN AND EARLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE	
	HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD IN JESUS NAME	76
	THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD	
	IN JESUS NAME 1970 TO THE PRESENT	87
•	CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS	98

l 1

۰, ۱

CHAPTER

· PAGE

232

CHAPTER	٩	PAGE
	WHEN SIGNS FAIL	239
	ANALYSIS AND CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS	278
IX.	SUMMARY AND CONSLUSIONS	291
REFERENCE	ES CITED	300
APPENDIC	ES	314
	APPENDIX I: A SERPENT-HANDLING LEXICON	315
	APPENDIX II: SELECTED SOCIO-ECONOMIC CHARACTER-	
	ISTICS, COCKE COUNTY, TENNESSEE	
	(U.S. CENSUS, 1970)	321
VITA		326

4

,

.

6

-1

.

• **xiii**

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		PAGE
.I	YEARS OF SCHOOL COMPLETED, COCKE COUNTY,	
`	(RURAL NON-FARM)	322
II	MANUFACTURING IN COCKE COUNTY, TENNESSEE	323
III	PROFESSIONAL AND WHITE COLLAR EMPLOYMENT,	•
,	COCKE COUNTY, 1970	324
IV	INCOME OF ALL FAMILIES, COCKE COUNTY, 1970.	325

•

٠

.

ł

V

.

.

.

xiv

.

۰.

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE		PAGE
I	DIVERSITY OF OPERATIONS (ADMINISTRATIONS)	181
. 11	IDEAL FEATURES FOR THE ACQUISITION OF	
	ANOINTING POWER	189
· 111	DECISION-MAKINGSERPENT-BITE DEATH	283
IV	HEDGE IS BROKEN	285
v -	DECISION-MAKINGSERPENT-BITE, WITHOUT INJURY	287

e.

7

xv

۲

.1

.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

THE THEORETICAL PROBLEM

The handling of serpents by members of modern religious sects of the United States rests upon the belief that participants gain access to supernatural power, as described in the Bible. The religion's lexicon, rules, rites, social organizations, and folklore all reflect the centrality of a belief in supernatural power useful in human life. Through analysis of the myths, rites, and "accounting" practices of one of these sects, this study presents an interpretation of the ways in which members give meaning to their acts and create a sense of community and distinctive identity as saints and apostles.

My approach is primarily ethnographic. Ethnography as conceptualized here departs from the traditional textbook definition of ". . . a descriptive account of customs of a group of people" (Aceves 1974:5). Rather, following the work of Frake (1961, 1964a, 1964b, 1972), Goodenough (1956, 1961, 1963, 1964, 1965) Hymes (1964, 1969, 1972, 1973), Spradley (1970, 1972), Spradley and McCurdy (1975), Sturtevant (1964), Tyler (1962), and Wallace (1962). I conceive ethnography as being a theoretic-analytic enterprise that may be

seen as a ". . . legitimate end in itself" (Quinn 1975:22, after Goodenough 1956:37). A description follows of the main assumptions and procedures of ethnographic analysis as used in this study.

First, following Goodenough (1964:11), a distinction is made between ". . . the phenomenal order of observed events and the regularities they exhibit", and "the ideational order . . . of ideal forms as they exist in people's minds." Furthermore, ". . . as an organization of past experience, the ideational order is a means for organizing and interpreting new experience" (Ibid.). This insight has considerable importance for ethnographic analysis as, ". . . the phenomenal order of a community, its characteristic 'way of life' is an artifact of the ideational order of its members" (Ibid., p. 12). Goodenough (1964:11) also notes the confusion that results when anthropologists neglect to distinguish between the two orders. Traditional ethnographies often remain at the level of classifying and ordering observed events within the phenomenal realm. Keeping this distinction in mind, the goals of ethnography can be delineated further.

Second, the purpose of ethnography is to probe "... beneath the complexity of observed events to seek the underlying invariances" (Keesing 1971:37). The concern, here, is with rules or knolwedge that explain and/or organize surface diversity of the phenomenal world. Thus, the ethnographer (Frake 1964b:132):

... seeks to describe an infinite set of variable messages as manifestations of a finite shared code, the code being a set of rules for the socially appropriate construction and interpretation of messages (socially interpretable acts and artifacts).

Third, Frake goes on to posit that the purpose of ethnography is interpretation rather than prediction. He (<u>Ibid.</u>, p. 133) concludes that:

The model of an ethnographic statement is not: 'if a person is confronted with stimulus X, he will do Y,' but 'if a person is `in situation X, performance Y will be judged appropriate by native actors'.

To describe a culture, then, is not to recount the events of a society but to specify what one must know to make those events maximally probable. The problem is not to state what someone did but to specify the conditions under which it is culturally appropriate to anticipate that he, or persons occupying his role, will render an equivalent performance.

To reiterate then, in this study I am differentiating between observed behavior and underlying knowledge and, making that distinction, I am interested in the dynamic interrelationship between underlying principles and behavior. My specific emphasis is on member's ongoing making sense and interpretations of the meaning of social interactions.

The definitions and conceptions of ethnography delineated here have been derived largely from cognitive anthropology (or ethnoscience). A goal of ethnoscience is to arrive at members' meanings (get inside their heads--Frake 1964b:133) through an examination of folk terminological systems, or to discern how ". . . people construe their world of experience from the way they talk about it" (Frake 1972:192). My approach is not primarily cognitive. As traditionally conceived, ethnoscience proves to be a static enterprise unable to account for "what the natives do" (Murphy 1971:162) as opposed to what they say they do. It is unable also to account for intra-cultural diversity, for individuals' variable uses of terms in various contexts, and for the variable and non-referential meanings of terms themselves (what Keesing--1972:314--calls "the slippery problem of polysemy"). As conceived of here, ethnoscience poses the basic questions for ethnographic analysis, but lacks effective methods for providing adequate answers.¹

In analyzing the data of this study ethnoscientific techniques were employed as a starting point. Specifically, I isolated and delineated lexical items within the semantic domain of supernatural power. This demonstrated the saliency of the domain and provided some insight into the underlying organizing principles of the religion. However, the approach did not provide vocabulary or concepts to deal with what I came to see as the central problem of this study--i.e., the emergence of meaning from ongoing interaction.

My interest, 'then, is in the dynamic, creative aspects of community life, which can be isolated through the analysis of interaction (both spoken and non-spoken). This view is conceptualised largely from the ethnography of communications,

¹Por further exposition of the pros, cons, and conceptual bases of athnoscience, see Berreman (1966), Birckhead (1974), Burling (1964), Colby (1966), and Harris (1968).

transformational-generative linguistics, and ethnomethodology. My central proposition is that community and social order are to be viewed as "emergent, problematic, and to be discovered" (Hymes 1973:36) rather than as non problematic and unitary (all of a kind) phenomena. To lend emphasis to the processes of community creation and maintenance, I refer to the serpenthandling group as a "community of saints" rather than as the more static concepts of cult, sect, and church.

The designation, "community of saints", is derived primarily from the notion of "the speech community" (Bauman and Sherser 1974; Gumperz 1964, 1972; Hymes 1964, 1972). The focus is on members' ". . . production and interpretation of socially appropriate speech" (Bauman and Sherzer 1974:6) and, by extension, behavior in general, vis-a-vis "ground rules". By definition, such a community is seen as "an organization of diversity" (<u>Ibid.</u>, Wallace 1961:27-28).²

In focusing on community ground rules, or on the ideational invariances that underlie social interaction, I itake Chomskyan transformational-generative linguistics as a reference point. Chomsky's (1957) concepts of "abstract structures underlying things people actually said (deep structure)" (Darnell and Vanek, ms) and of generativeness are particularly relevant. As conceptualized by Chomsky (1957) regarding speech, the grammar of a language is capable of

"as discussed in Chapter V, I take the designation "speech community" as being redundant. Thus, the definitions given by Hymes et al. provide a definition of the community in general

generating an infinite set of sentences.^{3,4} In borrowing from this model, I am dealing with generativeness at the level of the interacting community rather than of the individual, and am concerned with the abstract knolwedge of community members rather than with speech production alone.

By selectively applying Chomsky's model, I hope to emphasize the generative-creative aspects of the community, and to provide a dynamic for fully realizing the goals of ethnographic analysis (as previously outlined). Specifically, I will isolate what I consider to be the four underlying, non-negotiable propositions of the religion from which behavior and members' interpretations of behavior are derived and/or generated. As discussed in Chapter VIII, I conceive these as shared knowledge, "incorrigible propositions" (Gasking 1955:432, and Mehan and Wood 1975:9-10), or invariable assumptions (following Labov's--1972--invariable rules).⁵

³Lyons (1970:43) notes that ". . . Chomsky has continually warned us against identifying the 'production' of sentences within the grammar with the production of sentences by the speaker of a language".

⁶Generative grammar can be criticized on many levels. Nost notably, context variables are often not accounted for in its applications (Darmell 1972; Darmell and Vanek, ms.). Also, many ethnographic applications of the model have been based on inaccurate knowledge of its premises (keesing 1972).

⁵An "incorrigible proposition is one which you would never admit to be false whatever happens . . ." (Gasking 1955: 432, in Mehan and Wood 1975:9-10). In looking at invariable assumptions (assumptions that are taken as the non-negotiable basis of group membership) I am contrasting these with variable rules (Labov 1972) or, "sptional rules" (Darnell 1972:10) that are negotiable during interaction.

where supernatural power apparently fails, I will show how (from the four abstract propositions) saints may construct a seemingly limitless number of logical interpretations.

7

In looking at members' making sense of unfolding interaction, I am applying a number of concepts from ethnomethodology. Although applications of this perspective are ordinarily restricted to micro analysis of conversation in highly bounded or experimental settings in Western urban society, I am suggesting that aspects of this approach are useful to an understanding of how members construct meaning through interaction.

Ethnomethodology focuses on how ". . . commonplace (everyday, taken-for-granted) activities are characterized by an implicit order that emerges during the course of interaction and the activity itself" (Churchill 1971:103).⁶ Specifically, interaction is seen as: ". . . activity that accomplishes a sense of an external world. Neaning is viewed as ceaseless sensuous, activity" (Neehan and Wood 1975:5). What is of interest is the ways in which members go ". . . about the task of seeing, describing, and explaining order in the world in which they live" (Simmerman and Wieder 1970:289),

Ľ

[&]quot;Ethnomethodology developed within traditional sociology as a reaction to that discipline's penchant toward "normative theory" (Neehan and Wood 1975:96) in which meaning and social order were viewed as stable features that exist independent of social interaction (Ibid., p. 5) or, as ". . . a monolithic system that settles down and around persons, ever giving them directions for estime" (Eismerman and Wieder 1970:297). In effect, ethnomethodology can be seen as a "sociology of sociology"

so as to make that world ". . . visibly-rational-and-reportablefor-all practical purposes, i.e., 'accountable' (Garfinkel 1967:vii). (Garfinkel sometimes refers to this as "accounting practices").

My emphasis, consistent with these purposes, is on members' use of speech in making evident the significant features of their environment (notably their beliefs concerning the reality and efficacy of supernatural power). Speech viewed in this way can be seen as being "reflexive" (Garfinkel 1967). Churchill (1971:185) posits that: Reflexivity refers to the social activities whereby members create and maintain the very situations in which they at the same time act^{*}.⁷ Speech use viewed as reflexive is also seen as being "indexical" (Garfinkel 1967) or situated. In other words, meaning is not derived from dictionary usage, but derives from the situation, for the purposes at hand, viz-avis members' shared knowledge.

The specific focus with respect to serpent-handlers is on ways in which members accomplish the "facticity"⁸ of

⁷Regarding reflexivity, "each particular act refers to a greater whole or context of which it is a part, thereby constituting it while at the same time the whole or context reflects back onto the act or part as the context in terms of which the act has meaning" (Shearing 1973:13).

⁸Gatfinkel (1967) uses this term a number of times without actually defining it. The sense in which it is used

۰.

As implied above, ethnomethodology can be criticized on a number of theoretical and methodological grounds. See, for example, American Sociological Review (1968:122-130), and Mayrl (1973:15-28).

their religion through ". . . their efforts at detecting, counting, recording, analyzing, and reporting on events in . that setting" (Eimmerman and Wieder 1970:290). This study will focus on those events in which supernatural power is manifested and on members γ' organization of those experiences. Following from this, I will look at a wide variety of activities, including sermons, singing, testimonies, formal teaching, everyday conversations, rites, etc.. What is of particular interest here is members' practices for making a number of the religion's facets accountable and, in doing so, creating and sustaining the facticity of supernatural power. Throughout the study numerous detailed examples of members' accounting practices will be presented. Although many of the examples might on superficial examination seem anectdotal, they are cited as representative, nevertheless, of the interactional work of serpent-handlers.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Until relatively recently, journalists and popular writers seemed more interested in serpent-handling than did social scientists. Newspaper articles on the religion date from at least the 1930's, and fictionalized accounts of serpenthandling are provided in books by Risley (1930) and, Preece and Kraft (1946). Kerman (1942), Callahan (1952), Robertson

Q

by ethnomethodologists is conveyed in the following excerpt: "It is not so much a faith about a fact in the world as a faith in the facticity of the world itself" (Mehan and Wood 1975:9).

(1950), Thomas (1942), and Womeldorf (1947) present journalistic descriptions of serpent-handling services; as do early articles in Life Magazine (1944), <u>Saturday Evening Post</u> (1957), and <u>Time</u> Magazine (1945), 1947, 1947). Many of the above works, as well as numerous newspaper reports on the religion, are biased and inaccurate--more often than not sensationalizing the religion. A notable exception to this is J. B. Collins' (1947) <u>Tennessee Snake Handlers</u>, which presents a low-keyed journalistic account of serpent-handling at The Dolley Pond Church of God With Signs Following, near Grasshopper, Tennessee. More recently, popular works by Campbell (1974), Dickinson and Benziger (1974), <u>Foxfire</u> (1973), Holliday (1968) and Pelton and Carden (1974, 1976) present a relatively accurate descriptive picture of serpent-handling.

i.

Serpent-handling is first dealt with in the scientific literature by Sargant (1949); 1957). Sargant views some of the religion's emotional aspects as "cultural group abreactive techniques" that compare in significant ways with contemporary psychotherapy techniques.

Berthold E. Schwarz, N.D. (1960) published the first scholarly article dealing specifically with the religion. He focuses on serpent-handlers' physiological responses to various "ordeals" of the religion (serpent and fire handling, and poison consumption). While Schwarz's findings are not conclusive, a number of provocative hypotheses are raised concerning participants' apparent immunity to snakebite,

applications of fire, and poison. In addition, this research, based on fieldwork, provides a good descriptive overview of the beliefs and practices of the religion.

Weston La Barre (1962a) in They Shall Take Up Serpents Psychology Of The Southern Snake-Handling Cult (and in two articles 1962b, 1964) provides the first anthropological approach to the religion. La Sarre views serpent-handling as an acculturative response to the rapid industrialization of the rural south. La Barre's theoretical position derives largely from Freudian Psychology and Devereaux's concept of do not deal with stress objetively and in their inapposite attempts at coping, ". . . only exacerbate the stress and create new difficulties" (La Barre 1962a: 171). Based on extensive Freudian cross-cultural interpretation of the significance of the snake as a phallic symbol, La Barre pesity that, in conquering the serpent, "cult" members are attemptive to symbolically deal with repressed libido problems. Aside from problems of psychological reductionism (see Birckhead 1970, 1971, 1972, 1975), the studies contribute less than they might, as La Barre's work is based on newspaper accounts, second hand observations, and an apparently superficial psychiatric interview of one informant rather than on any extensive fieldwork. The primary contribution of La Barre's book (1962a) is that it draws together heretofore unorganized historical data, and outlines the legal difficulties encounterest

1.1

by a serpent-handling group in Durham, North Carolina. This well written and provocative book has generated considerable research interest in serpent-handling and continues to serve as one of the basic references in this research area.

Folklorist Ellen J. Stekert (1963) deals with the impact of serpent-handling religion on traditional secular folk genres. Although serpent-handlers reject traditional märchen, singing, and dancing as sinful, Stekert suggests that folklorists focus on new genres that are developing around the feats and practices of the religion. Stekert sees the church as a positive means in peoples' coping with the encroachments of the outside world as it ". . . helps members to cope with the humiliation of their past as well as the confusion of the present" (Stekert 1963:321). This brief article is more programatic than conclusive, pointing out future research concerns.

Alice L. Cobb (1965) provides a relatively detailed view of religion's role in preserving "conservative mores of isolated rural people" (Cobb 1965:1). Based on her thirty years of experience in Pine Mountain Community, Kentucky, she includes some details of serpent-handling at The Pine Mountain Church of God. Cobb's theoretical perspective is derived from sociological concepts of the church-sect typology, Gemeinschaft/Gesellschaft orientations, and manifest/latent function. On the whole, Cobb's work is of little relevance to the present study. However, Cobb provides some particularly

pertinent material in her discussion of "surface norms" as opposed to "deeper norms" or "deep knowledge" (<u>Ibid</u>., p. 154). Although she does not develop these ideas fully, she equates "deep knowledge" with the underlying shared "religious attitude" (<u>Ibid</u>., p. 169) or "primitive morality" (ibid) of the community. In other words: "There is something on Mutton (Creek) that holds onto a man and his family. It is a thing everybody knows without knowing" (Ibid., p. 4). Cobb's study leaves many questions unanswered, but it poses and attempts to deal with important concerns. Her clear description, historical data, and longitudinal perspective on a community is invaluable.

Sociologist Nathan L. Gerrard and his wife Louise B. Gerrard studied a West Virginia serpent-handling congregation for some ten years. Proceeding from a sociological and psychological functionalist approach, the Gerrards administered the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory to serpent-handlers at Scrabble Creek and to members of a middle class congregation in the same area. The Gerrards conclude that the serpent-handlers fared somewhat better with respect to depressive symptomatology than did their counterparts in the conventional church. Serpent-handlers are seen also as being more spontaneous, ". . . more exhititionalistic, excitable, and pleasure-oriented . . . and . . . less controlled by considerations of conformity to the general culture, particularly middle class culture" (Gerrard 1966d:56). Gerrard also presents a critique of La Barre's work (1966b, 1968, 1971,

Gerrard, Tellegen and Butcher 1969), and Louise Gerrard provides an excellent description of services at Scrabble Creek (Gerrard 1966a).

Anthropologist Steven M. Kane (a student of La Barre) wrote an M.A. Thesis (1973) on serpent-handling as well as a paper (1974) and two articles (1974, 1974). Besides providing historical and descriptive data on the religion, Kane focuses primarily on "spirit possession" and physiological explanations for the thaumaturgical feats of the church. Kane's work relies heavily on the literature of trance and possession states. He is currently working on a Doctoral Dissertation at Princeton University, based on extensive fieldwork with West Virginia serpent-handlers (Kane, 1974, personal conversation).

Historian Paul R. L. Vance wrote an M.A. Thesis (1975) on the history of serpent-handling in Georgia, North Alabama, and Southeastern Tennessee. Although this study is not theoretical, Vance provides impressive evidence to counter the view posited by La Barre (1962a) and most other writers, that all early occurances of serpent-handling can be linked to the activities of George Went Hensley (the religion's alleged founder). In addition, Vance fills in gaps in the historical record and corrects many of the inaccuracies that persist in the literature.

The work of sociologists Kirk W. Elifson and Peggy S. Tripp is of particular interest to the present study. Tripp (1975) wrote an M.A. Thesis analyzing serpent-handlers as a

57

deviant subculture, from an interactionist perspective. Kirk Elifson (Tripp's thesis advisor) collaborated in the research on a church near Atlanta, Georgia. Elifson and Tripp (1975, 1975) also presented two primarily descriptive papers on their work. They are currently working on a book (1976) which further explicates the perspective developed in Tripp's thesis. Elifson and Tripp focus on serpent-handlers' perceptions of persecution in terms of labeling theory, deviant identity, and boundary maintenance. Their perspective and methodology are largely sociological, relying heavily on formal interview schedule's. They provide useful interpretive material on the belief system of the church and on various mitigating factors that explain the low rate of injury and death from snakebite.

In conclusion, a number of researchers have examined selected aspects of serpent-handling utilizing various theoretical perspectives. With the exceptions of Tripp (1975) and Elifson and Tripp (1976) (and perhaps Cobb 1965), studies of serpent-handling have focused primarily on either the sociological or psychological functions of participation in the religion; or, on the psycho-physical dimension of the trance and possession states experienced by participants. Much of the research on serpent-handling is narrow in focus, dealing primarily with bounded ritual performances, such as serpent-handling or glossolalia. The religion as a

socio-cultural system has been neglected.9

In relation to the specific concerns of this study, the literature of serpent-handling provides little insight into how saints deal with what, to the outside observer, constitute disconfirmations of their ideal claims about the efficacy of supernatural power. Most studies make only passing reference to how serpent-handlers account for injury or death by snakebite and/or poison. Nathan Gerrard (1968:23), for example, notes that ". . . for their part, the serpent-handlers say the Lord causes a snake to strike in order to refute scoffers' claims that the snakes' fangs have been pulled". He further notes that each death is interpreted ". . . as a sign that the Lord, 'really had to show the scoffers how dangerous it is to obey His commandments". Or, Berthold E. Schwarz, M.D. (1960:412) states that, ". . . when a bitten members suffers complications or dies, it is because 'he didn't have enough faith'". Ellen Stekert (1963:412) observes that: "If a person does get hurt, it is explained away by the fact that his 'faith lapsed' for a moment." Weston La Barre (1962a:12, 41, 45, 49) provides three rationales given by informants: in one case of serpent-bite the man who was bitten was denounced as a "blackslider"; in another case, it was explained that believers should be bitten to test their power-the rationale being that the "'power' in them was demonstrated

⁹ In addition to the above sources, serpent-handling is dealt with summarily by a number of writers. See Birckhead (1972) for detailed discussion of these minor references.

by their not subsequently dying from the bite"; and, lastly, when the alleged founder of the "cult", George Hensley, died of snakebite in 1955, people felt that he was ". . . doing the right thing in giving his life to God".

The image provided in the above accounts portrays a "replication of uniformity" rather than an "organization of diversity" (Wallace 1961:27-29). Little or no account is given of the variability and range of explanations or of the processes employed by members to construct, elaborate one, or change their accounts. Also, context, actor, or the purposes at hand are not accounted for. In these examples, what serpent-handlers do in cases of injury or death is presented as unproblematic, predictable, simply generalizable, and as ". . . stable and finite 'things'" (Mehan and Wood 1975:75).¹⁰

More recently Steven M. Kane (1974:260) provides a more complete account of how saints deal with the meaning of signs that fail:

Many snake-handlers interpret complications or death from snake bite as evidence that the victim 'didn't have enough faith' or was 'out of the will of the Lord'. Others see snake bite as an indication that a devotee failed to 'wait on the anointing' and attempted to handle 'in the flesh' rather than 'in the spirit'. A South Carolina brother offered yet another explanation: 'If no one ever got bit, what kind of a sign would serpent-handling be?' The Lord sometimes lets the snakes bite to show unbelievers that we don't pull their teeth or milk the poison out of them'.

¹⁰ It is unfair, perhaps, to criticize the above writers for their handling of members' accounts as their works were either very general or dealing with specific theories that had little or no concern with accounts or interaction. The point that this has been neglected in the literature remains valid, nonetheless.

Although Kane provides reasons similar to those given above, he implicitly recognizes the variability of interpretations.-As well, Elifson and Tripp (1976:21-32), and freelance writers Pelton and Carden (1974, 1976) record some of serpent-handlers variable explanations for death or injury.

Even though the above writers recognize variability in accounts they do not provide data on how accounts are arrived at or negotiated in social situations or, of the underlying rules that accounts are generated from. Accounting is presented as a stable accomplishment. That ". . . meanings in everyday life are bound to context and personal history" (Mehan and Wood 1975:66) is not accounted for in these attempts to ascertain the meanings snakebite, etc. have for members. As well as ignoring important theoretical concerns, the above writers, for the most part, restrict their concern to dramatic cases involving death or injury, neglecting mention of the ongoing problem of members' everyday management of supernatural power. This study addresses itself to some of these gaps in the scientific literature on serpent-handling.

DATA COLLECTION

Data for this study were collected through participantobservation at The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name (Newport, Tennessee) during the summers of 1971 and 1972, the fall of 1972, various periods in the spring, summer, and fall of 1973; and in the late fall of 1974. Additional information

was obtained at serpent-handling meetings at Tots (1966), Pine Mountain, Lond, and Middlesboro, Kentucky; Brevard and Marshall, North Carolina; Greenville, South Carolina; Morristown, Tennessee; and, Bit Stone Gap, Virginia. Total time spent in the field was approximately twelve months. I attended over one hundred services, as well as three baptisms, one funeral, a tent revival, a church homecoming, "dinner on the grounds", "special singing services", a wedding in a member's home, prayer services in saints' homes, and a number of church radio broadcasts (in the studio).¹¹ During this time, I witnessed only three incidents of serpent-bite. I also observed poison drinking, fire handling, exorcism, glossolalia, Divine healing, foot washing and the "Lord's supper", interpretation of tongues, serpent-exchange, etc..

Much of the data in this study derive from close involvement with saints outside of formal church services. This type of involvement included: participation in two court hearings concerning the church; being present at impromptu serpent-handling in homes, along roadsides, or during serpent exchanges; accompanying saints on church visitations to other states; living with one family for short periods of time, as well, staying overnight in a number of other homes; participating in picnics, fishing trips, special dinners, helping with farm

Fundamentalist churches in Victoria, British Columbia; Edmonton, Alberta; St. Louis, Missouri; Wolf Creek and Rock, Kentucky; and in Cookeville, Mashville, Knoxcille, and Wolfs town, Tennessee were visited also in order to better understand the larger tradition of which serpent-handling is part

chores, a shopping trip with sisters in the church, accompanying saints to plants and warehouses where they were employed, and travelling with the pastor on some long distance truck runs.

Throughout the periods of fieldwork, I attempted to arrive at a participants view of their religion. I participated as fully as possible with saints under natural circumstances but did not force interaction. On the whole, my stance as a fieldworker was low-keyed and unobtrusive. My interest was to observe "front" as well as "back stage" interaction (Goffman 1959). As my knowledge of appropriate speech and behavior increased, I became a partial member of the community with access to the most personal of back stage realities. I was often seen as a "safe" confidant and given access to private knowledge that was not be shared with others in the church and, of course, not with the outside world.¹² Saints usually referred to me as "Brother Jimmy" and mometimes indicated in testimony or everyday conversations that I was , considered a member of the group. Saints did not exert overt pressure on me to be converted as is sometimes the fate of researchers of fundamentalist religion. When saints at other churches attempted to covert me, saints would say simply, that "this is Brother Jimmy from Alberto, (sic) Canada, he's studying . . . and visits a lot of churches". At no time during the fieldwork did I handle serpents or engage in any other

¹²In this study, highly sensitive or very personal information is either not presented or disguised.

.
thaumaturgical act that validated one's status as saint. I was viewed by many in the church as a "brother" and a friend, but at² no time as a saint.

In the field I had the opportunity to observe reporters, film makers, and researchers eliciting information from church members. This reinforced my position that direct questioning, alone, is inadequate in arriving at accurate insights into ongoing social process. Answers given to such questions often consisted of, consciously or unconsciously constructed, statements of "official" reality. Adequate data on how members negotiate their social scenes can be collected only by painstaking observation of a wide range of situations, noting the intersection of ideal reality with actual behavior and back stage commentary. Saints' maxim that ". . . you have to pay the price" is guite accurate with regard to fieldwork. Fieldwork is built on that, obligation, and reciprocity. Superficial relationships with "informants" tends to beget superficial and inadequate data. There are no shortcuts in this regard when working with serpent-handlers. I have seen a number of interviewers fail because they attempted to push people too fast, or in general acted inappropriately. It was instructive to observe the depth of information available when one is involved in the community as opposed to what is presented to the superficial observer.

I also conducted a number of informal interviews, some of which were tape recorded. Selected church services and

church radio broadcasts were also recorded. Brother Ralph Eslinger provided me with additional cassette recordings that he had made of a number of services and radio broadcasts over a six month period. Liston Pack gave me a fiveminute sound film (produced by United Press International) dealing with the strychnine deaths in the church. Alfred Ball, the late Jimmy Williams, Liston Pack, Ralph Eslinger, and Floyd McCall (Greenville, South Carolina) willingly allowed us to view their scrapbook collections. Also, I corresponded with some members of the church and continue to receive news clippings, posters, and current information.

Considerable background and historical data utilized in this study were collected at a number of libraries and archives, and through inter-library loan. Historical data were obtained at the Church of God Archives (Cleveland, Tennessee) and at the Archives of the Chattanooga Public Library. Useful background material was obtained from the Council of The Southern Mountains Bookstore and at the personal library of Dr. Nathan Gerrard (Charleston, West Virginia). Research was also conducted at a number of university, and public libraries.

CHAPTER CONCLUSION

This study does not purport to be a comprehensive study of serpent-handling in general or of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name in particular. Rather, following

- 7

From the theoretical approach outlined in this chapter, only selected aspects of the religious community will be Examined. The study will now proceed by examining "Histories Of Serpent-Handling".

CHAPTER II

HISTORIES OF SERPENT-HANDLING

In looking at the religion's past, two contrastive modes of historical methodology are available. The development of serpent-handling can be seen as analyzed by historians, anthropologists, and students of religion. In this academic mode of reckoning history, events are placed in strict chronological sequence, i.e., with "'one thing after another' in linear progression and with equal weight given to each <code>stretch</code> or unit" (Pruyser 1968:215). Pruyser terms this mode of analysis, "chronos". The "chronos" pproach, may be contrasted with what Pruyser identifies as a "kairos" orientation to time and the past. Specifically, "kairos" represents ". . . time seen as opportunity, event, fullness, turning point, crisis, or occasion for celebration" (ibid.), rather than as formal chronological progression. As will be demonstrated, "kairos" represents members' mode of time reckoning in a serpent-handling congregation.

In recording a history of serpent-handling, both modes of apprehending time are important, and complementary. This chapter will trace the general history of serpent-handling as recorded in the literature and as recounted by members of The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name. In developing the folk notion of serpent-handling's past the emphasis is on members'

historical stories. Through contrasting the two approaches to history, the notion of history-making as a resource will be developed.

THE ORIGIN AND DEVELOPMENT OF SERPENT-HANDLING.

A CONCEPTUAL PERSPECTIVE FROM RELIGIOUS HISTORY

Publications on the history of the handling of Serpecto are few and appear to be limited to the works of Collins 144 La Barre (1962a), and Vance (1975). The scope of these publications has been necessarily limited by a lack of a contewritten records of the religion's past. As will be show a serpent-handlers do not ordinarily record the significant events of their religious life in writing. Theirs is primarily an oral tradition. When written documentation made, the logical ordering principle is spiritual rather that to reconstruct the past are lacking. Thus, the researcher must rely on old newspaper clippings (which are often inaccurate), transcripts of court cases involving serpent handlers, notes in family Bibles, and, of course, the state accounts of serpent-handlers.

For the most part, to record the religious milie. ... which serpent-handling developed, it is necessary to consist theses, dissertations, and scholarly works on the overall history of the Pentecostal-Holiness tradition or on the development of religion in Appalachia and the Southeasters. United States. As this material on the whole is of excellent quality, easily available, and generally known by students of religion, I will not attempt to duplicate or précise this mass of data. Rather, selected aspects will be isolated to emphasize particular analytical points that are of significance to the thrust of this study.

Serpent-handling is rooted in the Pentecostal-Holiness tradition. With the exceptions of taking up serpents, drinking deadly poisons, and fire handling, these congregations are almost indistinguishable from numerous other Pentecostal¹ groups throughout the Western World (especially groups in the rural Southern and Midwestern United States). Rather than attempting an exhaustive chronology of events leading up to the development of serpent-handling, this section will isolate those elements of the religios milieu which antedate and are evident still in the beliefs and practices of serpent-handling churches. These elements will be discussed in order according to their time depth.

One of the basic tenets of this tradition was articulated in the fourteenth century by John Wycliff who proposed that the meaning of Biblical passages could be interpreted by anyone who was guided by the Holy Spirit (Vance 1975:7). This was a radical departure from Catholic doctrine which

Warburton (1969) makes a strong case for not equating Pentecostal with Holiness traditions. He states that (Ibid., p. 130): "Despite the common theological base and forms of anti-worldliness which they share, Pentecostalism and Holiness religion are distinguishable from one another in terms of the

relegated Biblical interpretation to the Vatican or learned church scholars. Related to this is the notion of "perfectionism" (Gerrard 1966a:62), or:

> . . . the belief in the possibility of attaining in this life, despite original depravity, a spiritual state of being, free not only of sinful deeds but also, much more importantly, of sinful desires. This state of holiness is not a long and gradual development to be achieved through monastic asceticism and meditation, or through assiduous cultivation of a virtuous life, but it is attained instantaneously, through the direct operation of the Holy Spirit, a replication of the experiences of the apostles on the day of Pentecost . . . The experience is variously called 'santification', 'regeneration', 'the new birth', the 'Baptism of the Spirit', or 'the second blessing'. It frequently follows the emotional upheavals attending the experience of 'conversion' in which the medividual, awakened from the spiritual indifference, addividual, repents his sins and seeks and finds God's forgiveness.

The perfectionist notion of a second blessing ". . . in which the Holy Spirit cleansed the believer from inbred tendencies" (Ranaghan 1974:3) derives from John Wesley's idea of "Christian Perfection". Early Methodism emphasized two ". . definite experiences of grace: first, an assurance of salvation, and second, an assurance of sanctification" (Ibid. . It was the notion of a second blessing ". . . in which the Holy Spirit cleansed the believer from inbred tendencies toward sin, which distinguished Methodism from the rest of

types of religious experience they emphasize". Specifically, the Holiness emphasis is more "inward and subjective" (Ibid., p. 132) whereas, the Pentecostal (taking its tone from the Biblical account of the day of Pentecost) is more outwardly emotional and expressive, emphasizing glossolalia and other signs and manifestations of the spirit. Groups like serpenthandling, however, combine a Holiness ascetic with a Pentecostal emphasis (Warburton 1972, personal conversation). Members at the church refer to themselves as "Holiness people". Therefore, when referring to serpent-handlers, the terms will be used interchangably.

Protestantism" (ibid.).² Wesley's notion of perfection established a basis for the Holiness orientation. As summarized by Warburton (1969:131-132):

> Holiness religion appears to have grown around a doctrinal innovation, for, although it had numerous pietistic and perfectionistic antecedents dating back to the Apostolic era, it can be directly traced to John Wesley's original teaching on 'Entire Santification' as an instantaneous experience which is deeper than, and subsequent to, conversion and attainable by faith in the Holy Ghost. . . It is important to note, however, that Entire Sanctification is essentially inward and subjective. Unlike glossolalia and other physical manifestations, only the believer knows that he or she had received it.

The notion of perfectionism was anathema to traditional Catholic teaching which was influenced by Thomas Aquinas, who held that, ". . . holiness could be achieved only by a select few of the clergy leading a life of meditation and monastic asceticism (Gerrard 1966a:65). Consequently, the ". . . church viewed the participants in emotional perfectionistic movements as heretical, as 'possessed by the devil', and treated them accordingly" (ibid.). Also, "the Lutheran and Calvinistic churches of the Reformation condemned the Anabaptists, Mennonites and other sects with strong perfectionistic leanings" (Ibid., p. 66). Thus, some writers refer to such groups as "the left wing of the Reformation" (Young

N

²Regarding Wesley's perfectionism, Niebuhr (1949:175) writes (in a footnote) that: ". . . Wesley was too much of a realist to be able to deny the reality of those sinful elements in the life of the redefied which are neither fully conscious nor yet completely unconscious. . There is thus a conflict in Wesley's thought between his realism and his defective doctrine of sin. . . He resolved the conflict by a rather neat theological device. He declared that there was no moment in life

1974:84).

Following from the Anabaptists,³ who insisted that infant baptism was insufficient, is the notion that only those who have reached sufficient age to intentionally consent to the rite should be eligible. Implicit in this is the idea that church membership should be "intentional" or "voluntary" (Littell 1964:46).

Although the basic theological roots of serpent-handling can be traced to the Old World, one must look to the series of emotional revivals that swept across the United States between 1734 and 1900. Components of the religion's style developed out of these revival cycles. The more important revival cycles included: (1) "The Great Awakening", in New England (1734 to 1740); (2) revivals in Virginia (1773 to 1776); (3) the Kentucky Revivals (1798 to 1810); and, (4) the Camp Creek Revivals or "The Latter Rain Movement" (1886 to 1900) (Bloch-Hoell 1964:7; Synan 1971:21-84; Clark 1949:100; Hollenweger 1972:47-48; Calley 1965:150-154). Thile all of these revival

for which real perfection could be claimed except the moment just before death. His disciples have not always had the prudence to set the same limits.

³The term Anabaptist was actually a misnomer. Followers of this tradition did not really advocate re-baptism (as the label implies). Rather, they believed ". . . that infant baptism did not constitute true baptism and that they were not in reality re-baptizers" (Littell 1964:XV). Littell (Ibid) concludes that: "The name was so conveniently elastic that it came to be applied to all those who stood out against authoritative state religion."

cycles (as well as many minor ones) are important in the development of a particular mode of worship, discussion will be restricted to the Kentucky Revivals and the Camp Creek Revivals as they best exemplify selected characteristics of the religious milieu out of which serpent-handling emerged.

.

The Kentucky Revivals took place between 1798 and 1810 in the south central part of the state near Bowling Green. This series of revivals developed and crystalized the religious style that is characteristic of contemporary serpent-handling, as well as, of the revivals held by diverse denominations from 1800 to the present. Components of the frontier religious style that developed out of these revivals include (Ranaghan 1974:85; Wood 1954:8):

- (1) preaching by uneducated men;
- (2) use of the institutionalized camp meeting;
- (3) festivity and socializing at religious gatherings;
- (4) emphasis upon individual experience;
- (5) energetic religious participation;
- (6) generating of intense religious enthusiasm;
- (7) acceptance of a particularly real and vivid supernatural realm;
- (8) belief in a deity who could and would intervene miraculously in a person's affairs;
- (9) circuit-riding preachers.

In addition to the above characteristics of worship, serpent-handling is heir also to a number of extreme Holiness emphases that were manifested at the Camp Creek Revivals (or the "Latter Rain Movement") in Western North Carolina between 1886 and 1900." Within the emergent Holiness movement of the late 1800's two opposing viewpoints were conspicious. One group held that the Baptism of the Holy Spirit was a

personal experience that might, at most, be manifested by spirited praying, shouting, or by some involuntary body movement. The opposing group held that this cleansing experience would be verified by some supernatural sign of holiness, such as speaking in tongues, a dream, or a vision. The Camp Creek Revivials may be viewed as representing the more "sign" oriented, demonstrative variant of the Holiness orientation. In fact, in the South in general, most of the independent Holiness congregations of the late 1800's and early 1900's tended to be more extreme than their counterparts in the North and in urban areas. Such congregations placed greater emphasis on doctrines like "Divine healing, the premillennial second coming of Christ, a 'third blessing' of fire, and puritanical modes of dress" (Synan 1971:75). Following the teachings of Benjamin Hardin Irwin, founder of the "Fire-Baptized Holiness Church" in Iowa in 1895" some Camp Creek participants believed that the second baptism of the Holy Spirit was insufficient; and, perhaps, a fourth, fifth, or even sixth baptism of fire was necessary to complete purification. Specifically, it was believed that the baptism of "dynamite, lyddite, oxide", and other explosives was necessary to salvation (Ibid., p. 61; Hollenweger 1972:48).

Out of the milieu of the Camp Creek Revivals, the Holiness Church of God At Camp Creek developed. This small church was the forerunner of The Church of God (Cleveland, Tennessee) which was led by A. J. Tomlinson. Serpent-handling

probably developed within the early Church of God.⁴ The Camp Creek and early Church of God tradition--with its emphasis on religious innovation, strident pursuit of Biblical fundamentals in belief and practice, reliance on signs and experience, isolated rural nature, use of travelling evangelists; and fluid manner in which groups formed, merged, separated, and dissolved--provided a favorable intellectual and social environment for the emergence of serpent-handling.

To this point in the discussion, the remote and immediate religious antecedents of serpent-handling have been examined. I have had two purposes for doing this: one, to place serpent-handling into its larger theological contexts so that it is not viewed as isolated, aberrant, or bizarre, but rather as an outgrowth of a long-standing religious emphasis; and, two, to provide a historical base-line against which members' practices of recounting their religious history can be contrasted. The details of serpent-handling's origin and development will now be examined.⁵

⁵This overall discussion does not purport to account for all aspects of the development of the Pentecostal or Holiness movements. Many gaps and wide-ranging generalizations exist in my presentation. The focus has been on those theological positions and selected specific occurences that I considered

⁴Regarding Tomlinson, La Barre (1962a:31) reports that: "Even more vexing ethnographically is the report of a snake-handling group started in the hamlet of Cherokee, North Carolina, by A. J. Tombleson or Tomlinson in 1903, and now led in other states by his sons". However, there is no evidence of serpent-handling at Cherokee or Camp Creek. There seems to be no doubt, however, that serpent-handling was practiced in some Church of God congregations after 1909. Vance (1975) discusses this issue in some detail.

THE ORIGINS AND DIFFUSION OF SERPENT-HANDLING

Most scholarly and journalistic sources posit that serpent-handling was first practiced in 1909 by George Went Hensley in Grasshopper, Tennessee (Collins, 1947:1; Kerman 1942:101; Gerrard 1968:22; La Barre 1962a:11,12; Robertson 1950:170,171; Synan 1971:187; Vance 1975:20-29; and others).⁶ Hensley was a Church of God evangelist in his early thirties who had been assigned to the community of Grasshopper, Tennessee (near Church of God headquarters at Cleveland, Tennessee) (Collins 1947:1,2; Vance 1975:28). Many of the residents of Grasshopper and the surrounding area had already accepted "Holiness" before Hensley initiated serpent-handling there (Ibid.).

of greatest importance in serpent-handling's development. Conspicuous by its absence, for example, is a discussion of the Azusa Street services in Los Angeles in 1906. Although the Camp Creek revivals pre-dated this, it was the events at Azusa Street that crystalized the Pentecostal focus on glossolalia. Or, the Rev. Fox Parham of Kansas City, Kansas had an effect on the development of the Pentecostal movement. According to Vance (1925:17-18) he was the first person to isolate glossolalia as being the "only evidence of the Holy Ghost". Because of this, some view Parham as the founder of the modern Pentecostal movement. These and other influences probably had some effect on the development of serpent-handling, but are overshadowed by the regional events of the "radical" Holiness movement.

Also, for the purposes of this study, I did not present information of the controversies regarding serpent-handling that developed in the Church of God. See Vance (1975) for a detailed discussion of this topic.

⁶Stekert is not fully convinced of the 1909 date for the religion's origin and is of the opinion, (in agreement with La Barre's unsubstantiated sources) that the practice first occured sometime earlier. Stekert has not yet found evidence to substantiate this view (personal interview, Oct. 1972, Berkeley, California).

Hensley, ". . . a deeply religious" person, became disturbed upon reading and re-reading Mark 16:18--"And They shall take up serpents" (Collins 1947:102). Since Hensley had not taken up serpents, it was clear to him that if he was to gain "eternal life," he must be willing to obey this direct command of the Lord (Vance Loc cit.). So on a summer day in 1909, Hensley sought out "serpents" on top of White Oak Mountain. As depicted by Collins (op. cit., p. 2):⁷

> In a great rocky gap in the mountainside he found what he sought, a large rattlesnake. He approached the reptile, and disregarding its buzzing, bloodchilling warning, knelt a few feet away from it and prayed loudly into the sky for God to remove his fear and to anoint him with 'the power.' Then suddenly with a shout he leaped forward and grasped the reptile and held it in trembling hands.

The accuracy of Collins' account is uncertain as his reconstruction was necessarily based on oral reports. During the late 1940's, Collins interviewed a number of people in Grasshopper Valley, including some of Hensley's early followers or their descendents, at the Dolley Pond Church of God with Signs Following (formed in 1943). As Collins (1947:4,17) includes photographs of Hensley it is reasonable to suppose that he talked to him about the religion's origin. That Hensley accepted credit for the initiation of serpent-handling is corroborated by Kerman (1942:101). Kerman, writing of his visit to the Pine Mountain Church of God (Kentucky) in 1938 as a reporter for the St. Louis Post Dispatch, stated that:

> "I met that night a man who said he had originated snakahandling as a religious rite. He was G. W. Hensley, pastor of the East Pineville Church of God, near Harlan. He said he had introduced the practice twenty-eight years before in Sale Creek, Tennessee." (This Post-Dispatch photo-essay is considered to be the first extensive photo coverage of serpent-handling.)

Similarly, Robertson (1950:170-171) discussed the religion's origin with Hensley and related an account similar to Collins' description: "In 1909 on White Oak Nountain near Grasshopper, Tennessee, George Hensley, already a follower of the 'Holiness', had first pondered over some verses he had heard from the last chapter of the Gospel of Marx, verses 17,18:...

At first, Hensley held services in the homes of the faithful and in "improvised brush arbors" in Grasshopper Valley (Collins 1947:2). Services allegedly were held in the valley for some ten years without incident of snakebite. During the tenth year of the group's existence, Garland Defriese was bitten by a large rattlesnake. Although he (Collins 1947:2): 4

> . recovered after a few weeks . . . the experience dulled his enthusiasm for the practice and snake handling that day lapsed into a state of suspended animation that was to last for 23 years in Grasshopper Community. Cultists continue to refer to Defriese as the 'backslider'.

This was probably the first recorded case of serpent-bite in the short history of the religion.

Although serpent-handling was supposedly discontinued at Sale Creek in Grasshopper Valley until 1943 (Ibid., pp. 2-3), Heneley and his disciples, in the tradition of early Methodist circuit-riding preachers, brought their message to scattered Holiness and Church of God congregations throughout the Southeastern United States. La Barre 1962a:15 states: "Indeed, the early sporadic appearances of the cult appears always to be associated with Hensley and his/immediate

Mr. Hensley felt that the verse was a definite command from the Lord, given after His ressurection. He found a big rattlesnake under a rock, knelt and prayed for 'the power'; then with a shout, he grasped the snake and held it with trembling hands. For the rest of his life he has preached snake-handling, until the cult has spread by word of mouth through the whole Appalachian region, and beyond." Synan (1971:187) and Vance (1975:17) also lend credence

to Hensley being the founder of religious serpent-handling.

followers." Whether La Barre's contention is accurate is open to question. There seems to be little doubt that Hensley initiated relations serpent-handling in 1909 near Bearchwood, Tennessee; or, that he travelled widely promoting the faith. However, Vance (1975:32-37) provides considerable evidence to suggest that not all serpent-handling in the South can be linked to Hensley or his followers. Vance seems to be suggesting that given the general religious milieu in the South and the propensity for people to interpret the Bible literally, it seems likely that 'individuals who had not heard of Hensley or of serpent-handling acted independently on Mar 16:18. Vance provides a number of examples to illustrate the point. This view is consistent with Synan's (1971:118) notion that Pentecostalism in general is a "movement without a man".

Deciding about specific cases is diffucult. For example, La Barré (1962a:12) credits Hensley with introducing snake-handling at the Church of God at Pine Mountain in the early 1930's. According to La Barre the practice was not fully regularized until . . . "Browning . . . became pastor at Pine Mountain and shortly afterward (re) introduced snakehandling" (<u>Ibid</u>). Browing continues to serve as pastor of the Fine Mountain church and serpent-handling is still practiced there. Hensley's role in initiating serpent-handling at the church is open to question, however. Rev. Browning (July 18, 1971) for exemple, told me that he initiated the

2

handling of serpents at the Pine Mountain Church in 1931 and that it was the first church in that vicinity to engage in the practice. Browning claimed that he received his inspiration to handle serpents in a vision and did not mention Hensley's influence. As Browning described it to reporters from Foxfire magazine (1973:6):

> I was 34 years old. Th'Lord called me t'preach this. He began t'reveal th'faith t'me. It was through th'revelation of HIm. It was revealed t'me in this Bible when it said t'take 'em up; and I was preachin' one day, and I didn't know that verse was to us. I though it was to th'Apostles. And th'Lord revealed it t'me, and then I got t'preachin' it. And they brought one one time and said, 'Can we bring it in?' And somebody said, 'Yeah, bring it in.' And they said, 'Th' preacher'll have t'tell us.' And I went out t'em and hollered to'em t'bring it in.

The Foxfire article maintains that the church . . . "was founded in 1931--two years after its founding, the members began to handle serpents" (Ibid.). Cobb (1965:56) who worked in the Pine Mountain Community over a thirty-year period states that . . . "the sect was founded in 1932 by its present preacher and leader."

Although the exact extent of Hensley's influence in serpent-handling is uncertain, there is little doubt that he was an active evengelist who travelled widely throughout the South. An overview of Hensley's travels, and related events, follows.

On August 18, 1935 some five hundred of Hensely's followers gathered in Ramsey Virginia (Vance 1975:30). During the service a twelve year old boy grabbed a snake and and decapitated it. A near riot ensued and state and local police were called in. The resultant coverage in the New York <u>Times</u> (August 19, 1935:17) and the Bristol Tennessee <u>News Bulletin</u> (August 19, 1935:7) was the first-afforded Hensley (ibid).

On May 4, 1936, Hensley conducted a meeting in northern Florida at Bartow at which ". . . an Alfred Weaver was bitten and died" (<u>Ibid</u>., pp. 30-31). Hensley's presence was also noted when Reverent T. Anderson was bitten on September 27, 1936, at Jonesville, Virginia (<u>Ibid</u>.). Also, during his tenure as pastor of the East Pineville Church of God, Hensley and two others were arrested and charged with disturbing the peace (Ibid.).

During the summer of 1938, Hensley's name appeared in a law suit against three members of the Pine Mountain Church of God. The suit was filed by John Day, a local farmer whose wife had participated in snake-handling against his wishes.

Hensley was next in the news during the 1940's in connection with serpent-handling and resulting legal difficulties at the newly formed Dolley Pond Church of God with Signs Following in Grasshopper, Tennessee. In the spring of 1943, Raymond Hays, a follower of Hensley from Kentucky, brought a box of serpents to Grasshopper Valley, re-introducing serpent-handling there. Shortly thereafter, the Dolley Pond Church was formed with Tom Harden, a local born preacher, as pastor (Collins 1947:5-6; La Barre 1962a:

3.8

15-16; Vance 1975:84-87). La Barre (Ibid.) asserts that the Dolley Pond Church ". . . was the mother church of the snake handling in the South." As previously discussed, Vance (1975 provides considerable evidence against the complete acceptance of this view.

On September 3, 1947 at a brush arbor service near Daisy, Tennessee, Lewis Ford, a Dolley Pond member, was hitter by a large rattlesnake and died 70 minutes later (Collins 1947:21). Ford's death focused attention on the church. In fact, over 2,000 people attended the funeral in rural Grasshopper Valley and, according to Collins (Ibid.), "... many more were turned back by the traffic which formed the harrow Grasshopper road for miles along either approach to the church." During the funeral, Rev. Raymond Hays placed the snake that had then Ford in the dead man's casket and was himself bitten. Is allegedly did not suffer from the bite (Time 1945:23-24).

Shortly after Ford's death, George Hensley and Fom Harden conducted a serpent-handling tent revival inside the city limits of nearby Chattanooga. Police intervened: shot the serpent and arrested Harden and Hensley. At the preliminary hearing, held the next day, the men were fined \$56 each but charges were subsequently dropped (Collins 1947: 22-23).

, >

A few months lafer, Clint Jackson died of a rattlesnake bite that he received during services at Daisy, Tennessee.

1.14

Jackson was not a member of the Dolley Pond church, but his death had profoundimplications for the Dolley Pond group. Namely, this second Tennessee death aroused anti-snake-handling sentiment in the state and catalyzed the drafting of the February 4, 1947 Tennessee anti-snake-handling law. On February 28, 1947 the bill passed in the Tennessee House by a vote of 75 to 9 (<u>Ibid</u>., p. 24).⁸

On August 9, 1948, Harvey Bell of Lindale, Georgia died of a rattlesnake bite received during services at the Dolley Pond Church. On August 13, 1948, serpent-hand or was officially discontinued at the church. Where Fill, a corph trustee, told newspaper reporters that, the fill of the fill have faith enough' to handle snakes, and the major of the fill it" (Chattagooga <u>Times</u>, August 3, 1947). Nonertheless, seece Ramsey, a lay leader at Dolley Pond, died of a snakebite at a meeting in Dade County, Georgia (Vance 1975:102) and in 1962 Mrs. Ella Bee Harden Michaels was bitten by a rattlesnake

÷.,

1.14

⁸ Tennessee was not the first state to pass legislation against serpent-handling. Kentucky passed such a law in 1940 and Georgia passed a similar law in 1941. Georgia's law was by far the strictest in that it made ". . . serpent-handling a felony punishable by imprisonment for one to twenty years" (Tripp 1975:22). The law also had a provision for the death penalty. "In the event that death is caused to a person on account of the violation of this Act by some other person . . ." (Ibid.) (Original source Georgia Laws, 1941:449). Virginia passed an anti-snake-handling law January 29, 1947 (Vance 1+ 5: 52). OWest Virginia appears to be the only state that does not have legal prohibitions against snake-handling. State laws against the practice usually resulted from particularly noteworthy incidents of death from snakebite. Alabama law passed in 1950, Florida law in 1953, North Carolina law 1949. Not prohibited in South Carolina, except by local ordinance (Tripp op. cit., pp. 83-84).

at a service in a private home near the Grasshopper Community (News-Free Press June 19, 1962).⁹

George Went Hensley died of a rattlesnake bite received during a service at an "open-air arbor" near Altha, Florida. Hensley was seventy years old (Chattanooga Times, July 25, 1955).

In looking at the origin and development of serpenthandling in general I have emphasized events and churches involving George Hensley, a reputed founder of the religion. Although this history of serpent-handling is far from complete, it is illustrative of some of the people, events, localities, legal difficulties, religious style, larger interactional patterns between churches, means of dissemination, and causes of church demise. Hensley and the Dolley Pond Church were emphasized in order to focus on the remote antecedents of The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name. As will be discussed subsequently, the Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name was established by former members of the Sand Hill Church of God near Del Rio, Tennessee, where serpent-handling was introduced by evangelists from the Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name at Big Stone Gap, Virginia. The Big Stone Gap Church was founded in the 1930's by evangelists from Kentucky, as were numerous other groups in Virginia and West Virigina (personal

41

⁹Vance (1975:102) notes that as recently as 1972 serpents were handled in homes of the Dolley Pond members. Similarly, it is interesting to note that Burl Barbee, a former Dolley Pond participant, along with other believers, continues to handle serpents in Chattanooga and sometimes participates at churches in Tennessee, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia (interview with Rev. Liston Pack and Rev. Alfred Ball, Newport Tennessee December 1974.

interview with Rev. Paul Stidham, Big Stone Gap, December, 1974). As Hensley and his followers did considerable proselytizing during the 1930's from Pineville, Kentucky into Virginia and other states, a tenuous link between George Hensley and the Newport church can be inferred.

I have purposely not dealt extensively with the history of serpent-handling in Georgia or Alabama as Vance (1975) devotes at least two chapters to this and Tripp (1975) provides considerable detail on one or two churches near Atlanta. Moreover, after a point, the presentation of detailed cases contributes little to an understanding of serpent-handling, as the basic events and patterns are, for the most part, replicated in all of the churches.

With regard to the more recent development of the religion, it appears that serpent-handling is growing in the Appalachian South, as well as Northern and Midwestern industrial areas where saints have migrated. This is an interesting trend as a number of writers had predicted the imminent demise of the religion. Nichol (1966:157) wrote that:

> . . . since snake-handling seems to occur in the obscure and remote areas of the South its ethos is essentially rural and thus yearly in greater conflict with the increasing urbanism of the 'New South', and since it is continuously entangled with the law in the Southeast, its extinction appears to be inevitable.

In a similar vein, La Barre (personal communication, Becember 15, 1971) stated that: "To my knowledge, snake-handling is still practiced only in one or two remote places in the

.)

- 42

Appalachians such as Big Stone Gap, near Wise, Virginia, and perhaps near the Scrabble Creek area.¹⁰

To this point in the discussion, the history of serpent-handling has been examined. This has been an incomplete overview, as written records are lacking. As summarized by La Barre (1962a:32):

> Because of this sporadic diffusion into widely separated rural areas, because it occurs in obscure and remote places, and because mostly illiterate cultists are in any case more interested in dionysian experience than in appolonian historical scholarship, we make expect some incompleteness in our study which one figure direct field information can remedy. Very probably new information will continue to emerge concerning local snake-handling groups.

A MEMBERS + HISTORY OF SERPENT-HANDLING

1

The following excerpt from an interview that I conducted with Rev. William A. Ball, founder and partor of Jesus Christ Apostolic Church near Newport, Tennessee, illustrates the type of accounts members give concerning the religion's origin (Tape recorded December 1974):

> This faith's been goin' on right up through time because its in the Bible and there's always been a people that practiced the Bible and, I have talked with people who knew of other people, who knew still other people that just goes way, way, way, way back and there's been somebody practicin' taking up serpents for just as far back as you can go when you begin to talk to people in this faith. They can keep tellin' you about people before them, grandfathers and great grandfathers that were doin' it and incidently, even in the encyclopedia you can read about a tribe of Indians who had what they called a snake dance and this was a, religious ceremony, and that goes far, far back behin 1900 and 09, and I think maybe that that's just when people first begin to take notice that

somethin' like that was goin' on. In my opinion, and I think that I have adequate proof for that opinion, a serpent-handling--or takin'up serpents I prefer to say because that's the way the Bible said it--has been goin' on for hundreds of years. All the way right back to Bible days.

This view of serpent-handling's past rests on and is ordered by religious premises concerning the meaning of history and is reflective of a "kairos" emphasis in which ". . . a large view of the whence and where of the human race and of man's place in nature" (Pruyser 1968:217) is taken. This is not to suggest that chronology ("chronos") is of no importance to saints or that conscious deception is practiced. Rather, Brother Alfred's account of the past must be comprehended as it relates to serpent-handling as an oral tradition. Specifically, oral accounts or "testimonies", can always be seen as a "mirage of reality" (Vansina 1965:76). This is so, because oral testimonies provide a means of creating and reinforcing cultural values. In the case of serpent-handlers, such accounts establish and emphasize the group's original "charter" given by Jesus in "Apostolic times" as well as its continuity in time. This symbolically provides the religion with a time depth and sense of destiny that ordinarily would be lacking if George Hensley was its acknowledged founder.

Thus, Brother Alfred establishes the reasonableness of his account by saying that: "Yes, this faith's been goin' on right on up through time because its in the Bible and there's always been a people that practiced the Bible" (December 1974).

Implicit in this reasoning is the notion that Biblical injunctions and prophecies are carried out and fulfilled. This view is elaborated by Brother Elzie Preast, a serpenthandler from Scrabble Creek, West Virginia (in Dickinson & Benziger 1974:127-128):

> I don't handle them every time. I really don't feel like it's necessary every time for me. But it does say, 'They shall take up serpents'. And Jesus is the one's doing the talking. Said, 'They shall take them up.' Well, I've got to do it, or somebody's got to do it, or else it makes Jesus out a liar, because if I tell you you shall go out that door, it means that you've got to go out there, one way or the other. Now listen how it reads. 'And these signs shall follow them that believe'. Shall. Now if it said, 'if you feel led to handle them, if you believe to handle them,' it'd be kind of different. But it says, 'These signs shall follow'. See, it's just like the Holy Ghost speaking in tongues. It don't come any other way. And when I read it says they shall speak with new tongues, they've got to do like it says. But the scriptures said that they shall pick up serpents, and somebody has to do that. If we don't do it, Jesus can raise up a people that will do it. If it's the least baby here tonight. If it's this little baby, if we won't do it, he'll raise them little children up here in our midst. Or maybe somebody that's never been born. But he's going to have somebody that will do it. If we don't do it, he'll have somebody that will do it.

Following Brother Preast's logic, Rev. Ball's reference to the Hopi snake dance provides evidence of the scripture's fulfillment and of the religion's unbroken continuity. Similarly, in emphasizing that serpent-handling had been practiced "all through time," Brother Jimmy Williams noted that some of the Pilgrims migrated to the new world because serpent-handlers were persecuted in Britain (interview December 15, 1972).

The logic of the above accounts is similar to that

~.

of the "archaig" traditions examined by Eliade (1959:21) in which all activity was judged as meaningful only to the extent that it related to ". . . a divine model, an archetype". Specifically:

> . the archaic man, acknowledges no act which has not been previously posited and lived by someone else, some other being who was not a man. What he does has been done before. His life is the ceaseless repetition of gestures initiated by others. This conscious repetition of given paradigmatic gestures reveals an original ontology. The cru The crude product of nature, the object fashioned by the industry of man, acquire their reality, their identity, only to the extent of their participation in a transcendent reality. The gesture acquires meaning, reality, solely to the extent to which it repeats a primordial act (p. 5). . . Each of the examples cited vin the present chapter reveals the same 'primitive ' ontological conception: an object or an act becomes real only insofar as it

an object or an act becomes real only insofar as it imitates or repeats an archetype. Thus, reality is acquired solely through repetition or participation; everything which lacks an exemplary model is 'meaningless', i.e., it lacks reality (p. 34).

The following statement made by Brother Burl Barbee of Chattanooga, Tennessee (former Dolley Pond participant) can be used to illustrate Eliade's assertions (in the native stone, July 5, 1973):

> Some people said to me they didn't believe Jesus picked up snakes. Well, I don't believe Jesus would tell me to pick up snakes if He wouldn't do it Himself. Oh, Lord, I long to see the day when they quit calling me a lowdown, no good Jesus snake-handler.

Similarly, Rev. Jimmy Williams emphasized that: "The Apostles took up serpents" (field notes Nov. 23, 1972). Or, as Brother Liston Pack affirmed regarding speaking in tongues (tape recorded Ausut 20, 197 "Amen, that can just be done, amen. On Pentecost they spoke in other tongues, alleluya to God, amen. . ."

For serpent-handlers, the King James Bible serves as an "exemplary model" (Eliade 1959:34). For example, Brother Alfred stated (tape recorded August 20, 1972):

> Amen, during this revival, amen, I want you to come and I wantyou to follow right along with me when I'm preaching, amen, and if, amen, if I tell you the truth believe, and if I don't, don't you believe it. If I tell you something that's not in that book, don't you believe it. Amen, if it's in there, you better believe it. Amen, you sure better believe it. Amen, and, a you do the same for any other preacher that you listen at.

Regarding the Bible, Jimmy Williams states (tape recorded

December 10, 1972):

Amen, I promise you one thing, that I won't do nothing outside the Word of God. The things that I say, amen, I can put my finger right on it. Bless the Lord! And read 'em to you. I don't believe that a preacher ought to bring you nairy thing that he can't lay his thumb on. Bless God! Amen.

Or, as affirmed by Brother Clyde and Brother Lester (tape recorded December 12, 1972): ". . . it is between each lid of the holy Word . . . We don't add, we don't take away."

In the above cases, then, it is argued that if a belief or practice cannot be cited verbatim in the Bible, it lacks validity. In terms of the meaning of history, this reliance on primordial events has interesting implications. As seen by Bliade (1959:35):

> Thus we perceive a second aspect of primitive ontology: insofar as an act (or an object) acquires a certain reality . . . through the repetition of certain paradigmatic gestures, and acquires it through that alone, there is an implicit abolition of profane time,



of duration, of 'history'; and he who reproduces the exemplary gesture thus finds himself transported into the mythical epoch in which its revelation took place.

In the Christian tradition, for example, John 14:12 states: "He that believeth on me, the works that I do shall he do also." In other words, ". . . he who believes in Jesus can do what He did; his limitations and impotence are abolished" (Eliade <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 23). As seen by Brother Billy Jay Forrester (in Pelton & Garden 1974:25); "Because it' in the Bible . . . because Jesus told His disciples to do it, I believe we can do it too."

To this point in the discussion, we have seen that for serpent-handlers history serves as exemplary functions ". . . providing examples of ideal types" (Vansina 1965:106). It is on this basis that serpent-handlers refer to one another as "saints", and conceive of themselves as a "separated people," "God's people," or a "peculiar people". Through the use of this nomenclature, serpent-handlers are, in effect, asserting their close affinity with the saints and Apostles of old. This identification with saints and apostles is reflected in the following incidents. Alfred Ball, for example, (fieldnotes July 31, 1973) posited, that: ". . . we shouldn't be surprised that we suffer from serpent-bite, as the apostles were often persecuted just for preaching. We are promised in the Scriptures that God's people will suffer." In a similar vein, Liston Pack stated that: ". . . many preachers say that Apostles aren't around anymore" (August 5, 1972, fieldnotes).

People in the congregation laughed at Liston's suggestion and a preacher or two proclaimed that Apostles are "still around". Saints in the congregation responded with a resounding,

'amen."

In some respects, saints' ordering of time can be compared to medieval conceptions as exemplified in Langland's <u>Piers The Ploughman</u> (circa 1377). As seen by Kaske (1968:327), for example, Langland's style of presentation served:

> ... as a kind of double-surfaced mirror reflecting the essential truth of both past and future-just as, according to medieval commentary, the essential truth of both past and future is reflected in the letter of the New Testament.

Goodridge's (1966:12-17) commentary on Langland's work can be used to focus on serpent-handlers' general orientation to the past:

> . . . the form allows various different time-scales and with them different levels of meaning, to operate side by side, or be superimposed by one another . . it is no regular step-by-step progress. It is as irregular and unpredictable as life itself. . . In Book XI the poet ironically allows forty-five years of the dreamer's life to drop out as if they had never existed, so that he passes in a moment from the struggle of early manhood to those of old age. . .

Langland's willingness to follow, at times, wherever the spirit leads--a characteristic of most medieval devotional writing--occasions many digressions, stoppingshots and unexpected transitions. The patter is incomplete in parts, yet unified on a higher level as the dreamer becomes caught up in the mystery of Christ and his spokesman, Piers.

As is shown throughout this study, serpent-handlers' employ methods similar to those used by Langland in-the fourteenth century. In their oral accounts of past events

they often employ a non-sequential time progression. As well, reports of dreams and visions sometimes are juxtaposed in the same account. Numerous side tangents are developed. Accounts can differ from teller to teller, depending on the immediate purpose of the account, audience, religious truth being emphasized, differential knowledge of the events recounted, etc.

In this section, selected folk accounts of serpenthandling's origin have been examined and viewed as a means of creating a sense of an ongoing community of saints with historical continuity and practical affinity with Jesus and the Apostles. In looking at these accounts of community, it is necessary to realize that in many contexts it is unnecessary for the recounter to relate all that he knows on a particular topic as he assumes that participant-hearers will share similar background knowledge and will fill in the gaps in the narratives. Also, the full story of the religion's past is not ordinarily recounted in any one service or conversation. Rather, bits and pieces of it are selectively presented during sermons, casual conversations, interviews with researchers, etc. and, at these times, are told to illustrate or give credance to the overall thrust of the sermon or other activity at hand. The principle here is that all oral performance must be seen in terms of the purposes at hand, rather than as part of a fixed textual repertory. By examining storytelling from this persepctive, much can be learned about the

selective rendering of accounts as a means toward the creation of a community of saints.

•

Concerning this, Goodridge (1966:18) raises a point about <u>Piers The Ploughman</u> that has applicability to serpenthandlers:

> . . . the secret of the poem's appeal to a modern " reader may lie partly in this irregularity of construction, for, instead of giving up a finished picture of the Christian view of life, it registers all our 'uncertainties, mysteries, doubts, and shows a continuing process of thought: truth is something to be appropriated to oneself, not merely understood by the mind.

It is in the notion that truth is something to be "appropriated to oneself", rather than merely intellectually perceived, that we can see theimportance of saints' time reckoning practices. A Namely, for saints history is not a series of completed, discrete events, but is an ongoing process that they are part A saint does not assume a vanta point outside history of. and yiew a series of finite closures, but rather stands in a dynamic and ongoing relationship to an assumed destiny That is intricately tied to past, present and future. These truths, as expressed in the unalterable King James Bible, form the starting and finishing point for all contemporary or temporal analysis. Having accepted this premise, saints need not be **Concerned with the literal details** of lineal time sequence from the present to the past. What is important is the truth of the continuity of the Word from the Alpha to the Omega. Thus, mysteries and gaps in the oral record are of little consequence. What is important is the ongoing,

unfinished process that will ultimately lead to a heavenly home. As summarized by Hostetler and Huntington (1967:22-23) concerning Hutterites' perceptions of time and history:

> Intermediate between sacred and secular time and history and dreams. For the Hutterites, history is important as a dimension of the presence of God in the world. They are not interested in history in terms of dates on a secular time scale but as steps in the development of the church of God. Therefore, history cal events that are unrelated to their own outlook of life are of little meaning to them and even their own history is remembered as it strengthens their faith rather than as a dated sequence of events. This means that there is some fusion of the beginning of Christianity (the historical period of Christ's birth and the writing of the Bible) with the beginning of the Hutterites (during the persecution of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries and the writing of the Hutterite sermons). Miracles of the sixteenth century may be mixed with those of the nineteenth, for the worldly data is unimportant compared with the fact that God 'broke into history'. History is a dimension of secular time that is recalled primarily because it illustrates eternity. . .

CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS

Most saints have little or no detailed knowledge or critical understanding of the religion's developmental past. It is precisely through this lack of scientific understanding that an oral tradition such as serpent-handling is able to create a cosmic meaning for its adherents. Historical lore of the origins and development of the religion serves the function of providing participants with a sense of a significant and deep-rooted spiritual tradition that has continuity all the way back to Christ and His original twelve Apostles. Through the telling and retelling of the "Stories of the

origins of serpent-handling and of the feats of saints of the past, as well as of contemporary saints, a sense of the naturalness and inevitability of religious communit, is created. More specifically, saints' identity as special people who have access to supernatural power, as promised in the Bible, is reinforced and developed.

Examination of the logical structure if the hist rule of serpent-handling as it is conceived by members if the church serves as an initial step for further discussion of the functional role of this kind or aspect of history or restora community of believers. The following chapter discusses i detail the formation and development of one serpent handling congregation, The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name

< . ·

CHAPTER III

THE HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD IN JESUS NAME--DOCUMENTARY PRACTICES, ORIGIN, AND DEVELOPMENT

Although the specifics of time, place, ind.viduals, and events are unique to this church, its formation and development illustrate the patterns and processes generally dealt with in the preceeding chapter. Also of relevance here, are what I term members' "documentary practices" or, the ways in which saints report on, document, and preserve records of their religious activities. These sources include hand-written records, scrapbooks, photographs, and tape recordings made by saints. It is necessary to evaluate saints' documentary practices before proceeding with a dis-

DOCUMENTARY PRACTICES

Although various studies deal with serpent-handling as an oral tradition (La Barre 1962a: Stekert 1963; Gerrard 1966a; Kane 1974; Tripp 1975; Ince 1975), it is not entirely so. Even though the oral integral part in the creation of a community of saints. Most obvious is the fact that the religion is based on a "literal" interpretation of the "Word of God" as it is written in the King James Bible. The bible is frequently read, preached from, argued over, and used as a guide and final authority on most matters. Saints strive to establish the precise meanings of Biblical terms and accounts.¹

Serpent-handlers use the written word, and related means to document and promulgate their religion through: making news ("publishing the gospel"); preserving photographs, newspaper clippings, research articles, and letters pertaining to the religion (keeping scrapbooks); making tape recordings of church services and personal testimonies; keepin; hand written records in family Bibles; and through the printing of "minute books," religious notices and signs, preachers' cards, newspaper advertisements and want ads. Such documentary practices can be seen as important folk methodologies. Through

However, Stekert (1963:318), reports that: "Bible stories are often told, both in and out of church, in the simplified manner of folktales using much folk speech."

 $(, \cdot)$

saints' reporting on their own activities, not only are aspects of the present-past preserved, but this may also be seen as a "reflective" means of creating the reality being reported on.² Also, as established in Chapter II, serpent-handlers' documentary practices do not correspond to the exact methodologies used by historians and, therefore, it is of interest to elaborate on the uses to which they are employed by the community. In the remainder of this section, five examples of documentary practices will be examined: making news, scarpbooks, tape recordings, hand-written records and printed mate: ...

1. Making News ("Published the Gospel")

The biblical justification for what I call making news is found in Mark 13:10: "And the qc the must first be published among all nations." This passage fits into Mark's larger discussion of the conditions that will obtain prior to the second coming of Christ, at the end of the world. Mark wrote that (King Jameg Bible):

> . . . nation shall rise up against nation, and kingdom against kingdom: and there shall be earthquakes in diverse places, and there shall be famines and troubles: these are the beginnings of sorrows (Mark 13:8)

. . . they shall deliver you up to councils: and in the synagogues ye shall be beaten: and ye shall be brought before rulers and kings for my sake, for a

²As stated in Mehan and Wood (1975:12) regarding reflexivity: "Talk itself is reflexive. . . An utterance not only delivers some particular information, it also creates a world in which information itself can appear."
testimony against them. And the gospel must first be published among all nations. (Emphasis mine) (13:9-10)

. . . for false Christs and false prophets shall rise and shall shew signs and wonders, to seduce, it it were possible, even the elect. . . (13:22)

But in those days, after that tribulation, the sun shall be darkened, and the moon shall not give her light, and the stars of heaven shall fall, and the powers that are in heaven shall be shaken. And then shall they see the Son of man coming in the clouds with great power and glory. And then shall he send his angels, and shall gather together his elect from the four winds, from the uttermost part of the earth to the utter most part of heaven (13:24-27).

Thus, in endeavoring to "publish" the gospel, saints are, hastening the second coming of Christ and the time when a true community of saints will be possible in "another world." (More will be said about serpent-handling eschatology in later chapters.)

The primary means of publishing the gospel is through newspaper and magazine articles. Reporters and photographers are attracted to the church because of the spectacular religious performances. Once there, saints have an opportunity to provide them with selected information on the religion. Ideally, the resulting news stories will reflect saints views and will serve to publish the "truth" about the "Word."

Saints are usually willing to cooperate with reporters and writers who are interested in portraying the church. For example, Brother Clyde Ray Ricker reportedly invited a Knoxville <u>News-Sentinel</u> reporter and photographer to a church service on June 16, 1971 at which, incidently, Brother Buford Pack was "serpent-bit." Similarly, on April 15, 1973, Liston Pack and Clyde Ricker conducted a special serpenthandling demonstration in the church-house for the benefit of a Florida based news correspondent and his television camera man for a film documentary that was to be shown internationally. Pack, Ricker, and others in the church discussed the event often and were enthusiastic about its international scope ("even in Europe").

During most of serpent-handling's history, news reporters have been in evidence at many of the churches. This is not to suggest that saints have always welcomed media peoples' intrusions. As reported by Tripp (1975:65) concerning serpenthandlers in a Georgia congregation:

18

Newspapers are viewed as a common source of perseuction and ridicule. There have been occasional feature stories about serpent-handling, but most are news stories published following a death, or a prosecution. The stories tend to be sensational and frequently are inaccurate; consequently, the believers rarely trust the press.

In recent years, at The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name, many saints have become reluctant to talk with reporters and researchers. In the summer of 1973, at the urging of the assistant pastor, Brother Alfred Ball, cameras were barred from the church. (However, the taking of photographs through the open window was not forbidden and the pastor's teenage son willingly directed photographers to the window).

The reluctance of some saints to deal with news people stems from the number of biased and inaccurate stories on the

church that have been written in the popular press, especially after the strychnine deaths in 1973. Following the deaths, the church was invaded by media people, researchers, and university students.

Many members, however, continue to see newspaper interviews as an effective means of publishing the gospel and are willing to cooperate, if they have a reasonable expectation that the writer will accurately portray their religion. During the summer of 1973, for example, freelance writers, Robert Pelton and Karen Carden, approached the assistant pastor and proposed to write a sympathetic book on the church. Some saints initially were dubious of the project after the recent "media invasion". Pelton and Carden assured the members that the book would be based primarily on taped interviews with various saints and that Brother Alfred would have some editorial control over the final manuscript before it was published. Consequently, many saints agreed to cooperate. Brother Alfred made available his church scrapbook to the writers, as well as the scrapbook of the late Rev. Jimmy Williams. Brother Ralph Eslinger allowed the writers full use of his unorganized collection of cassette tapes of various church services. Other saints volunteered the use of photographs, etc., and agreed to be interviewed by the writers.

The first book published by Pelton & Carden--<u>Snake-</u> Handlers: God-Fearers? or Fanatics?: A Religious Documentary (1974)--was well received by most saints of the church. Those

1

÷. .

who did not like the book were people who either did not cooperate with the writers or who had objected to the project from the start. Pelton and Carden (1976) have just released a second book on serpent-handling. <u>The Persecuted Prophets</u>. On the whole, these books contain numerous photographs and consist of various quotations of church members connected by the author's commentary. The writers emphasize that they are not attempting to be analytical, consistent with saint negative reaction to most evaluative research on their religion. Concerning these religious documentaries, Brother Alfred states: (tape recorded, December, 1974):

> . . its a, very evident when you begin to read these books, a, Tennessee Snake-Handlers and Winston (sic) La Barre's book and what was the other one, a Dew Over Jordan (sic) or somethin' . . . which ever of these books are, are oldest, its an evident fact that the others have picked up their information from these books and in my opinion and, a, neither of these people have ever ever been acquainted with somebody that, a, never been in a service where serpents were taken up because of the things that they say that these people were doin' a, it just doesn't happen. I know hundreds, literally hundreds of people who take up serpents and nothing that any of these people do, though some of them get kind of weird, a nothing that any of them do even approached what these people claim that they saw. A, in my opinion, this is all, a, Dew on Jordan, and a, and a, Tennessee Snake Handlers, which a, has evidently been written, a primarily from newspaper articles probably, and Winston (sic) La Barre's book, these are all just mostly fiction, just somethin' somebody made up because they don't even approach the truth . . . in other words they just say, well this is the way it is and they didn't even bother to document anything . . . and if anybody would care to have something that's, that's a true documentary I'd recommend the, Robert Pelton's new book, the recent book of Robert Pelton's called, They shall take up serpents, a, The Snake Handlers--God Fearers Or Fanatics?. I, I'd recommend that, because I personally know that it is a truidocumentary and its been well documented all

> > Section of the sectio

\$

across the Southeastern part of the United States, in the churches, from first hand experience with the people, and I was instrumental in, in givin' information and helpin' them to obtain information to the peor and what's In that book is the truth. And, this is a true documentary and the others can't be right, because I know hundreds of the people that do it and, none of them even approach the weird things that, that they claim these people do and, the snake-handling is only one small, small, little part. It doesn't taken even as much time as prayin', in their service. . . But La Barre's book and, and The Tennessee Snake-Handlers and all the others, and the newspaper articles, and all the things that have been published about this would lead a person to believe that all they want to do is go to church and handle snakes, if you want to put it that way. . .

Saints are cautious about cooperating with researchers whose work purports to be of a psychological or strictly sociological nature. Saints do, however, often cooperate with students and university faculty members who are doing research providing the researcher can satisfactorily explain the general purposes of the intended work. Brother Alfred, for example, cooperated with Wayne Barrett, a fourth year student at East Tennessee State University who was working on an ethnoscience and video-tape project.³

Similarly, other members of The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name were cooperative and helpful during my "studying." Brother Liston (the pastor), for example, presented me with a "minute book" (a short publication of the church listing beliefs and Scriptural references) that had the following note

³The completed tape, "They Shall Take Up Serpents," was included in the Southern Appalachian Video Ethnography Series circulating tape collection at Johnson City, Tennessee, and consists of a twenty-minute interview with Brother Alfred and excerpts from various church services. It is also interesting

penciled in on the cover: "Jim you can help, St. Mark 13:10." Of course, as cited above, this passage reads: "And the gospel must first be published among all nations." As I came to Newport from "Alberto, Canada" (sic), my writings would help to fulfill that part of the Scripture.

Some members of the church are aware of and have read scientific literature on serpent-handling. Scientific explanations of serpent-handling are sometimes mentioned in sermons and testimonies to emphasize the point that the "spiritual" cannot be understood "in the carnal mind" and to show how "the world" can be counted on to misrepresent "God's people." Brother Alfred, for example, illustrates saints use of scientific literature in this excerpt from a letter that he wrote to me (January 17, 1973):

> . . . But it seems that all of these writers come up with some strange conclusions because they try to explain the spiritual things with carnal reasoning. And the scripture teaches that the carnal mind is in enmity against God. It is not subject to God neither indeed can it be, (not subject to the law of God) Romans 8:7. . . And what is psychology except the reasoning of mens' carnal minds? Psychologist's hysteria was the result of suppressed sexual desires. So this explains La Barre's insenuation (sic) that men who take up serpents are secretly trying to seduce the women in the church. If he had bothered to talk to some of the sincere women in the church he would quickly have found that they couldn't be seduced by man or devil. . .

Scientific accounts as well as distorted news stories are of considerable importance, then, in the maintenance of a

to note that the preceeding excerpt from my interview with Brother Alfred was part of a lengthy typed interview for a monograph that I am writing fro the Video Ethnography Series to accompany Barrett's video tapes. In effect, Brother Alfred was collaborating in the preparation of an analysis of a religious documentary that he was already largely featured in.

community of saints. Obvious distortions are reportable within the group and can serve as the basis of many sermons and testimonies emphasizing the "correct" views and interpretations. This defining and redefining of the "correct" position is important in the ongoing creation of a group as it serves as a means of more precisely formulating the belief system and of creating a specific group identity. Making news in general provides an effective means of establishing a unique boundedness of the community and of emphasizing the notion of a being a "separated people," a "peculiar people"--of maintaining a we-they dichotomy.

Making news is also an effective way of establishing wider social contacts for serpent-handlers, both with saints and with sinners. News stories on the church have attracted religious people of mahy persuasions to "snake hollow" as well as informing serpent-handlers in other localities of the church's existence. The media coverage of the two brothers' deaths in April, 1973 prompted serpent-handlers from Ohio and Kentucky to visit the church, in both cases for the first time. The same news stories inspired a Holiness preacher from Winston-Salem, North Carolina; Pentecostals from Wisconsin; the leader of a well-known southern gospel group from Nashville, Tennessee; and, many others to visit the church. Many of these contacts initiated ongoing relationships with other serpenthandling centers. The leader of the Nashville gospel group began writing a religious book on the church in which he planned

to "accurately" portray the intense spirituality of the saints.⁴

As a result of world wide news coverage of church events, the pastor and assistant pastor have received numerous letters from all parts of the United States, Canada, and occasionally from Britain, Australia, New Zealand, The Phillipines, and India. Regarding these letters and the syndicated news story that they were a response to Brother Liston (field notes November 17, 1972):

> . . . talked about the last days, coming when people start writing about the church, as the Word will reach all across the world before the end. Liston also mentioned that he was spending about 80¢ a day answering all the mail that came in after the article appeared. It took him weeks to do it. He wished that more mail had come in. . .

Some letters contain generous cash contributions or offers of free legal aid, while other people send religious tracts or articles on serpent-handling. Letters also comment on the obvious sincerity of believers and offer the saints encouragement in their legal battles. Still other letters condemn serpent-handling and attempt to discredit members. These letters, like the negative or inaccurate articles cited above, are reportable and form the basis of sermons and conversations emphasizing the "God's people-persecution" theme. Positive letters and cash donations are also discussed as evidence of

"With respect to interaction, news stories about serpent-handling can also serve as a catalyst to county sheriffs to "crack down" on the practice. The resulting encounters provide saints with an additional context in which to bear witness for the "Word" through suffering the "persecution" of imprisonment like the Apostles and saints of old.

ŕ

the pervasiveness of God's message.

Finally, making news is important in the creation of a community of saints as it provides a means through which saints can see their activities reflected and "writ" large. News making is an integral part of North American society. The media not only reflect reality, but also are involved in the creation of a larger facticity for that which it reports. One of the main criteria for making news is reportability-that which creates attention and arouses interest. Although serpent-handling is numerically insignificant in the United States, it is afforded a disproportionate amount of media coverage. This over-reporting of a geographically and numerically restricted phenomenon tends to create the impression of a much larger significance, of an established reality, that is given additional verification through such powerful means as radio, television, and documentary film.

Within the larger communities in which saints live and work, news stories can transform individual saints into local celebrities. For example, once when I was dining with Rev. Liston Pack (1973) at a truck stop near Knoxville (some fifty miles from the church), he was recognized by a waitress who had seen his photograph in a loc newspaper. She immediately informed the other employees of the "personage" in their midst. Similarly, Liston reported that (fieldnotes July 2, 1972):

He drove a load of steel to "Ann Arbor Michigan where an employee at the terminal said, 'You're Liston Pack, the truck driver who handles snakes.". The worker had read about Liston in a newspaper article. It is partially through such encounters that the reality of the religion is reflected, made manifest, and given a greater credence through its recognition by a larger audience.5

tito

2. Scrapbooks

One by-product of making news is the scrapbooks that many saints keep, containing news articles in which they or the church are featured, 8" x 10" photographs provided by journalists, religious tracts and articles received through the mail, positive letters about the faith from non-members, photographs taken by saints, and miscellaneous materials per taining to the church or religious matters in general. When visiting the homes of serpent-handlers one is impressed by these scrapbooks-albums. Tripp (1975), and Vance (1975) mention that scrapbooks are also kept by serpent-handlers in Georgia and Alabama. Usually, those who actually "take up serpents" are more likely to have albums as they is personally featured in a number of articles and photographs.

Saints readily show these albums to visitors and provide appropriate commentary about each item included in their collections. Often particular items will remind a saint of the time that he was converted, first "took up serpents," or some other event of significance in his religious development

⁵The fact that Liston has appeared on local talk shows, as well as on a syndicated show from Detroit, lends further support to my argument.

from sinner to saint. Or, other items are readed solution first days of The Holiness Church to do in the solution of the solut

An interesting dispect of these scrapebooks plot albums is the way that they are organized. Materials are dinot dated and usually not arranged chronologically. Steps secto be included as they are acquired in as they best toton the spaces provided. Sometimes, saints will purchase at adafter years of keeping their materials in a large effector Scrapbooks may contain stems that are not strictly potential to the church, clippings on non-religions snake is the attrict on the "fallacy" of evolution, other religions, etc. " for example, Brother Alfred write, concentrations stated to (letter, January 17, 1973):

Thank you for the zerox (sing topies to my source (sic). I am always interested in getting anything of a religious nature or in other words interest. The religious of the world for my book, as in like to study the doctrines that are out of the religious where the state out of the religious.

In attempting to use these addres as solvered historical documentation, the researcher is trustrated of the fact that many newspaper articles are to the destruction of the and source. Although this may be trustration to the persecit serves as further evidence that serve thandlers in the these materials to establish strict which serves, but ration to preserve momentos of the nature arc spirit of beth subcant and seemingly insignificant events of their spiritual.

•

past. Also, saints probably do not spend time concerning themselves with scholarly documentation practices as they rely on individual and group recollections to fill in the appropriate details when required to do so. This is one of the most important bases of the organizational styles : serpent-handlers as opposed to that of the historian. If asked about a particular undated article, the saint will probably be able to locate it generally with respect to i particular time and place, as well as provide commentary on the event's features that are of interest from a spiritual rather than a carnal point of view.

By way of illustration of the contents of scrapbooks, Brother Jimmy Williams' photo album-scrapbook contained the following items: (scrapbook lent courtesy of Jimmy Williams, December, 1972):

Newspaper clippings and articles containing the following headlines:

- 1. "Bitten Handler of Snake 'Fine'" (Big Stone 31, 74
- 2. "Rattler's Bite At Religious Service Fatal" (Covington, Ky., February 20).
- 3. "Church Snake Bite Fatal to Man ++" Jellis, Tenn., Jan. 20).
- "Minister Bitten by Snake, Lies" Elneville, Kyl. Nov. 5).
- 5. "Minister Dies of Snakebite in "Linch Rite" Bit Stone, Gap)
- + ... "'Dead' Snake Kills Man" Camden, S. ... (Carnal Lette
- 7. "4-Year Old Child Bitten by Snake" Del Ri , Tenn. [carnal Lore].
- 8. "Snake-Handling Scene" (Picture of Tent & Coy Barnes in Sevierville)
- 9. No title--woman died of snake-bite wharleston, William
- 10. "Snake Handlers Charged With Disturbance at Del F. Church"

- "Two Snakehandlers Bitten, One Critical" 11. (Sevierville, Tekn.) Picture with caption and untitles article (Green-12. ville, July 9) "Faith Demonstration--Snakes Patted, Petted At 13. Revival Meeting" Photo, caption -- "Pulpit and Snakepit" 14. "Snakehandlers Are Irked" (Newport, Jan. 2) 15. "Snake-Handler Loses Grip But Serpent Doesn'. 16. (Newport) "Snakehandler Found Guilty In Circuit Court" 17. "It's In The Book" (Kingsport Times-News, Sunday, 18. Aug. 15, 1971) "Strong Faith Emphasized In Newport Holiness Church" 19. (Newport Plain-Talk, Sept. 29, 1970) "Man Get Jail Term I. Snake Case" (Wise, Va., 20. Oct. 24) "Snake Handling Results In Guilty Judgement" "Snake-Bitten Man Loses Job In Morristown: 21. 22. "Bitten Snakehandler 'Couldr't 🎥 Healthier'" 23. No Title (Article from The Greenville News, S.C., 24. March 12, 1972) A Photo with caption 25.
- 26. A want ad for "Poisonous Snakes"
- 27. A cartoon sketch entitled "Intellectual Gap Missing" (depicts a serpent-handler's view of Garden of Eden account.

In most of the above items, the date and source were not provided by Jimmy Williams. The only available information of this sort is that which incidentally appears on the articles themselves. Also, in some of the articles that have been mailed to saints or provided by visitors, album owners are often not certain of time, place, or circumstances. Although, at the time I'did not note the exact arrangement of items in Brother Williams' scrapbook, it is clear that a strict chronological principle is not operative.

Brother Jimmy's album also included a number of 8" by 10" photographs that were provided by various freelance photographers and news reporters. There were at least ten to fifteer.

of these in the album, including at least two or three photos from a Chester, South Carolina serpent-handling church in the late 1940's. Jimmy Williams was featured in many of the photographs and newspaper articles.

Finally, saints sometimes have framed photographs of themselves handling serpents, hanging on the walls of their living rooms. Similarly, "preacher's credentials" indicating when the preacher was "ordained" are framed and hung on living walls in a saint's home. Both of these items serve to document and preserve significant events in a saint's religious life.

In conclusion, scrapbooks are one of the most common documentary sources in a serpent-handling community. These books provide a wealth of historical information on particular churches, plus provide some insight into how saints organize and utilize these documentary materials (strict chronology not followed). The fact that many saints keep scrapbooks is significant, as these books can be seen as ongoing chronicles of individual and group religious biographies. As such, they afford tangible evidence of the unique shared focus that provides a special identity to serpent-handling saints.

3. Tape Recordings

Jimmy Williams, as well as other saints, occasionally tape recorded church services and the church's weekly radio broadcast. At some services, as many as two or three saints have had cassette tape recorders. Brother Ralph Eslinger,

for example, taped almost every service during the winter, spring, and summer of 1973, including the April 7, 1973 service during which Jimmy Williams and Buford Pack consumed lethal doses of strychnine. Brother Ralph stores his tapes in metal fishing tackle boxes. The tapes are not labelled or ordered in any way. I spent considerable time listening to Talph's tapes and provided him with a list of contents, dates, and places, where possible. Although I had Ralph's permission to do this, it did not seem to matter to him whether or not they were organized. My ordering was primarily of use to me rather than to Brother Ralph and the church.

Saints in the community sometimes borrow tapes from Ralph when they want to hear a particular sermon or spiritual song. Prefers sometimes use these tapes to monitor their own preaching and to help "get in the spirit" for impending sermons.

In recent time, however, the tapes have taken on an added significance. After the deaths of the two church brothers in 1973, many saints of the church listened to the tapes of that particular service to settle a hotly debated question--namely, did Buford state during the service prior to his death that a funeral would take place at the church within four days?⁶ Tapes are now often used to settle such disputes

X

⁶Inthis case, the tapes did not solve the issue as that part of the service either was erased by Ralph's children or was not recorded because Ralph was changing the or because he was unaware that the tape had run out.

when controversy develops over the content or wording of particular sermons.

Of minor importance regarding tape recordings are cases where saints volunteer to "make a tape" for educational purposes. In the fall of 1972, for example, I asked Brother Ralph if I could tape an interview with him. He said that he would prefer if I let him use the tape recorder so that he could "make a tape" in private. Ralph's documentary tape was not chronologically ordered, did not provide exact dates, and on the whole, was a free ranging spiritual monologue aimed at my university students to help them better understand the religion. Similarly, three teenage church brothers quite willingly produced a tape for me in the fall of 1972. I provided the initial suggestion, but it was largely organized and presented by them. This tape also confirmed to the principles of ordering and style that have been discussed to this point.

4. Hand-Written Records

Considerable emphasis is given in the literature on serpent-handling concerning the fact that saints do not keep written records. Gerrard (19662:11): "Because of a family" background of illiteracy, there are few documents or records, and even the family Bible is apt to have no hand-written chronology." Or, Tripp (1975:20), states that: "History of serpent-handling is scant since the churches have generally

eschewed written records . . . ".

1

While in general I would agree with the above conclusions, some written records are kept, at The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name. Saints sometimes record important events in their lives or in the life of the church on the pages provided in family Bibles or on separate sheets of paper. For example, in a section of the Bible designated, "Events To Remember In the Life Of Our Family," Rev. Jimmy Williams included two items of interest: (1) a brief description of the details of the founding of the, the and, (2) a statement of how he wanted high man to be conducted. The important point to be made company this documentation is the church's formation, an exact date that in the d the early Spring of 1969) and only the was not prove For Rev. Williams and other saints of basic facts ap red. the church, however, there was no need to record a specific date, as members would already have access to that knowledge through oral tradition, making precise historical reckoning unnecessary.⁷

Also, saints sometimes write a synopsis of dreams and prophecies so as to preserve an accurate record in case future

[']This mode of recording events can be contrasted to the way that Williams' military record is recorded in the Bible. On his military record, the exact dates of entering and discharge from service were recorded. Military service could be conceived of as an event bounded in time as opposed to an ongoing process such as the creation of a community of saints. In dealing with a military record, one could not rely on the background knowledge of a community to make sense of that which



events should validate their significance. Brother Alfred, for example, kept notes on his dreams concerning conflict in the church. He did not divulge the contents of these records, not even to his wife. He showed them to me, however, trusting that I would respect his wishes and not report on these dreams, as they were potentially socially disruptive to the church.

5. Saints' Printing Practices

One final[®]type of documentary practice is the printing of "minute books," religious notices and signs, preacher's calling cards, newspaper advertisements, and want ads. Taken as a whole, these types of materials serve as but another means of promoting and making public the religion.

"Minute Books" are small pamphlets of eight to ten pages that list the church's basic beliefs and cite their Biblical justifications. These are distributed to saints as well as to sinners, and are mailed to pople who write, requesting information on the church.

Religious notices and signs are usually printed tracts that are used to advertise revivals, special singing services, and or the establishment of a new congregation. These, along with newspaper advertisements, are utilized several times a year by the church or by particular preachers.

was not specifically written. Willaims' family Bible also contained a written record of his marriage and the birth dates of their three children. Exact dates were recorded for these significant events. Other explanations are possible here. This is more suggestive than conclusive.

Most preachers distribute calling cards. These cards often contain a Biblical verse or a sketch of an open Bible, plus the preacher's name, phone number, and church affiliation. Calling cards help to maintain the image of the preacher as a person of importance. The cards also serve as a very practical function. Cards are given to sinners. In the event of spiritual need, the sinner will be able to locate the preacher relatively easily. Such contacts often serve as a means of recruiting new members into the church.

6. Documentary Practices - A Conclusion

In the aggregate, the practices described in the preceeding pages contribute to the fostering of an image of the church as being important. Through various documentary practices, of mich making news is the most important, the community establishes links with people outside the group which provide important resources for further development of the community of serpent-handlers. Through these various practices, saints construct religious biographies, as well as bring about the fulfillment of one prophecied condition necessary for the second coming of Christ (i.e., that the gospel must first be published).

THE ORIGIN AND EARLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD IN JESUS NAME

In looking at the origin and development of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name three major questions will be discussed: one, who formed the church and under what circumstances was it founded; two, what types of events occurred in the church's development; and, three, how did (do) members report on these events? Saints' folk accounts of the church's past will be integrated into the overall discussion rather than be presented in a separate section. 'At this level of micro analysis the researcher must rely on oral accounts, personal observations, and the artifacts of saints' documentary practices (broadly defined), making it 'impractical to analytically separate the modes of reconstructing the past.

The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name was established in the Spring of 1969. As recorded by Rev. Jimmy Williams in the family Bible:

> 1. Rev. Jimmy R. Williams Alfred Ball Liston Pack Walter Newcombe Established Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name at Newport Tennessee in the early spring of 1969 near Carson Springs Community on old Sevierville Road.

The simplicity and brevity of Brother Jimmy's account of the church's founding masks the complexity of the event (at least for non-members). For members, the fact that an exact founding

date, precise geographical location, and more specific details are lacking is not problematic. Namely, accounts such as this are premised on members' shared background knowledge and on their ability to fill in the gaps, vis-a-vis various notions of the spiritual significance of the church's establishment. This relates to Goodridge's (1962:18) discussion of <u>Piers The Ploughman</u> in which "truth" is constructed as . . . "something to be appropriated to oneself, not merely understood by the mind.," Brother Ralph Eslinger's testimony on the formation of the church illustrates this spiritual appropriation of the church's history (tape recorded December 13, 1972):

> I Ralph Eslinger, being a minister of the gospel, and I, I come out of the Methodist into the Baptist, Baptist into the Holiness. And all in my church I • walk, I know that a greater desire couldn't find out what it was and this Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name come out. I started a goin' to this church and I knowd that I, that's what I'd been looking for. I knowd that that was true and it was the pure Word of God. . . I've had a few questions asked me about where the people come from that made up the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name. There're come from 11 walks of life, some of em' been Baptist, Presbyterian, Holiness and they, they want to stick to the old pathway, the old traditions of God. And they came out of different churches and assemble themselves together and set up the church which is called the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name. There, God is the head of the church. There, we foller his guidance and we don't use any literature at all, we use the holy Bible, King James version Bible. . .

Given Brother Ralph's view, the establishment of the church is not seen as an isolated, discrete event in the past, but rather as a culmination of saints' searchings for a

more pure form of worship and "Christian" community.

Prior to the emergence of the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name, Jimmy Williams, Alfred Ball, Liston Pack, and Walter Newcombe⁸ along with a number of other brothers and sisters, had been participants at the Sand Hill Church of God In Jesus Name, which was located in an isolated rural valley near Del Rio, Tennessee in Cocke County. Serpenthandling had been practiced at the Sand Hill Church in the late 1940's and early 1950's, but because of legal difficulties over incidents of serpent-bite, etc., which led to factionalism in the church, the practice was discontinued there sometime in the 1950's.⁹ Regarding this incident, Brother Alfred Ball recalled in a tape-recorded interview with me-(December 1974):

⁸Williams, Ball, and Pace and ardent converts to serpent-handling in their mid-tweek, while Newcombe was a retired professional soldier in harden te fifties who, after years of travel, returned to his native home in the East Tennessee Mountains. Pack and Ball were reformed petty lawbreakers and Jimmy Williams was an ex-Navy man from South Carolina who had participated in the Cuban Missile blockade,

⁹Specifically, a young boy, Johnny Raines, suffered permanent injury to his hand from a snake-bite received during a service at Sand Hill. Raines, who allegedly had handled serpents prior to this incident, was handed the snake by an adult church member. A court case resulted and the member responsible for giving Raines the snake was sentenced to a six month jail term in the Knoxville workhouse. According to reports, the judge enjoined the others at the church to discontinue snake-handling (from conversation with Jimmy Williams, December 15, 1972). There is some confusion on this point, however, as some of the older Sand Hill participants who currently worship at the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name deny that they no longer "take up serpents" because of the judge's admonition.

RJB: Did the Sand Hill Church believe in taking upserpents and working in the other signs?

Alfred: Un, well, apparently they claimed they did, Course they give us some trouble at a later date over it, but they did teach it to us. Some of the people believed in it.

RJB: What would cause, what caused the Sand Hill Church to quit taking up serpents and to quit believing in that part of the Bible. . .

Alfred: Well, I, I think, some of the people there to this very day still believe in it, but I think what actually brought about their stoppin' takin' up serpents was they had a man there, somethin' like 22, or 3 years ago now, it would have been that long, that got out of the will of God and out of knowledge, out of just plain common knowledge and he placed a rattlesnake up on a boy who had been takin' up serpents, now this wasn't somebody that never had done it. It was a boy that had been takin' up serpents, and had evidently backslid₁ at the time or, anyway, he had been takin' up serpents and this preacher put one, hung one around his neck and it bit him and he almost died this boy.

RJB: It bit him on the face?

Alfred: On the hand, and he, he lost, lost his hand, or the use of it after that and he almost died because of this man not using wisdom.

RJB: And what happened about 20 years ago?

Alfred: Something like 23 year ago now or .4, meybe even 24, now, I guess. Probably closer to 25 years ago at this date when that happened and it, that really caused them a lot of trouble and they kind of got away from it and a lot of the people just left the faith after that, and, of course, some of them still held onto it. . .

Although serpent-handling was discontinued at Sand Hill, the practice continued to take place in Cocke and Sevier Counties on an irregular basis when travelling Evangelists from Virginia, South Carolina, other parts of Tennessee, etc., held tent revivals in the area dyring the 1950's and 1960's. These tent revivals evidently attracted people from a fairly wide area. A revival held in Sevierville, Tennessee sometime around 1965 is illustrative. Two seipent handlers were bitten at thys revival and it therefore received pred coverage. One of the bitten men was reported to by 22 year old Coy Barnes, a Sevierville brick mason. Reseve 🏎 🖬 Big Stone Gap, Virginia was the other snakebite vertim. Mullins and a Rev. Pepper from Virginia were said to have furnished the snakes for the Sevierville revival. Supersedly, Barnes had been practicing snake-handling in the Sevierville area for some six months at the time of the snakebit in ident It is interesting to note that: ". . . the sheriff said te was told several persons from Virginia, and North Car line, and some from Newport, were at the Sunday night meeting" (Knoxville News-Sentinel, Edward V. Hall, reporters to p Scrapbook collection of Jimmy Williams, not dated, approximate date provided by Jimmy Williams in conversation of Secember 15, 1972).

Williams, Ball, and Pack, as well as other in theirs and sisters who later became "charter" members 5: the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name, attended tent revivals, similar to the one cited above, in which serpent-handling took god to Also, during the late 1960's, Williams and Ball attended services at the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name at F : Stone Gap, Virginia, where serpent-handling was practiced.

In August of 1967, Oscar Feltroy if the Report Fermion died of a rattlessake bate. This oncor ed we composition the serpent's fungs had at been pulled as 5.254* from claims were authentic, as Feltrey had successfully the "victory" over poisongus snakes on many drevels. As a space

Concerning the saints' is seminar to the saints' is seminar to the saint of the Helphers the tensor tensor the tensor tens

Alfred: Yes, 1969 in the spring is when this particular thirth began. And, the perplet that organized this church learned about this faith from another local church who had in turn learned it some twenty, thirty, some, between twenty, and thirty year ago from a church in Big Stone Gap, Virginia, which was in operation, L"anderstand, for somethic close oh, thirty some years. So, it will probably in tarthirty-five or forty years locally, with controls in it, in the snake, a serpert handline

RJB: Was that the charact at and ap

Altred: Sand B.L.

RIB: Sand Hill

Altred: Yes, they, they at cantesing on explosion Sand Hill learned about the faith from the plottest come out of the church is Big Stone Gap out of the church is Big Stone Gap out of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name Church in Big Stone Gap has been there to compare like 32 or 3 year.

RUB: Did the people who started The holidese spectra of God In Jesus Name, they all went to Sand Started before they started the church.

¹⁰ The question could be raised what impact my protection to Alfred had on the structure and content of his recollect I would say very little as the taped interview was a consc. performance for both Alfred and myself for the benefit for the Video Ethnography Series monography I was working state

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•	•
	30618				
•	National Library of Canada	Bibliothèque nationale du Canada	CANADIAN THESES	THÈSES CAN ÀÓIENNES SUR MICROFICHE	
	- ·			-	•
				- -	
4	-	· .			
	1			•	
AME O	FAUTHOR/NOW DE L		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · ·
TLE O	THESIS / TITRE DE LA	A THÈSE TOWARD THE	Jreation Of A Comm	unity of Saints	
		,	·····	.	
	``````````````````````````````````````				
IIVER:	SITY/UNIVERSITE	University Of	Alberta	• \ •	
EGREE GRAD	FOR WHICH THESIS W E POUR LEQUEL CETT	NAS MESENTED	D		
		*	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-	
ear th	IIS DEGREE CONFERM	• ED/ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE G	MADE 1976	P	
ear th	IIS DEGREE CONFERM	+	MADE 1976	۶ 	
AR TH	IIS DEGREE CONFERN	• ED/ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE G	. Regna Darnell	par la présente, accordée à la BIBL	IOTHÈ-
AR TH Ame C	IIS DEGREE CONFERM F SUPERVISOR/ <i>NOM (</i> sion is hereby gra	ED/ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE G	N OF L'eutorisetion est, p	per la présente, accordée à la BIBL U CANADA de microffimer cette ti	
AR TH AME O FITTISI	HIS DEGREE CONFERM F SUPERVISOR/ <i>NOM I</i> High is hereby gra DA to microfilm thi	ED/ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE G	MADE 1976 • Regna Darnell N OF L'eutorisetion est, p opics QUE NATIONALE DO	1	
AR TH AME C Brmiss ANAC	HIS DEGREE CONFERM F SUPERVISOR/ <i>NOM I</i> sion is hereby gra DA to microfilm thi	ED/ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE G	MADE <u>1976</u> <u>Regna Darnell</u> NOF L'eutorisetion'est, p ppice QUE NATIONALE DO de prêter ou de vendo	U CANADA de microfilmer cette ti	hðse el
AME C AME C Brmiss ANAC F the f	IIS DEGREE CONFERM F SUPERVISOR/NOM ( sion is hereby gra DA to microfilm thi film, thor reserves other	ED/ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE G DU DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE DE Inted to the NATIONAL LIBRAR is thesis and to lend or sell co	MADE <u>1976</u> <u>Regna Darnell</u> N OF L'autorisation ² est, p ppice QUE NATIONALE DO de prêter ou de vendo r the L'auteur se réserve	U CANADA de microffimer cette u re des exemplaires du film.	hèse et n; ni la
EAR TH AME O Ormisi ANAC f the f he au	IIS DEGREE CONFERM F SUPERVISOR/NOM ( Sion is hereby gra DA to microfilm thi film. thor reserves other nor extensive extra	ED/ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE G DU DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE DE Inted to the NATIONAL LIBRAR is thesis and to lend or sell co publication rights, and naithe	MADE <u>1976</u> <u>Regna Darnell</u> N OF L'autorisation ² est, p ppice QUE NATIONALE DO de prêter ou de venda r the L'auteur se réserve ther- thèse ni de longs ext	U CANADA de microffimer cette li re des exemplaires du film. les autres droits de publication	hàse et n: ni la nprimás
EAR TH AME O Ormiss CANAC f the f he au hesis	IIS DEGREE CONFERM F SUPERVISOR/NOM ( Sion is hereby gra DA to microfilm thi film. Thor reserves other nor extensive extra aproduced without th	ED/ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE G DU DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE <u>Dr</u> Inted to the NATIONAL LIBRAR is thesis and to lend or sell co publication rights, and naithe acts from it may be printed or o he author's written permission.	ADE <u>1976</u> <u>Regna Darnell</u> NOE L'autorisation'est, p pies QUE NATIONALE DU de prêter ou de vendu r the L'autour se réserve ther- thèse ni de longs ext ou autrement reprodu	U CANADA de microffimer cette ti re des exemplaires du film. • les autres droits de publication craits de celle-ci ne doivent être in nits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'	hèse et n: ni la nprimés
EAR TH AME O Ormiss CANAC f the f he au hesis	IIS DEGREE CONFERM F SUPERVISOR/NOW ( Sion is hereby gra DA to microfilm thi film. That reserves other nar extensive extra aproduced without th	ED/ANWÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE G DU DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE <u>Dr</u> Inted to the NATIONAL LIBRAR is thesis and to lend or sell co publication rights, and naithe acts from it may be printed or o he author's written permission.	NADE <u>1976</u> <u>Regna Darnell</u> NOE L'autorisation'est, p poise QUE NATIONALE DO de prêter ou de vende the L'autour se réserve ther- thèse ni de longs ext ou autrement reprodu	U CANADA de microffimer cette ti re des exemplaires du film. • les autres droits de publication craits de celle-ci ne doivent être in nits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'	hèse et n: ni la nprimés
EAR TH IAME O Permissi CANAE of the 1 The au thesis wise m	IIS DEGREE CONFERM F SUPERVISOR/NOM ( Sion is hereby gra DA to microfilm thi film. Thor reserves other nor extensive extra aproduced without th	ED/ANWÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE G DU DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE <u>Dr</u> Inted to the NATIONAL LIBRAR is thesis and to lend or sell co publication rights, and naithe acts from it may be printed or o he author's written permission.	ADE <u>1976</u> <u>Regna Darnell</u> NOE L'autorisation'est, p pies QUE NATIONALE DU de prêter ou de vendu r the L'autour se réserve ther- thèse ni de longs ext ou autrement reprodu	U CANADA de microffimer cette ti re des exemplaires du film. • les autres droits de publication traits de celle-ci ne doivent être in hits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'	hèse et n: ni la nprimés

#### INFORMATION TO USERS

## THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

This copy was produced from a microfiche copy of the original document. The quality of the copy is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

PLEASE NOTE: Some pages may have indistinct print. Filmed as received.

#### AVIS AUX USAGERS

,

### LA THESE A ETE MICROFILMEE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS RECUE

Cette copie a été faite à partir d'une microfiche du document original. La qualité de la copie dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise pour le microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

NOTA BENE: La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer. Microfilmee telle que nous l'avons reçue.

____

Division des thèses canadiennes Direction du catalogage Bibliothèque nationale du Canada Ottawa, Canada KIA CN4

Canadian Theses Division Cataloguing Branch National Library of Canada Ottawa, Canada KIA ON4 THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

TOWARD THE CREATION OF A COMMUNITY OF SAINTS

` 🍾

0

by

ROY JAMES BIRCKHEAD

## A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FOLFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF ANTHROPOLOGY

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

FALL, 1976

A

## THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thusis edtitled "Toward the Creation of A Community of Saints" submitted by Roy James Birckhead in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Keyra Darnell

Ð

Examiner External

#### ABSTRACT

÷

This thesis is an ethnographic study of ways in which members of an Appalachian serpent-handling church give meaning to their acts and create a sense of community and distinctive identity as "saints" and "apostles". Through analysis of myth-making, rites, and "accounting practices" an attempt is made to isolate the underlying, invariable rules of community membership. Four non-negotiable premises are isolated and examined as the basis from which the religion is generated and organized. In doing so, serpent-handlers' concepts, utilization, and management of supernatural power are examined and seen as central to community identity. A number of specific cases and examples are given.

#### PREFACE

This thesis is an ethnographic study of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name in Carson Springs, Tennessee. This church, formed in 1969, has a fluctuating membership averaging abour fifty persons who commonly refer to one another as "saints", "apostles", "snake or serpenthandlers", God's people", or "Holiness people". The church is one of abour 35 independent Pentecostal-Holiness congrega-" tions in Appalachia, the "Deep South", and the Midwestern United States which handle poisonous snakes and fire and drink poisons as routine features of worship.

Since the beginning of the religion in about 1909, 25 to 35 members have died from anakebites or poison, and many others have been bitten by anakes. Two members of The Holiness church Of God In Jesus Name died of strychnine consumed during a church service on April 7, 1973. Despite injury and death from these causes and and concomitant legal difficulties, the religion, as a whole, appears to be growing in numbers of participants and of independent churches, contrary to predictions of its imminent demise made by writers in the 1960's and early 1970's (e.g., La Barre 1962a). Since 1973, three new, independent congregations with 20 to 100 members have been formed by former participants of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name.

See Appendix I for Serpent-Handling Lexicon.

This research was prompted by a desire to make sense of a religion that to outsiders seems bisarre, incomprehensible, or irrational. Initially, I sought to explain serpenthandling by viewing it as an acculturative response to the rapid industrialization and resultant shifts of population in Appalachia from farmer to coal camps, company towns, and urban industria ckhead 1971, 1972). From this perspective I tries to determine whether "cult" participation was functional or dysfunctional for its members. I abandoned this attempt, as the issue of functional versus dysfunctional significance appeared to impose on the religion an arbitrary simplicity and uniformity that obscured important aspects of its practice. Moreover, it soon became apparent that a study with these goals would be very difficult to do. Ny task "would have been to examine the lives of all members and, on this basis, judge whether participation for each person was functionally positive or negative, a procedure which inevitably would involve value judgments and would have no bearing on many other questions one might ask regarding the religious behavior of these people.

In all of my field research with the group I have tried to examine behavior from the perspective of the actor. I participated in a wide range of formal and informal rites and other events of the group. By this means I was able to collect and systematize a lexicon of terms peculiar to the group, note rules of procedure as applied in various contexts, and gain an idea of the ways in which members made sense of their behavior. My principal aim was to understand the motivating concerns of the saints and the principles underlying their actions. Their religion centers upon a belief in supernatural power. The centrality of this idea is reflected in their lexicon, rules, rites, social organization, eschatology, and decision-making, controversies, leadership, folklore and is integral to their everyday experiences. The chapters which follow present a detailed interpretation following this line of thought.

I have not disguised the names growints or their geographical locations for two reasons. The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Hame has received so much publicity since the strychnine deaths of two members that it would be virtually impossible to disguise the group effectively. Two popular > books (Pelton and Carden 1974, 1976), a video tape production (Barrett 1973), television documentaries, an educational film, a number of radio and television interviews, and innumerable newspaper articles have been produced on this church. Disguising the location of the group is unnecessary since its members do not ordinarily attempt to conceal their practices from the public at large. On the whole, members are more than willing to present the gospel to a wider audience than fellow saints and often take pride in doing so. In part, a saint's validation of status is achieved through "witnessing" to non-believers. Pailure on.my part to acknowledge the often

artful opel productions of members would, I think be doing them a disservice. As recognized by Goldstein (1964:58): ". . . the collector must remember that his informants have egos not unlike his own, and that they may achieve great satisfaction in knowing that their names and contributions are recorded in print". I have tried to use discretion, or have not used at all, material that I regard as "sensitive", private, or potentially disruptive to the community. It is my sincere hope that to the members of the church, this account is accurate and inoffensive.

For fear of overstatement, I feel constrained to qualify my statement that this account describes the saints and their behaviors from their own point of view. For brief 'periods I was sometimes able to shed my ordinary assumptions and views of the world but, of course, I did not become a saint in the sense of seeing the world through the "spiritual mind" or experiencing an infusion of power. From the perspective of the saints, then, this study suffers from inherent limitations since I have no personal knowledge of certain experiences important to them. I am aware also that my account reflects the tension between my perspectives as a participant in community life and as an anthropologist who must make some theoretical sense of his subjects of study, and I trust that saints as well as fellow anthropologists will understand the problems of attempting to translate one . conceptual system into the logic and terminology of enother.

-

#### ACKNOWLEDGENENTS

This study could never have been completed without the help and cooperation of many individuals.

1

5

Drs. Michael Asch, Regna Darnell, C. Roderick Wilson, and David Young served on the study and dissertation committee and provided guidance and intellectual stimulation throughout the course of this project. Dr. Edward Norbeck of Rice University and Dr. Robert Papen of College St. Jean willingly served as my external examiners. I especially appreciate Dr. Norbeck's excellent editorial suggestions and substantive criticisms. Drs. Harold Barclay, Allen Carlson, and Anthony L. Vanek also contributed.

I ove special thanks to Dr. Regna Darnell, thesis director, friend, graduate advisor, and creative anthropologist. The specific focus and approach of the study emerged largely from my seminars, reading courses, and conversations over tea with her.

I thank fellow researchers Dr. Nathan Gerrard, Louise Gerrard, Steven Kane, Dr. Kirk Elifson, Peggy Tripp, Deborah Levy, Kevin Miller, Dr. Ellen Stekert; and writers, Robert Pelson and Karen Carden for generously sharing ideas, news clippings, photographs, or unpublished manuscripts and papers.

Additionally, I thank a number of close friends in the South and in Alberta for their sncouragement and support and

A ....

for sharing the joys and sorrows of fieldwork and thesis writing with me.

Of course, I appreciate the patience, friendship, hospitality, and help given by the members of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, and of the other churches that I visited. The late Reverend Jimmy Williams, Nary Kate Williams, the late Reverend Buford Pack, Reverend Alfred Ball, Eunice Ball, Brother Liston Pack, Nellie Pack, Gene Pack, Lester Ball, Ralph and Bea Eslinger, Jackie Eslinger, Reverend Clyde Ricker, Bob and Barb Fraley, Paul Stidham, Floyd McCall, Robert and Agnes Grooms, and many others deserve special mention.

I am grateful to Wendy Walker-Birckhead for introducing me to ethnomethodology, editing innumerable manuscripts, providing insight and criticism, and for her loving support and patience throughout the difficult months of writing.

Finally, I dedicate this thesis to my grandfather, Roy Birckhead, whose many questions, long term interest, and faith helped sustain the project from its inception.
# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER	Ŧ	PAGE
Ι.	INTRODUCTION	1
	THE THEORETICAL PROBLEM	1
	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	9
	DATA COLLECTION	18
	CHAPTER CONCLUSION	22
II.	HISTORIES OF SERPENT-HANDLING	24
	THE ORIGIN AND DEVELOPMENT OF SERPENT-	
	HANDLING: A CONCEPTUAL PERSPECTIVE FROM	
	RELIGIOUS HISTORY	25
	THE ORIGINS AND DIFFUSION OF SERPENT-	
	HANDLING	33
	A NEMBERS' HISTORY OF SERPENT-HANDLING	43
	CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS	52
III.	THE HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD IN JESUS NAME	
	DOCUMENTARY PRACTICES, ORIGIN, AND DEVELOPMENT	54
	DOCUMENTARY PRACTICES	55
	THE ORIGIN AND BARLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE	
	HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD IN JESUS NAME	76
	THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD	
	IN JESUS NAME 1970 TO THE PRESENT	87
	CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS	98

l 1

/ **xi** 

、 **•** 

CHAPTER

~

IV.	THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC SITUATION OF A COMMUNITY	
	OF SAINTS	100
	SERPENT-HANDLING AND SOCIETY	100
	THE HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD IN JESUS NAME	
	AND ITS SOCIO-ECONOMIC SITUATION	11,4
	CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS	11+
۷.	A COMMUNITY OF SAINTS: DEFINITION AND IDENTITY	11+
	A COMMUNITY OF SAINTS DEFINED	116
	A SEPARATED PEOPLE	126
	AN IDENTITY IN FLUX	1 + '
	CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS	144
VI.	SOCIAL AND ACTIVTY STRUCTURE OF A COMMUNITY	
	OF SAINTS	146
	GENERAL STRUCTURAL CONSIDERATIONS	146
,	INTERNAL STRUCTURE AND LEADERSHIP	151
	ACTIVITY STRUCTURE	160
	CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS	168
VII.	THE CONCEPT OF POWER	170
	POWER AS DEFINED BY SAINTS	170
	ANOINTING	173
	ACQUISITION OF POWER	182
`,	THE USE OF POWER	190
	CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS	229
VIII.	POWER AS PROBLEMATIC	231
	POWER AND PREACHING	232

CHAPTER	١ د	PAGE
	WHEN SIGNS FAIL	239
	ANALYSIS AND CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS	278
IX.	SUMMARY AND CONSLUSIONS	291
REFERENCI	ES CITED	300
APPENDIC	ES	314
	APPENDIX I: A SERPENT-HANDLING LEXICON	315
	APPENDIX II: SELECTED SOCIO-ECONOMIC CHARACTER-	
	ISTICS, COCKE COUNTY, TENNESSEE	,
	(U.S. CENSUS, 1970)	321
VITA		326

-1

•

.

ŧ

.

# LIST OF TABLES

•

.

,

TABLE		PAGE
I	YEARS OF SCHOOL COMPLETED, COCKE COUNTY,	
<b>`</b>	(RURAL NON-FARM)	322
II	MANUFACTURING IN COCKE COUNTY, TENNESSEE	323
III	PROFESSIONAL AND WHITE COLLAR EMPLOYMENT,	•
•	COCKE COUNTY, 1970	324
IV	INCOME OF ALL FAMILIES, COCKE COUNTY, 1970 .	325

•

٠

.

ł

ý

.

.

,

xiv

·

۰.

### LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	PAGE
I	DIVERSITY OF OPERATIONS (ADMINISTRATIONS)	181
. 11	IDEAL FEATURES FOR THE ACQUISITION OF	
	ANOINTING POWER	189
· 111	DECISION-MAKINGSERPENT-BITE DEATH	283
IV	HEDGE IS BROKEN	285
V -	DECISION-MAKINGSERPENT-BITE, WITHOUT INJURY	287

÷

,

٠

•

. ....

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

#### THE THEORETICAL PROBLEM

The handling of serpents by members of modern religious sects of the United States rests upon the belief that participants gain access to supernatural power, as described in the Bible. The religion's lexicon, rules, rites, social organizations, and folklore all reflect the centrality of a belief in supernatural power useful in human life. Through analysis of the myths, rites, and "accounting" practices of one of these sects, this study presents an interpretation of the ways in which members give meaning to their acts and create a sense of community and distinctive identity as saints and apostles.

Ny approach is primarily ethnographic. Ethnography as conceptualized here departs from the traditional textbook definition of ". . . a descriptive account of customs of a group of people" (Aceves 1974:5). Rather, following the work of Frake (1961, 1964a, 1964b, 1972), Goodenough (1956, 1961, 1963, 1964, 1965) Hymes (1964, 1969, 1972, 1973), Spradley (1970, 1972), Spradley and McCurdy (1975), Sturtevant (1964), Tyler (1969), and Wallace (1962). I conceive ethnography as being a theoretic-analytic enterprise that may be

seen as a ". . . legitimate end in itself" (Quinn 1975:22, after Goodenough 1956:37). A description follows of the main assumptions and procedures of ethnographic analysis as used in this study.

 $\mathbb{O}$ 

First, following Goodenough (1964:11), a distinction is made between ". . . the phenomenal order of observed events and the regularities they exhibit", and "the ideational order . . . of ideal forms as they exist in people's minds." Furthermore, ". . . as an organization of past experience, the ideational order is a means for organizing and interpreting new experience" (Ibid.). This insight has considerable importance for ethnographic analysis as, ". . . the phenomenal order of a community, its characteristic 'way of life' is an artifact of the ideational order of its members" (Ibid., p. 12). Goodenough (1964:11) also notes the confusion that results when anthropologists neglect to distinguish between the two orders. Traditional ethnographies often remain at the level of classifying and ordering observed events within the phenomenal realm. Keeping this distinction in mind, the goals of ethnography can be delineated further.

Second, the purpose of ethnography is to probe "... beneath the complexity of observed events to seek the underlying invariances" (Keesing 1971:37). The concern, here, is with rules or knolwedge that explain and/or organize surface diversity of the phenomenal world. Thus, the ethnographer (Frake 1964b:132):

... seeks to describe an infinite set of variable messages as manifestations of a finite shared code, the code being a set of rules for the socially appropriate construction and interpretation of messages (socially interpretable acts and artifacts).

Third, Frake goes on to posit that the purpose of ethnography is interpretation rather than prediction. He (<u>Ibid.</u>, p. 133) concludes that:

The model of an ethnographic statement is not: 'if a person is confronted with stimulus X, he will do Y,' but 'if a person is 'in situation X, performance Y will be judged appropriate by native actors'.

To describe a culture, then, is not to recount the events of a society but to specify what one must know to make those events maximally probable. The problem is not to state what someone did but to specify the conditions under which it is culturally appropriate to anticipate that he, or persons occupying his role, will render an equivalent performance.

To reiterate then, in this study I am differentiating between observed behavior and underlying knowledge and, making that distinction, I am interested in the dynamic interrelationship between underlying principles and behavior. My specific emphasis is on member's ongoing making sense and interpretations of the meaning of social interactions.

The definitions and conceptions of ethnography delineated here have, been derived largely from cognitive anthropology (or ethnoscience). A goal of ethnoscience is to arrive at members' meanings (get inside their heads--Frake 1964b:133) through an examination of folk terminological systems, or to discern how ". . . people construe their world of experience from the way they talk about it" (Frake

•

1972:192). My approach is not primarily cognitive. As traditionally conceived, ethnoscience proves to be a static enterprise unable to account for "what the natives do" (Murphy 1971:162) as opposed to what they say they do. It is unable also to account for intra-cultural diversity, for individuals' variable uses of terms in various contexts, and for the variable and non-referential meanings of terms themselves (what Keesing--1972:314--calls "the slippery problem of polysemy"). As conceived of here, ethnoscience poses the basic questions for ethnographic analysis, but lacks effective methods for providing adequate answers.¹

In analyzing the data of this study ethnoscientific techniques were employed as a starting point. Specifically, I isolated and delineated lexical items within the semantic domain of supernatural power. This demonstrated the saliency of the domain and provided some insight into the underlying organizing principles of the religion. However, the approach did not provide vocabulary or concepts to deal with what I came to see as the central problem of this study--i.e., the emergence of meaning from ongoing interaction.

My interest, 'then, is in the dynamic, creative aspects of community life, which can be isolated through the analysis of interaction (both spoken and non-spoken). This view is conceptualized largely from the ethnography of communications,

Por further exposition of the pros, cons, and conceptual bases of athnoscience, see Berreman (1966), Birckhead (1974), Burling (1964), Colby (1966), and Harris (1968).

transformational-generative linguistics, and ethnomethodology. Ny central propostion is that community and social order are to be viewed as "emergent, problematic, and to be discovered" (Hymes 1973:36) rather than as non problematic and unitary (all of a kind) phenomena. To lend emphasis to the processes of community creation and maintenance, I refer to the serpenthandling group as a "community of saints" rather than as the more static concepts of cult, sect, and church.

The designation, "community of saints", is derived primarily from the notion of "the speech community" (Bauman and Sherser 1974; Gumpers 1964, 1972; Hymes 1964, 1972). The focus is on members' ". . . production and interpretation of socially appropriate speech" (Bauman and Sherser 1974:6) and, by extension, behavior in general, vis-a-vis "ground rules". By definition, such a community is seen as "an organization of diversity" (Ibid., Wallace 1961:27-28).²

In focusing on community ground rules, or on the ideational invariances that underlie social interaction, I take Chomskyan transformational-generative linguistics as a reference point. Chomsky's (1957) concepts of "abstract structures underlying things people actually said (deep structure)" (Darnell and Vanek, ms) and of generativeness are particularly relevant. As conceptualised by Chomsky (1957) regarding speech, the grammar of a language is capable of

²As discussed in Chapter V, I take the designation "speech community" as being redundant. Thus, the definitions given by Hymes et al. provide a definition of the community in general

generating an infinite set of sentences.^{3,4} In borrowing from this model, I am dealing with generativeness at the level of the interacting community rather than of the individual, and am concerned with the abstract knolwedge of community members rather than with speech production alone.

By selectively applying Chomsky's model, I hope to emphasize the generative-creative aspects of the community, and to provide a dynamic for fully realizing the goals of ethnographic analysis (as previously outlined). Specifically, I will isolate what I consider to be the four underlying, non-negotiable propositions of the religion from which behavior and members' interpretations of behavior are derived and/or generated. As discussed in Chapter VIII, I conceive these as shared knowledge, "incorrigible propositions" (Gasking 1955:432, and Mehan and Nood 1975:9-10), or invariable assumptions (following Labov's--1972--invariable rules).⁵ Through an examination of saints' decision-making in situations

³Lyons (1970:43) notes that ". . . Chomsky has continually warned us against identifying the 'production' of sentences within the grammar with the production of sentences by the speaker of a language".

⁶Generative grammar can be criticized on many levels. Nost notably, context variables are often not accounted for in its applications (Darnell 1972; Darnell and Vanek, ms.). Also, many ethnographic applications of the model have been based on inaccurate knowledge of its premises (keesing 1972).

⁵An "incorrigible proposition is one which you would never admit to be false whatever happens . . ." (Gasking 1955: 432, in Mehan and Wood 1975:9-10). In looking at invariable assumptions (assumptions that are taken as the non-negotiable basis of group membership) I am contrasting these with variable rules (Labov 1972) or, "optional rules" (Darnell 1972:10) that are negotiable during interaction.

•

where supernatural power apparently fails, I will show how (from the four abstract propositions) saints may construct a seemingly limitless number of logical interpretations.

In looking at members' making sense of unfolding interaction, I am applying a number of concepts from ethnomethodology. Although applications of this perspective are ordinarily restricted to micro analysis of conversation in highly bounded or experimental settings in Western urban society, I am suggesting that aspects of this approach are useful to an understanding of how members construct meaning through interaction.

Ethnomethodology focuses on how ". . . commonplace (everyday, taken-for-granted) activities are characterized by an implicit order that emerges during the course of interaction and the activity itself" (Churchill 1971:103).⁶ Specifically, interaction is seen as: ". . . activity that accomplishes a sense of an external world. Neaning is viewed as ceaseless sensuous, activity" (Neehan and Wood 1975:5). What is of interest is the ways in which members go ". . . about the task of seeing, describing, and explaining order in the world in which they live" (Simmerman and Wieder 1970:289),

[&]quot;Ethnomethodology developed within traditional sociology as a reaction to that discipline's penchant toward "normative theory" (Neehan and Wood 1975:96) in which meaning and social order were viewed as stable features that exist independent of social interaction (Ibid., p. 5) or, as ". . . a monolithic system that settles down and around persons, ever giving them directions for estime" (Eismerman and Wieder 1970:297). In effect, ethnomethodslogy can be seen as a "sociology of sociology"

so as to make that world ". . . visibly-rational-and-reportablefor-all practical purposes, i.e., 'accountable' (Garfinkel 1967:vii). (Garfinkel sometimes refers to this as "accounting practices").

My emphasis, consistent with these purposes, is on members' use of speech in making evident the significant features of their environment (notably their beliefs concerning the reality and efficacy of supernatural power). Speech viewed in this way can be seen as being "reflexive" (Garfinkel 1967). Churchill (1971:185) posits that: Reflexivity refers to the social activities whereby members create and maintain the very situations in which they at the same time act^{*}.⁷ Speech use viewed as reflexive is also seen as being "indexical" (Garfinkel 1967) or situated. In other words, meaning is not derived from dictionary usage, but derives from the situation, for the purposes at hand, viz-avis members' shared knowledge.

The specific focus with respect to serpent-handlers is on ways in which members accomplish the "facticity"⁸ of

As implied above, ethnomethodology can be criticized on a number of theoretical and methodological grounds. See, for example, American Sociological Review (1968:122-130), and Mayrl (1973:15-28).

⁷Regarding reflexivity, "each particular act refers to a greater whole or context of which it is a part, thereby constituting it while at the same time the whole or context reflects back onto the act or part as the context in terms of which the act has meaning" (Shearing 1973:13).

⁸Gatfinkel (1967) uses this term a number of times without actually defining it. The sense in which it is used

٠.

their religion through ". . . their efforts at detecting, counting, recording, analyzing, and reporting on events in . that setting" (Simmerman and Wieder 1970:290). This study will focus on those events in which supernatural power is manifested and on members  $\gamma^{\prime}$  organization of those experiences. Following from this, I will look at a wide variety of activities, including sermons, singing, testimonies, formal teaching, everyday conversations, rites, etc.. What is of particular interest here is members' practices for making a number of the religion's facets accountable and, in doing so, creating and sustaining the facticity of supernatural power. Throughout the study numerous detailed examples of members' accounting practices will be presented. Although many of the examples might on superficial examination seem anectdotal, they are cited as representative, nevertheless, of the interactional work of serpent-handlers.

#### REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Until relatively recently, journalists and popular writers seemed more interested in serpent-handling than did social scientists. Newspaper articles on the religion date from at least the 1930's, and fictionalized accounts of serpenthandling are provided in books by Risley (1930) and, Preece and Kraft (1946). Kerman (1942), Callahan (1952), Robertson

1 __ 1

by ethnomethodologists is conveyed in the following excerpt: "It is not so much a faith about a fact in the world as a faith in the facticity of the world itself" (Mehan and Wood 1975:9).

(1950), Thomas (1942), and Womeldorf (1947) present journalistic descriptions of serpent-handling services; as do early articles in Life Magazine (1944), Saturday Evening Post (1957), and <u>Time Magazine (1945)</u>, 1947, 1947). Many of the above works, as well as numerous newspaper reports on the religion, are biased and inaccurate--more often than not sensationalizing the religion. A notable exception to this is J. B. Collins' (1947) <u>Tennessee Snake Handlers</u>, which presents a low-keyed journalistic account of serpent-handling at The Dolley Pond Church of God With Signs Following, near Grasshopper, Tennessee. More recently, popular works by Campbell (1974), Dickinson and Benziger (1974), <u>Foxfire</u> (1973), Holliday (1968) and Pelton and Carden (1974, 1976) present a relatively accurate descriptive picture of serpent-handling.

Serpent-handling is first dealt with in the scientific literature by Sargant (1949); 1957). Sargant views some of the religion's emotional aspects as "cultural group abreactive techniques" that compare in significant ways with contemporary psychotherapy techniques.

Berthold E. Schwarz, N.D. (1960) published the first scholarly article dealing specifically with the religion. He focuses on serpent-handlers' physiological responses to various "ordeals" of the religion (serpent and fire handling, and poison consumption). While Schwarz's findings are not conclusive, a number of provocative hypotheses are raised concerning participants' apparent immunity to snakebite,

applications of fire, and poison. In addition, this research, based on fieldwork, provides a good descriptive overview of the beliefs and practices of the religion.

Weston La Barre (1962a) in They Shall Take Up Serpents Psychology Of The Southern Snake-Handling Cult (and in two articles 1962b, 1964) provides the first anthropological approach to the religion. La Sarre views serpent-handling as an acculturative response to the rapid industrialization of the rural south. La Barre's theoretical position derives largely from Freudian Psychology and Devereaux's concept of do not deal with stress objetively and in their inapposite attempts at coping, ". . . only exacerbate the stress and create new difficulties" (La Barre 1962a: 171). Based on extensive Freudian cross-cultural interpretation of the significance of the snake as a phallic symbol, La Barre pesite that, in conquering the serpent, "cult" members are attemptive to symbolically deal with repressed libido problems. Aside from problems of psychological reductionism (see Birckhead 1970, 1971, 1972, 1975), the studies contribute less than they might, as La Barre's work is based on newspaper accounts, second hand observations, and an apparently superficial psychiatric interview of one informant rather than on any extensive fieldwork. The primary contribution of La Barre's book (1962a) is that it draws together heretofore unorganized historical data, and outlines the legal difficulties encountered

1.1

by a serpent-handling group in Durham, North Carolina. This well written and provocative book has generated considerable research interest in serpent-handling and continues to serve as one of the basic references in this research area.

Folklorist Ellen J. Stekert (1963) deals with the impact of serpent-handling religion on traditional secular folk genres. Although serpent-handlers reject traditional märchen, singing, and dancing as sinful, Stekert suggests that folklorists focus on new genres that are developing around the feats and practices of the religion. Stekert sees the church as a positive means in peoples' coping with the encroachments of the outside world as it ". . . helps members to cope with the humiliation of their past as well as the confusion of the present" (Stekert 1963:321). This brief article is more programatic than conclusive, pointing out future research concerns.

Alice L. Cobb (1965) provides a relatively detailed view of religion's role in preserving "conservative mores of isolated rural people" (Cobb 1965:1). Based on her thirty years of experience in Pine Mountain Community, Kentucky, she includes some details of serpent-handling at The Pine Mountain Church of God. Cobb's theoretical perspective is derived from sociological concepts of the church-sect typology, Gemeinschaft/Gesellschaft orientations, and manifest/latent function. On the whole, Cobb's work is of little relevance to the present study. However, Cobb provides some particularly

pertinent material in her discussion of "surface norms" as opposed to "deeper norms" or "deep knowledge" (<u>Ibid</u>., p. 154). Although she does not develop these ideas fully, she equates "deep knowledge" with the underlying shared "religious attitude" (<u>Ibid</u>., p. 169) or "primitive morality" (ibid) of the community. In other words: "There is something on Mutton (Creek) that holds onto a man and his family. It is a thing everybody knows without knowing" (Ibid., p. 4). Cobb's study leaves many questions unanswered, but it poses and attempts to deal with important concerns. Her clear description, historical data, and longitudinal perspective on a community is invaluable.

Sociologist Nathan L. Gerrard and his wife Louise B. Gerrard studied a West Virginia serpent-handling congregation for some ten years. Proceeding from a sociological and psychological functionalist approach, the Gerrards administered the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory to serpent-handlers at Scrabble Creek and to members of a middle class congregation in the same area. The Gerrards conclude that the serpent-handlers fared somewhat better with respect to depressive symptomatology than did their counterparts in the conventional church. Serpent-handlers are seen also as being more spontaneous, ". . . more exhititionalistic, excitable, and pleasure-oriented . . . and . . . less controlled by considerations of conformity to the general culture, particularly middle class culture" (Gerrard 1966d:56). Gerrard also presents a critique of La Barre's work (1966b, 1968, 1971,

Gerrard, Tellegen and Butcher 1969), and Louise Gerrard provides an excellent description of services at Scrabble Creek (Gerrard 1966a).

Anthropologist Steven M. Kane (a student of La Barre) wrote an M.A. Thesis (1973) on serpent-handling as well as a paper (1974) and two articles (1974, 1974). Besides providing historical and descriptive data on the religion, Kane focuses primarily on "spirit possession" and physiological explanations for the thaumaturgical feats of the church. Kane's work relies heavily on the literature of trance and possession states. He is currently working on a Doctoral Dissertation at Princeton University, based on extensive fieldwork with West Virginia serpent-handlers (Kane, 1974, personal conversation).

Historian Paul R. L. Vance wrote an M.A. Thesis (1975) on the history of serpent-handling in Georgia, North Alabama, and Southeastern Tennessee. Although this study is not theoretical, Vance provides impressive evidence to counter the view posited by La Barre (1962a) and most other writers, that all early occurances of serpent-handling can be linked to the activities of George Went Hensley (the religion's alleged founder). In addition, Vance fills in gaps in the historical record and corrects many of the inaccuracies that persist in the literature.

The work of sociologists Kirk W. Elifson and Peggy S. Tripp is of particular interest to the present study. Tripp (1975) wrote an M.A. Thesis analyzing serpent-handlers as a

deviant subculture, from an interactionist perspective. Kirk Elifson (Tripp's thesis advisor) collaborated in the research on a church near Atlanta, Georgia. Elifson and Tripp (1975, 1975) also presented two primarily descriptive papers on their work. They are currently working on a book (1976) which further explicates the perspective developed in Tripp's thesis. Elifson and Tripp focus on serpent-handlers' perceptions of persecution in terms of labeling theory, deviant identity, and boundary maintenance. Their perspective and methodology are largely sociological, relying heavily on formal interview schedule's. They provide useful interpretive material on the belief system of the church and on various mitigating factors that explain the low rate of injury and death from snakebite.

In conclusion, a number of researchers have examined selected aspects of serpent-handling utilizing various theoretical perspectives. With the exceptions of Tripp (1975) and Elifson and Tripp (1976) (and perhaps Cobb 1965), studies of serpent-handling have focused primarily on either the sociological or psychological functions of participation in the religion; or, on the psycho-physical dimension of the trance and possession states experienced by participants. Much of the research on serpent-handling is narrow in focus, dealing primarily with bounded ritual performances, such as serpent-handling or glossolalia. The religion as a

socio-cultural system has been neglected.9

In relation to the specific concerns of this study, the literature of serpent-handling provides little insight into how saints deal with what, to the outside observer, constitute disconfirmations of their ideal claims about the efficacy of supernatural power. Most studies make only passing reference to how serpent-handlers account for injury or death by snakebite and/or poison. Nathan Gerrard (1968:23), for example, notes that ". . . for their part, the serpent-handlers say the Lord causes a snake to strike in order to refute scoffers' claims that the snakes' fangs have been pulled". He further notes that each death is interpreted ". . . as a sign that the Lord, 'really had to show the scoffers how dangerous it is to obey His commandments". Or, Berthold E. Schwarz, M.D. (1960:412) states that, ". . . when a bitten members suffers complications or dies, it is because 'he didn't have enough faith'". Ellen Stekert (1963:412) observes that: "If a person does get hurt, it is explained away by the fact that his 'faith lapsed' for a moment." Weston La Barre (1962a:12, 41, 45, 49) provides three rationales given by informants: in one case of serpent-bite the man who was bitten was denounced as a "blackslider"; in another case, it was explained that believers should be bitten to test their power-the rationale being that the "'power' in them was demonstrated

⁹In addition to the above sources, serpent-handling is dealt with summarily by a number of writers. See Birckhead (1972) for detailed discussion of these minor references.

by their not subsequently dying from the bite"; and, lastly, when the alleged founder of the "cult", George Hensley, died of snakebite in 1955, people felt that he was ". . . doing the right thing in giving his life to God".

The image provided in the above accounts portrays a "replication of uniformity" rather than an "organization of diversity" (Wallace 1961:27-29). Little or no account is given of the variability and range of explanations or of the processes employed by members to construct, elaborate one, or change their accounts. Also, context, actor, or the purposes at hand are not accounted for. In these examples, what serpent-handlers do in cases of injury or death is presented as unproblematic, predictable, simply generalizable, and as ". . . stable and finite 'things'" (Mehan and Wood 1975:75).¹⁰

More recently Steven M. Kane (1974:260) provides a more complete account of how saints deal with the meaning of signs that fail:

Many snake-handlers interpret complications or death from snake bite as evidence that the victim 'didn't have enough faith' or was 'out of the will of the Lord'. Others see snake bite as an indication that a devotee failed to 'wait on the anointing' and attempted to handle 'in the flesh' rather than 'in the spirit'. A South Carolina brother offered yet another explanation: 'If no one ever got bit, what kind of a sign would serpent-handling be? The Lord sometimes lets the snakes bite to show unbelievers that we don't pull their teeth or milk the poison out of them'.

¹⁰ It is unfair, perhaps, to criticize the above writers for their handling of members' accounts as their works were either very general or dealing with specific theories that had little or no concern with accounts or interaction. The point that this has been neglected in the literature remains valid, nonetheless.

Although Kane provides reasons similar to those given above, he implicitly recognizes the variability of interpretations.-As well, Elifson and Tripp (1976:21-32), and freelance writers Pelton and Carden (1974, 1976) record some of serpent-handlers variable explanations for death or injury.

Even though the above writers recognize variability in accounts they do not provide data on how accounts are arrived at or negotiated in social situations or, of the underlying rules that accounts are generated from. Accounting is presented as a stable accomplishment. That ". . . meanings in everyday life are bound to context and personal history" (Mehan and Wood 1975:66) is not accounted for in these attempts to ascertain the meanings snakebite, etc. have for members. As well as ignoring important theoretical concerns, the above writers, for the most part, restrict their concern to dramatic cases involving death or injury, neglecting mention of the ongoing problem of members' everyday management of supernatural power. This study addresses itself to some of these gaps in the scientific literature on serpent-handling.

#### DATA COLLECTION

Data for this study were collected through participantobservation at The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name (Newport, Tennessee) during the summers of 1971 and 1972, the fall of 1972, various periods in the spring, summer, and fall of 1973; and in the late fall of 1974. Additional information

was obtained at serpent-handling meetings at Tots (1966), Pine Mountain, Lond, and Middlesboro, Kentucky; Brevard and Marshall, North Carolina; Greenville, South Carolina; Morristown, Tennessee; and, Bit Stone Gap, Virginia. Total time spent in the field was approximately twelve months. I attended over one hundred services, as well as three baptisms, one funeral, a tent revival, a church homecoming, "dinner on the grounds", "special singing services", a wedding in a member's home, prayer services in saints' homes, and a number of church radio broadcasts (in the studio).¹¹ During this time, I witnessed only three incidents of serpent-bite. I also observed poison drinking, fire handling, exorcism, glossolalia, Divine healing, foot washing and the "Lord's supper", interpretation of tongues, serpent-exchange, etc..

Much of the data in this study derive from close involvement with saints outside of formal church services. This type of involvement included: participation in two court hearings concerning the church; being present at impromptu serpent-handling in homes, along roadsides, or during serpent exchanges; accompanying saints on church visitations to other states; living with one family for short periods of time, as well, staying overnight in a number of other homes; participating in picnics, fishing trips, special dinners, helping with farm

Il Fundamentalist churches in Victoria, Britich Columbia; Edmonton, Alberta; St. Louis, Missouri; Wolf Creek and Rock, Kentucky; and in Cookeville, Nashville, Knoxcille, and Wolfs town, Tennessee were visited also in order to better understand the larger tradition of which serpent-handling is part.

chores, a shopping trip with sisters in the church, accompanying saints to plants and warehouses where they were employed, and travelling with the pastor on some long distance truck runs.

Throughout the periods of fieldwork, I attempted to arrive at a participants view of their religion. I participated as fully as possible with saints under natural circumstances but did not force interaction. On the whole, my stance as a fieldworker was low-keyed and unobtrusive. My interest was to observe "front" as well as "back stage" interaction (Goffman 1959). As my knowledge of appropriate speech and behavior increased, I became a partial member of the community with access to the most personal of back stage realities. I was often seen as a "safe" confidant and given access to private knowledge that was not be shared with others in the church and, of course, not with the outside world.¹² Saints usually referred to me as "Brother Jimmy" and mometimes indicated in testimony or everyday conversations that I was , considered a member of the group. Saints did not exert overt pressure on me to be converted as is sometimes the fate of researchers of fundamentalist religion. When saints at other churches attempted to covert me, saints would say simply, that "this is Brother Jimmy from Alberto, (sic) Canada, he's studying . . . and visits a lot of churches". At no time during the fieldwork did I handle serpents or engage in any other

¹²In this study, highly sensitive or very personal information is either not presented or disguised.

thaumaturgical act that validated one's status as saint. I was viewed by many in the church as a "brother" and a friend, but at² no time as a saint.

In the field I had the opportunity to observe reporters, film makers, and researchers eliciting information from church members. This reinforced my position that direct questioning, alone, is inadequate in arriving at accurate insights into ongoing social process. Answers given to such questions often consisted of, consciously or unconsciously constructed, statements of "official" reality. Adequate data on how members negotiate their social scenes can be collected only by painstaking observation of a wide range of situations, noting the intersection of ideal reality with actual behavior and back stage commentary. Saints' maxim that ". . . you have to pay the price" is guite accurate with regard to fieldwork. Fieldwork is built on that, obligation, and reciprocity. Superficial relationships with "informants" tends to beget superficial and inadequate data. There are no shortcuts in this regard when working with serpent-handlers. I have seen a number of interviewers fail because they attempted to push people too fast, or in general acted inappropriately. It was instructive to observe the depth of information available when one is involved in the community as opposed to what is presented to the superficial observer.

I also conducted a number of informal interviews, some of which were tape recorded. Selected church services and

church radio broadcasts were also recorded. Brother Ralph Eslinger provided me with additional cassette recordings that he had made of a number of services and radio broadcasts over a six month period. Liston Pack gave me a fiveminute sound film (produced by United Press International) dealing with the strychnine deaths in the church. Alfred Ball, the late Jimmy Williams, Liston Pack, Ralph Eslinger, and Floyd McCall (Greenville, South Carolina) willingly allowed us to view their scrapbook collections. Also, I corresponded with some members of the church and continue to receive news clippings, posters, and current information.

Considerable background and historical data utilized in this study were collected at a number of libraries and archives, and through inter-library loan. Historical data were obtained at the Church of God Archives (Cleveland, Tennessee) and at the Archives of the Chattanooga Public Library. Useful background material was obtained from the Council of The Southern Mountains Bookstore and at the personal library of Dr. Nathan Gerrard (Charleston, West Virginia). Research was also conducted at a number of university, and public libraries.

# CHAPTER CONCLUSION

This study does not purport to be a comprehensive study of serpent-handling in general or of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name in particular. Rather, following

- 7

From the theoretical approach outlined in this chapter, only selected aspects of the religious community will be Examined. The study will now proceed by examining "Histories Of Serpent-Handling".

#### CHAPTER II

# HISTORIES OF SERPENT-HANDLING

In looking at the religion's past, two contrastive modes of historical methodology are available. The development of serpent-handling can be seen as analyzed by historians, anthropologists, and students of religion. In this academic mode of reckoning history, events are placed in strict chronological sequence, i.e., with "'one thing after another' in linear progression and with equal weight given to each stretch or unit" (Pruyser 1968:215). Pruyser terms this mode of analysis, "chronos". The "chronos" pproach, may be contrasted with what Pruyser identifies as a "kairos" orientation to time and the past. Specifically, "kairos" represents ". . . time seen as opportunity, event, fullness, turning point, crisis, or occasion for celebration" (ibid.), rather than as formal chronological progression. As will be demonstrated, "kairos" represents members' mode of time reckoning in a serpent-handling congregation.

In recording a history of serpent-handling, both modes of apprehending time are important, and complementary. This chapter will trace the general history of serpent-handling as recorded in the literature and as recounted by members of The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name. In developing the folk notion of serpent-handling's past the emphasis is on members'

historical stories. Through contrasting the two approaches to history, the notion of history-making as a resource will be developed.

# THE ORIGIN AND DEVELOPMENT OF SERPENT-HANDLING.

### A CONCEPTUAL PERSPECTIVE FROM RELIGIOUS HISTORY

Publications on the history of the handling of serpects are few and appear to be limited to the works of Collins 144 La Barre (1962a), and Vance (1975). The scope of these publications has been necessarily limited by a lack of a contewritten records of the religion's past. As will be shows, serpent-handlers do not ordinarily record the significant events of their religious life in writing. Theirs is primarily an oral tradition. When written documentations made, the logical ordering principle is spiritual rather than secular and, consequently, many details needed by the hist routo reconstruct the past are lacking. Thus, the researcher must rely on old newspaper clippings (which are often inaccurate), transcripts of court cases involving serpent handlers, notes in family Bibles, and, of course, the stataccounts of serpent-handlers.

For the most part, to record the religious milie, in which serpent-handling developed, it is necessary to consultheses, dissertations, and scholarly works on the overall history of the Pentecostal-Holiness tradition or on the development of religion in Appalachia and the Southeastern United States. As this material on the whole is of excellent quality, easily available, and generally known by students of religion, I will not attempt to duplicate or précise this mass of data. Rather, selected aspects will be isolated to emphasize particular analytical points that are of significance to the thrust of this study.

Serpent-handling is rooted in the Pentecostal-Holiness tradition. With the exceptions of taking up serpents, drinking deadly poisons, and fire handling, these congregations are almost indistinguishable from numerous other Pentecostal¹ groups throughout the Western World (especially groups in the rural Southern and Midwestern United States). Rather than attempting an exhaustive chronology of events leading up to the development of serpent-handling, this section will isolate those elements of the religios milieu which antedate and are evident still in the beliefs and practices of serpent-handling churches. These elements will be discussed in order according to their time depth.

One of the basic tenets of this tradition was articulated in the fourteenth century by John Wycliff who proposed that the meaning of Biblical passages could be interpreted by anyone who was guided by the Holy Spirit (Vance 1975:7). This was a radical departure from Catholic doctrine which

Warburton (1969) makes a strong case for not equating Pentecostal with Holiness traditions. He states that (Ibid., p. 130): "Despite the common theological base and forms of anti-worldliness which they share, Pentecostalism and Holiness religion are distinguishable from one another in terms of the

relegated Biblical interpretation to the Vatican or learned church scholars. Related to this is the notion of "perfectionism" (Gerrard 1966a:62), or:

> . . the belief in the possibility of attaining in this life, despite original depravity, a spiritual state of being, free not only of sinful deeds but also, much more importantly, of sinful desires. This state of holiness is not a long and gradual development to be achieved through monastic asceticism and meditation, or through assiduous cultivation of a virtuous life, but it is attained instantaneously, through the direct operation of the Holy Spirit, a replication of the experiences of the apostles on the day of Pentecost . . . The experience is variously called 'santification', 'regeneration', 'the new birth', the 'Baptism of the Spirit', or 'the second blessing'. It frequently follows the emotional upheavals attending the experience of 'conversion' in which the individual, awakened from the spiritual indifference, agenizingly repents his sins and seeks and finds God's forgiveness.

The perfectionist notion of a second blessing ". . . in which the Holy Spirit cleansed the believer from inbred tendencies" (Ranaghan 1974:3) derives from John Wesley's idea of "Christian Perfection". Early Methodism emphasized two ". . . definite experiences of grace: first, an assurance of salvation, and second, an assurance of sanctification" (Ibid. . It was the notion of a second blessing ". . . in which the Holy Spirit cleansed the believer from inbred tendencies toward sin, which distinguished Methodism from the rest of

types of religious experience they emphasize". Specifically, the Holiness emphasis is more "inward and subjective" (Ibid., p. 132) whereas, the Pentecostal (taking its tone from the Biblical account of the day of Pentecost) is more outwardly emotional and expressive, emphasizing glossolalia and other signs and manifestations of the spirit. Groups like serpenthandling, however, combine a Holiness ascetic with a Pentecostal emphasis (Warburton 1972, personal conversation). Members at the church refer to themselves as "Holiness people". Therefore, when referring to serpent-handlers, the terms will be used interchangably.

Protestantism" (ibid.).² Wesley's notion of perfection established a basis for the Holiness orientation. As summarized by Warburton (1969:131-132):

> Holiness religion appears to have grown around a doctrinal innovation, for, although it had numerous pietistic and perfectionistic antecedents dating back to the Apostolic era, it can be directly traced to John Wesley's original teaching on 'Entire Santification' as an instantaneous experience which is deeper than, and subsequent to, conversion and attainable by faith in the Holy Ghost. . . It is important to note, however, that Entire Sanctification is essentially inward and subjective. Unlike glossolalia and other physical manifestations, only the believer knows that he or she had received it.

The notion of perfectionism was anathema to traditional Catholic teaching which was influenced by Thomas Aquinas, who held that, ". . . holiness could be achieved only by a select few of the clergy leading a life of meditation and monastic asceticism (Gerrard 1966a:65). Consequently, the ". . . church viewed the participants in emotional perfectionistic movements as heretical, as 'possessed by the devil', and treated them accordingly" (ibid.). Also, "the Lutheran and Calvinistic churches of the Reformation condemned the Anabaptists, Mennonites and other sects with strong perfectionistic leanings" (Ibid., p. 66). Thus, some writers refer to such groups as "the left wing of the Reformation" (Young

28

N

²Regarding Wesley's perfectionism, Niebuhr (1949:175) writes (in a footnote) that: ". . . Wesley was too much of a realist to be able to deny the reality of those sinful elements in the life of the redened which are neither fully conscious nor yet completely unconscious. . There is thus a conflict in Wesley's thought between his realism and his defective doctrine of sin. . . He resolved the conflict by a rather neat theological device. He declared that there was no moment in life

1974:84).

Following from the Anabaptists,³ who insisted that infant baptism was insufficient, is the notion that only those who have reached sufficient age to intentionally consent to the rite should be eligible. Implicit in this is the idea that church membership should be "intentional" or "voluntary" (Littell 1964:46).

Although the basic theological roots of serpent-handling can be traced to the Old World, one must look to the series of emotional revivals that swept across the United States between 1734 and 1900. Components of the religion's style developed out of these revival cycles. The more important revival cycles included: (1) "The Great Awakening", in New England (1734 to 1740); (2) revivals in Virginia (1773 to 1776); (3) the Kentucky Revivals (1798 to 1810); and, (4) the Camp Creek Revivals or "The Latter Rain Movement" (1886 to 1900) (Bloch-Hoell 1964:7; Synan 1971:21-84; Clark 1949:100; Hollenweger 1972:47-48; Calley 1965:150-154). Thile all of these revival

for which real perfection could be claimed except the moment just before death. His disciples have not always had the prudence to set the same limits.

³The term Anabaptist was actually a misnomer. Followers of this tradition did not really advocate re-baptism (as the label implies). Rather, they believed ". . . that infant baptism did not constitute true baptism and that they were not in reality re-baptizers" (Littell 1964:XV). Littell (Ibid) concludes that: "The name was so conveniently elastic that it came to be applied to all those who stood out against authoritative state religion." cycles (as well as many minor ones) are important in the development of a particular mode of worship, discussion will be restricted to the Kentucky Revivals and the Camp Creek Revivals as they best exemplify selected characteristics of the religious milieu out of which serpent-handling emerged.

.

The Kentucky Revivals took place between 1798 and 1810 in the south central part of the state near Bowling Green. This series of revivals developed and crystalized the religious style that is characteristic of contemporary serpent-handling, as well as, of the revivals held by diverse denominations from 1800 to the present. Components of the frontier religious style that developed out of these revivals include (Ranaghan 1974:85; Wood 1954:8):

- (1) preaching by uneducated men;
- (2) use of the institutionalized camp meeting;
- (3) festivity and socializing at religious gatherings;
- (4) emphasis upon individual experience;
- (5) energetic religious participation;
- (6) generating of intense religious enthusiasm;
- (7) acceptance of a particularly real and vivid supernatural realm;
- (8) belief in a deity who could and would intervene miraculously in a person's affairs;
- (9) circuit-riding preachers.

In addition to the above characteristics of worship, serpent-handling is heir also to a number of extreme Holiness emphases that were manifested at the Camp Creek Revivals (or the "Latter Rain Movement") in Western North Carolina between 1886 and 1900." Within the emergent Holiness movement of the late 1800's two opposing viewpoints were conspicious. One group held that the Baptism of the Holy Spirit was a

personal experience that might, at most, be manifested by spirited praying, shouting, or by some involuntary body movement. The opposing group held that this cleansing experience would be verified by some supernatural sign of holiness, such as speaking in tongues, a dream, or a vision. The Camp Creek Revivials may be viewed as representing the more "sign" oriented, demonstrative variant of the Holiness orientation. In fact, in the South in general, most of the independent Holiness congregations of the late 1800's and early 1900's tended to be more extreme than their counterparts in the North and in urban areas. Such congregations placed greater emphasis on doctrines like "Divine healing, the premillennial second coming of Christ, a 'third blessing' of fire, and puritanical modes of dress" (Synan 1971:75). Following the teachings of Benjamin Hardin Irwin, founder of the "Fire-Baptized Holiness Church" in Iowa in 1895" some Camp Creek participants believed that the second baptism of the Holy Spirit was insufficient; and, perhaps, a fourth, fifth, or even sixth baptism of fire was necessary to complete purification. Specifically, it was believed that the baptism of "dynamite, lyddite, oxide", and other explosives was necessary to salvation (Ibid., p. 61; Hollenweger 1972:48).

Out of the milieu of the Camp Creek Revivals, the Holiness Church of God At Camp Creek developed. This small church was the forerunner of The Church of God (Cleveland, Tennessee) which was led by A. J. Tomlinson. Serpent-handling
probably developed within the early Church of God.⁴ The Camp Creek and early Church of God tradition--with its emphasis on religious innovation, strident pursuit of Biblical fundamentals in belief and practice, reliance on signs and experience, isolated rural nature, use of travelling evangelists; and fluid manner in which groups formed, merged, separated, and dissolved--provided a favorable intellectual and social environment for the emergence of serpent-handling.

To this point in the discussion, the remote and immediate religious antecedents of serpent-handling have been examined. I have had two purposes for doing this: one, to place serpent-handling into its larger theological contexts so that it is not viewed as isolated aberrant, or bizarre, but rather as an outgrowth of a long-standing religious emphasis; and, two, to provide a historical base-line against which members' practices of recounting their religious history can be contrasted. The details of serpent-handling's origin and development will now be examined.⁵

⁵This overall discussion does not purport to account for all aspects of the development of the Pentecostal or Holiness movements. Many gaps and wide-ranging generalizations exist in my presentation. The focus has been on those theological positions and selected specific occurences that I considered

⁴Regarding Tomlinson, La Barre (1962a:31) reports that: "Even more vexing ethnographically is the report of a snake-handling group started in the hamlet of Cherokee, North Carolina, by A. J. Tombleson or Tomlinson in 1903, and now led in other states by his sons". However, there is no evidence of serpent-handling at Cherokee or Camp Creek. There seems to be no doubt, however, that serpent-handling was practiced in some Church of God congregations after 1909. Vance (1975) discusses this issue in some detail.

# THE ORIGINS AND DIFFUSION OF SERPENT-HANDLING

Most scholarly and journalistic sources posit that serpent-handling was first practiced in 1909 by George Went Hensley in Grasshopper, Tennessee (Collins, 1947:1; Kerman 1942:101; Gerrard 1968:22; La Barre 1962a:11,12; Robertson 1950:170,171; Synan 1971:187; Vance 1975:20-29; and others).⁶ Hensley was a Church of God evangelist in his early thirties who had been assigned to the community of Grasshopper, Tennessee (near Church of God headquarters at Cleveland, Tennessee) (Collins 1947:1,2; Vance 1975:28). Many of the residents of Grasshopper and the surrounding area had already accepted "Holiness" before Hensley initiated serpent-handling there (Ibid.).

of greatest importance in serpent-handling's development. Conspicuous by its absence, for example, is a discussion of the Azusa Street services in Los Angeles in 1906. Although the Camp Creek revivals pre-dated this, it was the events at Azusa Street that crystalized the Pentecostal focus on glossolalia. Or, the Rev. Fox Parham of Kansas City, Kansas had an effect on the development of the Pentecostal movement. According to Vance (1915:17-18) he was the first person to isolate glossolalia as being the "only evidence of the Holy Ghost". Because of this, some view Parham as the founder of the modern Pentecostal movement. These and other influences probably had some effect on the development of serpent-handling, but are overshadowed by the regional events of the "radical" Holiness movement.

Also, for the purposes of this study, I did not present information of the controversies regarding serpent-handling that developed in the Church of God. See Vance (1975) for a detailed discussion of this topic.

⁶Stekert is not fully convinced of the 1909 date for the religion's origin and is of the opinion, (in agreement with La Barre's unsubstantiated sources) that the practice first occured sometime earlier. Stekert has not yet found evidence to substantiate this view (personal interview, Oct. 1972, Berkeley, California).

Hensley, ". . . a deeply religious" person, became disturbed upon reading and re-reading Mark 16:18--"And They shall take up serpents" (Collins 1947:102). Since Hensley had not taken up serpents, it was clear to him that if he was to gain "eternal life," he must be willing to obey this direct command of the Lord (Vance Loc cit.). So on a summer day in 1909, Hensley sought out "serpents" on top of White Oak Mountain. As depicted by Collins (op. cit., p. 2):⁷

> In a great rocky gap in the mountainside he found what he sought, a large rattlesnake. He approached the reptile, and disregarding its buzzing, bloodchilling warning, knelt a few feet away from it and prayed loudly into the sky for God to remove his fear and to anoint him with 'the power.' Then suddenly with a shout he leaped forward and grasped the reptile and held it in trembling hands.

⁷The accuracy of Collins' account is uncertain as his reconstruction was necessarily based on oral reports. During the late 1940's, Collins interviewed a number of people in Grasshopper Valley, including some of Hensley's early followers or their descendents, at the Dolley Pond Church of God with Signs Following (formed in 1943). As Collins (1947:4,17) includes photographs of Hensley it is reasonable to suppose that he talked to him about the religion's origin. That Hensley accepted credit for the initiation of serpent-handling is corroborated by Kerman (1942:101). Kerman, writing of his visit to the Pine Mountain Church of God (Kentucky) in 1938 as a reporter for the St. Louis <u>Post Dispatch</u>, stated that:

> "I met that night a man who said he had originated snakahandling as a religious rite. He was G. W. Hensley, pastor of the East Pineville Church of God, near Harlan. He said he had introduced the practice twenty-eight years before in Sale Creek, Tennessee." (This <u>Post-</u> <u>Dispatch</u> photo-essay is considered to be the first extensive photo coverage of serpent-handling.)

Similarly, Robertson (1950:170-171) discussed the religion's origin with Hensley and related an account similar to Collins' description: "In 1909 on white Oak Mountain near Grasshopper, Tennessee, George Hensley, already a follower of the 'Holiness', had first pondered over some verses he had heard from the last chapter of the Gospel of Marx, verses 17,18:...

At first, Hensley held services in the homes of the faithful and in "improvised brush arbors" in Grasshopper Valley (Collins 1947:2). Services allegedly were held in the valley for some ten years without incident of snakebite. During the tenth year of the group's existence, Garland Defriese was bitten by a large rattlesnake. Although he (Collins 1947:2):

> ... recovered after a few weeks ... the experience dulled his enthusiasm for the practice and snake handling that day lapsed into a state of suspended animation that was to last for 23 years in Grasshopper Community. Cultists continue to refer to Defriese as the 'backslider'.

This was probably the first recorded case of serpent-bite in the short history of the religion.

Although serpent-handling was supposedly discontinued at Sale Creek in Grasshopper Valley until 1943 (Ibid., pp. 2-3), Heneley and his disciples, in the tradition of early Methodist circuit-riding preachers, brought their message to scattered Holiness and Church of God congregations throughout the Southeastern United States. La Barre 1962a:15 states: "Indeed, the early sporadic appearances of the cult appears always to be associated with Hensley and his immediate

Mr. Hensley felt that the verse was a definite command from the Lord, given after His ressurection. He found a big rattlesnake under a rock, knelt and prayed for 'the power'; then with a shout, he grasped the snake and held it with trembling hands. For the rest of his life he has preached snakehandling, until the cult has spread by word of mouth through the whole Appalachian region, and beyond."

the whole Appalachian region, and beyond." Synan (1971:187) and Vance (1975:17) also lend credence to Hensley being the founder of religious serpent-handling.

followers." Whether La Barre's contention is accurate is open to question. There seems to be little doubt that Hensley initiated relations surpent-handling in 1909 near Bearchwood, Tennessee; or, that he travelled widely promoting the faith. However, Vance (1975:32-37) provides considerable evidence to suggest that not all serpent-handling in the South can be linked to Hensley or his followers. Vance seems to be suggesting that given the general religious milieu in the South and the propensity for people to interpret the Bible literally, it seems likely that 'individuals who had not heard of Hensley or of serpent-handling acted independently on Mar 16:18. Vance provides a number of examples to illustrate the point. This view is consistent with Synan's (1971:118) notion that Pentecostalism in general is a "movement without a man".

Deciding about specific cases is diffucult. For example, La Barré (1962a:12) credits Hensley with introducing snake-handling at the Church of God at Pine Mountain in the early 1930's. According to La Barre the practice was not fully regularized until . . . "Browning . . . became pastor at Pine Mountain and shortly afterward (re) introduced snakehandling" (<u>Ibid</u>). Browing continues to serve as pastor of the Fine Mountain church and serpent-handling is still practiced there. Hensley's role in initiating serpent-handling at the church is open to question, however. Rev. Browning (July 18, 1971) for example, told me that he initiated the

1

handling of serpents at the Pine Mountain Church in 1931 and that it was the first church in that vicinity to engage in the practice. Browning claimed that he received his inspiration to handle serpents in a vision and did not mention Hensley's influence. As Browning described it to reporters from <u>Foxfire</u> magazine (1973:6):

> I was 34 years old. Th'Lord called me t'preach this. He began t'reveal th'faith t'me. It was through th'revelation of HIm. It was revealed t'me in this Bible when it said t'take 'em up; and I was preachin' one day, and I didn't know that verse was to us. I though it was to th'Apostles. And th'Lord revealed it t'me, and then I got t'preachin' it. And they brought one one time and said, 'Can we bring it in?' And somebody said, 'Yeah, bring it in.' And they said, 'Th' preacher'll have t'tell us.' And I went out t'em and hollered to'em t'bring it in.

The Foxfire article maintains that the church . . . "was founded in 1931--two years after its founding, the members began to handle serpents" (Ibid.). Cobb (1965:56) who worked in the Pine Mountain Community over a thirty-year period states that . . . "the sect was founded in 1932 by its present preacher and leader."

Although the exact extent of Hensley's influence in serpent-handling is uncertain, there is little doubt that he was an active evengelist who travelled widely throughout the South. An overview of Hensley's travels, and related events, follows.

On August 18, 1935 some five hundred of Hensely's followers gathered in Ramsey Virginia (Vance 1975:30). During the service a twelve year old boy grabbed a snake and

and decapitated it. A near riot ensued and state and local police were called in. The resultant coverage in the New York <u>Times</u> (August 19, 1935:17) and the Bristol Tennessee <u>News Bulletin</u> (August 19, 1935:7) was the first-afforded Hensley (ibid).

On May 4, 1936, Hensley conducted a meeting in northern Florida at Bartow at which ". . . an Alfred Weaver was bitten and died" (<u>Ibid</u>., pp. 30-31). Hensley's presence was also noted when Reverent T. Anderson was bitten on September 27, 1936, at Jonesville, Virginia (<u>Ibid</u>.). Also, during his tenure as pastor of the East Pineville Church of God, Hensley and two others were arrested and charged with disturbing the peace (Ibid.).

During the summer of 1938, Hensley's name appeared in a law suit against three members of the Pine Mountain Church of God. The suit was filed by John Day, a local farmer whose wife had participated in snake-handling against his wishes.

Hensley was next in the news during the 1940's in connection with serpent-handling and resulting legal difficulties at the newly formed Dolley Pond Church of God with Signs Following in Grasshopper, Tennessee. In the spring of 1943, Raymond Hays, a follower of Hensley from Kentucky, brought a box of serpents to Grasshopper Valley, re-introducing serpent-handling there. Shortly thereafter, the Dolley Pond Church was formed with Tom Harden, a local born preacher, as pastor (Collins 1947:5-6; La Barre 1962a:

15-16; Vance 1975:84-87). La Barre (Ibid.) asserts that the Dolley Pond Church ". . . was the mother church of the snake handling in the South." As previously discussed, Vance (197) provides considerable evidence against the complete acceptance of this view.

On September 3, 1947 at a brush arbor service near Daisy, Tennessee, Lewis Ford, a Dolley Pond member, was hitter by a large rattlesnake and died 70 minutes later (Collins 1947:21). Ford's death focused attention on the church. In fact, over 2,000 people attended the funeral in rural Grasshopper Valley and, according to Collins (Ibid.), "... many more were turned back by the traffic which formed the harrow Grasshopper road for miles along either approach to the church." During the funeral, Rev. Raymond Hays placed the snake that had then Ford in the dead man's casket and was himself bitten. Is allegedly did not suffer from the bite (Time 1945:23-24).

Shortly after Ford's death, George Hensley and Dom Harden conducted a serpent-handling tent revival inside the city limits of nearby Chattanooga. Police intervened; shot the serpent and arrested Harden and Hensley. At the preliminary hearing, held the next day, the men were fined \$56 each but charges were subsequently dropped (Collins 1947: 22-23).

, >

A few months lafer, Clint Jackson died of a rattlesnake bite that he received during services at Daisy, Tennessee. Jackson was not a member of the Dolley Pond church, but his death had profoundimplications for the Dolley Pond group. Namely, this second Tennessee death aroused anti-snake-handling sentiment in the state and catalyzed the drafting of the February 4, 1947 Tennessee anti-snake-handling law. On February 28, 1947 the bill passed in the Tennessee House by a vote of 75 to 9 (<u>Ibid</u>., p. 24).⁸

7

On August 9, 1948, Harvey Bell of Lindale, Georgia died of a rattlesnake bite received during services at the Dolley Pond Church. On August 13, 1948, serpent-hand or was officially discontinued at the church. Where Fill, a corph trustee, told newspaper reporters that, the fill of the solution have faith enough' to handle snakes, and the amplete of the it" (Chattagooga <u>Times</u>, August 3, 1947). Nonertheless, seece Ramsey, a lay leader at Dolley Pond, died of a snakebite at a meeting in Dade County, Georgia (Vance 1975:102) and in 1962 Mrs. Ella Bee Harden Michaels was bitten by a rattlesnake

÷.

1.74

⁸ Tennessee was not the first state to pass legislation against serpent-handling. Kentucky passed such a law in 1940 and Georgia passed a similar law in 1941. Georgia's law was by far the strictest in that it made ". . . serpent-handling a felony punishable by imprisonment for one to twenty years" (Tripp 1975:22). The law also had a provision for the death penalty. "In the event that death is caused to a person on account of the violation of this Act by some other person . . . " (Ibid.) (Original source Georgia Laws, 1941:449). Virginia passed an anti-snake-handling law January 29, 1947 (Vance 1995) 52). Crest Virginia appears to be the only state that does not have legal prohibitions against snake-handling. State laws against the practice usually resulted from particularly noteworthy incidents of death from snakebite. Alabama law passed in 1950, Florida law in 1953, North Carolina law 1949. Not prohibited in South Carolina, except by local ordinance (Tripp op. cit., pp. 83-84).

at a service in a private home near the Grasshopper Community (<u>News-Free Press</u> June 19, 1962).⁹

George Went Hensley died of a rattlesnake bite received during a service at an "open-air arbor" near Altha, Florida. Hensley was seventy years old (Chattanooga <u>Times</u>, July 25, 1955).

In looking at the origin and development of serpenthandling in general I have emphasized events and churches involving George Hensley, a reputed founder of the religion. Although this history of serpent-handling is far from complete, it is illustrative of some of the people, events, localities, legal difficulties, religious style, larger interactional patterns between churches, means of dissemination, and causes of church demise. Hensley and the Dolley Pond Church were emphasized in order to focus on the remote antecedents of The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name. As will be discussed subsequently, the Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name was established by former members of the Sand Hill Church of God near Del Rio, Tennessee, where serpent-handling was introduced by evangelists from the Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name at Big Stone Gap, Virginia. The Big Stone Gap Church was founded in the 1930's by evangelists from Kentucky, as were numerous other groups in Virginia and West Virigina (personal

2

ج_ .

⁹Vance (1975:102) notes that as recently as 1972 serpents were handled in homes of the Dolley Pond members. Similarly, it is interesting to note that Burl Barbee, a former Dolley Pond participant, along with other believers, continues to handle serpents in Chattanooga and sometimes participates at churches in Tennessee, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia (interview with Rev. Liston Pack and Rev. Alfred Ball, Newport Tennessee December 1974.

interview with Rev. Paul Stidham, Big Stone Gap, December, 1974). As Hensley and his followers did considerable proselytizing during the 1930's from Pineville, Kentucky into Virginia and other states, a tenuous link between George Hensley and the Newport church can be inferred.

I have purposely not dealt extensively with the history of serpent-handling in Georgia or Alabama as Vance (1975) devotes at least two chapters to this and Tripp (1975) provides considerable detail on one or two churches near Atlanta. Moreover, after a point, the presentation of detailed cases contributes little to an understanding of serpent-handling, as the basic events and patterns are, for the most part, replicated in all of the churches.

With regard to the more recent development of the religion, it appears that serpent-handling is growing in the Appalachian South, as well as Northern and Midwestern industrial areas where saints have migrated. This is an interesting trend as a number of writers had predicted the imminent demise of the religion. Nichol (1966:157) wrote that:

> . . . since snake-handling seems to occur in the obscure and remote areas of the South its ethos is essentially rural and thus yearly in greater conflict with the increasing urbanism of the 'New South', and since it is continuously entangled with the law in the Southeast, its extinction appears to be inevitable.

In a similar vein, La Barre (personal communication, Becember 15, 1971) stated that: "To my knowledge, snake-handling is still practiced only in one or two remote places in the

.;

Appalachians such as Big Stone Gap, near Wise, Virginia, and perhaps near the Scrabble Creek area.¹⁰

To this point in the discussion, the history of serpent-handling has been examined. This has been an incomplete overview, as written records are lacking. As summarized by La Barre (1962a:32):

> Because of this sporadic diffusion into widely separated rural areas, because it occurs in obscure and remote places, and because mostly illiterate cultists are in any case more interested in dionysian experience than in appolonian historical scholarship, we make expect some incompleteness in our study which one fischer direct field information can remedy. Very probably new information will continue to emerge concerning local snake-handling groups.

## A MEMBERS + HISTORY OF SERPENT-HANDLING

1

The following excerpt from an interview that I conducted with Rev. William A. Ball, founder and partor of Jesus Christ Apostolic Church near Newport, Tennessee, illustrates the type of accounts members give concerning the religion's origin (Tape recorded December 1974):

> This faith's been goin' on right up through time because its in the Bible and there's always been a people that practiced the Bible and, I have talked with people who knew of other people, who knew still other people that just goes way, way, way, way back and there's been somebody practicin' taking up serpents for just as far back as you can go when you begin to talk to people in this faith. They can keep tellin' you about people before them, grandfathers and great grandfathers that were doin' it and incidently, even in the encyclopedia you can read about a tribe of Indians who had what they called a snake dance and this was a, religious ceremony, and that goes far, far back behin 1900 and 09, and I think maybe that that's just when people first begin to take notice that

somethin' like that was goin' on. In my opinion, and I think that I have adequate proof for that opinion, a serpent-handling--or takin'up serpents I prefer to say because that's the way the Bible said it--has been goin' on for hundreds of years. All the way right back to Bible days.

This view of serpent-handling's past rests on and is ordered by religious premises concerning the meaning of history and is reflective of a "kairos" emphasis in which ". . . a large view of the whence and where of the human race and of man's place in nature" (Pruyser 1968:217) is taken. This is not to suggest that chronology ("chronos") is of no importance to saints or that conscious deception is practiced. Rather, Brother Alfred's account of the past must be comprehended as it relates to serpent-handling as an oral tradition. Specifically, oral accounts or "testimonies", can always be seen as a "mirage of reality" (Vansina 1965:76). This is so, because oral testimonies provide a means of creating and reinforcing cultural values. In the case of serpent-handlers, such accounts establish and emphasize the group's original "charter" given by Jesus in "Apostolic times" as well as its continuity in time. This symbolically provides the religion with a time depth and sense of destiny that ordinarily would be lacking if George Hensley was its acknowledged founder.

Thus, Brother Alfred establishes the reasonableness of his account by saying that: "Yes, this faith's been goin' on right on up through time because its in the Bible and there's always been a people that practiced the Bible" (December 1974).

Implicit in this reasoning is the notion that Biblical injunctions and prophecies are carried out and fulfilled. This view is elaborated by Brother Elzie Preast, a serpenthandler from Scrabble Creek, West Virginia (in Dickinson & Benziger 1974:127-128):

> I don't handle them every time. I really don't feel like it's necessary every time for me. But it does say, 'They shall take up serpents'. And Jesus is the one's doing the talking. Said, 'They shall take them up.' Well, I've got to do it, or somebody's got to do it, or else it makes Jesus out a liar, because if I tell you you shall go out that door, it means that you've got to go out there, one way or the other. Now listen how it reads. 'And these signs shall follow them that believe'. Shall. Now if it said, 'if you feel led to handle them, if you believe to handle them,' it'd be kind of different. But it says, 'These signs shall follow'. See, it's just like the Holy Ghost speaking in tongues. It don't come any other way. And when I read it says they shall speak with new tongues, they've got to do like it says. But the scriptures said that they shall pick up serpents, and somebody has to do that. If we don't do it, Jesus can raise up a people that will do it. If it's the least baby here tonight. If it's this little baby, if we won't do it, he'll raise them little children up here in our midst. Or maybe somebody that's never been born. But he's going to have somebody that will do it. If we don't do it, he'll have somebody that will do it.

Following Brother Preast's logic, Rev. Ball's reference to the Hopi snake dance provides evidence of the scripture's fulfillment and of the religion's unbroken continuity. Similarly, in emphasizing that serpent-handling had been practiced "all through time," Brother Jimmy Williams noted that some of the Pilgrims migrated to the new world because serpent-handlers were persecuted in Britain (interview December 15, 1972).

The logic of the above accounts is similar to that

of the "archaig" traditions examined by Eliade (1959:21) in which all activity was judged as meaningful only to the extent that it related to ". . . a divine model, an archetype". Specifically:

> . . . the archaic man, acknowledges no act which has not been previously posited and lived by someone else, some other being who was not a man. What he does has been done before. His life is the ceaseless repetition of gestures initiated by others. This conscious repetition of given paradigmatic gestures reveals an original ontology. The crude product of nature, the object fashioned by the industry of man, acquire their reality, their identity, only to the extent of their participation in a transcendent reality. The gesture acquires meaning, reality, solely to the extent to which it repeats a primordial act (p. 5).

> . . . Each of the examples cited in the present chapter reveals the same 'primitive ' ontological conception: an object or an act becomes real only insofar as it imitates or repeats an archetype. Thus, reality is acquired solely through repetition or participation; everything which lacks an exemplary model is 'meaningless', i.e., it lacks reality (p. 34).

The following statement made by Brother Burl Barbee of Chattanooga, Tennessee (former Dolley Pond participant) can be used to illustrate Eliade's assertions (in the native stone, July 5, 1973):

> Some people said to me they didn't believe Jesus picked up snakes. Well, I don't believe Jesus would tell me to pick up snakes if He wouldn't do it Himself. Oh, Lord, I long to see the day when they quit calling me a lowdown, no good Jesus snake-handler.

Similarly, Rev. Jimmy Williams emphasized that: "The Apostles took up serpents" (field notes Nov. 23, 1972). Or, as Brother Liston Pack affirmed regarding speaking in tongues (tape

recorded Ausut 20, 197

"Amen, that can just be done, amen. On Pentecost they spoke in other tongues, alleluya to God, amen. . ."

For serpent-handlers, the King James Bible serves as an "exemplary model" (Eliade 1959:34). For example, Brother Alfred stated (tape recorded August 20, 1972):

> Amen, during this revival, amen, I want you to come and I wantyou to follow right along with me when I'm preaching, amen, and if, amen, if I tell you the truth believe, and if I don't, don't you believe it. If I tell you something that's not in that book, don't you believe it. Amen, if it's in there, you better believe it. Amen, you sure better believe it. Amen, and, a you do the same for any other preacher that you listen at.

Regarding the Bible, Jimmy Williams states (tape recorded

December 10, 1972):

Amen, I promise you one thing, that I won't do nothing outside the Word of God. The things that I say, amen, I can put my finger right on it. Bless the Lord! And read 'em to you. I don't believe that a preacher ought to bring you nairy thing that he can't lay his thumb on. Bless God! Amen.

Or, as affirmed by Brother Clyde and Brother Lester (tape recorded December 12, 1972): ". . . it is between each lid of the holy Word . . . We don't add, we don't take away."

In the above cases, then, it is argued that if a belief or practice cannot be cited verbatim in the Bible, it lacks validity. In terms of the meaning of history, this reliance on primordial events has interesting implications. As seen by Eliade (1959:35):

> Thus we perceive a second aspect of primitive ontology: insofar as an act (or an object) acquires a certain reality . . . through the repetition of certain paradigmatic gestures, and acquires it through that alone, there is an implicit abolition of profane time,

of duration, of 'history'; and he who reproduces the exemplary gesture thus finds himself transported into the mythical epoch in which its revelation took place.

In the Christian tradition, for example, John 14:12 states: "He that believeth on me, the works that I do shall he do also." In other words, ". . . he who believes in Jesus can do what He did; his limitations and impotence are abolished" (Eliade <u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 23). As seen by Brother Billy Jay Forrester (in Pelton & Garden 1974:25); "Because it' in the Bible . . . because Jesus told His disciples to do it, I believe we can do it too."

To this point in the discussion, we have seen that for serpent-handlers history serves as exemplary functions ". . . providing examples of ideal types" (Vansina 1965:106). It is on this basis that serpent-handlers refer to one another as "saints", and conceive of themselves as a "separated people," "God's people," or a "peculiar people". Through the use of this nomenclature, serpent-handlers are, in effect, asserting their close affinity with the saints and Apostles of old. This identification with saints and apostles is reflected in the following incidents. Alfred Ball, for example, (fieldnotes July 31, 1973) posited, that: ". . . we shouldn't be surprised that we suffer from serpent-bite, as the apostles were often persecuted just for preaching. We are promised in the Scriptures that God's people will suffer." In a similar vein, Liston Pack stated that: ". . . many preachers say that Apostles aren't around anymore" (August 5, 1972, fieldnotes).

People in the congregation laughed at Liston's suggestion and a preacher or two proclaimed that Apostles are "still around". Saints in the congregation responded with a resounding, 'amen."

In some respects, saints' ordering of time can be compared to medieval conceptions as exemplified in Langland's <u>Piers The Ploughman</u> (circa 1377). As seen by Kaske (1968:327), for example, Langland's style of presentation served:

> ... as a kind of double-surfaced mirror reflecting the essential truth of both past and future-just as, according to medieval commentary, the essential truth of both past and future is reflected in the letter of the New Testament.

Goodridge's (1966:12-17) commentary on Langland's work can be used to focus on serpent-handlers' general orientation to the past:

> . . . the form allows various different time-scales and with them different levels of meaning, to operate side by side, or be superimposed by one another . . . it is no regular step-by-step progress. It is as irregular and unpredictable as life itself. . . In Book XI the poet ironically allows forty-five years of the dreamer's life to drop out as if they had never existed, so that he passes in a moment from the struggle of early manhood to those of old age. . .

Langland's willingness to follow, at times, wherever the spirit leads--a characteristic of most medieval devotional writing--occasions many digressions, stoppingshots and unexpected transitions. The patter is incomplete in parts, yet unified on a higher level as the dreamer becomes caught up in the mystery of Christ and his spokesman, Piers.

As is shown throughout this study, serpent-handlers' employ methods similar to those used by Langland in~the fourteenth century. In their oral accounts of past events

they often employ a non-sequential time progression. As well, reports of dreams and visions sometimes are juxtaposed in the same account. Numerous side tangents are developed. Accounts can differ from teller to teller, depending on the immediate purpose of the account, audience, religious truth being emphasized, differential knowledge of the events recounted, etc.

In this section, selected folk accounts of serpenthandling's origin have been examined and viewed as a means of creating a sense of an ongoing community of saints with historical continuity and practical affinity with Jesus and the Apostles. In looking at these accounts of community, it is necessary to realize that in many contexts it is unnecessary for the recounter to relate all that he knows on a particular topic as he assumes that participant-hearers will share similar background knowledge and will fill in the gaps in the narratives. Also, the full story of the religion's past is not ordinarily recounted in any one service or conversation. Rather, bits and pieces of it are selectively presented during sermons, casual conversations, interviews with researchers, etc. and, at these times, are told to illustrate or give credance to the overall thrust of the sermon or other activity at hand. The principle here is that all oral performance must be seen in terms of the purposes at hand, rather than as part of a fixed textual repertory. By examining storytelling from this persepctive, much can be learned about the

1

selective rendering of accounts as a means toward the creation of a community of saints.

•

Concerning this, Goodridge (1966:18) raises a point about <u>Piers The Ploughman</u> that has applicability to serpenthandlers:

> . . . the secret of the poem's appeal to a modern ' reader may lie partly in this irregularity of construction, for, instead of giving up a finished picture of the Christian view of life, it registers all our 'uncertainties, mysteries, doubts, and shows a continuing process of thought: truth is something to be appropriated to oneself, not merely understood by the mind.

It is in the notion that truth is something to be "appropriated to oneself", rather than merely intellectually perceived, that we can see theimportance of saints' time reckoning practices. Namely, for saints history is not a series of completed, 1 discrete events, but is an ongoing process that they are part of. A saint does not assume a vanta. point outside history and yiew a series of finite closures, but rather stands in a dynamic and ongoing relationship to an assumed destiny that is intricately tied to past, present and future. These truths, as expressed in the unalterable King James Bible, form the starting and finishing point for all contemporary or temporal analysis. Having accepted this premise, saints need not be concerned with the literal details of lineal time sequence from the present to the past. What is important is the truth of the continuity of the Word from the Alpha to the Omega. Thus, mysteries and gaps in the oral record are of little consequence. What is important is the ongoing,

unfinished process that will ultimately lead to a heavenly home. As summarized by Hostetler and Huntington (1967:22-23) concerning Hutterites' perceptions of time and history:

> Intermediate between sacred and secular time and history and dreams. For the Hutterites, history is important as a dimension of the presence of God in the world. They are not interested in history in terms of dates on a secular time scale but as steps in the development of the church of God. Therefore, histori cal events that are unrelated to their own outlook of life are of little meaning to them and even their own history is remembered as it strengthens their faith rather than as a dated sequence of events. This means that there is some fusion of the beginning of Christianity (the historical period of Christ's birth and the writing of the Bible) with the beginning of the Hutterites (during the persecution of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries and the writing of the Hutterite sermons). Miracles of the sixteenth century may be mixed with those of the nineteenth, for the worldly data is unimportant compared with the fact that God 'broke into history'. History is a dimension of secular time that is recalled primarily because it illustrates eternity. . .

#### CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS

Most saints have little or no detailed knowledge or critical understanding of the religion's developmental past. It is precisely through this lack of scientific understanding that an oral tradition such as serpent-handling is able to create a cosmic meaning for its adherents. Historical lore of the origins and development of the religion serves the function of providing participants with a sense of a significant and deep-rooted spiritual tradition that has continuity all the way back to Christ and His original twelve Apostles. Through the telling and retelling of the "Stories of the origins of serpent-handling and of the feats of saints of the past, as well as of contemporary saints, a sense of the naturalness and inevitability of religious communit, is created. More specifically, saints' identity as special people who have access to supernatural power, as promised in the Bible, is reinforced and developed.

ŧ

Examination of the logical structure if the history of serpent-handling as it is conceived by members if the church serves as an initial step for further discussion of the functional role of this kind or aspect of history is restara community of believers. The following chapter discusses detail the formation and development of one serpent handling congregation, The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name

#### CHAPTER III

# THE HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD IN JESUS NAME--DOCUMENTARY PRACTICES, ORIGIN, AND DEVELOPMENT

Although the specifics of time, place, individuals, and events are unique to this church, its formation and development illustrate the patterns and processes generally dealt with in the preceeding chapter. Also of relevance here, are what I term members' "documentary practices" or, the ways in which saints report on, document, and preserve records of their religious activities. These sources include hand-written records, scrapbooks, photographs, and tape recordings made by saints. It is necessary to evaluate saints' documentary practices before proceeding with a dis-

Useion of the church's history. In reconstructin; the history of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name, these "documents" were used to supplement members' oral accounts and my personal observations. As a researcher associated with the church for six of its eight years of existence, I have been in an excellent position to observe, participate if, and record many of the significant events in the group's development. Saints' documentary practices, and the origin and development of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name will now be examined.

# DOCUMENTARY PRACTICES

Although various studies deal with serpent-handling as an oral tradition (La Barre 1962a: Stekert 1963; Gerrard 1966a; Kane 1974; Tripp 1975; The 1975), it is not entirely so. Even though the oral integral part in the creation of written word also plays an integral part in the creation of a community of saints. Most obvious is the fact that the religion is based on a "literal" interpretation of the "Word of God" as it is written in the King James Bible. The bible is frequently read, preached from, argued over, and used as a guide and final authority on most matters. Saints strive to establish the precise meanings of Biblical terms and accounts.¹

Serpent-handlers use the written word, and related means to document and promulgate their religion through: making news ("publishing the gospel"); preserving photographs, newspaper clippings, research articles, and letters pertaining to the religion (keeping scrapbooks); making tape recordings of church services and personal testimonies; keeping hand written records in family Bibles; and through the printing of "minute books," religious notices and signs, preachers' cards, newspaper advertisements and want ads. Such documentary practices can be seen as important folk methodologies. Through

However, Stekert (1963:318), reports that: "Bible stories are often told, both in and out of church, in the simplified manner of folktales using much folk speech."

saints' reporting on their own activities, not only are aspects of the present-past preserved, but this may also be seen as a "reflective" means of creating the reality being reported on.² Also, as established in Chapter II, serpent-handlers' documentary practices do not correspond to the exact methodologies used by historians and, therefore, it is of interest to elaborate on the uses to which they are employed by the community. In the remainder of this section, five examples of documentary practices will be examined: making news, scarpbooks, tape recordings, hand-written records and printed mate: in.

1. Making News ("Published the Gospel")

The biblical justification for what I call making news is found in Mark 13:10: "And the qc the must first be published among all nations." This passage fits into Mark's larger discussion of the conditions that will obtain prior to the second coming of Christ, at the end of the world. Mark wrote that (King Jamen Bible):

> . . . nation shall rise up against nation, and kingdom against kingdom: and there shall be earthquakes in diverse places, and there shall be famines and troubles: these are the beginnings of sorrows (Mark 13:8)

. . . they shall deliver you up to councils: and in the synagogues ye shall be beaten: and ye shall be brought before rulers and kings for my sake, for a

²As stated in Mehan and Wood (1975:12) regarding reflexivity: "Talk itself is reflexive. . . An utterance not only delivers some particular information, it also creates a world in which information itself can appear."

testimony against them. And the gospel must first be published among all nations. (Emphasis mine) (13:9-10)

. . . for false Christs and false prophets shall rise and shall shew signs and wonders, to seduce, it it were possible, even the elect. . . (13:22)

But in those days, after that tribulation, the sun shall be darkened, and the moon shall not give her light, and the stars of heaven shall fall, and the powers that are in heaven shall be shaken. And then shall they see the Son of man coming in the clouds with great power and glory. And then shall he send his angels, and shall gather together his elect from the four winds, from the uttermost part of the earth to the utter most part of heaven (13:24-27).

Thus, in endeavoring to "publish" the gospel, saints are, hastening the second coming of Christ and the time when a true community of saints will be possible in "another world." (More will be said about serpent-handling eschatology in later chapters.)

The primary means of publishing the gospel is through newspaper and magazine articles. Reporters and photographers are attracted to the church because of the spectacular religious performances. Once there, saints have an opportunity to provide them with selected information on the religion. Ideally, the resulting news stories will reflect saints views and will serve to publish the "truth" about the "Word."

Saints are usually willing to cooperate with reporters and writers who are interested in portraying the church. For example, Brother Clyde Ray Ricker reportedly invited a Knoxville <u>News-Sentinel</u> reporter and photographer to a church service on June 16, 1971 at which, incidently, Brother Buford Pack was "serpent-bit." Similarly, on April 15, 1973, Liston Pack and Clyde Ricker conducted a special serpenthandling demonstration in the church-house for the benefit of a Florida based news correspondent and his television camera man for a film documentary that was to be shown internationally. Pack, Ricker, and others in the church discussed the event often and were enthusiastic about its international scope ("even in Europe").

During most of serpent-handling's history, news reporters have been in evidence at many of the churches. This is not to suggest that saints have always welcomed media peoples' intrusions. As reported by Tripp (1975:65) concerning serpenthandlers in a Georgia congregation:

. ``

Newspapers are viewed as a common source of perseuction and ridicule. There have been occasional feature stories about serpent-handling, but most are news stories published following a death, or a prosecution. The stories tend to be sensational and frequently are inaccurate; consequently, the believers rarely trust the press.

In recent years, at The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name, many saints have become reluctant to talk with reporters and researchers. In the summer of 1973, at the urging of the assistant pastor, Brother Alfred Ball, cameras were barred from the church. (However, the taking of photographs through the open window was not forbidden and the pastor's teenage son willingly directed photographers to the window).

The reluctance of some saints to deal with news people stems from the number of biased and inaccurate stories on the

church that have been written in the popular press, especially after the strychnine deaths in 1973. Following the deaths, the church was invaded by media people, researchers, and university students.

Many members, however, continue to see newspaper interviews as an effective means of publishing the gospel and are willing to cooperate, if they have a reasonable expectation that the writer will accurately portray their religion. During the summer of 1973, for example, freelance writers, Robert Pelton and Karen Carden, approached the assistant pastor and proposed to write a sympathetic book on the church. Some saints initially were dubious of the project after the recent "media invasion". Pelton and Carden assured the members that the book would be based primarily on taped interviews with various saints and that Brother Alfred would have some editorial control over the final manuscript before it was published. Consequently, many saints agreed to cooperate. Brother Alfred made available his church scrapbook to the writers, as well as the scrapbook of the late Rev. Jimmy Williams. Brother Ralph Eslinger allowed the writers full use of his unorganized collection of cassette tapes of various church services. Other saints volunteered the use of photographs, etc., and agreed to be interviewed by the writers.

The first book published by Pelton & Carden--<u>Snake-</u> Handlers: God-Fearers? or Fanatics?: A Religious Documentary (1974)--was well received by most saints of the church. Those

٩

4.

who did not like the book were people who either did not cooperate with the writers or who had objected to the project from the start. Pelton and Carden (1976) have just released a second book on serpent-handling. <u>The Persecuted Prophets</u>. On the whole, these books contain numerous photographs and consist of various quotations of church members connected by the author's commentary. The writers emphasize that they are not attempting to be analytical, consistent with saint negative reaction to most evaluative research on their religion. Concerning these religious documentaries, Brother Alfred states: (tape recorded, December, 1974):

.,

¥

. . its a, very evident when you begin to read these books, a, Tennessee Snake-Handlers and Winston (sic) La Barre's book and what was the other one, a Dew Over Jordan (sic) or somethin' . . . which ever of these books are, are oldest, its an evident fact that the others have picked up their information from these books and in my opinion and, a, neither of these people have ever ever been acquainted with somebody that, a, never been in a service where serpents were taken up because of the things that they say that these people were doin' a, it just doesn't happen. I know hundreds, literally hundreds of people who take up serpents and nothing that any of these people do, though some of them get kind of weird, a nothing that any of them do even approached what these people claim that they saw. A, in my opinion, this is all, a, Dew on Jordan, and a, and a, Tennessee Snake Handlers, which a, has evidently been written, a primarily from newspaper articles probably, and Winston (sic) La Barre's book, these are all just mostly fiction, just somethin' somebody made up because they don't even approach the truth . . . in other words they just say, well this is the way it is and they didn't even bother to document anything . . . and if anybody would care to have something that's, that's a true documentary I'd recommend the, Robert Pelton's new book, the recent book of Robert Pelton's called, They shall take up serpents, a, The Snake Handlers--God Fearers Or Fanatics?. I, I'd recommend that, because I personally know that it is a trul documentary and its been well documented all

Contraction of the second

60

**N** 

across the Southeastern part of the United States, in the churches, from first hand experience with the people, and I was instrumental in, in givin' information and helpin' them to obtain information to the peor and what's In that book is the truth. And, this is a true documentary and the others can't be right, because I know hundreds of the people that do it and, none of them even approach the weird things that, that they claim these people do and, the snake-handling is only one small, small, little part. It doesn't taken even as much time as prayin', in their service. . . But La Barre's book and, and The Tennessee Snake-Handlers and all the others, and the newspaper articles, and all the things that have been published about this would lead a person to believe that all they want to do is go to church and handle snakes, if you want to put it that way. . .

Saints are cautious about cooperating with researchers whose work purports to be of a psychological or strictly sociological nature. Saints do, however, often cooperate with students and university faculty members who are doing research providing the researcher can satisfactorily explain the general purposes of the intended work. Brother Alfred, for example, cooperated with Wayne Barrett, a fourth year student at East Tennessee State University who was working on an ethnoscience and video-tape project.³

Similarly, other members of The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name were cooperative and helpful during my "studying." Brother Liston (the pastor), for example, presented me with a "minute book" (a short publication of the church listing beliefs and Scriptural references) that had the following note

³The completed tape, "They Shall Take Up Serpents," was included in the Southern Appalachian Video Ethnography Series circulating tape collection at Johnson City, Tennessee, and consists of a twenty-minute interview with Brother Alfred and excerpts from various church services. It is also interesting

penciled in on the cover: "Jim you can help, St. Mark 13:10." Of course, as cited above, this passage reads: "And the gospel must first be published among all nations." As I came to Newport from "Alberto, Canada" (sic), my writings would help to fulfill that part of the Scripture.

Some members of the church are aware of and have read scientific literature on serpent-handling. Scientific explanations of serpent-handling are sometimes mentioned in sermons and testimonies to emphasize the point that the "spiritual" cannot be understood "in the carnal mind" and to show how "the world" can be counted on to misrepresent "God's people." Brother Alfred, for example, illustrates saints use of scientific literature if this excerpt from a letter that he wrote to me (January 17, 1973):

> . . . But it seems that all of these writers come up with some strange conclusions because they try to explain the spiritual things with carnal reasoning. And the scripture teaches that the carnal mind is in enmity against God. It is not subject to God neither indeed can it be, (not subject to the law of God) Romans 8:7. . And what is psychology except the reasoning of mens' carnal minds? Psychologist's hysteria was the result of suppressed sexual desires. So this explains La Barre's insenuation (sic) that men who take up serpents are secretly trying to seduce the women in the church. If he had bothered to talk to some of the sincere women in the church he would quickly have found that they couldn't be seduced by man or devil. . .

Scientific accounts as well as distorted news stories are of considerable importance, then, in the maintenance of a

to note that the preceeding excerpt from my interview with Brother Alfred was part of a lengthy taped interview for a monograph that I am writing fro the Video Ethnography Series to accompany Barrett's video tapes. In effect, Brother Alfred was collaborating in the preparation of an analysis of a religious documentary that he was already largely featured in.

community of saints. Obvious distortions are reportable within the group and can serve as the basis of many sermons and testimonies emphasizing the "correct" views and interpretations. This defining and redefining of the "correct" position is important in the ongoing creation of a group as it serves as a means of more precisely formulating the belief system and of creating a specific group identity. Making news in general provides an effective means of establishing a unique boundedness of the community and of emphasizing the notion of a being a "separated people," a "peculiar people"--of maintaining a we-they dichotomy.

Making news is also an effective way of establishing wider social contacts for serpent-handlers, both with saints and with sinners. News stories on the church have attracted religious people of mahy persuasions to "snake hollow" as well as informing serpent-handlers im other localities of the church's existence. The media coverage of the two brothers' deaths in April, 1973 prompted serpent-handlers from Ohio and Kentucky to visit the church, in both cases for the first time. The same news stories inspired a Holiness preacher from Winston-Salem, North Carolina; Pentecostals from Wisconsin; the leader of a well-known southern gospel group from Nashville, Tennessee; and, many others to visit the church. Many of these contacts initiated ongoing relationships with other serpenthandling centers. The leader of the Nashville gospel group began writing a religious book on the church in which he planned

to "accurately" portray the intense spirituality of the saints.⁴

As a result of world wide news coverage of church events, the pastor and assistant pastor have received numerous letters from all parts of the United States, Canada, and occasionally from Britain, Australia, New Zealand, The Phillipines, and India. Regarding these letters and the syndicated news story that they were a response to Brother Liston (field notes November 17, 1972):

> . . . talked about the last days, coming when people start writing about the church, as the Word will reach all across the world before the end. Liston also mentioned that he was spending about 80¢ a day answering all the mail that came in after the article appeared. It took him weeks to do it. He wished that more mail had come in. . .

Some letters contain generous cash contributions or offers of free legal aid, while other people send religious tracts or articles on serpent-handling. Letters also comment on the obvious sincerity of believers and offer the saints encouragement in their legal battles. Still other letters condemn serpent-handling and attempt to discredit members. These letters, like the negative or inaccurate articles cited above, are reportable and form the basis of sermons and conversations emphasizing the "God's people-persecution" theme. Positive letters and cash donations are also discussed as evidence of

ï

⁴With respect to interaction, news stories about serpent-handling can also serve as a catalyst to county sheriffs to "crack down" on the practice. The resulting encounters provide saints with an additional context in which to bear witness for the "Word" through suffering the "persecution" of imprisonment like the Apostles and saints of old.

the pervasiveness of God's message.

Finally, making news is important in the creation of a community of saints as it provides a means through which saints can see their activities reflected and "writ" large. News making is an integral part of North American society. The media not only reflect reality, but also are involved in the creation of a larger facticity for that which it reports. One of the main criteria for making news is reportability-that which creates attention and arouses interest. Although serpent-handling is numerically insignificant in the United States, it is afforded a disproportionate amount of media coverage. This over-reporting of a geographically and numerically restricted phenomenon tends to create the impression of a much larger significance, of an established reality, that is given additional verification through such powerful means as radio, television, and documentary film.

Within the larger communities in which saints live and work, news stories can transform individual saints intelocal celebrities. For example, once when I was dining with Rev. Liston Pack (1973) at a truck stop near Knoxville (some fifty miles from the church), he was recognized by a waitress who had seen his photograph in a loc newspaper. She immediately informed the other employees of the "personage" in their midst. Similarly, Liston reported that (fieldnotes July 2, 1972):

He drove a load of steel to "Ann Arbor Michigan where an employee at the terminal said, 'You're Liston Pack, the truck driver who handles snakes.'. The worker had read about Liston in a newspaper article. It is partially through such encounters that the reality of the religion is reflected, made manifest, and given a greater credence through its recognition by a larger audience.5

1999 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 199 - 19

## 2. Scrapbooks

One by-product of making news is the scrapbooks that many saints keep, containing news articles in which they or the church are featured, 8" x 10" photographs provided by journalists, religious tracts and articles received through the mail, positive letters about the faith from non-members, photographs taken by saints, and miscellaneous materials per taining to the church or religious matters in general. When visiting the homes of serpent-handlers one is impressed by these scrapbooks-albums. Tripp (1975), and Vance (1975) mention that scrapbooks are also kept by serpent-handlers in Georgia and Alabama. Usually, those who actually "take up serpents" are more likely to have albums as they is personally featured in a number of articles and photographs.

Saints readily show these albums to visitors and provide appropriate commentary about each item included in their collections. Often particular items will remind a saint of the time that he was converted, first "took up serpents," or some other event of significance in his religious development

^DThe fact that Liston has appeared on local talk shows, as well as on a syndicated show from Detroit, lends further support to my argument.

from sinner to saint. Or, other items are readed solution first days of The Holiness Church Ot and in Transmission of the solution of the solu

An interesting dispect of these scrapebooks plot albums is the way that they are organized. Materials in the not dated and usually not arranged chronologically. Densions to be included as they are acquired in is they best toton the spaces provided. Sometimes, saints will purchase it all after years of keeping their materials in a large effector Scrapbooks may contain items that are ont strictly pettored to the church, clippings on non-religious snake of the strict on the "fallacy" of evolution, other religious et all for example, Brother Alfred write, concerning loss state to (letter, January 17, 1913):

> Thank you for the zerox (sing sopples to my soughter (sic). I am always interested in detting anythic: of a religious nature or in other words concernation the religious of the world for my book, as in like to study the doctrines that are out of the religious will of worship.

In attempting to use these above as sources? historical documentation, the researcher is trustrated of the fact that many newspaper articles are toto denotified to the test and source. Although this may be trustration to the research it serves as further evidence that serve totallets don't these materials to establish struct end to eques, but ration to preserve momentos of the nature accompatibility between the cant and seemingly insignificant events of their spuritual

 $\mathcal{D}$
past. Also, saints probably do not spend time concerning themselves with scholarly documentation practices as they rely on individual and group recollections to fill in the appropriate details when required to do so. This is one of the most important bases of the organizational styles : serpent-handlers as opposed to that of the historian. If asked about a particular undated article, the saint will probably be able to locate it generally with respect to a particular time and place, as well as provide commentary of the event's features that are of interest from a spiritual rather than a carnal point of view.

By way of illustration of the contents of scrapbooks, Brother Jimmy Williams' photo album-scrapbook contained the following items: (scrapbook lent courtesy of Jimmy Williams, December, 1972):

Newspaper clippings and articles containing the following headlines:

- 1. "Bitten Handler of Snake 'Fine'" (Big Stone 14), 74
- 2. "Rattler's Bite At Religious Service Fatal" (Covington, Ky., February 20).
- 3. "Church Snake Bite Fatal to Man 66" (Jellis), Tenn., Jan. 20).
- "Minister Bitten by Snake, Lies" Elbeville, Kyl. Nov. 5).
- 5. "Minister Dies of Snakebite in Thurch Rite" Bit Stone, Gap)
- . "'Dead' Snake Kills Man" Camden, S.J. (Carnal Lette
- 7. "4-Year Old Child Bitten by Snake" Del Ri , Tenn. [carnal Lore].
- 8. "Snake-Handling Scene" (Ficture of Tent & Coy Barnes in Sevierville)
- 9. No title--woman died of snake-bite wharleston, Willia
- 10. "Snake Handlers Charged With Disturbance at Del F. Church"

"Two Snakehandlers Bitten, One Critical" 11. (Sevierville, Tekn.) Picture with caption and untitles article (Green-12. ville, July 9) "Faith Demonstration--Snakes Patted, Petted At 13. Revival Meeting" Photo, caption -- "Pulpit and Snakepit" 14. "Snakehandlers Are Trked" (Newport, Jan. 2) 15. "Snake-Handler Loses Grip But Serpent Doesn'. 16. (Newport) "Snakehandler Found Guilty In Circuit Court" 17. "It's In The Book" (Kingsport Times-News, Sunday, 18. Aug. 15, 1971) "Strong Faith Emphasized In Newport Holiness Church" 19. (Newport Plain-Talk, Sept. 29, 1970) "Man Get Jail Term 1 Snake Case" (Wise, Va., 20. Oct. 24) "Snake Handling Results In Guilty Judgement" 21. "Snake-Bitten Man Loses Job In Morristown: 22. "Bitten Snakehandler 'Couldri't 🎥 Healthier'" 23. No Title (Article from The Greenville News, S.C., 24. March 12, 1972) A Photo with caption 25. A want ad for "Poisonous Snakes" 26. A cartoon sketch entitled "Intellectual Gap Missing"

27. A cartoon sketch entitled "Intellectual Gap Missing" (depicts a serpent-handler's view of Garden of Eden account.

In most of the above items, the date and source were not provided by Jimmy Williams. The only available information of this sort is that which incidentally appears on the articles themselves. Also, in some of the articles that have been mailed to saints or provided by visitors, album owners are often not certain of time, place, or circumstances. Although, at the time I'did not note the exact arrangement of items in Brother Williams' scrapbook, it is clear that a strict chronological principle is not operative.

Brother Jimmy's album also included a number of 8" by 10" photographs that were provided by various freelance photographers and news reporters. There were at least ten to fifteer.

 $\mathcal{T}_{i} = \{i_{i}, \dots, i_{n}\}$ 

of these in the album, including at least two or three photos from a Chester, South Carolina serpent-handling church in the late 1940's. Jimmy Williams was featured in many of the photographs and newspaper articles.

Finally, saints sometimes have framed photographs of themselves handling serpents, hanging on the walls of their living rooms. Similarly, "preacher's credentials" indicating when the preacher was "ordained" are framed and hung on living walls in a saint's home. Both of these items serve to document and preserve significant events in a saint's religious life.

In conclusion, scrapbooks are one of the most common documentary sources in a serpent-handling community. These books provide a wealth of historical information on particular churches, plus provide some insight into how saints organize and utilize these documentary materials (strict chronology not followed). The fact that many saints keep scrapbooks is significant, as these books can be seen as ongoing chronicles of individual and group religious biographies. As such, they afford tangible evidence of the unique shared focus that provides a special identity to serpent-handling saints.

#### 3. Tape Recordings

Jimmy Williams, as well as other saints, occasionally tape recorded church services and the church's weekly radio broadcast. At some services, as many as two or three saints have had cassette tape recorders. Brother Ralph Eslinger,

for example, taped almost every service during the winter, spring, and summer of 1973, including the April 7, 1973 service during which Jimmy Williams and Buford Pack consumed lethal doses of strychnine. Brother Ralph stores his tapes in metal fishing tackle boxes. The tapes are not labelled or ordered in any way. I spent considerable time listening to Talph's tapes and provided him with a list of contents, dates, and places, where possible. Although I had Ralph's permission to do this, it did not seem to matter to him whether or not they were organized. My ordering was primarily of use to me rather than to Brother Ralph and the church.

Saints in the community sometimes borrow tapes from Ralph when they want to hear a particular sermon or spiritual song. Provers sometimes use these tapes to monitor their own preaching and to help "get in the spirit" for impending sermons.

In recent time, however, the tapes have taken on an added significance. After the deaths of the two church brothers in 1973, many saints of the church listened to the tapes of that particular service to settle a hotly debated question--namely, did Buford state during the service prior to his death that a funeral would take place at the church within four days?⁶ Tapes are now often used to settle such disputes

Å

⁶Inthis case, the tapes did not solve the issue as that part of the service either was erased by Ralph's children or was not recorded because Ralph was changing tapes or because he was unaware that the tape had run out.

when controversy develops over the content or wording of particular sermons.

Of minor importance regarding tape recordings are cases where saints volunteer to "make a tape" for educational purposes. In the fall of 1972, for example, I asked Brother Ralph if I could tape an interview with him. He said that he would prefer if I let him use the tape recorder so that he could "make a tape" in private. Ralph's documentary tape was not chronologically ordered, did not provide exact dates, and on the whole, was a free ranging spiritual monologue aimed at my university students to help them better understand the religion. Similarly, three teenage church brothers quite willingly produced a tape for me in the fall of 1972. I provided the initial suggestion, but it was largely organized and presented by them. This tape also confirmed to the principles of ordering and style that have been discussed to this point.

## 4. Hand-Written Records

Considerable emphasis is given in the literature on serpent-handling concerning the fact that saints do not keep written records. Gerrard (19662:11): "Because of a family" background of illiteracy, there are few documents or records, and even the family Bible is apt to have no hand-written chronology." Or, Tripp (1975:20), states that: "History of serpent-handling is scant since the churches have generally eschewed written records . . . ".

While in general I would agree with the above conclusions, some written records are kept, at The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name. Saints sometimes record important events in their lives or in the life of the church on the pages provided in family Bibles or on separate sheets of For example, in a section of the Bible designated, paper. "Events To Remember In the Life Of Our Family," Rev. Jimmy Williams included two items of interest: (1) a brief description of the details of the founding of the, the and, (2) a statement of how he wanted higher to be conducted. The important point to be made comparing this documentation is the church's formation, an exact date that in the o The early Spring of 1969) and only the was not prov For Rev. Williams and other saints of red. basic facts ap the church, however, there was no need to record a specific date, as members would already have access to that knowledge through oral tradition, making precise historical reckoning unnecessary.

Also, saints sometimes write a synopsis of dreams and prophecies so as to preserve an accurate record in case future

1.

⁷This mode of recording events can be contrasted to the way that Williams' military record is recorded in the Bible. On his military record, the exact dates of entering and discharge from service were recorded. Military service could be conceived of as an event bounded in time as opposed to an ongoing process such as the creation of a community of saints. In dealing with a military record, one could not rely on the background knowledge of a community to make sense of that which

events should validate their significance. Brother Alfred, for example, kept notes on his dreams concerning conflict in the church. He did not divulge the contents of these records, not even to his wife. He showed them to mé, however, trusting that I would respect his wishes and not report on these dreams, as they were potentially socially disruptive to the church.

### 5. Saints' Printing Practices

One final type of documentary practice is the printing of "minute books," religious notices and signs, preacher's calling cards, newspaper advertisements, and want ads. Taken as a whole, these types of materials serve as but another means of promoting and making public the religion.

"Minute Books" are small pamphlets of eight to ten pages that list the church's basic beliefs and cite their Biblical justifications. These are distributed to saints as well as to sinners, and are mailed to pople who write, requesting information on the church.

Religious notices and signs are usually printed tracts that are used to advertise revivals, special singing services, and or the establishment of a new congregation. These, along with newspaper advertisements, are utilized several times a year by the church or by particular preachers.

was not specifically written. Willaims' family Bible also contained a written record of his marriage and the birth dates of their three children. Exact dates were recorded for these significant events. Other explanations are possible here. This is more suggestive than conclusive.

Most preachers distribute calling cards. These cards often contain a Biblical verse or a sketch of an open Bible, plus the preacher's name, phone number, and church affiliation. Calling cards help to maintain the image of the preacher as a person of importance. The cards also serve as a very practical function. Cards are given to sinners. In the event of spiritual need, the sinner will be able to locate the preacher relatively easily. Such contacts often serve as a means of recruiting new members into the church.

# 6. Documentary Practices - A Conclusion

In the aggregate, the practices described in the preceeding pages contribute to the fostering of an image of the church as being important. Through various documentary practices, of mich making news is the most important, the community establishes links with people outside the group which provide important resources for further development of the community of serpent-handlers. Through these various practices, saints construct religious biographies, as well as bring about the fulfillment of one prophecied condition necessary for the second coming of Christ (i.e., that the gospel must first be published).

# THE ORIGIN AND EARLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD IN JESUS NAME

In looking at the origin and development of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name three major questions will be discussed: one, who formed the church and under what circumstances was it founded; two, what types of events occurred in the church's development; and, three, how did (do) members report on these events? Saints' folk accounts of the church's past will be integrated into the overall discussion rather than be presented in a separate section. "At this level of micro analysis the researcher must rely on oral accounts, personal observations, and the artifacts of emints' documentary practices (broadly defined), making it "impractical to analytically separate the modes of reconstructing the past.

The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name was established in the Spring of 1969. As recorded by Rev. Jimmy Williams in the family Bible:

> 1. Rev. Jimmy R. Williams Alfred Ball Liston Pack Walter Newcombe Established Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name at Newport Tennessee in the early spring of 1969 near Carson Springs Community on old Sevierville Road.

The simplicity and brevity of Brother Jimmy's account of the church's founding masks the complexity of the event (at least for non-members). For members, the fact that an exact founding

date, precise geographical location, and more specific details are lacking is not problematic. Namely, accounts such as this are premised on members' shared background knowledge and on their ability to fill in the gaps, vis-a-vis various notions of the spiritual significance of the church's establishment. This relates to Goodridge's (1962:18) discussion of <u>Piers The Ploughman</u> in which "truth" is constructed as . . . "something to be appropriated to oneself, not merely understood by the mind.," Brother Ralph Eslinger's testimony on the formation of the church illustrates this spiritual appropriation of the church's history (tape recorded December 13, 1972):

> I Ralph Eslinger, being a minister of the gospel, and I, I come out of the Methodist into the Baptist, Baptist into the Holiness. And all in my church I • walk, I know that a greater desire couldn't find out what it was and this Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name come out. I started a goin' to this church and I knowd that I, that's what I'd been looking for. I knowd that that was true and it was the pure Word of God. . . I've had a few questions asked me about where the people come from that made up the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name. There're come from 11 walks of life, some of em' been Baptist, Presbyterian, Holiness and they, they want to stick to the old pathway, the old traditions of God. And they came out of different churches and assemble themselves together and set up the church which is called the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name. There, God is the head of the church. There, we foller his guidance and we don't use any literature at all, we use the holy Bible, King James version Bible. . .

Given Brother Ralph's view, the establishment of the church is not seen as an isolated, discrete event in the past, but rather as a culmination of saints' searchings for a

more pure form of worship and "Christian" community.

Prior to the emergence of the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name, Jimmy Williams, Alfred Ball, Liston Pack, and Walter Newcombe⁸ along with a number of other brothers and sisters, had been participants at the Sand Hill Church of God In Jesus Name, which was located in an isolated rural valley near Del Rio, Tennessee in Cocke County. Serpenthandling had been practiced at the Sand Hill Church in the late 1940's and early 1950's, but because of legal difficulties over incidents of serpent-bite, etc., which led to factionalism in the church, the practice was discontinued there sometime in the 1950's.⁹ Regarding this incident, Brother Alfred Ball recalled in a tape-recorded interview with me-(December 1974):

⁸Williams, Ball, and Packara ardent converts to serpent-handling in their mid-tweeter, while Newcombe was a retired professional soldier in hardente fifties who, after years of travel, returned to his native home in the East Tennessee Mountains. Pack and Ball were reformed petty lawbreakers and Jimmy Williams was an ex-Navy man from South Carolina who had participated in the Cuban Missile blockade;

⁹Specifically, a young boy, Johnny Raines, suffered permanent injury to his hand from a snake-bite received during a service at Sand Hill. Raines, who allegedly had handled serpents prior to this incident, was handed the snake by an adult church member. A court case resulted and the member responsible for giving Raines the snake was sentenced to a six month jail term in the Knoxville workhouse. According to reports, the judge enjoined the others at the church to discontinue snake-handling (from conversation with Jimmy Williams, December 15, 1972). There is some confusion on this point, however, as some of the older Sand Hill participants who currently worship at the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name deny that they no longer "take up serpents" because of the judge's admonition. **RJB:** Did the Sand Hill Church believe in taking up serpents and working in the other signs?

Alfred: Un, well, apparently they claimed they did, 'Course they give us some trouble at a later date over it, but they did teach it to us. Some of the people believed in it. . .

RJB: What would cause, what caused the Sand Hill Church to quit taking up serpents and to quit believing in that part of the Bible.

Alfred: Well, I, I think, some of the people there to this very day still believe in it, but I think what actually brought about their stoppin' takin' up serpents was they had a man there, somethin' like 22, or 3 years ago now, it would have been that long, that got out of the will of God and out of knowledge, out of just plain common knowledge and he placed a rattlesnake up on a boy who had been takin' up serpents, now this wasn't somebody that never had done it. It was a boy that had been takin' up serpents, and had evidently backslid₁ at the time or, anyway, he had been takin' up serpents and this preacher put one, hung one around his neck and it bit him and he almost died this boy.

RJB: It bit him on the face?

Alfred: On the hand, and he, he lost, lost his hand, or the use of it after that and he almost died because of this man not using wisdom.

RJB: And what happened about 20 years ago?

Alfred: Something like 23 year ago now or .4, meybe even 24, now, I guess. Probably closer to 25 years ago at this date when that happened and it, that really caused them a lot of trouble and they kind of got away from it and a lot of the people just left the faith after that, and, of course, some of them still held onto it. . .

Although serpent-handling was discontinued at Sand Hill, the practice continued to take place in Cocke and Sevier Counties on an irregular basis when travelling Evangelists from Virginia, South Carolina, other parts of Tennessee, etc.,



held tent revivals in the area dyring the 1950's and 1960's. These tent revivals evidently attracted people from a fairly wide area. A revival held in Sevierville, Tennessee sometime around 1965 is illustrative. Two seipent handlers were bitten at this revival and it therefore received precoverage. One of the bitten men was reported to be 22 year old Coy Barnes, a Sevierville brick mason. Rescue Big Stone Gap, Virginia was the other snakebite verim. Mullins and a Rev. Pepper from Virginia were said to have furnished the snakes for the Sevierville revival. Supposedly, Barnes had been practicing snake-handling in the Sevierville area for some six months at the time of the snakebit in the t It is interesting to note that: ". . . the sheriff said he was told several persons from Virginia, and North Car Lina, and some from Newport, were at the Sunday night meeting" (Knoxyille News-Sentinel, Edward V. Hall, reporters to a Scrapbook collection of Jimmy Williams, not dated, approximate date provided by Jimmy Williams in conversation of Secember 15, 1972).

Williams, Ball, and Pack, as well as other in theirs and sisters who later became "charter" members 5: the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name, attended tent revivals, similar to the one cited above, in which serpent-handling took ; is to Also, during the late 1960's, Williams and Ball attended services at the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name at Hol Stone Gap, Virginia, where serpent-handling was practiced.

In August of 1967, Oscar Peltroy of the Right recounter,

died of a rattlescake bate. This on a set we charactered

the serpent's tings had at been pulled as they even of

claims were authentic, as belfrey had successfully the

"victory" over poisonous snakes on many cret, is a aspess

Concerning the saints' is summarial the saints' is summarial the term  $t_{\rm eff}$  of the Holpress through the term  $t_{\rm eff}$ . Thus, how the term  $t_{\rm eff}$  is summarial. States the term  $t_{\rm eff}$  the term  $t_{\rm eff}$  is the term  $t_{\rm eff}$  the term  $t_{\rm eff}$  is the term  $t_{\rm eff}$  to the term term

Alfred: Yes, 1969 in the spring is whet this particular thirth began. And, the perplecthat organized this church learned about this faith from another local church who had in turn learned it is me twenty, thirty, some, between twent, and thirty year ago from a church in Big Stone Gap, Virgins, who h was in operation, Umanderstand, for somethic lines oh, thirty some years. So, it will probably potenthirty-five or forty years locally, with estimated in it, its the snake, a serpert handling

RJB: Was that the charact it ind in

Alfred: Sand Blin

RTB: Sand Hill

Altred: Yes, they, they at sand Hill complete proceeds Sand Hill learned about the faith from resplective come out of the church is Big Stone (application) The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name Church in Big Stone Gap has been there for a mark like 32 or 3 year.

RJB: Did the people who started The Helliness of people of God In Jesus Name, they all went to Sand on the bebefore they started the church?

10 The question could be raised what impact by protected to Alfred had on the structure and content of his recollected I would say very little as the taped interview was a conscience for both Alfred and myself for the benefit. I the Video Ethnography Series monography I was working stated.

Alfred: Yes, yes, Jimmy Williams and, a myself, and a Liston Pack had all attended Sand Hill church and Jimmy and myself were instrumental in beginning the church, and of course, of course, Liston was, Liston was involved too when we started the church. Actually, the idea originated with Jimmy Williams and myself and, of course we were acquainted with Pack at the time and he was with us too, so when it come right down to the organization and, and the startin' of the church and the work on the church building he was as much involved as anybody. He had been goin' to Sand Hill and just recently repented a short time, and, as a matter of fact was not even a minister at the time the church began, having only repented some, couple of three months before. And Jimmy had been a minister for, oh, Jimmy had been a minister for, since '67, the church started in '69, Jimmy had been a minister for about 2 years. I'd been a minister somethin' like 5 years at the time, havin' been ordained in 1966, after havin' been preachin' for about a year.

RJB: Were you ordained at the Sand Hill Church?

Alfred: No, I was ordained with the Church of the. Apostolic Faith in Knoxville, Tennessee, which this church incidently didn't take up serpents.

RJB: Oh, the one in Knoxville?

Alfred: No, it didn't, the one in Knoxville didn't and as a matter of fact when I begin preachin' and was ordained, I didn't even know about takin' up serpents. I learned that myself personally. I learned about this faith in, first heard of takin' up serpents in oh, '67, '68, somewhere along there in, about sixty, about sixty-seven I guess when Jimmy repented and come into it we began to work into the signs of takin' up serpents. Of course, there was five signs, we'd, we begin to move into all that, around 1967.

To this point in Brother Alfred's historical recollections, 1.

Specifically, I already knew the answers to the questions that I asked Alfred and he was aware that I knew. In any case, the formal interview parallels any number of informal, unsolicited accounts of the church's origins given by Alfred and other saints. These accounts can be seen as the presentation of commonly known facts.

is noteworthy that he also does not give an exact date for the founding of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name but states: ". . . 1969 in the spring is when this particular church began." Similarly, throughout the account when events are recalled, dates are approximated rather than precisely established. Brother Alfred's account emphasizes the people involved in the forming of the church and the origins of serpent-handling in that part feast Tennessee. With regard to the saints who were instrumental in founding the church, Alfred's frame of reference appears to be their state of spiritual development or status as "Christians," i.e., whether or not they were ordained, had "worked in the signs," and when they had "repented."

÷

The actual events that led the young saints (mid-20's) to leave the Sand Hill Church of God are complex and difficult to assess because of lack of evidence. It appears that the precipitating factor was the saints' attempts to reintroduce serpent-handling at the Sand Hill Church. As Willfiams, Ball, and Pack had been taught by Pond Hill saints that "taking up serpents" was Biblically correct and had participated in tent revivals with serpent-handling saints from Big Stone Gap, Virginia, they attempted to revitalize the church by reintroducing serpent-handling there.¹¹ As reported by Alfred Ball (tape December 1974):

It is quite common for young, ardent believers to attempt to re-instate serpent-handling in congregations where the practice has lapsed. Since the death of Oscar Pelfrey in

Alfred: . . . later after Jimmy and myself got there [Sand Hill] and they taught this to us [serpenthandling], though they were not doin' it. We begin to practice it and some of those people begin to practice it again, at that, at that point and those same people, the ones of them that are still livin', are still practicin' it now since they started back at the time Jimmy and myself begin to do it in Sand Hill. Course, they still don't have serpents in Sand Hill Church today, they still don't have them.

The saints were thwarted in their efforts to reinstate serpent-handling atSand Hill and encountered legal difficulties because of their attempts. Namely, some of the older Sand Hill members called the sheriff and had the brothers arrested for violating the Tennessee anti-snake handling law. The saints also ran afoul of the law by conducting impromptu serpent-handling demonstrations at service station lots and on street corners in Newport. In addition, the saints attempted to practice serpent-handling at the First Baptişt Church in Newport and at other established churches.¹²

Because of their serpent-handling at Sand Hill and in public places around Newport, the saints were summoned to

¹²The young "apostles", during this period, appeared in public demonstrations of faith wearing black vests with various Biblical injunctions painted on them. One vest, worn by Jimmy Williams proclaimed in white letters: "Mark 16:18, Jesus said, 'They Shall take up serpents'" (from photos in Scrapbook collections of Jimmy Williams and of Floyd McCall). The vest-wearing brothers also participated in serpent-handling services in South Carolina during the late 1960's. An undated newspaper photo from Jimmy Williams' scrapbook, shows Jimmy

^{1967,} the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name at Big Stone Gap, Virginia has discontinued serpent-handling. As related by Brother Paul Stidham (December, 1974) of that church, a number of the young saints are attempting to revitalize the church by reintroducing serpent-handling.

appear before Judge George Shepherd sometime in late 1968 or early 1969. As recounted by Brother Alfred (December 1974, from tape interview):

> . . . but just some year before that, or two years before that [1970] there had been some trouble and they [Sand Hill Church] called the law and we were in court and the judge told us that if we're goin' to practice that [serpent-handling], looked like that we would get our own place, practice what we believe, not be forcin' it on other people, so, we did do that. . .

It is out of this background that the Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name was formed in the Spring of 1969. Initially, Williams, Ball, and Pack attempted to rent a building in Newport for their church services, but were refused when people learned that they were serpent-handlers. Finally, a small hunting cabin adjacent to Jones Branch at the head of a cove off English Mountain was rented (and later purchased) and the first meetings of the Holiness Church of God. In Jesus Name were Held. Meetings continue to be held in this setting today.

Of the days immediately prior to the acquisition of the church-house Williams recalled in a newspaper interview (Kingsport-Times, August 15, 1971, Scrapbook Collection of Jimmy Williams) that:

Williams, Buford Pack, Liston Pack, and others handling serpents. This photo can be dated to the period just prior to the founding of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name as Williams is wearing the black vest with printing on it. These vests evidently were not used after the formation of the church and were probably an artifact from days past of street demonstrations and active evangelizing activity at other established congregations.

Before the Lord made the way clear for us to buy this place, it seemed everywhere we tried to have services the landlord would lock us out. Course He never said it would be easy. Jesus said people would hate us for doing His will. But I'd rather be right with Him than the world. We've been persecuted, put in jail and humiliated. But I'd rather have Jesus on my side than a .38 anyday. . .

At first, only a few families participated in the small church. Jimmy Williams served as the first pastor of the new church. As he had obtained his preacher's credentials and spiritual guidance from The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name at Big Store Gap, Virginia, the new church assumed that name. Sometime in late 1969 or early 1970, the small group purchased the cabin and two acres of adjacent land. Members reasoned that if the group owned the land and the building, the law or private interests could not interfere with their controversial religious practices, a supposition that has not been borne out. On May 30, 1970, an official boundary survey of the church's land was carried out by R. F. Haynes & Son Land Surveyor of Cosby, Tennessee. This serves as an important historical document as the former hunting cabin was not listed as a "church" on the survey's official blueprint (from Boundary Survey, 1970, from collection of Jimmy Williams, December 1972). The formation of the new church was also evidenced by the following want ad published in a Newport newspaper in 1969 or 1970: "Wanted--Poison serpents for Church services. Rattlers and Copperheads will do. Contact Jimmy R. Williams, Holiness Church of God In Jesus

Name. M.31, p.11 (undated item from scrapbook collection of Jimmy Williams, December 1972).

87

# THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD IN JESUS NAME 1970 TO THE PRESENT

By September 29, 1970, the newly formed church began "making news." At that time Larry Aldridge, a reporter for the local Newport <u>Plain Talk</u> newspaper, wrote a sympathetic article on the church, which included six photographs. The article provides considerable information on the young church, including that (<u>Plain Talk</u>, September 29, 1970, from Scrapbook collection of Jimmy Williams, December 1972): "The church has an enrollment of 50, but as many as 150 to 200 have attended, says Williams," In addition, the article states that:

> Obviously there is a great deal of danger involved in handling a rattlesnake or a copperhead, and Rev. Williams agrees. 'Four people were bit this summer,' he said, 'but none went to the doctor, and are all still in good health. We don't have anything against doctors, it's just a matter of who you are putting your trust in.'

Although four people were bitten during the summer of 1970, saints today remember this early period as a "spirit filled time," a time when "the spirit ran so strong" that it was necessary to stand in line to get an opportunity to handle serpents (field notes, August 20, 1972). As recalled by Rev. Liston Pack on August 20, (tape transcription) during special singing service:

. . . I saw 20 people out here a handling serpents. Amen, approximately 20 to 30 people are handling serpents, amen. I saw a time, amen, you, you, just had to hurry if you got a hold of one. I saw a time you'd just have to stand in line, amen. I stood right here, Brother Painter, and reached for one and the brother beside me wanted to keep it awhile longer, lay it on top of his head awhile, put it around his neck awhile, and come back and I'll say I'm'gonna get it now and I'll go to get it . . . and then someone else would get  $i_{L}$  . . .

The early, "spirit filled" **(Provide the church** are often recalled in testimonies similar to Lieton's. The point of such testimonies is usually to cajole saints into "living right" so that the spirit of a newly formed church can be kindled anew. It is interesting to note that in recalling the past Brother Liston did not refer to a particular date or specify a time period; rather, he located the past time by saying, "I saw a time." While Liston's style of time reckoning may lack the precision required by the historian, for members it locates a significant period in the religious biography of the church.

Late in 1970 and early in 1971, members of the church faced legal difficulties and were involved in two or three court hearings, resulting from an earlier incident at the Sand Hill Church of God. Namely, a number of Newport members brought and handled serpents at a revival being conducted at Sand Hill. The members were found guilty, "judgement reserved" (Cocke County Circuit Court Document) on the provision that no further trouble of this kind would occur at the Sand Hill Church. As related by Brother Alfred Ball in a taped interview

. 🔺

٢

with me, regarding the Sand Hill incident (December 1974):

Alfred: Matter of fact last time they [serpents] were there [Sand Hill] we took 'em and, they called the law.

**RJB: Was that after the Holiness** Church of God In **Jesus Name was formed, or?** 

Alfred: No, that was before, the last time we took Tem up there was, some, I guess, some year maybe or maybe in the summer before we organized the church in Carson Springs and we were invited there by a minister, no, no we had the church organized here and this minister was in revival up there. He wrote us and invited us to come and we took serpents then and they called the law on us that time, but just some year before that, or two years before that there had been some trouble and they called the law and we were in court and the judge told us that if world the judge told us that if world the judge told us that if world the join' to practice that, looked like that we would the jour own place, practice what we believe, not be forcin' it on other people, so, we did do that and hadn't even been back to Sand Hill until this preacher invited us and we.went, taking serpents at his invitation and, again, the people that were in authority of the church, this was just an evangelist in there, called the law and, again, there was trouble over it and they, they lawed us again, so, we hadn't been back since that And only went that time because we were invited. : time.

On June 16, 1971, Buford Pack was bitten by a copperhead during a Wednesday night church service. <u>Knoxville News-</u> <u>Sentinel</u> reporter, Jim Dykes, and staff photographer, Terry Noore, were present at the invitation of church member, Clyde Ray Ricker. As a result, the church received widespread regional publicity. United Press International and Associated Press published the story and the news of Burford's injury was quickly circulated throughout North America. This incident and the resulting publicity aroused some anti snake-handling sentiment among Cocke Countians. Brother Buford Pack recovered

from the copperhead bite, but lost his job at a plant in Morristown because he was absent from work without a doctor's statement.

During the remainder of the summer of 1971, no other incidents of serpent-bite were reported and the church did not encounter legal difficulties. Late in the summer, annual elections were held for pastor. Since the church's founding in 1969, Jimmy Williams had served in that capacity. However, Liston Pack was elected and is presently serving as the pastor of the church. Recently (1973) Brother Pack abolished yearly elections as he maintained that they tended to create confusion and dissension within the church.

In the Fall of 1971 Jimmy Williams was arrested in Virginia for handling serpents at the funeral of Frank Necessary, an esteemed evangelist from Jonesboro, Georgia. Necessary had requested prior to his death from diabetes that serpents be handled at his funeral. This is a common request for snake-handlers to make, a request that saints feel honorbound, regardless of the legal consequences. Also, during this period, Jimmy Williams received his first serpent-bite since he was converted to the faith some five years before.¹³

Upon returning to the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name during the summer of 1972, Brother Liston Pack, the

¹³This is of interest because up until that time, Williams had maintainedthat if a person was serpent-bit and suffered, that he or she was not "right with God" (field notes July 1971). Because of Williams' painful encounter with the serpent, he felt that he had developed a "deeper insight" into the knowledge of the ways of the faith (field notes November 1972)

church's new pastor, informed me that some things had changed at the church since my last visit. Serpents were not taken up as frequently as in 1971 when I was last present. Also, greater emphasis seemed to be given to "casting out demons" and healing the sick. Early in the summer, however, exorcisms were brought almost totally to a halt because of an incident involving a young, mentally retarded girl. The exorcists were unable to "cast the demon out" and the girl responded by screaming, crawling on her hands and knees, and fighting off anyone who approached her. This event created considerable dissension in the church and contributed to an intensification of already existing factionalism.

Also during this summer, Buford Pack was bitten by a rattlesnake at a Brevard, North Carolina tent revival, but he allegedly did not suffer or "even swell up." He was considered by some in the church to have had an excellent "anointing." Buford and Jimmy Williams also began "drinking deadly poisons." Buford reportedly consumed battery acid that had been furnished by a "sinner man" and Jimmy drank a mixture of water and carbontetrachloride. Brother Williams expressed often that he wanted to consume strychnine, but it was not locally available without a doctor's prescription.

By the end of the summer of 1972, serpent-handling seemed to be on the increase. In October, its occurrence reached a duration and intensity reminiscent of the church's early days. However in November 1972, a young brother, Billy

Jay Forrester, was bitten by a rattlesnake and became quite ill.¹⁴ Forrester eventually recovered from the injury, but lost his job in a local factory because of the unexcused absence from work. After this, serpent-handling appeared + wane until the period between January through April of 1973. During the fall of 1972, the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name regularized its monthly visitations with serpent-handling churches at Middlesboro, Kentucky; Greenville, South Carolinaand, attempted to establish such ties with former serpenthandlers near LaFollette, Tennessee.

Between January and April of 1973, Brother Liston wrote to me saying that the services were becoming increasingly "spirit filled." Three serpent-handling brothers from Chattanooga began visiting the church. One of them had formerly been involved with the Dolley Pond Church of God with Signs Following, and the other two were purportedly of Cherokee descent. Also, a number of other out of state visitors became fairly regular attendants at the Newport church. However, an extremely ecstatic, "spirit filled" service on April 7, 1973, culminated with the deaths of Jimmy Williams and Buford Pack. Both men consumed lethal doses of strychnine during the church service and died not long after.

As a result of the deaths, the county served a warrant on the church charging Liston Pack and Alfred Ball with

¹⁴Incidently, a film crew from East Tennessee State University was present and this incident, as well as Jimmy Williams consuming carbontetrachloride, was filmed and made into an award winning documentary, "They Shall Take Up Serpents."

involuntary manslaughter. It was also recommended that the church be indefinitely padlocked as a "public nuisance" Also, owing to the deaths, the church was beset by news reporters and curiosity seekers.

During the subsequent hearing in the Cocke Courty Circuit Court, the men were acquitted of the five Linters manslaughter charge and the padlock order withdraws on the condition that serpent-handling be immediately discontinued. The practice continued however, and during the annual tope coming service in early July 1973, a number of Western Diamondback rattlesnakes were handled and nine saints handled an Indian Cobra. Near the end of the afternoon, Bafrin Huss (a visiting saint from Chattanooga) was hitten by a Western Diamondback and within a couple of days underwent emergency surgery in a Chattanooga hospital. A number of reporters were present at this service, as well as agents from the Tennessee Bureau of Investigation.

On Saturday, July 28, 1973, the leaders if the third again appeared before the Cocke County Circuit Start is contempt of court charges. Liston Pake and Alfred Ball the assistant pastor) were found guilty and fined \$25 for each time the special agents observed them handling serpents. Both men were also sentenced to 30 days in jail. Only two days if this sentence were served by them. Subsequent to the July 28 court hearing, the American Civil Liberties Union volunteered to defend the church in order to challenge the constitutionality.

of the Tennessee anti snake handling statite

Ŷ.

By the end of the summer of 1913, the church was rife with tension and conflict. The pastor began appears on local and regional radio and television programs. May saints did not like the pastor's attitude during this percess expressing the sentiment that he had "q ther the firshead and was neglecting this pastorial diffes and not a fict ", the Spirit of the Lord," but is the spirit of "sector" p December 1973, however, list or curtailed his appearances and humbly recommitted himself to the responsibilities of the con-

According to Liston Pack, in a letter to me in the 1974, serpent-handling was continuing to be practiced in the church, despite the law and despite the fact that a number of members wanted to discontinue it:

> The church is going right along. We still take a serpents, the law is leaving us alone now, or at least for right now. We have not had any more treatle with them they saw that I wasn't going to guit even tho (sic) some of the church people wants to. They haven't told me but I can discern the spirit.

Since the deaths in 1973, a number of people left the third to form a new group--The House of Prayer In Jesus Name--near Morristown, Tennessee. Brother Robert Grooms is the pastor and serpent-handling appears to be practiced only when initiated by visitors from other congregations who happen to bring

....

¹⁵ Liston, on the other hand, reacted by suggesting that his critics were jealous of his popularity and that by his media efforts he could further promulgate the "word of God" to the large audience in "radio and T.V. land." At one point, for example, Liston was considering travelling to California where

serpents with them. Also, following the deaths and the events of the summer and fall of 1973, a number of other formerly regular church goers left the church.

During the winter and spring of 1974, the rift between Liston and his assistant, Alfred Ball, intensified and Ball was removed from his position of assistant pastor by Pack. Ball responded by becoming an evangelist and travelling to serpent-handling congregations in other localities.

In October, 1974 the Tennessee Supreme Court ruled that ". . . banning snake-handling in church worship services would be an infringement on constitutional guarantees of freedom of religion" (in the Dallas <u>Morning News</u>, October 24, 1974). In addition, the court ordered that a new circuit court hearing be conducted to ". . . set up court-approved safety restrictions on snake-handling" (ibid). Consequently, many members were unhappy with the results and expressed the feeling that they had really gained little after the guidelines of the circuit court had been drawn up.

In November, 1974, The House of Prayer In Jesus Name, Marshall North Carolina (established by former participants of The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name) held its initial service. Snake-handlers attended from Georgia, South Carolina, Kentucky, North Carolina, and from Chattanooga, Tennessee. The service ended in controversy and old rifts between saints were widened. Liston appeared to be increasingly under the

he allegedly was offered \$150.00 per day to appear on a number of television shows.

influence of brothers from Chattanooga (Barbee and Bass), who practice serpent and fire handling in a manner considered careless by Ball and a number of other saints. Namely, serpents are carried back into the congregation, "let loose" on the floor or on the pulpit, etc. During this service, Ball and about ten other saints walked out of the service angered over the way the service was being conducted. For days after this service, Brother Alfred and his associates talked about the improper procedures of Liston and Barbee. A number of saints suggested to Alfred that he should form his own congregation.

In late November and early December of 1974, Brother Alfred searched for a building that could serve as a churchhouse. On December 1, 1975, Brother Alfred wrote and informed me that:

> Yes, I did finally get that church I wanted. We bought one on the Cosby highway 4 miles from town. We got a 30x60 building with a full basement and nearly an acre of ground at a cost of \$32,000.00 dollars. Boy we sure did stick our necks out on that one, our expenses are near \$500.00 a month. But, praise the Lord, we have metevery payment on time so far. We had our first service on July 10th. I am enclosing a card and a pamplet (sic) from the church.

The announcement that Brother Alfred sent reads as follows:

A

JESUS CHRIST APOSTOLIC CHURCH, Located 4 miles south of New port on Cosby highway behind James Bryant Grocery (Highway 32) 'A New Church With the Old Gospel.' Services Thur., Sat. and Sundays nights at 7:30 Also Hear: 'Jesus Is Just a Prayer Away' Sundays At 2:30 on WLIK Radio If You're Sick, Need Healing, You can Find It Here Need Deliverance? It's Here Now! This is A Church Where The Commission Jesus Gave His Followers Is in Operation NOW!

If You are looking for a church where the real gospel is preached without fear or partiality then this is The Church You are looking for!

Pastor: Rev. Alfred Ball

The formation of the three new congregations by former participants at the Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name has had considerable impact on that body. Prior to the new churches, saints from a relatively wide area had little choice but to attend the Carson Springs church if they wanted to worship in a serpent-handling congregation. Some saints had come from North Carolina (20 to 50 miles) while others drove from Morristown (15 to 30 miles). With the formation of the three new groups, saints now have the option of worshipping relatively close to their residences. Also, as the new church s are premised on specific emphases of faith and practice, saints have the choice of attending the church that most closely conforms to their personal predilections. Consequently, the composition of members has changed considerably at the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name.

At this writing, the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name continues to exist and has attracted a number of new converts.¹⁶ Also, to my knowledge, the church continues to be influenced by the "brothers from Chattanooga." As well, the new churches in Morristown, Marshall (North Carolina), and Newport continue to provide alternatives of worship for saints.

#### CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS

As in Chapter II, history has been approached in this chapter both as a chronicle of the past and as a folk resource appropriated by saints in the creation and maintenance of a distinctive identity and sense of community. History is selectively interpreted, simplified, rearranged, and modified by saints for particular purposes at hand, thereby making it ethno-history in the literal sense. Through these practices, a relatively new group has defined itself as being persecuted, separated, newsworthy, and heirs to a Holiness

¹⁶On Wednesday March 10, 1976, The Edmonton Journal carried the following on the church: "The Holiness Church of God In Jesus' Name in the Tennessee mountains is described in a news dispatch as having a small congregation. A ruling by the U.S. Supreme Court this week may ensure the congregation does not get still smaller. The court refused to hear an appeal from Rev. Liston Pack, minister of the Tennessee church, against a state court decision forbidding the handling of rattlesnakes and the drinking of strychnine in his services. The Tennessee court here noted that two members of the congregation at a service two years ago died after drinking strychnine and a third person suffered a non-fatal snake bite. Pack contended the snake-handling and poison-swilling were necessary to his services and, as religious acts, were protected by the U.S. constitution."

tradition.

.

The question of identity is, however, complex and, like the folk uses of history and documentary practices, constitutes only a portion of the total resources employed by serpent-handlers in the ongoing creation of their religion. The remainder of this dissertation will discuss these matters.

## CHAPTER IV

## THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC SITUATION OF A COMMUNITY OF SAINTS

As will be discussed in Chapter V, part of members' identities as saints derives from their ideology of separation from the "things of this world". Nevertheless, saints do live and earn a livelihood in secular communities and, in addition, share a heritage of social class and background with numerous sinners in the secular community. Some of the dimensions of saints' soci-economic situation will now be examined.

### SERPENT-HANDLING AND SOCIETY

Many writers have described serpent-handlers sociologically, including: Schwarz (1960), La Barre (1962a), Stekert (1963), Cobb (1965, Gerrard (1966a, 1968, 1971), Birckhead (1971), Kane (1974, 1974), Tripp (1975), and Vance (1975). Popular writers, film makers, and numerous news reporters have also touched on the subject of serpent-handlers' social and economic position in society. The profile that emerges is that of lower class, rural Appalachians with little formal education and low literacy rates, who earn their livelihood as farmers, coal miners, mechanics, gas station attendants, truck drivers, factory and mill workers, loggers, small store operators, construction workers, and various wage-labor occupations. When women work outside of the home, it is

100

usually in factory jobs, or as cooks, chambermaids and waitresses. Seasonal unemployment and general underemployment are seen as regular features of serpent-handlers' economic environment. Many young members leave school at sixteen in order to take low-paying jobs in factories or at service stations.¹

Proceeding from this, serpent-handlers are portrayed in the literature as prematurely aged due to inadequate dental care, poor diets, hard work, mine accidents, inadequate housing, early childbirth, and large families with little or no spacing between children.

While the popular press tends to portray serpenthandlers as backwoods, quaint, bumpkins; the scientific literature, for the most part, views serpent-handling as an acculturative movement of recently rural poor who have migrated to regional mill towns, coal camps, or manufacturing centers. The relatively recent spread of serpent-handling to cities such as: Detroit and Flint, Michigan; Akron, Columbus, Cleveland, and Cincinatti, Ohio; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; and suburban Atlanta; Oakridge, Tennessee; and other centers, can possibly be seen in this light. La Barre (1962a:167-169) states that:

Regarding employment opportunities for young men in the church Gerrard (1966a:12) writes:

"Even the most conscientious are able to find only temporary work, and some risk their old cars on trips to Ohio, Michigan, Virginia--anywhere they have heard there might be work. Sometimes they are gone three or four months, but often they return much sooner, broke and discouraged."

The workers in the great mechanized tobacco factories, and in the other growing industries in the South, are drawn from this rural proletariat. It is specifically this poor-white class to which the snake-handling cult primarily appeals. . .

Fate seems to have preordained him to be a textile worker. Even when he migrates from the South, he is lost, helpless, and without resources; when he goes to Southern Michigan and Ohio industrial towns, he turns them into Southern places with his intransigent ethos. In any new situation, without adaptive resilience, he is functionally very much like the immigrant from a foreign country; and even in a Southern town he seems a rural primitive tribesman, with rigidly tribal values.

La Barre (1962a:163-169) sees serpent-handling as an unsuccessful attempt by "the new industrial proletariat" to cope with: "cultural isolation; erosion of rural egalitarianism, male dominance, "former agrarian tempo of work", and self esteem; and, the growing awareness of ". . . incidious cultural and economic advantages which they cannot have." In general it is a reaction to a hostile, "repressive, routinized, monotonous, joyless and denying" (ibid.) socio-cultural milieu. Consequently, the recently rural poor white, is "suspicious of fil changes and novelty"; "not adventurous"; "nor is he progressive"; resentful; capable of personal violence; and compulsive. In snake-handling, they (ibid.):

> ..., find miracle and mastery, and a full expression of their feelings. The communicant is granted emotional salvation and rescue from the deprivation and the downess of his economic and general cultural lot. In the cult he can find proof that God, at least, loves him.

La Barre (1962a: 171) concludes that: "The recently rural poor whites of the South are not handling their real social and

-

× ...*

economic problems through the snake-handling cult, nor their real problems of acculturation, nor their real intrapsyhic stresses".

With respect to serpent-handling in general, the picture La Barre paints is not totally an accurate one. Serpent-handlers' general quality of life (including, employment profile, housing, income, acculturative stress, and degree of articulation with the secular society) varies from community to community depending on regional location (North or South, Appalachian or lowland) and settlement type (rural vs. urban; manufacturing, mining, textile mills, agricultural, or mixed economy).² For example, Gerrard (1966a:71-72) found some discontinuities among a serpenthandling population at Scrabble Creek, West Virginia. Thus:

> Although the serpent-handlers of Scrabble Creek West Virginia and the serpent-handlers of the mill villages of the New South share a common religion, and their soci-economic status is about the same, the two groups are quite different in other respects. It may be hypothesized that involvement in the urbanisation process began earlier, was less abrupt and less discontinuous, and hence less of a cultural shock in the case of the Scrabble Creek folk.

For one thing, the coal camp existence experienced by many of the Scrabble Creek members was qualitatively different from that of La Barre's mill workers (<u>Ibid.</u>, pp. 72-73):

> The coal camps were one class communities and the dominant ethos was egalitarian; the management group was set apart, but it was too small to form an independent class. Status distinction among the

²Pearsall (1966) isolates and distinguishes some of the regional and subregional variation in the American South.
workers were slight, and status-oriented behavior correspondingly weak. Close physical proximity, homogeneity of experience and interests, friendliness of neighbors, easy informality, and the absence of a self-conscious stiquette form a Gemeinschaftlike society. Work in the coal mines was less depersonalizing than in the southern cotton mill described by La Barre where the worker tends his machine in isolation, seldom communicating with his fellowworkers. Although work in the mines was also monotonous, and the conditions of work were also extremely uncomfortable, much of the underground work was done by small cohesive crews. The dangerous nature of their work, and their close physical proximity, fostered close personal ties and a high degree of esprit de corps.

Gerrard does not deny the general lower class position of serpent-handlers but demonstrates that variables such as economic history and environment can produce significant differences between serpent-handling populations.

Tripp (1975:14) in describing the occupations of serpent-handlers at a church near Atlanta, Georgia, also argues for local diversity:

> Since the church is in a rural setting and the available literature indicates that most believers are farmers, one could erroneously assume that Northwest Church, members would be in farm related occupations. There is not a farmer in the church, although several members come from farming families and maintain gardens for their own use. Over half (57 percent) of the men are carpenters and subcontractors. Two believers, successful building contractors, occasionally hire other Holiness men to work on construction projects. With the exception of one man who sells insurance, the other men are blue collar workers, holding such jobs as welder, auto mechanic, airplane mechanic, auto assemblyline worker, butcher, and painter.

Also, in contrast to the rural "cabins", coal camp houses, or shabby mill town dwellings usually described in the literature, Tripp (1975:12) found that most of the group studied in Georgia ". . live in a subdivision located in a surburb halfway between Atlanta and the church". In terms of the often described rural Appalachian background of serpenthandlers, it is of interest that at the Georgia church one female participant is "from Cambridgeshire, England" (<u>Ibid</u>.) Similarly, Steven Kane related to me (personal conversation, July 1973) that in the serpent-handling group with which he worked in West Virginia, saints tended to have the more modern houses and in general were more prosperous than their nonserpent-handling working class neighbors.

My data on the Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name also disputes some of the generalizations usually made in the literature regarding level of poverty, isolation, sense of alienation, and "backwoods" nature of the group. It is my contention that not only are some of the generalizations inaccurate for particular groups, but that, by simplifying prematurely, important aspects of a serpent-handling community are lost to analysis. The question remains to be answered: who are the serpent-handlers of The Holiness Church of God In Jesys Name and how do they relate to the larger community in which the church is located?

# THE HOLINESS CHURCH OF GOD IN JESUS NAME

# AND ITS SOCIO-ECONOMIC SITUATION

The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name is located on a dead-end private road in a wooded cove of English Mountain, in the Carson Springs Community. Carson Springs Community is a semi-rural residential area which lies adjacent to Inter-state 40 at the western approach to Newport, the county seat of Cocke County, Tennessee. The church is located about two and one-half miles southwest of the Interstate highway and the Ramada Inn Motel. Although there are some vegetable gardens in Carson Springs, most residents work at various plants or have other jobs in Newport or the surrounding area. Homes in Carson Springs range from old mountain "shacks" (from when the area was more rural) to modern brick and frame ranch style houses.

Newport is a light manufacturing center of some 7,328 residents (U.S. Census, 1970), 6,357 of whom were born in the state of Tennessee. Newport is situated on the French Broad River and is included in the Tennessee Valley Authority development area. The town in located roughly sixty miles from Great Smokey Mountain National Park and is surrounded by scattered mountain outliers of the Smokies. Reflective of its Appalachian location, Newport and Cocke County are composed largely of a white, Anglo-Saxon, Protestant population. In fact, only 699 of the county's 25,283 residents are black.

This is noteworthy as outside observers often comment on the absence of blacks at serpent-handling services, attributing this imbalance to racial prejudice rathern than to population composition. Also reflective of its Southern Appalachian location, education and income levels are relatively low in Cocke and neighboring counties of East Tennessee and Western North Carolina. In 1970, for example, the median years of schooling completed by Cocke County's rural non-farm population was 8.5 years for people of 25 years and older (Ibid.).³

With respect to employment, most Cocke Countians earn their livelihood in some type of manufacturing. Of 8,246 individuals 16 years and older, 4,132 were employed in manufacturing, while only 593 residents are employed in agriculture, forrestry and fisheries. The remaining employed residents of the county are involved in a variety of service industry, retail, wholesale, semi-professional, and professional occupations.

In 1970, the median income for Cocke County's 6,641 families was \$5,437 and the mean was \$5,889. The median income in 1970 for the county's 1,255 rural farm families was \$4,252 and the mean was \$5,256. The income for Newport's

³ See Appendix II for a statistical breakdown of "Years Of School Completed" (Table I), "Manufacturing In Cocke County Tennesses" (Table II), "Professional And White Collar Employment, Cocke County, 1970" (Table III), and "Income Of All Families, Cocke County, 1970" (Table IV).

1,938 families was slightly higher with a median income ( \$6,148 and a mean of \$6,669 (Ibid.) Of the county's total number of families, 29.3 per cent receive incomes below the poverty level while some 21.3 per cent early incomes to response than 75 per cent of poverty level.

In general, Cocke County can be viewed as a small light industrial center that provides considerably more employment opportunitites than many Appalachian counties This explains in part, why the county experienced as House cent population increase between 1965 and 1976. That population increase for those years was somewhat higher at 13.6 per cent. (U.S. Census, 1970).⁴

Participants at The Holiness Church of God in Tesus Name are employed in a variety of manufacturing and related occupations in Newport and surrounding areas. They is chose of families are directly involved in agriculture. Neither family is totally dependent on agriculture: in one family the husband works at a cannery and the wife at a local moted (their combined income exceeds \$12,000 in a good year of action in the other family the husband is employed by a commercial milking operation. The other males in the church are employed in a variety of occupations: at the two local canneries. Stockley Van Camp (Newport) and Busch's (Dandridge, Sevier County); at various auto related subsidiary industries of large Detroit companies (many of these plants manufacture

⁴See Brown and Hillery (1962:54-78) for a discuss. • of changing demographic patterns in Appalachia.

...

specialty items such as filters or electronic components); for the State Highway Department; in poultry processing; and logging, carpentry, or construction.

Teenagers in the church, who have dropped out of school, frequently work as service station attendants or at low-paying factory jobs. One member of the church is selfemployed commercial artist and two saints jointly own a tree-triming company. The pastor of the church is a long distance trucker for Stokley Van Camp and earns in excess of \$20,000 a year. One saint formerly operated a small grocery store. Also, one brother works in Knoxville (50 miles to the west) at a country club as a maintenance worker, as did the late Jimmy Williams. Finally, a few males in the church are (or were) involved in various government retraining programs.

A number of sisters in the church hold regular employment outside the home; working on assembly lines, at shirt factories, as cooks, chambermaids, etc.. Women can earn from the minimum wage up to \$3.85 or \$4.00 an hour. Some factory workers operate on a piece work basis. (These wages vary according to the employee's productivity.) One member is a former FBI clerical worker in Washington, D.C., who is presently employed at a Federal office in Sevier County.

For both male and female workers, religious beliefs play a role in the type of employment sought. Saints ordinarily refuse employment at establishments where alcohol is sold or or consumed, or at jobs that require them to miss evening church services frequently. As alcohol was consumed at the country club in Knoxville where two church brothers worked, some degree of controversy developed in the church, a controversy that was never entirely resolved.

Regarding the socio-economic situation of serpenthandlers, it is interesting to note Brother Alfred's perceptions. In an interview Brother Alfred (tape recorded December 1974) stated that:

> . . . I guess there is no type. Seems like everybody else is always tried to say, well, well, there're lower, the poverty class of people who are illiterate and, it's simply not true. We have college people. We have many, many, many, high school graduates in this, and, our people hardly ever leave the faith. I mean our children that are raised up in this and go onto school, a high school and into college, they don't ever leave the faith. One thing that can be said for our faith, our people, our children don't go out of the faith, maybe one, and even the ones who don't live right, a, I don't know of any that denied it. Though they may be, become very, very educated and have LLD's and BBD's, all kinds of degrees added and letters added at the end of their name, they'll still tell you there's somethin' to it and it's real. Maybe, of course, there may be a few that. . . get away and say, well that was just something stupid that my ancestors did, but as a rule our people stay in the faith and no matter how much education they get, it's somethin' that you don't get educated out of you, which is somethin' that a lot of other religions just can't say, and, there's no way to type it. . .

There's some very, very well educated people in it, and then there are some, a, there are some who are illiterate, can't even write their name, a, but not many because there's not really an awful lot of people that are even in that stage now because of the education, but we have a few. 'Course, and I don't think there's really any other church that deals with people on a realistic scale that can say that they don't have some. We've got, I think, that we probably

cover the whole range of professions and education and livin' levels. We have people who live in brick mansions and we have some who live in slum areas, dependin' on the church and where it's located. . .

Brother Alfred's view is similar to that of many saints. Saints often react strongly to news reports and books that portray serpent-handlers as poor and illiterate.

Alfred's account can be viewed similarly to saints' historical reconstructions. In both cases, either history or socio-economic profile, are appropriated for the creation of a religious identity that transcends the actual situation of the local group or of the religion as a whole. While Alfred is accurate in asserting that saints are not all illiterate and represent a fairly wide range of occupations and income levels, no one at The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name has attended university or is in the professions. On the whole, saints lack formal education and most in the church have not gone to school beyond grade 8. Even many of the younger members tend to drop out of school at around the age of 16. With respect to housing and other possessions, it is incorrect to assume that all saints live in poverty shacks that lack indoor plumbing. Saints' homes vary widely. Some live in small, rural frame dwellings while others live in modern brick or frame ranch type houses in middle class type suburban neighborhoods. Other saints live in mobile homes. Similarly, while some saints drive old pickup trucks, others drive relatively new cars that have such accessories as air

conditioning, power steering and brakes, and tape decks. Many saints spend considerable money on musical instruments such as electric guitars, amplifiers, and drums. Brother Alfred, for example, owns a large amplifier that is valued at close to \$2,000.

As mentioned above, saints represent a wide range of income levels. Although mostly working people, serpenthandlers who have union jobs or skilled positions such as truck driver or railroad crewman, often earn upward of \$20,000 per year and live quite comfortably by local standards.⁵

Contrary to Gerrard's findings for Scrabble Creek (1966a) that serpent-handlers represent the "stationary poor", many of the Newport saints appear to have upwardly mobile aspirations. The church's pastor, for example, emphasizes the number of friends that he has who are among some of the wealthiest people in Newport. He recently moved from a rural, rented "shack" to a bungalow that he purchased in Newport. Since 1969, his income has more than doubled. Although, other saints' accomplishments are not quite as dramatic, many reflect this pattern.

⁵It must be kept in mind that the cost of living is somewhat lower in rural and semi-rural Appalachian counties than in North American urban centers. Houses can be purchased or rented quite cheaply. In addition, the larger network of saints provides an adaptive advantage for members who are in need, as brothers and sisters can be relied on to provide financial and other help in times of crisis. "Love offerings" are taken up in the church for needy members who are out of work because of serpent-bite or illness.

This is not to suggest that all or most saints are without economic worry. With the recent recession conditions in the United States, saints face the prospect of being laid off as a number of subsidiary branch plants have closed or temporarily cut back production. For many saints to earn an adequate living to support their families, both husband and wife must work. When companies lay off workers, many saints have little or no savings to fall back on and consequently lack the resources to insure an adequate diet or housing. Consistent with Gerrard's findings young serpent-handlers often encounter great difficulty finding and holding low paying, dead-end jobs. This often results in considerable frustration, repeated migrations in search of employment, and a life of general economic insecurity. Many of the saints in the church have lived for periods of time in Detroit, Cleveland, various Southern New Jersey cities, and in smaller regional centers. Most, ultimately, were unhappy in these new environments and returned to Tennessee.

### CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS

Although saints aspire to remove themselves from the world as a "separated people", they, nevertheless, must earn a livelihood in the secular society. Most saints, it is safe to say, derive their primary identity from their status of saint rather than from their occupation or position in the secular community. Serpent-handlers' concept of earning a

a living is rather complex. On the one hand, members view earning a living as a necessary evil that, in many cases, is barely tolerated, as working in the secular world can serve as a distraction from the things of God (as well as provide worldy temptations). As expressed by Brother Gerald from Greenville, South Carolina (fieldnotes, Saturday July 22, 1971) "... if more of God's people would give to the church, preachers wouldn't have to work as much for the Devil to get by". On the other hand, saints believe that the Bible advocates that preachers and saints in general should earn their livelihood by "sweat and toil". Preachers often condemn the fact that ministers in a number of large churches receive a salary rather than earn their livelihood through hard labor. So, in terms of identity, saints emphasize that preachers work and toil, just like the Apostles in the Bible, who had occupations.

Similarly, although Brother Alfred emphasized the notion that serpent-handlers represent all socio-economic levels, saints often express a disdain for the rich and powerful "among men". It is often debated whether or not a rich man can "make it to heaven". While, on one level, affluence and education are respected and sought after (at least by some), on another level they are considered to be "carnal" and therefore inimical to salvation. Religious songs like "Mansion In The Sky", and "A Shack On Barth, A Mansion In Heaven" emphasize a longing for a heavenly opulence while implicitly espousing the virtues of earthly poverty as a necessary

precondition. Although saints, at least on one level, make poverty a virtue, they do not share a radical class consciousness or a strong feeling of being exploited. While expressing a critical view of the present order, they eschew involvement in politics, labor unions, or attempts at social change. (Similarly, saints refuse to take oaths in court, report lawbreakers to the sheriff, or serve in the military).

Finally, it is difficult to generalize too widely on  ${}^{\overline{\tau}}$  the socio-economic situation of serpent-handlers. Although most work in a variety of blue collar and service occupations, sometimes notable variations exist with respect to income, housing, education, etc.. Similarly, individual congregations vary considerably with respect to socio-economic situation, depending on such factors as subregional ecology and condition of the national economy (recession or boom cycle). In this discussion, I have presented aspects of serpent-handlers' socio-economic situation. My purpose here is not to provide data with which to construct causative explanations derived from relative deprivation theory. Rather, my concern is to focus on socio-economic considerations in order to establish the context in and against which saints create an identity and sense of community. Chapter V, will explore further some of the considerations and processes involved in the notion of a community of saints.

#### CHAPTER V

A COMMUNITY OF SAINTS: DEFINITION AND IDENTITY

### A COMMUNITY OF SAINTS DEFINED

As established in Chapter I, the designation community of saints is derived from the socio-linguistic concept of the "speech community". Gumperz (1972:16) discusses this concept noting that:

To the extent that speakers share knowledge of the communicative constraints and options governing a significant number of social situations, they can be said to be members of the same speech community.

I take the terms of reference in the above general definition as specifying the basis of a community in general. Thus, to Bauman and Sherzer's (1974:6) focus on members' ". . . production and interpretation of socially appropriate speech" I have added, ". . . and by extension, other categories of behavior vis-à-vis specific ground rules" (Birckhead 1976).

The impetus to view serpent-handling as a community of saints derives from a number of theoretical perspectives that view social life as dynamic, emergent, and to be accounted for (see Bauman 1975). The specific thrust of my argument derives from Hymes (1973:36):

> What unites and maintains the community is problemat and to be discovered, with respect to speech and all aspects of life, though there is no doubt that interaction plays a crucial part. If mankind is social by nature, still the communities in which sociality is shaped and realised are not to be taken for granted

> > - 116

The origin, maintenance, and transformation of social order, the respective roles of concensus and conflict, the sources of persistence and change, these are indeed the central problems of social theory, illuminated but not yet resolved. To deny this in a conception of community is ludicrous sociologically in the same way that to deny underlying relations in a conception of syntax would be linguistically.

This view contrasts with traditional sociological definitions of a community--definitions that implicitly see communities as non-problematic givens:

> .... a territorially-organized system co-extensive with a settlement pattern in which (1) an effective communication network operates, (2) people share common facilities and services distributed within this settlement pattern and (3) develope a psychological identification with the 'locality-symbol' (the name) (Sanders 1958:189).

The point of view discussed by Barnard (1973:4) is close to the way in which community is used throughout the thesis:

> 'Community', as distinguished from 'the community', emphasizes the common-ties and social-interaction components of the definiton. . . It is characterized not so much by locale as by 'a high degree of personal intimacy, emotional depth, moral commitment, social cohesion, and continuity in time' (Nisbet 1967: 47). A German term, Gemeinschaft, has been invoked to refer to community in this sense.

In definition the notion of a community of saints, emphasis is given to the character of social interaction, use of distinctive speech and other symbolism, and members' accomplishment of an identification with both the local and larger collectivity of serpent-handling saints. However, in emphasising interaction, shared knowledge, or identity, Hymes' admonition must not be overlooked (Hymes (1973:42): "We must still not forget that shared knowledge, even sociolinguistic knowledge, does not 'naturally create community".

My emphasis on emergence and the problematic nature of community life is also indicated by the referent, saint. Sainthood in this religion is not ascribed, but must be continually validated through appropriate interaction. Gerrard (1968:23) notes a problematic aspect of being a saint: "After all, the claim that one is a living saint is pretentious even in a sacred society--and it is particularly difficult to maintain in a secular society." Seen in this light, saints must legitimate their claims amongst themselves and to an often skeptical secular community. Serpent-handling saints can sin, backslide, bungle ritual performances, or preach inappropriately. In this sense, then, an ideal community of saints is a goal that can be achieved only in the next world. As with Christianity in general, serpent-handling is striving for a perfection that is unachievable in the present order. Polanyi (1964:280-281) describes the Christian faith in general as ". . . a passionate heuristic impulse which has no prospect for consumation."

The community of saints can be viewed as "a community within communities" (Redfield 1956:113). First, serpenthandling communities do not exist as discrete, geographically bounded units but rather as interactional networks within larger secular communities. Saints reside in neighborhoods and in rural areas integrated with the population at large.

At The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name, some saints live in the Carson Springs Community, some in Newport itself, some in the outlying settlement of Parrotsville; others in Morristown, Sevierville, etc.. In considering the dynamics of the creation and management of an identity, account must be taken of the distinction between a group's social identity, as perceived by outsiders, and the identities of individual members as fused within the group. In actual practice, individual and group identities are constituted out of the total interactional field encompassed by the above distinctions.

Second, serpent-handling groups exist within a larger religious community. While individual churches come and go, particular siants continue to practice the religion in private homes or, gravitate to a new organizational focus for their religion. Exact delineation of a serpent-handling congregation is difficult because of the permeable nature of these groups' boundaries and the fluidity of their membership. This is often overlooked because researchers and popular writers tend to focus on particular groups at one point in time, failing to grasp the group's embeddedness in a larger network of believers.¹

Serpent-handlers share many facets of belief, worship, and religious lexicon with other fundamentalist groups, especially those in the Southern and rural Midwestern United

¹Arriving at a definition of communities has been a recurrent problem in anthropology. See Young (1974), Murphy (1964), and Moerman (1965).

States. With respect to lexicon, for example, serpent-handlers, alogn with many other "Christian", are distinguished by their use of referents such as: "brother", "sister", "saint", "sinner", "apostle", "Christian", "Holy Ghost filled person", "heaven and hell", "saved and damned", "Jesus", "praise the Lord", "amen", etc.. Obviously, serpent-handlers' unique identity derives from the activities of snake and fire handling, poison drinking, and the symbolic lexicon that developed around them (see Appendix I for symbolic lexicon of serpenthandling). Much speech, for example, is devoted to snakes ("serpents"); their acquisition, care, individual personalities, handling, exhcange, symbolim, bites, and the Biblical correctness of the practice.

With respect to communication boundaries, it is through the use of serpent-handling's specific lexicon and the relating of oral historical accounts, and accounts of particular experiences of working in the signs, that saints from Detroit to Plorida can communicate with one another, distinctive from the rest of fundamental Christendom. Obviously, the main differences between serpent-handlers and participants in other Pentecostal churches is a matter of degree rather than of kind.

One way in which specific serpent-handling churches, as well as individual members, communicate their distinctive identity as serpent-handlers to other Pentecostals (as well as to other saints) is through the wording on church signs,

preachers' calling Cards, and newspaper advertisements. Thus, for example, the Dolley Pond Church Of God established its identity through using the appelation, "With Signs Following" in its formal title. Or, the Wade Chapel (located near Atlanta) proclaims on its sign that it is a church "with signs following the believers" (Vance 1975:128). The recently formed Jesus Christ Apostolic Church (Cocke County, Tennessee) subtly communicates its identity by stating on its advertisements that: "Th is a church where the commission Jesus gave His Followers Is In Operation Now". To those who possess the requisite specialized knowledge of the Bible (as interpreted by serpent-handling fundamentalists), "the commission Jesus gave His followers" indicates the five signs, in which serpenthandling and poison drinking are sanctioned. Similarly, the calling cards used by the late Jimmy Williams, and by Alfred Ball, included the notation, "Mark 16:15-20". Again, those who possess adequate knowledge would immediately know that serpent-handling, poison drinking, speaking in tongues, casting out demons, and healing the sick are practiced at the church.

In serpent-handling groups there tends to be a greater propensity for members to refer to themselves as God's people, a separated people, or a peculiar people, and as siants. Also, members generally agree that the designation Christian is synonmous with serpent-handling religion. Serpent-handlers do recognize, however, other fundamentalists as being within the

general Christian tradition. As well, individual spice: filled people of non-serpent-handling congregations (educt as Christian if they validate this label by working in the signs, following the Bible, and living a holy life. This for example, members of a wide range of fundamentalists churches sometimes attend The Holiness Church of God to teste Name and participate in the services to varying degrees. Some limit their participation to singing and testitypo. Others, on occasion, have preached, spoken in testes, or (more rarely) have taken up serpents.

As articulated by saints, the main difference between themselves and their fundamentalist "cousins" is the depth of purity with which they follow the Word. This bettom is a second related to saints' ideology of being a separated people. Dichurch is contrasted with the "modern" churches which are considered by saints to be "worldly", watered down versions of the truth. For example, Liston testified Angust 13, 1400. WLIK Radio), denouncing "... the weak measages that are given in most churches" (fieldnotes). Or, Brother Through testified (November 17, 1972) that "... people in consequence and in the big churches were like cemetaries they are soled being ashamed to follow the Word of God" fieldnotes in dist similar vein, Jimmy Williams testified that fieldnotes. November 23, 1972):

Mark 16:18, the modern churches try to ignore this Scripture. Also, they ignore the Scripture about

.

drinking deadly poisons. Some people would be happy to put their serpents to rest for nine months and only handle them for three. At the First Church down in Newport, people don't take up serpents or drink deadly poisons. He likes acting on Mark 16: 17-18 as often as possible as that is one of the most powerful in the Scriptures.

On another occasion, Jimmy states (fieldnotes, November 1, 1972): ". . . that a lot of preachers have told him that they wished Mark 16:18 wasn't in the Bible. Jimmy said you can't have the rest without it".

Preachers also denounce the "big churches" that have "paid preachers". Liston (August 12, 1972, fieldnotes), for example, ". . . put down regular churches with high paid preachers and expensive, fancy buildings." He went on to say that "if preachers weren't paid, there wouldn't be as many preachers". Similarly, Jimmy preached (fieldnotes, November 15, 1972) against paying ministers or radio preachers:

> . . . Chruches that use tithes to pay preachers are wrong, and not acting according to the Word. Also, people who use their tithes to pay radio evangelists are wrong; that is not what tithes are for. . .

Saints criticize other churches for their worldliness. Speaking of Presbyterians (the church Jimmy was raised in , Jimmy Williams said (fieldnotes, November 30, 1972) that: "He was convinced that most Presbyterians weren't too serious about living the right kind of life. It was more for social reasons that they went to church". Or, as stated by Drew Click (fieldnotes, November 1, 1972):

. . . being a Christian is not as easy as some preachers say it is. He mentioned Baptist preachers who said it was easy being a Christian. But, no wonder, as they watched games on television, etc. . . He said that he would find it easy also if he was allowed to go to dancehalls, watch T.V., etc., but that it is notthe right way according to the Scriptures; serving the Lord is difficult. . .

Within the generalized serpent-handling community, considerable variation exists. Such variation includes the differences between "trinitarian" and "Jesus only"; and "free-love" and congregations that do not accept this orienta-Trinitarian churches baptize in the name of the Fathers tion. Son, and Holy Spirit, while so called Jesus only groups baptize in the name of Jesus alone. This distinction between Jesus only and the Trinitarian orientation is expressed in most prayers, preaching, and casual conversation. In praying, for example, members of Jesus only congregations usually conclude their prayers with the phrase ". . . in Jesus Name, amen". Also, these congregations often include in their church names, the appelation, "in Jesus name". thus, The Holiness Church of God In Jesus Name, The House 😤 Prayer In Jesus Name, etc.. Trinitarian congregations, on the other hand, do not emphasize the name, Jesus. In fact, the use of this referent is eschewed and limited to very formal religious discourse or to the reading of Biblical passages in which it is contained, at some Trinitarian groups (personal conversation with Elifson and Tripp, 1976). The choice of religious songs sung at services of these opposing

traditions also reflect the differences in orientation. The differences between Jesus only and Trinițarian groups probably represents the major cleavage between serpent-handling congregations and is the source of considerable conversation, debate, and argument.

The other major distinction between serpent-handling congregations is that between "free-love" and, for lack of a better term, non-free love groups. At so-called free love churches, such as the Scrabble Creek Church Of All Nations in West Virginia, members believe that God's people cannot lust in the Spirit of the Lord. Consequently, brothers and sisters kiss one another on the mouth, embrace, and dance in the spirit. Members of the church at Newport do not agree with the free love tradition. Although they believe that anointing can keep a saint from lusting when touching a person of the opposite sex, it is held that sinners would not understand this type of behavior and God's people could earn a bad reputation. Also, it is felt that many would take advantage if such practices were allowed in church, claiming that they were acting in the spirit when they were in fact acting in the carnal mind. Thus, when a free love preacher visits the church, saints comment on the fact that he "had a strange spirit about him" or, how they did not like the way he placed his hand on a sister's back, etc.

In addition to the above differences between serpent-handling groups, individual churches tend to use their

own special terms, emphasizing particular passages in the Bible or interpretations of those passages, singing specific songs, and following slightly different rules of etiquette for serpent-handling, the use of the "Holy Kiss", the practice of "the Lord's supper" and footwashing, etc.. Also, different groups exhibit slight differences in the religious speech utilized by saints. Finally, churches vary with regard to dress code, beliefs concerning the use of television, the celebration of Christmas and Easter, roles open to women, degree of separation from the secular community, and numerous other small points of distinction.

On the whole, however, the differences that exist between groups are not that great that they obviate the concept of a generalized community of serpent-handlers united by a shared tradition and a common lexicon. Saints from the differing traditions frequently interact with one another, if only to debate and argue the merits of one dition over the other. Similarly, saints from the various traditions exchange serpents with one another as well as engage in a variety of interactions that justify the concept of a generalized community of serpent-handling saints.²

#### A SEPARATED PEOPLE

One of the most common appraisals of serpent-handlers by non members is that they are "crazy", religious

²Serpent-exchange is discussed more fully in Chapter VII. Although serpent-exchange is not analyzed in any detail in this study, it can be seen as a generator of interaction

fanatics.³ At The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, sermons, testimonies, and everyday conversation contain numerous references to persecution or to the notion that saints are considered to be insane by the society at large. For example, Brother Brown testified during church service (fieldnotes, July 30, 1972) that, ". . . up there (Detroit), a man is persecuted for serving the Lord". Similarly, Liston Pack testified (fieldnotes, August 2, 1972) that, "they will persecute you if you love Jesus". At a service on August 12, 1972, Brother Pack stated that (fieldnotes), "Newport is a persecuting town, but there was little they could do as the church owned its own land buildings". On August 7, 1971 (fieldnotes), Liston testified that he had received "more persecution in the last week than during his entire life." With regard to group identity, it is often said by saints that "this is the most persecuted church around because, unlike other churches, the will of God is done".

In addition to the general references to persecution presented above, saints provide more specific accounts of

between saints. Additional research needs to be done on this topic. See Birckhead 1975 for a brief discussion of it).

³With respect to the labeling of deviancy, Tripp (1975:46) lists two processes:

The first involves the defining of a particular behavior or trait as deviant. The second process is the communication by those who have accepted the proposition that a particular act or trait is deviant to one who exhibits the behavior, or possesses the trait... persecution they have experienced. Thus, Liston recalled that (fieldnotes, November 11, 1972):

When the church was first started the devil was working hard to mess things up, as 'that's his job'. Liston was shot at as he was praying up in the hollow. Also the road was blocked and someone took his ignition keys or messed with the ignition wires on his car. . .

On another occasion, Brother Robert testified that (fieldnotes October 22, 1972):

men where he worked jumped on him and wanted to fight because of the fact that he served the Lord. (He started crying as he testified). He was able to change jobs. The Lord was good to him in that. . .

What is interesting here is not only saints feelings of persecution but what they do with it. On one level saints capitalize on the notion that they "are crazy" as an in-group identity marker. The late Rev. Frank Necessary (just prior to his death in August 1971) admonished me to (fieldnotes August 15, 1971): "tell them up there (Canada) that I (myself) had been way over in the mountains of East Tennessee where the

Tripp goes on to say that:

The means by which society labels serpent handlers as deviant is through the use of various negative sanctions which the serpent handlers perceive as persecution. The perception of being persecuted and labeled is of paramount importance; whether, according to some 'objective' criteria, persecution truly occurs is irrelevant. The serpent handlers, as a group, believe that they are persecuted and they act on the belief. It, is reality for them. (emphasis hers)

Tripp cites several examples of persecution reported by Georgia serpent-handlers.

people are 'fools for Jesus'". Jimmy Williams expressed a similar sentiment during a sermon (fieldnotes, July 23, 1972): "He said that people were saying that the folks up in snake hollow had gone crazy. I'm glad to get crazy in the carnal mind".

In many instances, saints have transformed these prejorative labels into "badges" of membership (Goodenough 1963:178). Thus, many of these labels are frequently expressed and even celebrated during church services. This is exemplified in the often sung religious song, "Holy, Holy, Holy", which many saints claim is their favorite song. In many ways, this song serves as an anthem for serpent-handlers (from various tapes of services):

> They call us Holy Rollers; that's all right. . ⁴ They call us serpent-handlers; that's all right. . . They call us Jesus only; that's all right. . . They call us the tongue gang; that's all right. . . They say we're of the devil; that's all right. . . They say we've gone crazy; that's all right. . . They say we worship serpents; that's all right. . . They say we eat no breakfast; that's all right. . .

The refrain is:

Holy, holy, holy; that's all right Holy, holy, holy; that's all right Holy, holy, holy; that's all right Just so I'm livin' holy, that's all right.

The term snakehandler is also used as an in-group identity marker. In a formal sense, the designation serpenthandler is considered most appropriate by saints as a referant.

> "They say we've gone crazy; that's all right They say we've gone crazy; that's all right

The term snakehandler is considered inappropriate by many and its use is often criticized, corrected, or preached against. However, saints often address one another as snakehandlers. Speakers and hearers in the church immediately recognize the irony in the term's use, as members are often mocked or chided by people using this perjorative label in the secular community. When used by saints in this way, the term snakehandler elicits laughter, humorous exchanges, and overall camaraderie.⁵

Developing from saints' sense of persecution is members' feelings of separation from the "things of this world"; i.e., what Ferrard (1966a:61) calls "other-worldliness". Serpent-handlers' other-worldlinéss is well known in the literature. As summarized by Kane (1974:256):

> The snake-handlers unequivocally reject the existing social order as corrupt and utterly beyond redemption. Their 'other-worldliness' and tendency to project their hopes and aspirations into the hereafter is reflected in such aphorisms as, 'We are in the world but not of it' and "We are just strangers passing through this world.' Accordingly, they adhere to a rigid and asdetic moral code, eschewing all forms of worldly pleasure, self-indulgence, and frivolity.

Similarly, La Barre (1962a:16-17), Gerrard (1966a:61-62; 1971: 106-107), Schwarz (1960:405-406), Stekert (1963), Cobb

They say we've gone crazy; well, that's all right Just so we're living' holy, that's all right."

Refrain, then next stanza.

t

⁵This is similar to U.S. black's use of the label "nigger" among themselves in certain contexts, while in other settings insisting on the use of labels such as "Afro-American", "black", etc..

(1965:65), and Tripp (1975:53-55) have dealt with the other-worldliness and separateness of serpent-handlers. 6 

The basis of saints' other-worldliness partially lies in their belief in the "Second Coming" of Christ Serpenthandlers share with Christianity in general this millenarian emphasis. While much of Christianity no longer emphasizes the immediacy of a second coming of Christ and the urgency of pursuing "holiness" in these "perilous times", small fundamentalist denominations such as serpent-handling churches persist in their strident millenarian stance.

Mark 13:8 depicts some of the conditions that will obtain just before the second coming of Christ (eg. "nation ••• against nation, ••• earthquakes ••• famines and troubles ••• false prophets ••• perseuctions", etc.). Saints find ample evidence in the secular community and in the world in general of the deterioration into "Godlessness" that indicates that the end is near. Preachers frequently

This world is not my home, I'm just a passing through, My treasures are layed up somewhere beyond the blue, The Angels beckon me from heaven's open door, And I can't feel at home in this world anymore.

Up in gloryland we'll live eternally The saints on every hind are shouting victory The angels beckon me from heaven's open door-And I can't feel at home in this world anymore."

⁶This theme that home is not in this world is expressed and reflected in various religious songs that are sung during church services and in saints' homes, including: "And I Can't Feel At Home In This World Anymore", "Mansion In The Sky", "I'll Fly Away", "I Can Almost See Heaven", and many others. Two verses from the song, "And I Can't Feel At Home In This World Anymore", illustrate saints' orientation:

cites examples of this moral deterioration in order to emphasize the importance of "being ready". Brother Johnny, for example, preached the following (fieldnotes, November 30, 1972):

> . . . He mentioned the signs that told that these were the last days. Awful things are happening in the world. For example, there are churches in California and Florida where Lucifer is worshipped. There was a girl in California who stabbed her uncle and said 'praise Lucifer'. . .

Newport, with its reputation as a center for prostitution, bootlegging, gambling, illegel cock fighting, and general lawlessness, provides more than adequte evident for saints of the "perilous times" at hand. Many sermons are devoted to the theme of "perilous times". Jimmy Willims, for example, stated that (fieldnotes, July 8, 1972): ". . . this country was cursed by God for our wickednes. He talked about crime, wars, and many of the other tell tale signs of our afflictions." Following on this, much emphasis is put on the transiency of life and the need to be ready at all times. For example, the following excerpt from a sermon given by Brother Alfred Ball (tape transcription, Winter 1973, recorded by Brother Ralph Eslinger) illustrates this emphasis:

> . . I wonder a lot of times if He was to suddenly come onto some of us, what would happen to us, amen; if He suddenly came on you right now, where would you go, amen, where would be your final end? Amen, what would happen to you if Jesus should come for you right how? Well, it's a possibility, amen. You're not promised another day. You're not promised another breath, amen, and little as you might think about it, amen, you're just a breath away from hell, or the Kingdom of God. Amen, just which ever place you made

preparation to go to, amen, you're just one slight breath away from it. Now, a, amen, last night, there was a man thought had a long time to live and he Lent out of here, mmen, just a few minutes before I came to church. There was another one thought he had a long time to live, but I don't know if he has or not, 'cause somebody just shot him full of holes, amen, not too far from where we're standing, amen. It's possibly that God could call on you tonight, so, amen, I want you to pray for me in this way. If there be anything in my heart that God wouldn't be pleased with, anything that God wouldn't accept, amen, if I had to lay down and die right now, then I'd like for Him to move it, amen. I don't want it to be there, thank God, Now, think about it, what does it really take, what will it really take to get in? Do you know, amen, do you know what it will really take, thank God? If you're not sure then you better be getting sure, amen, because you may be going home, amen, sooner than you think. .

Because the end of time is near, much emphasis is given to maintaining an identity that is separate from the world. For example, Brother Ralph Eslinger (tape transcript, December 13, 1972) stated: "God said come out from among the world and be ye a separated person and I'll receive you saying the Lord". It is in this spirit that saints advocate a number of prohibitions of dress, public amusements, alcohol and tobacco, and other things thought to be "of the world".

Members of the church also attempt to maintain a separation from the medical profession and from lawyers. As seen by Jimmy Williams (fieldnotes, November 15, 1972):

> . . . When you are married to God, He is a jealous husband. When a man is married to a woman, he doesn't like her asking other men when she needs help. God is the only doctor and is jealous of other doctors being used. God becomes jealous when we rely on 'arms of flesh' to solve our problems. Also, God should be our lawyer as we shouldn't rely on 'arms of flesh' to solve our legal problems. .

Church members also believe that as a separated people the laws of the state do not apply to them, in cases where such laws conflict with what they perceive as God's laws. As summarized by Jimmy Williams (tape recorded December 10, 1972):

> . . . Yoy know, the best instructions I can give you tonight is to just obey the Lord. Whatever God tells you to do, you do that. Obey God. Its better to obey God than men. Amen! A lot of times we find ourselves trying to obey all of the laws of the land, and the Bible teaches to obey the laws of the land, amen. You shouldn't run the red light and the stop signs because they were put there for your own protection, thank God! Amen, then, but every now and then the laws of the land and the laws of God, they conflict and then, therefore, we have to take the laws of the Lord. Amen! It's against the law to take up serpents, amen, but it's not against God's law. It's just against the laws of the land. Amen! We as children of God, we don't obey that law. The laws of the land that come contrary to the Word of God, we just don't obey 'em at all. (Liston: 'Don't pay it no mind'.) Amen, amen, I told the sheriff down there that I wasn't goin' to obey that law. We'd take care of the laws of God and for him to take care of the laws of the country. . .

Although saints claim to be "in but not of the world" and a "separated people", they, nevertheless, selectively participate in the larger society. As discussed in the previous chapter, saints must live and earn a livelihood in the "world". Consequently, saints share in the life of the secular community. While serpent-handling's ideology advocates segregation from the world, not all saints achieve this ideal equality well. The fact that this theme is emphasized so often by preachers (as shown in the preceeding excerpts) offers some indication that being "a separated people" is problematic for saints. So far in this discussion, the focus has been on serpent-handling as a group, a collectivity. On the indivit, al level, wide variations exist. A saint's identity as a person separated from the world is not fixed, but must be maintained and validated. Group norms are quite fluid and constantly in process of redefinition. As already touched on, a number of issues can prove problematic.

135

The issues of television, dress standards, public amusements, smoking, drinking (both alcohol and coffee), and relying on doctors and lawyers, engender considerable controversy and debate in the church. Saints who are vigilant regarding these matters sometimes testify to that fact during church services, implicitly and explicitly condemning those who are less enthusiastic:

> Brother Jimmy preached against watching television. When he started preaching on this topic, Brother Robert turned around and smiled at me and made a 'crazy' sign with his finger to his wife. On Wednesday, October 25, 1972, I casually talked with Brother Robert about television and other issues. He gets angry at brothers like Jimmy who preach against T.V. He says that if T.V. keeps you away from church that could be bad, but you might as well condemn radios and newspapers. The Word of God could be preached on T.V. The church should put on a T.V. program. He said that anyone who talks against T.V. is a little 'cracked'. . . They're good boys, though. Some just have weird ideas. He enjoys some things on television. (Fieldnotes, October 25, 1972).7

-

⁷By the late winter or early spring of 1973, Brother Robert had left The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name and formed his own church near Morristown, Tennessee. His disagreement with the church's stance against television was but one of a number of reasons that caused the brother to leave.

Probably the most volatile issue raised in the church concerns sisters' attire. In sermons and testumences continual references are made to the issue of sisters wear short dresses, tight clothing, makeup, etc... Also, sister are admonished against cutting or styling their tair as the Bible warns against it). Regarding female dress, Brither Jimmy stated during a service (fieldnotes, November 11, 14) that:

> He was glad that Holiness sisters were . Fir ( 1)++ Holiness sisters again and wearing long dresses. Due to was a time when it was hard to get long dresses. Holiness slaters should look the part and to the like burlesque girls.

During this period of the church, considerable emphasis was placed on women wearing long "granny dresses". The issue caused considerable division is the church as net all sister or brothers liked "granny is". The main proponents if the long dresses, initially we the pastor, assistant last r and their wives. Others soon became convinced of the correctness of this stance. People in the church terdect take sides on the issue. In the end, no one uniform starter of dress was agreed upon or imposed, and the question will continue to be probelmatic.

Similar issues, debates, concerns, and there were develop in the church concerning appropriate dress that the transformed to bacco, and the visiting of zoes. amusement parks, bowling alleys, and, appropriate places the employment for saints to work. There is no need to detail all of the numerous cases. The underlying concern is basically the same in all of the above cases. As expressed by Brother erald from Greenville, South Carolina (fieldnotes, July . . .): "Holiness people were losing their faith and being artificted by the world". He went on to say that ". . teenagers think that they can have the gifts and the things of the world also; not so".

The emphasis then, is on the "hard, narrow, pure" path that one must follow in order to validate bein series. This strictness in everyday life is considered improved serpent-handlers because, as expressed by Brother series. (Fieldnotes, July 22, 1972): "A slight love of the series can put a man in hell". Underlying saints' emphasize Holiness lifestyle is the expectation that if such a was series life is followed, members can gain access to supernation power for the performance of various rituals and for series.

## AN IDENTITY .:. F. ...

Serpent-handling congregations are in a dynamitension between the things of the world and their structure for a separated life. By demanding a high degree of visities commitment, the church is involved in an ongoing effort to maintain a strict boundedness from the larger society. The boundary between saints and the wider community is a flexible one which swings back and forth between polar possibilities.

1 + 1

These fluctuations between greater worldliness and withdrawal vary depending on such factors as; leadership, composition of the membership, size and age of congregation, persecution, tenor of general relationships with the larger community, etc.. It is within this continuum between the two extremes that individual saints and churches negotiate their identities in a myriad of ongoing interactions, both within and without of the community of saints. Many saints tend to be quite experimental in assuming an identity. For a period of time, three of four brothers in the church wore all black clothing as a symbol of their separation and to show that they "were always in mourning for sinners" (fieldnotes, 1972). Presently, all but one of these brothers has abandoned the practice. Similarly, individual saints will experiment with not drinking coffee, tea, pop, etc. for a period of time and then abandon Sisters will not cut their hair and will wear long it. dresses only to cut their hair and return to wearing shorter dresses. Saints sometimes go through a period where fasting and prayer are emphasized, later to be de-emphasized. A yound church like The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name is constantly in process of defining itself, and continuous experimentation is an integral part of this. Particulars of worship are adopted only to be later discarded and perhaps adopted once again.

On the individual level, the boundary between serpenthandlers and the secular society is a permeable one. Sinners

become saints, but saints can always backslide and revert to sinner status. As membership in serpent-handling churches is through conversion rather than ascription, all saints were once sinners. Individuals in the church, at least in part, create their identities as saints against the backdrop of their sinful pasts, and against ongoing encounters with temptations and actual backsliding.

Part of a saint's identity is derived from the fact that through conversion he or she was saved from a life of sin and degradation. The greater the transformation, the greater credit that must be given to God. Thus, saints give considerable emphasis to accounts about the depths of sin and despair that they once experienced. At a Brevard, North Carolina tent revival in 1972, Brother Lester Ball testified that (fieldnotes, Jyly 28, 1972): "Before he found Jesus, he used to be a mean fellow and fight, etc.". ( his sinful past, Brother Liston related the following to Jimmy Williams and myself as we were driving back from a church service in London, Kentucky (fieldnotes, November 26, 1972):

> Liston said that a few years ago he used to stay up all night gambling. This is bad for your health. In the name of sinful things, people will stay up all night and ruin their health, but when church goes a little late, people get restless and want to leave. Liston used to make a lot of money at gambling because he cheated. He had a bed there and would just take naps now and then. He also used to swindle tourists out of money. Once he went on a drunk and beat up the colice chief. Later, after he was saved, he testified to the parole officer for almost an hour and read from the Bible. Liston used to take pep pills. Once he punched in a plate glass window with his bare

<u>,</u>
hands to break into a drug store to get more pills. It took about five men to subdue him and they needed a club. Liston has also spent time in jail on a nunslaughter charge.

Liston also used to be real skinny. He also used to be nervous and shaky much of the time. In fact, just a couple of years ago, Jimmy used to get irked at Liston when they would travel together, as Liston would get so nervous and shaky that he asked Jimmy to stop the car every little while to calm him down. Now, Liston is over that, and since he has given up more things of the world he has gained weight and has been healthy. A man in Newport who knew Liston in the old days says that Liston is a walking testimony to the Lord, since Liston should have been dead by now (pergame of the life that he led).

Liston concluded the discussion of his sinful past by saying (fieldnotes, November 26, 1972) ". . . that he shouldn't think and talk about his sinful past, as that was in the past". For Liston and other saints, the rule seems to be that one's sinful past can be selectively recollected and presented (for the purposes at hand), but only to a point. Such recollection must be tempered and not over emphasized. Sometimes saints' accounts take on a tone of braggadocio as saints attempt to show how much the Lord has done for them (who were once so sinful).

3 F 🗸 🗮

Accounts similar to the above are also rendered by saints who have repented after having "backslid". As in the above cases, these types of accounts emphasize God's mercy and his power. Such accounts can serve as a type of confession and/or an expression of humility on the part of the repentant sinner.

Another aspect of saints' identity creation and ~ maintenance reflective of the permeable boundary between saints and the secular society is saints' selective involvement in that society. Saints engage in a variety of relationships with members of the society at large to further the ends of the religion. Not only are converts found, but individiual saints validate their identity as apostle, evangelist, man of God, etc.. Not only are saints' identities fused through the interaction with sinners, but also through the reporting of the interaction to the community of saints. The extent that serpent-handlers actively proselytize varies with respect to church and to individual saints within churches.⁸ Proselytizing, like most other aspects of church life, is not a fixed or steady-state type of quality in serpent-handling churches. Rather, its frequency and intensity vary depending on any number of internal and external circumstances. During the early days of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, saints openly handled serpents on the streets of Newport and in non-serpent-handling congregations. In recent years, saints have engaged in such practices much less frequently.

١

14)

.

⁸There is some disagreement in the literature concerning the degree that serpent-handlers proselytize. Tripp (1975: 48), for example, who develops a perspective on serpent-handling as a deviant subculture writes: "Because the serpent-handlers do not proselytize, they can in no way be construed to compromise a social movement. The inhibition about proselytizing emphasizes the secretiveness of this deviant subculture". Her findings are not borne out at The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name. This is not to deny that the church in Georgia where Tripp worked eschewed proselytizing. Considerable variation exists between churches, especially between "Jesus only" and Trinitarian" groups. Tripp's findings were for a "Trinitarian"

Saints do, however, continue to preach and testify about their religion in public places within the secular community. Both The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name and The Jesus Christ Apostolic Church continue to have a weekly radio broadcast in which serpent-handling and the practices of the church are emphasized. Saints are encouraged to let their "light shine" (fieldnotes, December 10, 1972). Brothers and sisters frequently give accounts of particular instances in which they testified to sinners in the community about the church. For example, Liston Pack testified about how (fieldnotes, July 6, 1972): "He went into a barber shop in Newport and told the barber about eternal damnation. The barber became so upset that his hands trembled and he had to sit down and quit cutting hair". On another occasion, Liston testified about how he had been preaching in bars of Newport. He reasoned that (fieldnotes, July 9, 1972): "The Word must be preached wherever sinners are found".

On any number of occasions saints in the church proclaim their beliefs to the secular world. With respect to this, preachers often emphasize that "if the people don't come to you, you've got to go to them" (fieldnotes, July 28, 1972). In instructing a young serpent-handler who was holding a tent revival in Brevard, North Carolina, Jimmy Williams said: "Just take a box of serpents with some music and the people will come. That's what we do over at Newport. We handle serpents at a gas station in town and the people gather around".

Regarding the tent revival, saints made the point that it was being held "next to a bar, nightclub, and bowling alley-places of sin" (fieldnotes, July 22, 1972). In the case of the tent revival, the strategy of locating it next to places "of sin" proved fruitful. Near the end of the service two black couples walked into the tent and were welcomed by the saints. One of the men gave \$4.00 to the collection and stated that "he had been on his way to buy liquor when he saw the tent and this saved him from buying it" (fieldnotes, July 28, 1972).

On the whole, saints do not practice their religion in secrecy, but are quite open about it. Saints are not ashamed of appearing in public carrying Bibles, serpent-boxes, or wearing plain clothing. Also, saints appear quite willing, in fact, seek opportunities, to testify about their beliefs. Through doing this, saints validate their identity as Holiness people. This is illustrated by the interaction that Liston Pack had with a waitress in a truck stop near Knoxville (July 19, 1973). The waitress asked Liston "what we were drinking" 'and he replied that he did not drink because he was a Holiness preacher. It is interesting to note that this particular truck stop did not serve alcoholic beverages, so, in a practical sense, it was unnecessary for Liston to respond to the waitress as he did. His response must be seen as an attempt to express his religion to the world.

Jimmy Williams and Alfred Ball often picked up hitchhikers to testify to. Or, Brother Johnny (fieldnotes, November

16, 1972) encouraged brothers to: "Greet men on the street and on the job as you would greet them in church, with a hug. Don c be ashamed of what people say or think". In all of these cases, serpent-handlers are inviting persecution and harrassment from the world. As summarized by Gerrard (1966a:68):

> Members of the Holiness movement are well aware that they follow a religion most Americans consider absurd, and they are far from insensitive to that fact; despite their conviction that theirs is the one true church. In fact, some imply that they would welcome a little of the Old World persecution as a sign they are at least being taken seriously.

### CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS

Throughout this discussion, the community has been seen as emergent, in process, and problematic. Following from this, saints' individual and collective identities are in flux and dependent on continual interactional work for their creation and maintenance. Saints' accounts of being separate provide an example. Separateness as an ideal is generally agreed upon by saints, but its exact meaning and achievement are open to negotiation and interpretation.

This discussion has not exhausted the topic. Subsequent chapters will pick up on and amplify the themes of identity and accounting practices. Conspicuous by its absence in this chapter is an analysis of saints' concepts concerning supernatural power and its uses. Crucial to members' sense of being "a separated people" is that of being a special people,

۲

47

or "God's children" who have access to supernatural power. These concepts are integral to a serpent-handling identity and sense of community. Before focusing specifically on saints' concepts of supernatural power and its uses, the social and activity structure of the community will be examined.

#### CHAPTER VI

SOCIAL AND ACTIVITY STRUCTURE OF A COMMUNITY OF SALETS

### GENERAL STRUCTURAL CONSIDERATIONS

To understand the dynamics of internal organization of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, examination is necessary of its social organization and relationships to other serpent-handling groups. Inferences may then be drawn about factors of importance in the formation and maintenance of the community. Moreover, leadership, role performance, and community activities cannot be understood fully unless they are seen in the context of the entire social organization.

In organizational structure, serpent-handling churches may be seen to conform with the traits formulated by Gerlach and Hine (1970) in the analysis of the social organization of Pentecostal, Black Power, and other "movements of social transformation". Gerlach and Hine characterize them as being decentralized, segmentary, and reticulate groups which lack central authority, a well-defined chain of command, and hierarchic leadership.

Describing decentralization, Gerlach and Hine (1970: 35) label such organizations as "headless" or "acephalous" and, using what they call more accurate terms of description, "many-headed" or "polycephalous". In this type of structure, they state:

... there is no political or decision-making authority above the level of the local community or localized clan or lineage of kinsmen. Furthernore, political control even at the local level is often diffused and quite flexible.

Leadership develops on a basis of being "first among equals", especially in personal ability and charisma. The practice in Pentecostal groups of having many leaders is related to the concept derived from earlier Methodism known as "the priesthood of all believers". This social levelling is reflected in the custom of saints' addressing and referring to one another as "brothers" and "sisters".

In serpent-handling churches, the concept of the "priesthood of all believers" is also manifested in other ways. Most congregations have between five and fifteen preachers. As will be discussed in greater detail, even the pastor and assistant pastor of a church cannot make decisions that are binding on all members or serve as spokesman for the group as a whole. Leaders cannot assume that they speak for the group as a whole on matters of belief or Biblical interpretation. Furthermore, leadership, and membership, are not ascribed statuses but depend upon performance. Regularity : participation, personal charisma, and manifestations of **spiritual gifts are matters of great importance** in achieving positions of leadership. In other words, statuses must be continually validated by appropriate behavior, although, as later discussion will bring out, considerable latitude exists in ideas of appropriate performances of roles.

14 '

In discussing the "segmentary" structure of religious movements, Gerlach and Hine (1970:41) focus on "fission and fusion". Such movements are described as being ".... composed of a great variety of localized groups or bells which are essentially independent, but which can combine to form larger configurations or divide to form smaller anits" In serpent-handling groups, fission is a common process. Since the formation of The Holiness Church of God In tesus Name in 1969, three congregations have developed from it, and members of the church have been instrumental in the establishment of at least three other churches that did not represent fission from the "mother" church. Four factors may be identified as contributing to the splitting of condrega tfons (<u>ibid</u>., p. 42):

( <b>a</b> ) (b)	an ideology of personal access pre-existing social, persona. cleavages	wer Graphical
(C)	competition	

- (c) competition (d) ideological du
- (d) ideological differences

With regard to the "reticulate" nature of movements, Gerlach and Hine (1970:55-63) describe them as organizations "... in which the cells, or nodes, are tied together, ort through any central point, but rather, through intersecting sets of personal relationships and other inter-group linkages". They ... constantly split, combine, and proliferate" .... (and) "... are linked into a reticulate macrostructure". This type of larger reticulation is facilitated by:

14H

14

÷...

- . . personal ties between members, personal ties between leaders, travelling evangelists, ritual activities, national or regional associations, ideological linkage, and extra-movement linkages.

The types of linkages listed above exist among the serpent handling communities of the nation from Michigan to Florida. The external relations of The Holiness Church of God In Tesus Name include various of the links described above that held to form the national network.

Members of The Holiness Church of God in Jesus Name, for example, visit serpent-handling churches in Michigan. Ohio, Indiana, Kentucky, West Virginia, Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, and other parts of Tennessee. As well, saints from a number of centers visit the Newport church. Visiting between congregations most frequently occurs during special events such as revivals, homecoming services, special singing, etc..

•

Travelling evangelists provide additional ties in: linkages between groups. Not only do they conduct revivals that often attract saints from a wide area, but less obvious functions of the evangelist include (1011, p. 58), "... reporting of trials and triumphs of the movement elsewhere, request for support for groups not otherwise organizationally connected, and the communication of ideological refinements".

The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name is not formally affiliated with national or regional religious conferences, but is loosely aligned with congregations in Middlesboro, Kentucky; Brevard, North Carolina; Greenville,

14.4

South Carolina; Kingston, leargial and with additional and a in Chattanooga and Monterey. Tennessee - cumularly consistent erable interaction takes place between members of the human and its "daughter" congregations at Morristowe and Newsort Tennessee; and at Marshall, North Carolina - Most serve a handling congregations are connected in this way to be networks of churches which share similarities of doing on the serve of the distribution of of the di

In addition to relian as linkages, the hir to a established a number of beneficial ties with the larges secular society. The church, as already methods held of a society. The church, as already methods held of a society of the church of the superior and last of the form across the Western World. As well researchers, with the last of the society of the society of the second of the professional people have volunteered the constraints of the professional people have volunteered the constraints of the second of the sec

Usually, in such alliances, each of the toget participating churches hosts a Sunday afternoon serving rotating basis, with members of the other churches attents

²It is interesting to note that thurch visitat. Can serve as a catalyst to innovation. Liston and Jimmy attempted to establish loose al Mances with other thur the after their visit to churches in Kentucky where alliances we well established. Similarly, songs, styles of handling server are learned and borrowed from congregations that are visited

< _ /

to the church. Most recently, the American Civil Liberties Union vois whered to aid the church in its legal struggies. Students is serpent-handling have often overlooked these wider ties that saints establish, preferring in many cases to view the groups as isolated rural cults that lack a larger social connectivity. The types of extra-group ties mentioned above may be viewed as important resources in the creation and maintenance of a serpent-handling community.

Finally, the reticulate structure of serper+-handling is further developed through members' shared mystical experiences ("Baptism of the Holy Spirit"). These serve as a means of organizing the differences of interpretation and practice existing between independent churches. Gerlack and Hine (1970:60-61) note that:

> In spite of the fact that personal, organizational, and ideological differences continually split groups, the conceptual commonality of the Baptism experience and the conceptual authority of the non-human leader provide a basis for continuing interaction between the resulting splinters. United in core belief, the Pentecostals can proceed to unite against genuine opposition, or against what they believe ' be opposition.

# INTERNAL STRUCTURE AND LEADERSHIF

Most studies on serpent-handling summarily dismiss the question of internal church structure and leadership. Cobb (1965:58), for example, states that (reqarding the Fine Mountain Church Of God):

> There has never been any kind of formal organization, or any regular routine, except for the understanding that meetings are held regularly at the church house

on Saturday and Wednesday nights and Sunday afternoons.

She also provides a description of a "typical" church service at Pine Mountain and suggests that (<u>Ibid</u>., 73): "The role played by the preacher is that of the superior and equal, leader and follower and equation and rer in all activity"; and concludes by saying that (Ibid., p. 15):

> Rank in the group is dependent on the gift of the spirit. The person who has demonstrated handling snakes, speaking in tongues, and handling fire, is distinguished, superior. His prestige is limited to the group, however. It does not extend to the society outside where his gifts are a matter of curiosity and ridicule.

Or, as summarized by Gerrard (1971:108) regarding roles in the church:

While roles in the church are culturally stereotyped, i.e., dancer, singer, faith-healer, etc., enactment is almost completely unstructured and sponteneous. Role playing is very fluid, depending on the individual member's mood of the moment. Members who are passive on one occasion may dominate the meeting on another with their dancing and testifying. This constitutes an important appeal of the church, for if one feels the power of the Holy Spirit, there are almost no structural obstacles to immediate, untrammeled expression. In fact, such obstacles would be considered sacrilegious. This is one important reason why religious sessions are sometimes five or six hours long. No one would consider bringing the meeting to an end until every member who is so disposed had been given the opportunity to express his religious urges fully. .

Gerrard (1966a:15-49) also provides a systematic description of a church service and makes additional reference to leadership roles and church structure. (Also, see Vance 1975:149).

In general, the above accounts are accurate, but overlook a number of issues pertaining to role and social

structure. Specifically, social structure, leadership, and role, are reported on as being non-problematic. From Gerrard's description, one derives the image of an unstructured group that allows members almost complete freedom to follow the spirit wheresoever it may lead. In effect, Gerrard presents an account of members' idealized conceptions of church social structure. He does not deal with rules of etiquette, rules for breaking rules, ways members sabatoge certain performances; or, in general, ways in which saints utilize, manipulate, or negotiate roles and structure. Members' negotiated management of dership and role will now be examined.

The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name is led by a pastor, assistant pastor, and a board of elders. The church's leadership categories are derived from the King Jam-s Bible. As described by Brother Alfred (tape interview December 1974):

> Well, first off, the government for the church is an elder board, which usually consists of three ministers in the church, or three of the eldest people in the faith. Elder does not mean age in years, but age in the faith. Actually the Bible government is a bishop or a pastor and even deacons. The churches try their best to follow it, this sequence as much as is possible, but, a lot of times they have to settle for less than seven deacons because of the fact that they must be blameless, the husband of one wife, without blame, and it's pretty hard to find people that can meet this qualification. Now we don't forbid people who have been married twice to come to church, but they are not allowed to be ministers in the church. The order for the church is a deacon, rather seven deacons, and a pastor, and usually you have a minister's

· - #*

15.0

There are usually two or three preachers may role. be ordained out of the one church and they usually comprise an elder board. And the deacon's job is just what the Bible says, to see to the fatherless and the widows and the saints in the congregation to kind of oversee them and if they get sick, check on them, see to it that they're not in need. . . The elder board, in order to have not a dictatorship but a kind of democracy in the church, they kind of get together and talk over the decisions that are being made and then the male members in the church-sometimes its only the male members and sometimes its only the deacon and the elder board and the minister's board that does the votin' to put in the pastors. The pastor and the assistant pastor are usually placed in their office by a majority vote of the male members of the church.

In describing the leadership structure of the church, Brother Alfred suggests that ideal structure is not realized. The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name does not have a bishop and has difficulty finding enough "blameless" saints to serve as deacons. Similarly, although not mentioned specifically by Brother Alfred, the roles of elder, pastor, and assistant pastor often are not performed in accord with Biblical dictates. Although the Bible establishes ideal role categories and specifies conditions for holding leadership positions in the church, it does not provide instructions for implementing these ideals in complex and ambiguous social settings. As well, the Bible does not provide specific criteria for evaluating role performance in varied situations. This must be interpreted and negotiated as interaction unfolds.

At issue here is: who has final authority in the church and how is this authority to be exercised? The question of authority is problematic on a number of levels. Ideally

the church adheres to the notion of a "priesthood" of all believers" and espouses democratic principles, but definite contradictions are discernable, especially regarding the office of pastor. The pastor in theory is elected, and subject to the elder board and to the congregation as a whole. Also, the pastor should live an exemplary life and demonstrate by • his behavior that he is "led by the spirit". Problems do arise, however. The pastor of the church after holding his elected office for almost two years, discontinued church elections on the grounds that they led to confusion and competition in the church. Not long after this, he replaced his assistant with a member of the elder board. The elder board (composed primarily of saints in their 20's or early 30's) was politically weak and inexperienced and did not provide an effective challenge to his untoward action.³ Thus. even though the ideal is a "priesthood of all believers", the pastor, if he is charismatic and persuasive, may set the tone of a church. Saints who disagree with him can attempt to challenge his policies, ignore his actions, or leave the church--either joining another congregation in the area  $\operatorname{or}$ forming a new church.

This raises the question of social control. As the church espouses egalitarian ideals, the pastor and assistant

⁴In this case, the deposed assistant pastor purchased his own church and started a new congregation (thereby becoming a pastor), taking a number of disgruntled members of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name with him.

pastor do not possess by virtue of their office any real coercive power with which to discipline members, or to impose on the congregation specific beliefs or interpretations of the Bible.⁴ Instead, they must rely on preaching, testimonies, and example. Through these means, they, as well as other points can express their views, negotiate positions of faith, and establish their identities within the congregation. The issue of separation from the world illustrates this point.

As the church does not have a central authority to arbitrate matters concerning belief and behavior, participants have considerable latitude in defining the degree of separation that they maintain from the world. The principle that seems to operate here is whether or not the member feels "convicted" or "condemned" by his or her compromises with the world. For example, (fieldnotes, November 30, 1972) Brother Jimmy said: "That if he preached against smoking and he was still drinking coffee, he was condemned. You can't preach against hunting if you yourself are fishing". Similarly, if a saint watches television and feels guilty when the practice is preached against, then he is "condemned" and obliged to discontinue it. However, if the saint is not affected by the preaching he may be justified in continuing his practices. This can prove problematic and raises the issue of preaching as a means of social control.

⁴Although in extreme cases, the pastor and board of elders can revoke a preacher's credentials or suggest that a member leave the church. Members are rarely asked to leave the church.

Occasionally the pastor (or other preachers) advocates that "un-Christian" behavior be eradicated from the church. This often results in controversy as individual saints may disagree with the severity of such proposals. For example, the pastor and his assistant expressed the following sentiments (fieldnote; November 30, 1972):

> Liston said that we need to crack down in the church, as was done in the Church Of God when they were still in the Word. If a sister wore her dresses a couple of inches too short, her name would be removed from the register until she changed her ways. If she was the deacon's daughter and he protested, his name would be removed also . . Jimmy said that for a good harvest, the weeds need to be cut out. Liston wants to crack down openly on non-Christian behavior in church.

The Brothers' strict stance also applied to prayer meetings in members' homes. Both men were dismayed that it was so difficult to find suitable homes in which to hold meetings as many members "didn't live right" and their homes were not fit places of worship. Specifically, Liston stated that (fieldnotes, November 30, 1972):

> . . . the prayer meetings in the homes are a good idea, but some homes that you go to are not in order--the T.V. set is going, you smell cigarette smoke, and girls in mini-skirts running around, and you have a bunch of boys and girls giggling in the back room. He told some one whose house he went to that he did not have his house in order. . .

In response to Liston's sermon, Brother Johnny replied that:

. . .he would have volunteered his house, but there is a T.V. in the living room. Whenever it is on he leaves the room. He can't stand being around it. Both he and his wife want to get rid of it, but don't know what to do with it. If he gives it to someone else, then their kids will watch it and he will promote their woing what he wouldn't do himself. . .



All saints do not respond to criticism as magnanimously as Brother Johnny. In fact, criticism can cause saints to leave the church.

Related to social control and leadership is the role of women in the church. At The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name women are not allowed to hold office, to vote in church elections, or to make decisions affecting the church. Following from this, women are prohibited from preaching or teaching in the church. Similarly, sisters do not own, acquire, keep, exchange, or transport serpents. Women do not ordinarily handle serpents outside of formal church services. Reflective of their general position, women also do not have control over the various paraphernalia such as, serpent-boxes, viles of poison, blowtorches, etc..

So far, women's role has been seen in a negative light. Women, however, frequently serve as singers, (propheteses in some churches) are allowed to work in all the thaumaturgical signs of the religion, and may testify during services. Not all sisters are content with their particular status in the church and some attempt to prolong testimonies into full fledged preaching. Also, in some small, independent Holiness congregations, women serve as preachers.

Before looking at specific church activities and the structure of church services, two other categories of persons in the church should be examined: preacher and evangelist.

Preachers are male saints who claim to be "called by the Lord" to preach. Saints may start preaching as young as age fourteen or fifteen. Young saints usually begin by giving brief testimonies and then work their way into longer sermons. Preachers do not attend Bible colleges or seminary. Rather, the role is legitimated through rendering credible performances. (See chapter VIII for discussion of preaching and performance). Preachers are ordained by individual churches. Usually when the elders of a church feel that a young saint has proved himself as a spirit-filled person who lives a Holiness life style, and has an adequate knowledge of the Bible, he is issued credential cards by the church during a brief ceremony. The church presently has between six and nine preachers. Preachers like pastors do not receive a salary. If preachers are found to preach heresy or to conduct themselves improperly, the church can rescind their cerdential cards; the point being that the role of preacher is not an ascribed or permanent category. The person must continually validate his status through appropriate preaching.

Evangelists travel as part of their ministry, conducting revivals and attending services at other congregations in the capacity of "visiting preacher". As mentioned in the preceding section, travelling evangelists play an important part in establishing ties between geographically dispersed congregations. The role of evangelist is assumed voluntarily

by preachers who like to travel and who enjoy the opportunity of preaching to new audiences (especially to congregations who hold slightly different views of the religion). (Evangel ists sometimes travel because of conflict in their home chirches. In contrast to preachers, evangelist usually receive some financial reward for their efforts. It is customary for congregations to "take up an offering" to meet the travelling expenses of evangelists. As with preachers in general, the designation, evangelist, is not ascribed or permanent, but must be validated continually by appropriate performance.

## ACTIVITY STRUCTURE

Formal church services are the primary focus for the community as a whole. Although, as mentioned throughout the thesis, informal visiting, impromptu serpent-handling, etc. occur frequently; they do not involve the whole community. Church services can be divided into four general categories: (1) worship services; (2) prayer services; (3) revival services, and (4) special services. Each type will be described briefly.

Worship services--Although all services involve worship, members' designation, "worship service," applies primarily to the Saturday and Sunday evening services. These "meetings" are usually well attended by saints, sinners, and visitors from other congregations. The overall atmosphere is generally one of celebration. Considerable singing, preaching,

testifying, serpent-handling, and hand clapping occur. Week end services can last from two to five hours. (These spirited services are usually emphasized in the literature).

Prayer services--Prayer services are held at the church on Wednesday evenings. The tone of these services tends to more serious and sedate than at weekend meetings. Wednesday evening services are usually not as well attended by saints or by sinners and visitors as are worship services. Prayer services provide an opportunity for members to pray together, hear sermons, and learn more about the Word. As most saints are tired from their days work, services seldom last longer than three hours. In fact, some prayer services last only forty-five minutes with only five or six saints in attendance. (This is especially so during the winter months when the mountain roads are icy and travel is difficult . The low-keyed tone of most prayer services departs from the usual description in the literature of frenetic church services. Serpents are handled at many Wednesday night services, but not as frequently as on weekends.

In addition to the regularly scheduled Wednesday night service, prayer services are held in members' homes (especially during the winter). Most of these small services do not involve the entire community, attracting those saints who live in the immediate vicinity. These services vary little from prayer services held at the church.

!

Revival services--Revival services are held on consecutive nights for periods of a week or longer. Revivals take place when a preacher claims that "the Lord" instructed him to conduct a revival, and continue until the preacher proclaims that "the Lord" told him to terminate it. This does not insure that the revival will be well attended or the preaching inspirational as it varies with the competence of the individual preacher. Revival services differ little from Wednesday night prayer services, except at revivals a greater emphasis is placed on delivering insessage".

Special services--As implied by the name, special services occur in response to specific occasions. Such occasions include: special singing services, weddings, or funerals. Special singing services are called when travelling gospel singing groups become available, and are held usually on Sunday afternoons. Such gatherings frequently attract visitors from a wide area. Although the primary emphasis is on singing, these services also involve preaching, serpenthandling, etc.. Special singing services are often combined with "dinner on the ground". The church's annual homecoming service (first weekend of July), is a large special sining service.

Other special services include funerals and weddings. Funerals are conducted either in the church or in private homes. The funeral service itself is brief and informal, with prayers being said, a eulogy, and hymns sung. Serpent-

handling often takes place at funerals. Wedding's, on the other hand, are seldom held in thurch, and are almost always performed in private homes or even along roadsries. Weddic: services are even more informal than finerally consisting solely of the couple exchanging vows. Wedding rings are eschewed. Serpent-handling rarely occurs it weddings

in the second second

In addition to church services, other activities is the community include: baptisms, court hearings, Bible study sessions, visiting other churches, and the church's weeks radio broadcast. As court hearings and visiting is ther churches have already been discussed, my description concerns, to baptisms, Bible study sembious, and the charch's rate program.

Baptisms--Baptisms occur whenever a tepertent operation or recently converted persons feels "led by the Lord" + the baptized. Many baptisms take place late at night after the evening church service. Baptism is by total emersion of in the nearby French Broad River. (See Chapter VII to a discussion of the ceremony and the conversion experience.

Bible Study Sessions--Bible study sessions and during the day at the homes of saints. These study of an are comprised of women in the church and provide as a soutlet and opportunity to discuss the faith and the result of Biblical passages.

The Radi Broadcast Dhe Hilpress fur solution of the weekly live rate for a bast of preactions of the operation of the line dramatic minutes in the obsistent for eaching a speak of the line and to speak support. From two to fifther capetors are a set of the line dramatic minutes of the line for the speak of the line to speak of the line to speak of the line dramatic state of the line to speak of the line t

As that how set to example the parameters  $\frac{1}{2}$  and  $\frac{1}{2}$ . of the discussion with the approximation of the discussion of the dis

As concerved by members of subscreamed as the specific order of tellew a concernence of the specific order of tellew a concernence of the underlying principle us that order as concernence of the by the Spirites" we not to liew words the freedom in the hurdh "to be what or the specific order of the tellew we approximate or the tellew tel

Given the above liest of something, testifying subject the state of the something of the state of the solution of the state of the stat

opening and of such prayers, and prayer requests.

>pering frager--Most church services commente with an opening payer. Similar and even serpent-handling fat source for fit the result frager. The pening payer simulated by the past ris infunction, "all who will, one op to the articland pray". The pastor of saint who is leaded the service prays aloud, dedicating the service and asking ded's tressing. Individuals who have considerated in the trent kneel and individually pray aloud. Much does labe occurs, as well as shortnet, hand-shaking, housing, et co. After a point, the fising presidence of vices frame fit a the service proceeds as members reture to their seate, of the condredation, the "amen corner" see appendix 1.5, in worth the sindets.

Eraget Rejuests depending on the specific structure of the service class, project on worstop, specific solutions of project represests may be taken after the operation of specific at the service project of the third, and asks the correlation to end of their requests. One by the perclectation is a dependent of the service addition of the service of t

congregation.

Testimonies--Sometimes, in lieu of or in addition to prayer requests, the preacher may ask people in the condretion to stand in and to "testify". This is structured similarly to the taking of prayer requests. The leader calls for individuals to testify and the persons stands up and states briefly what the Lord has done for him or her during the past week. These testimonies are of the overladed with "you all pray for me". Between testimonies, the precher may develop a particular point into a short sermion or lesson. "Testifying" can take place at almost anytime during the service and can be initiated by individuals in the condregation What happens in any particular service seems to be a function of the individual interact, his rather than a function of a regidly laid out program.

Singing--The singing is spirited as the close of the service. Said to sperimes place chords on their guidars to speed up a literity or bering preacher or to signify that the "liter of the service" is about to change.

1++

The Message--This is considered the major preaching of the service and is delivered by one preacher. The message, however, is not formally prepared. At times, the pastor will ask preachers in the church, "who's got the message"? When a preacher accepts the challenge to present the message, he usually responds by saying, "that I really didn't plan to preach tonight, but if nobody else is got the message, I will give it". This type of preaching can last as long as two hours.

<u>Preaching</u>--Not all services feature a major message. During most services, however, some preaching is conducted. This consists of different preachers coming forward and presenting relatively short sermons or long testimonies. This type of preaching is often emotional and takes on the form of a chant. Such preaching can last from five minutes to an hour.

Teaching--Teaching occurs when a preaster wants to instruct the congregation on a particular point. This saily is not done in a charted or spirited manner.

4

Offering--An offering or collection is taken 4 during most services. Money received in collections is used to pay the operating expenses of the church. It is not used to pay preachers. The pastor and other leaders of the church must earn their livelihoods at regular cobs. "Love offerings" are taken up when a member is in need.

1+

<u>Altar call</u>--Altar calls are made near the end of the service. This is a time when sinners are urged to come forward and repent. Altar calls can either be dramatic or low-keyed. Often no one goes forward to repent or be prayed for. When sinners go forward and are prayed over, an altar call can last for a half an hour or longer, with the repentent person speaking in tongues, crying, or shouting.

<u>Closing prayer</u>--Church services are terminated with a closing prayer. This is signalled when the pastor announces that "it's getting late and it's time to close". He usually provides an opportunity for saints to testify or preach further. If no one comes forward, he prays aloud, along with the other members of the church. With the completion of this prayer, the service dismissed. (Serpent-handling, poison drinking, fire handling, speaking in tongues, casting out demons, healing the sick, etc. have not been included in the above descriptive overview. Although these acts are important features of many church services, services do occur in which none of the above acts are performed. A detailed description. of these ritual acts is provided in the following chapter.

### CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS

This chapter has discussed the social and activity structure of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name. The general social organization of serpent-handling may be seen as facilitating the formation of new groups and allowing for

great flexibility. Individual groups are linked to other groups throughout the generalized community by a network of believers who may temporarily or permanently congregate around particular nodes or centers.

In looking at the internal and activity structure of the church attention was given to leadership, role performance, and social control. What emerges is the importance of religious power in defining and validating social behavior. The relationship between rule and behavior is an interesting theoretical question and, for the members of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name an ongoi practical concern. Following from this, I will now explore saints' beliefs about religious power (Chapter VIII).

,

169

Þ

#### CHAPTER VII

### THE CONCEPT OF POWER

1 det

#### POWER AS DEFINED BY SAINTS

Serpent-handlers' definitions of power are derived from the King James Bible. The Bible serves as a source book for the uses and contexts of power and in literally hundreds of passages delineates what man must must not do in utilizing power.

In addition to providing precedent expectations the Bible also provides the regarding power and ite basis for and the compo of a "lexicon of power" (see appendix I). Most of exical items in serpent-handling's specialized vocabulary are found in the Bible. This is not to suggest that serpent-handling's lexicon is fixed on the pages of the Bible. Nor is it to imply that the Scripture limits saints to a static, always, redictable modus operandi when working in domains of power. Although the Word of God as presented in the Bible 📷 immutable and provides numerous precedents for the workings of supernatural power in the carnal world, it does not insure against the distortion that inevitably results when precept is translated into act in the group setting. The Bible may be seen as presenting an idealized general code for human dealings with the Divine. Further

elaboration and specification in this realm, however, develops out of individuals' day to day experiencing of power, and out of the ongoing and cumulative experiences and knowledge of church participants. This involves two dimensions: (1) members' mystical experiences and ritual manifestations of power; and (2) the ongoing, retrospective reporting of their experiences.

For saints one of the most fundamental and widely agreed upon attributes of power is that all power in the universe resides in God. I take this to be the primary invariable premise upon which serpent-handling religion is generated. This belief is established in Matthew 26:18: "And Jesus came and spake unto them, saying, <u>All Power</u> (emphasis Mine) is given unto me in heaven and in earth". Thus it follows that the power of Satan <u>is not as great</u> as it ultimately is derived from God's power. As expressed by members, "the devil can only do what God allws him to do and more".

A second principle is the accessability of power. The experience of receiving power is referred to in any number of Biblical passages. Acts 2:1-4, for example, is important

> And when the day of Pentecost was fully come, they were all with one accord in one place. And suddenly there came a sound from heaven as of a rushing mighty wind, and it filled all the house where they were sitting. And there appeared unto them cloven tongues like as of fire, and it sat upon each of them. And they were filled with the Holy Ghost, and began to speak with other tongues, as the Spirit gave them utterance. (emphasis mine)

This establishes the expectation that acquisitions of power may be accompanied by audio-visual sensations. Also, the bove text establishes a basis for speaking with other tongues as "the Spirit gave them utterance". Speaking in tongues is important in serpent-handling churches as well as in Pentecostal and neo-Pentecostal churches in general.

The Scriptures contain numerous other references to power and the promise of power to saints and apostles of the church. Only a few of the more important references will be cited here. Acts 2:43, states: "And fear come upon every souly and many wonders and signs were done by the apostles". Or, Acts 1:8 promises; "But <u>ye shall receive power after the Holy Ghost has come upon you</u>". Similarly, Acts 6:8 states: "And Stephen, <u>full of faith and power</u>, did great wonders and <u>miracles among the people</u>". And Acts 10:38 relates: "... how <u>God anointed</u> Jesus of Nazareth with the Holy Ghost and with power; who went about doing good, and helping all that were oppressed of the devil, for <u>God was with him</u>". (Emphasis mine)

Power then, is seen by saints as deriving from God and as potentially available to man. This idea will now be further developed through an examination of the concept of "anointing"--its Biblical referents, physiological aspects, its characteristics and limitations.

#### ANOINTING

Acts 10:38 (cited above) also establishes the concept of "anointed. . . with the Holy Ghost and with power", to effect some action or outcome--"doing good and healing all that were oppressed of the devil". It is implied in the Biblical passage that through the act of anointing, Jesus was blessed with an infusion of power, which was the Holy Ghost.

Anointing, ideally, is conceived as an impersonal, egoless power. An act performed by the individual while "under the anointing power of God" is seen by saints as a refrection of God's power, not of the individual's skill or personal power. Members emphasize that people acting on anointing are "moved by the Lord", "moving in the Spirit", or "letting God do it". The emphasis is not on the individual per se, but on the individual as an instrument of the Lord. This ideal, as discussed in Chapter VIII, often proves problematic. Individual members who consistently receive "a good anointing" for taking up seppents, drinking poisons, or handling fire, are recognized and esteemed by the group for their spectacular performances. Conflicts arise when the ideal of giving credit to God clashes with the actual behavior of some sa **⊮**ho derive considerable ego satisfaction and identity from their thaumaturgical performances. It is difficult to generalize too widely on this point as members of the church approach the expressed ideal to varying degrees. Some saints downplay the fact that they often receive good anointing to take up

serpents, etc. and are recognized for their "humble spirit". However, other participaths are noted for their vain, exhibit tionism during ritual performances. The line between giving a good performance and exhibitionism is a fine one and can cause difficulties for saints. As conceptualled by saints, the conflict is between acting "in the Spirit" as oppose: to acting in the "carnal mind". Given this general definitions f anointing, a number of specifications follow.

Anointing power is believed to "work" in many ways. It facilitates singing, preaching, working in various signs (eg. serpent-handling, speaking in tongues), reading the bible (especially for poor readers or the illiterate;; protector the church house from physical harm, protects saints from accidents, and maintains harmony in "Christian" homes.

Anointing is experienced in a personal way. Some compare the feeling of anointing to a mild electric shock, being struck by lightening, or various other alterations is normal motor activity. In response to the question, "Could you describe the anointing to me", Brother Alfred Ball stated (Barrett Video Tape, 1973), emphasis mine):

> Well, that is a very difficult thing to do, unless you've experienced it. The closest thing that I could come to describing the anointing, it's a feeling of power. A, as far as how it feels, this is very, very far from the actual fact, but the closest thin: that I know of that people would understand what I'll be talking about would be a light, electric shock. It works this way a lot. It feels, it's not actually an electric shock, but it's something that feels similar to that. The anointing a lot of times works in, with me particularly in a feeling as if you would hold your hands over a hot stove. The

feeling that you can feel the heat coming from the stove in your hands, and especially if I'm anointed for casting out devils. This is one type that I in particular feel this very strongly and it feels more like this power is coming, this feeling is comind from my hands rather than to them from something else. It feels like as if it were going from my hands into the person I'm praying for. ...

That's the closest thing I can come to to describe the anointing to you. I don't get anointed that way to take up serpents, now. Some of the other brethern and sisters do have this particular anointing. With me, this anointing usually just covers the cast ing out devils. To take up serpents the anointing I have is more a knowledge. Of course, I feel the the spirit of God upon me and it blesses me. Now, this is for my own self, my own personal self. The anointing is more a knowledge, a voice of God speaks to me and says you can take up the serpent and I know in my heart that this serpent's not going to hurt me, not going to bite me, not going to hurt me, and I have not fear whatsoever of it. That's the way that the anointing works with me.

In the above interview, Brother Alfred emphasized the individuality of the anointing science. Responses in vary depending on individuals, the intensity over, context, and the use to which power is employed. Anormoring can be indicated through numbress of the hands, mouth, tonquecpalpitation of the heart; dryness of the mouth; loss of contact with the immediate environment; inveluntary miter activity of the limbs and of the tengue; is through the perception of various shades of colored light.

Many in the church recognize specific physic. Jura. responses as being indicative of anointing to work in a particular sign. But as emphasized in the interview, the specific indicators can vary among individuals. Thus, some
have reported that they interpret numbress in the hands in arms to signify a readiness to take up serpents. Numbress in heaviness of the tongue is often experienced prior to speaking with new tongues. For others, increased sensitivity of the mouth and/or throat is interpreted as anointing to drink "deadly things". For example, Liston reported therein too November 26, 1962; that he "... felt the anointing of prophecy the other day, as he felt a tingling at the read of his mouth".

By way of further illustration fields test of  $r_{1}$ , 1972):

Liston . . . testified that he has somethat within that his ear felt numb and his has somethed to to to control. He also mentioned that he could be turks new the cap of the oil bottle . . . and that he saw everything as if through a haze. .

Anointing is easily broken and transitivy, solve to to a variety of internal and external factors. Distractions, a congregation that is hostile to the performer, the decipies of himself, God, the Devil, are all seen as factors that solve cause the anointing to dissipate and be uneffective of precefor example, mentioned that (fieldnotes, N vember 1990). "... it was hard getting into the serve eleast control account of the cross spirits there." Jimmy also feat the close spirits and assured Liston and I that "... they could be overcome". Although a Brother Liston show remarked these inotes, November 8, 1972), "... anointing assally comes at a difficult time", there are difficult external conditions that

only a very streng abounding can overcome. Saints of hear a view "divisive" or "cross spirits" as one such condition Sometimes divisive spirits can virtually paralyze a part, cular church service and all anointing seems to be blocked Preaching and working in the signs seem to takter. Stren when this occurs the service is dismissed after such to the an hour or set. Freachers frequently comment that tape transcription, August 20, 1912 of "constitute spiritus"

•

Distraction can prevent a saint transsequent with anointing of cause him to lose it prematurell. By the Actien for example, claimed that he "missed" the acting of the acting a serpent because he was distrated to use her provide notes July 29, 1975. The antinting can be seen as structure person allows his thought to stray to working of each Liston stated that dieldnetes, Algust of 1975. The get the victory you have to think about fest such to the bills to pay and other things". As summarized by acting of the cin Pelton and Carden 1974.51 in

> When the anointing is upon a term ry thereis a protective hedge around him. This here, is a set that nothing can penetrate it. Even satisfy a fit per through. But if you get your mind fit between makes a weak point in the hedge.

Anointing is only effective to sub-state periods of time. Saints need to know not only what such the an interval designated for, but also the time limites of its effectiveness Liston stated that (fieldnotes, July 31, 141. The when

танны вред паль силон солтос солтос но после состо во налости стратовали страти. marcater (texes) content of the cost of the content of the cost.

Development on a constatute of a second seco

power: It we little close to astronomic sector the time, but we to it get the accordance to a time. He asket how many to be labored with the nandling. Every restatement of the sector te explained that he time's set to be a take up serperts for all the lite set purpose to rolt like there was to at all of the he received the analytics to a sector of the treatment of success.

Accurting as consistent that the perform special teats with controls of the second sec

As will be discussed in the next section, there are a number of contexts in which this informal rule does not be

of a sign knows that he/she can proceed under the anointing of God to act in the appropriate sign. In fact, saints maintain that anointing is at times so strong and compelling that one cannot refuse to act. Implicit in this is the notion that anointing can be of varying intensities dependin; on the task to be performed and, on the spiritual readiness of the performer.

As conceived by members, power is channeled through various "administrations" to effect specific ends. This is derived, in part, from I Corinthians 12:4-21 (King James Bible):

> Now there are diversities of gifts, but the same Spirit. And there are differences of administrations, but the same Lord. And there are diversities of operations, but it is the same God which worketh all in all. But the manifestations of the Spirit is given to every man to profit withal. . .

Regarding this, Brother Alfred Ball explained that (tape recorded, December 1974):

Alfred: . . . in other words there are different administrations and it would all come under the anointing. . .

**RJB:** Under the anointing? So, preaching could be under one administration of it, or singing, or testigying, or. . .?

<u>Alfred</u>: Yes, right, sure, yea, be under diff. . ., matter of fact, that's a good point because in the Bible when it speaks of the nine spiritual gifts, it speaks of differences of administration, but the same spirit. . . It's the same power that causes it all and there's different administrations for different gifts and there are different administrations for different individuals to . . . because its divided severally to every man as he will. . The concept of "diversity of operations" or of different "administrations" is important in saints' overall conceptualization of power. Saints view the different administrations as being tangible and real. Certain administrations or channels are said to provide greater and more reliable access to power than are others. A breakdown of the diversity of operations is depicted in Figure I. The diagram is not organized hierarchically. Each administration consists of a cluster of features with its own set of limitations, precautions, and conditions. The onus is on the saint to have a knowledge of the various administrations and to competently identify the meaning of events within this domain. This specificity provides necessary latitude in assigning meaning to events and is crucial to the social management of supernatural power.

In summary, this section has isolated attributes of power and its uses. Specifically:

- A. Power is an egoless force from God
- B. Power is experienced personally and individuals
   vary in their responses to it
- C. Power is variable in intensity
- D. Power is effective for a specific time duration
- 6 E. Power is function specific
  - F. Power implies effective action
  - G. Power is influenced by external factors

FIGURE I

۲

4

¢.,

**،** ،

## DIVERSITY OF OPERATIONS (ADMINISTRATIONS)

		*			
edritual Gifts	5 Signe	Healing	Paith	Conversion	Baptism of
inthians 12:4-12 dom	Mark 16:15-18 cast out demons	Elders	Mark 9:23	Acts 9:3	ACTS 2.18
wiedge th [*]	speak with new tongues take up	James 5:14			
ling mcles	serpents drink deadly things lav				
phecy	hands on the sick				
cerning of spirits ers kinds of tonques					
erpretation of tongues					

Saints usually consider the Gift of faith a more reliable and unwavering source of power than the generalized faith spoken of in Mark 9:23.

.

18]

- 1. divisive spirits
- 2. distractions

.

- 3. Satan
- 4. God
- H. Power is influenced by Internal factorg
  1. intention of saint
  2. focus on God
  - 3. pay the price
- I. Power for working in signs is usually not given to same person twice in succession for the same sign
- J. Power for working in signs is usually not provided in a setting where everyone has seen the performance of that sign
- K. Power is administered and parcelled out via a number of specific channels

This list is not exhaustive or rigidly fixed. New rules and further specifications of old rules potentially can emerge from interaction, and derive from the open endedness of the above specifications.

## ACQUISITION OF POWER

Following from the principle of the priesthood of all believers all members of the church have access of supernatural power, regardless of their role or position in the organization. Members' acquisition of power is usually viewed as a gradual process. It is believed that most saints do not experience power maximally when they are neophytes in the faith. Power is viewed as something that increases with an individual's growth in the faith.

Some members feel however, that their greatest

religion, when their zeal and enthusiasm were high. Saints recall that the early days of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name were "Spirit-filled" with many people taking up serpents and working in the other signs. However, other saints consider that much of this activity represented a lack of knowledge rather than a true manifestation of the Spirit.

)

With regard to the acquisition of power, most saints have their initial experience at the time of their conversions. As all saints were sinners prior to the conversion experience, the power of God is viewed as instrumental in freeing individuals from their lives of sin in the world. The conversion experience can be quite emotional and powerful for saints. During conversion, individuals report that they experienced a variety of previously unfelt sensations, such as visions, unusual auditory phenemonon, loss of contact with the immediate environment, etc.

Many saints recall the conversion experiance as being something they did not seek. One Biblical justification for this is found in Acts 9:3-4, which depicts the conversion of Saul (later St. Paul): "And as he (Saul) journeyed, he came near Damascus: and suddenly there shines round him a light from heaven: and he fell to the earth, and heard a voice saying unto him, Saul, Saul why persecutest me?. . ." (King James Bible). Here, God has chosen a sinner for Himself--a precedent which saints attempt to imitate by actively encoura-

by encouraging the sinner to attend church services, and by providing formal and informal religious instruction, etc.. In these and related ways, saints are instrumental in bringing about the conversion of others. It is probably accurate to assume that in most cases, people who are converted to the faith have had at least minimal contact with others of the religion, or at least, have grown up in a Southern Bible Belt environment where such occurrences were very much a part of the general cultural milieu.

The conversion experience is often initiated when a sinner asks to be prayed for by the saints of the church. The praying for, and "laying on of hands", is believed to release a flow of power over the sinner, resulting in the person's repentance of past sins. The prayed over person sometimes shakes violently waving arms and hands through the air. This type of behavior can be so extreme that saints. have to protect the repentant from hitting his head on the mourner's bench, etc.. Other time, this power affects the sinner by causing him/her to pass out from five minutes up to a number of hours. For example, Brother Robert Grooms recalled that (fieldnotes, October 25, 1972): "When he was first converted, he was out of contact with his surroundings from eight p.m. until midnight. He said that you know when it hits. Before that time, he hadn't felt anything of a religious rexperience." Or, as described by Brother Everett Fraley (in Pelton and Carden 1974:79):

184

I repented and prayed for the Holy Ghost one night in church. I got up from the altar and went outside, Something just told me to go back inside and pray They prayed with me until about 11:00 again. . . that night. I was on my knees at the altar praising Jesus when the Holy Ghost moved on me. It felt just like a blanket of electricity covering my body when it started coming in. When it came, it picked me up and laid me flat on my back. It felt just like I was lying on a cloud. First my lips started quivering. It then came inpo and took control of my tongue. My tongue, we move uncontrollably, and I spoke in other tongener. The electricity stayed with me all this tipe. I was baptized the very next day.

As noted in the above passage, repenting and praying for the Holy Ghost does not insure that the sinner will receive the asked for conversion experience immediately. Sinners sometimes must do considerable "seeking" before they feel the Holy Ghost.

Repentance and "praying through" do not always take place during church services. It is quite common for sinners to be prayed for in their homes, along roadsides, or on the side of a mountain. This can take place anytime and quite often occurs late at night or in the early hours of the morning. The following account from my fieldnotes (December 1974) illustrates the point:

> My wife and I accompanied Brother Alfred and his family to the home of a family in the church for supper and a social evening. The brother of one of the church members stopped in and teased the saints about their religion, appearing to express little serious interest in it. By the end of the evening he was asking a few serious questions about the church, but still did not appear to be greatly interested in it. However, Brother Alfred received a telephone call at his home at 2 a.m. and was told that the sinner was repenting and wanted Alfred

to pray through with him. Alfred prayed with the young man for over two hours on a wooded hillside near his home. (The young man was seeking the Holy Ghost.)

The initial conversion experience is only the beginning. The next step is baptism by water and with the spirit. The "Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, Article, of Faith, Book No. 1", (1972) states:

> Article IV, Sec. 1, To be born again of water and spirit is to be baptized in water and with the spirit. St. John 3-5. St. Mark 1-8. Acts 2-38. Acts 10:44-45-46-47-48. . .

Article III, Sec. 4, We believe and teach that the baptism of the Holy Ghost is for **Constitution** St. John 7:37-38-39. We believe to **barta**lled with the spirit, or to receive the spirit or to be baptized with the spirit, or to be born of the spirit is the same thing. Acts 2-4. Acts 10-47. 1st for. 12-13. St. John 3-5.

The baptism of the spirit is seen as a justification or manifestation of the purifying action of water baptism. As expressed by Brother Murl Bass (in Pelton and Carden 1974:77):

> (Murl 'repented' of his sins and 'sought the Holy Ghost'. He was baptized in the water, 'for the remission of sins'. He felt empty.) 'See repentence is empty. That's just empty. Your vessel's (body) empty. The water baptism is to clean it. And the Holy Ghost is to fill it back up, to serve the purpose'.

But, as seen by Brother Everett Fraley, one can receive the "Spirit of God" before, during, or after water baptism (ibid.):

> 'The Bible says, 'Without being born again into the water and the spirit, no man shall enter into the Kingdom of God.' The Holy Ghost is the Spirit of God. Some people get the Holy Ghost before they're baptized--some after . . I believe it's a witness when you speak in tongues that you've got the Holy Ghost. This is the Lord's way of showing you you've

1 Jan **1** 

got it. I believe you've got to have something there to quicken (jerk) the mortal body.'

Although a person receives the spirit, this does not imply that he/she can automatically work in the signs, the Spiritual Gifts, preach, or handle fire. To obtain power for such works a saint must be prepared to fast and pray, study the Word, remain separated from the world--i.e., to pay the price. Faith is necessary for working with and acquiring power.

Saints express the belief that if one wants power he must seek it, and participate in church services (come to the front of the church and not stay in the back) (fieldnotes, July 26, 1972): "Brother Ed mentioned that if one winted powers, he did not stay in the back of the church. Liston then mentioned that he came up to the altar daily to gain power". Others in the church have stated that they can feel the power as they enter the hollow or cove in which the church is located. Brother Walter Newcomb reported that (fieldnotes October 1972):

> He was in the harbor at Nagasaki before it was bombed. The bomb melted steel reinforced buildings. When the bombs come, he wanted to be up at the church, protected by the Word. The church is like Jerusalem, a protected place.

So, in this respect, the acquisition of power has a spatial dimension as power is attributed (albeit loosely) to specific places.

Finally, as conceptualized by serpent-handlers, acquisition of anointing power (Holy Ghost) can be hindered

187

· - -

by misuse or disuse. When a saint receives the anointing, it is considered necessary that he act in the appropriate sign or gift lest the anointing not be given again. A sister in the church who handled serpents in the past lamented that (fieldnotes, October 23, 1972):

She became scared when people got serpent-bit and she did not act on the anointing to take up serpents and consequently lost it. She would like it back, as it is the best feeling in the world to have the anointing. . .

Ideally, if the above conditions obtain, it is considered that saints (brothers and sisters) can expect to acquire the anointing to work in particular signs. Similarly, depending upon interpretation, children as young as six or seven years have received the anointing to take up serpents, or have manifested power affected behaviors such as shouting, speaking in tongues, jerking, etc.. Figure II summarizes the ideal features necessary for the acquisition of power to facilitate various performances. In interpreting the relationships of these features it is evident that this is a highly bounded set of necessary conditions. At an abstract or ideal level, at least, this domain is relatively unambiguous and clear cut. If the requisite features are present the saint should have a high expectation that God will provide power to perform certain tasks such as taking up serpents, preaching, speaking in tongues, or, for general use in everyday life. Indeed, saints' expectations often are borne out and power is utilized in a variety of ways without apparent

FIGURE II

•

IDEAL PEATURES FOR THE ACQUISITION OF ANOINTING POWER

٠

.

Place of Power		•
	Pennle	•
ð,	Male	+
Àge	Adult Child Male Penale	-/+
	Adult	+
Effective Action		۰ +
Prayer Pasting		+
Holy Living		+
Beptism Rebirth		+
Paith Repent		+
ALC:		+

189

-

difficulty. This is important in the creation of a distinctive group identity as well as the individual identities of various saints who "successfully" employ super natural power. In numerous other cases, however, the workclus of power prove problematic: the sick are not h#dled, demons are not put to route, and preaching lacks Divine inspiration All such negations of ideal claims must be ¢onsidered in look ing at the creation of a sense of community and distinctive identity as saints. Saints' management of identity under a variety of circumstances then becomes a crucial issue. Before returning to the problem of social management of supernatural power, saints' uses of power will be considered.

## THE USE OF POWER

In looking at saints' uses of power, two topics will be examined: (1) working in the signs; and, (2) power and everyday life. These topics will be developed through selected examples and cases.

Working In The Signs--To outsiders, one of the most spectacular and dramatic features of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name is working in the signs. For saints, anointing to work in the signs constitutes one of the most important administrations of power. Mark 16:15-18 of the King James Bible provides the basis of working in the signs:

And he said unto them, Go ye into all the world, and preach the gospel to every creature. He that believeth and is baptized shall be saved; but he

190-

that believeth not shall be damned. And these signs shall follow them that believe; In my name shall they cast out devils; they shall speak with new tongues; they shall take up perpents; and it they drink any deadly thing, it shall not hurt them; they shall lay hands on the sick, and they shall recover.

Serpent-handlers generally agree that "the five signs follow" true believers as irrefutable demonstrations to sinners i the "reality" of God's power as manifested through His moderday saints. Only a church "with signs following", they reason, can convincingly, validate its claims to holineas and Apostolic descendancy. However, it is not expected that all members will work in the signs or that signs are an essential part of every church service. Indeed, members are quick to point out that the signs have been overemphasized by the media and even by some of the faithful. The point that members make is that in the total ministry of the church the signs are but one of many means of bringing souls to God. The five signs will now be looked at with respect to their basic conceptual and performance features.

(1) "They Shall Take Up Serpents"--Of the five signs, taking up serpents has received a disproportionate amount of attention both in the scientific literature and in the popular press. Specifically, (as mentioned throughout this study) serpent-handling occupies but a small part of most church services and does not occur at all in many others. Furthermore, in most serpent-handling congregations, only a

•

. • · ·

handful of the members actually engage in the practice. This is not to suggest that serpent-handling is not an important feature of the religion, only that it must be viewed as part of a larger belief and activity system.

Serpent-handling is probably the most effective means of attracting sinners to the church. As many people are afraid of poisonous snakes (rattlesnakes and copperheads, it can be quite spectacular, dramatic, and frightening to see them handled. This is heightened by preachers' admonitions that "you really need the anointing before going into the serpent box, because death is in that box" (fieldnotes, November 11, 1972).

As seen by those who take up serpents, once the sinner comes to church to watch serpent-handling, he then has the opportunity to hear the Word of God and to learn what is necessary for salvation. This seems to be an effective strategy as many saints remember being converted in this way.

Serpent-handling depends on the availability of serpents. This happens a number of ways. Serpent-handling churches ordinarily do not own the snakes that are used during religious services; individual members own and bring their own serpents to church. Or, visiting preachers often bring serpents with them to church. Occasionally, sinners bring a freshly caught rattlesnake or copperhead to religious services to see whether or not the saints will handle a snake that has not been kept in captivity. Availability does not insure

192

. •

that they will be handled. If no one receives the proper anointing serpents will not be handled unless "God tells" a saint to handle serpents "on faith" or under some other administration of power.

As serpent-handling is conceived of as a sign to believers, there should be no need for serpents to be taken up when sinners are not present. Many saints would concur with this view. Although for others, serpent-handling appears to serve as an affirmation of belief and as a pleasurable rite of group solidarity. This negotiable feature of group etiquette can generate considerable conflict in the church. Some individuals assert that when they receive the anointing to take up serpents they will follow the spirit regardless of who is present. It is difficult to effectively challenge individuals who rely on spirit possession to justify their behavior.

Conversely, that serpents are sometimes not handled when both serpents and sinners are present, may also be interpreted as a demonstration to non believers. Brother Alfred reported, for example, that (tape transcription, August 20, 1972):

> Amen, somebody asked me the other day, said, I, I thought you people just worshipped them snakes. Amen, now they really believed that; that was what they really believed. They wasn't just talkin', they really thought that. Amen, they thought we come out here and set these boxes up front and just worshipped them. Amen, but we had them in church here last night, amen: I think they seen the difference when they didn't even get took up, amen, in the whole service. I think they learned a little different. All right. . .

Serpent-handling performances vary considerably with respect to when they occur during a service, duration, what is done with the serpents, etc.. It is difficult to describe the average or typical episode of serpent-handling. However, a number of generalizations can be made. Usually, during larger weekend services when visitors (sinners) are present, a certain amount of advance notice is given to the fact that serpents might be handled. One becomes quite aware of this when serpent-boxes are carried to the front of the church and placed under or on the mourners bench. Brothers congregate around the serpent-boxes and peer into them, informally discussing particular snakes. The leader of a service emphasizes that serpents are present and will be taken up if someone receives the anointing. The following excerpt from a church service is illustrative (Brother Alfred, tape-recorded August 20, 1972):

> So we want you folks, all of you that sing come right on and sing your song and obey God and, like we said before, we got, looks like maybe eight, about eight serpents here. I think four rattlers and four copperheads, maybe. If you want one just come on and get it. Don't wait on somebody else to move, and you be sure you're anointed when you go in the box. Be sure you're anointed and then keep your anointing to yourself. Don't be, amen, trying to put it on somebody else because I don't believe you'll do that. But, amen, I've learned in my, in services where I've got anything to do with, or not my services, but I like to , amen, counsel the people on this because they's been so many things said about this part of the Word that are not so and told about how we carry this out, that's not so. . .

Brother Alfred not only establishes that serpents are present

and might be handled, but also provides minimal ground rules for their handling. Namely, serpents are: (1) only to be handled when the anointing is present; and, (2) not to be handled to people who do not seek them or who do not have the anointing. In emphasizing these basic rules of procedure saints usually admonish that ". . . everything here is done with decency and in order". Brother Alfred also instructed saints not to wait on somebody else to move. This is to encourage saints to overcome hesitancy or reluctance to act when they feel the anointing to take up serpents.

The following description from my fieldnotes provides an idea of what takes place during actual serpent-handling performances (November 5, 1972):

> Tonight, the duration and intensity of serpent-handling was as great as I have seen it since Jimmy Williams initiated the first round of serpent-handling. Al Ball took the rattlesnake from Jimmy. He handled it at least twice as it was passed back and forth (mostly between he and Jimmy). The first round of serpent-handling was brief, lasting only a number of minutes.

During the second round, Jimmy Williams, Al Ball, Eunice Ball, Bea Eslinger, Liston Pack, Bill Forrester, Johnny'Greer, and Lester Ball handled serpents. The serpent was passed primarily between Jimmy and Alfred (who was playing the guitar). Jimmy Williams preached a bit as he strutted with the serpent in his hand. He said, 'They shall take up serpents'. He looked toward the congregation and held the serpent up into the air. He spoke in tongues and jumped about on the platform. . . Sister Bea did not hold the serpent very long. Her hands seemed to be trembling: Jimmy took the serpent from her after a very short time. Al Ball allowed the serpent to stretch out on his arm and he put it near his face.

During the serpent-handling, Brother Walter stood in front of the performers with his arms outstretched and his hands held up, as if to share his power with them or as a way of being a part of the performance. Also, during the serpent-handling Sister Lola started crying. During this round of serpent-handling a prolonged (repeated) version of 'When the Saints Go Marching In' was sung. Songs were merged quickly, one into the other so as to keep continuous music and singing going. During this round of serpenthandling, the congregation tended to be in the aisle. There was considerable hand-clapping, spontaneous glossolalia, dancing in the spirit, shouting, jumping up and down, screaming, etc. An elderly, white-haired sister was dancing about as were numerous other The feeling of group participation seemed people. tobe high, as if each individual's enthusiasm and participation was important to the success of those handling the serpents.

After the serpent-handling, Brother Liston placed the serpent box on the pulpit with the screen facing the congregation. Liston peered in at the snake. After a short while, Brother Ed removed the box and placed it under the bench in the amen corner.

As noted in the above account, serpent-handling can take place more than once during a church service. Usually, between the various episodes of serpent-handling, which can last from one minute to an hour or more, singing, preaching, praying for the sick, testifying, etc., takes place.

Saints profess to follow the Word quite literally and emphasize that "serpents" (not snakes) are "taken up" (not handled). Serpents are occasionally placed on the pulpit and allowed to crawl over the open Bible. Anointed saints take them up from the pulpit, thereby following the literal wording of the Scripture.

Within these basic guidelines, there are a variety of ways to handle serpents. Some saints hold the snake for only a minute or so before passing it on to someone else. Others keep the snakes for much longer, allowing them to crawl through their hands, up their arms, or around their necks. Some handlers drape the serpents over their heads or drag the snake across their faces. Other handlers swing or whirl the snakes through the air.² Serpent-handlers sometimes take up a mass of entwined serpents. In the past, across their faces on the floor and "treaded" on them (consistent with Luke 10:19: Behold, I give unto you power to tread on serpents and scorpions").³

Serpent-handling comes to a halt when all the anointed people have finished with the snakes and placed them back in the boxes. As serpents are privately owned, some care is taken to insure that they are placed in the proper boxes.⁴ Then the boxes are customarily placed behind the pulpit, in the amen corner, or under a bench on the platform. This is done to encourage those who want to pray or be prayed for, but who might be reticent in the proximity of a serpent box:

²This is not a common practice at The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, as the mortality rate for snakes is quite high when handled in this manner. Saints at the church take pride in the fact that they do not lose many serpents as a result of broken necks due to careless handling.

³On rare occasion in the past, locally caught scorpions were also treaded on.

⁴I have heard of saints who paint part of their serpent so as to identify it. Other saints maintain that the anointing will insure that the serpents are returned to the appropriate boxes. This usually proves problematic only at large, special services when saints from a number of states have gathered and a dosen or more serpents are handled simultaneously.

Before altar call time, Jimmy moved the serpent box to the back of the amen corener. He made an announcement that people need not hesitate to pray because of the serpent box, as it has been moved and there is no danger. . . (fieldnotes, July 6, 1972).

Often, moving of the serpent box signals the end of serpenthandling for the remainder of the service, as few people initiate serpent-handling once the boxes have been removed and padlocked.

Although serpent-handling often takes place as described above in a context of spirited singing, hand clapping, dancing in the spirit, etc., it can also take place under very different circumstances. Serpents are handled without music when people are calmly sitting in their seats, or even during preaching. The following case from my fieldnotes is illustrative (July 21, 1973):

During Al's preaching he talked about the anointing to take up serpents. While he was speaking, he reached into the serpent box and took up a large Western Diamondback. After the services, he explained that the Lord had a purpose for doing this-to show people that snake-handlers don't have to be in a frenzy or a trance or something to take up serpents.

Serpents are sometimes taken up after the formal church service has ended. For example (fieldnotes, November

16, 1972):

Just after the service ended, I went up front to talk to Brother Johnny. I hooked into Jimmy's serpent box at the 'singing' snakes (shaking rattles) and commented to him that they sure were lively ones. I asked him what caused them to rattle and he said that he thought it was because they were nervous. He then placed the box on the pulpit and opened the lid. The two large rattlesnakes crawled out and he took them up while saying in tongues, 'Iliamamamama'. . . The snakes held themselves straight out and tried crawling away from him. As Jimmy handled the serpents, Liston stood up on the bench and the people (Johnny and others) who were leaving the church, stopped and faced Jimmy (as if they were all in silent prayer for Jimmy then tried placing the serpents back into the box, but the snakes resisted and tried him.) crawling back out. During this whole time, Liston was praying aloud and saying things like, 'stay 'stay down Satan, oh, Satan, get in there. . . serpents were placed in the box and we all left the church house. Jimmy's young son carried the serpent box to their car. . .

Although I inadvertantly seemed to initiate this performance, serpent-handling as described above, is not a rare occurrence.

Serpent-handling is not restricted to church services. In fact, much of the serpent-handling done by members of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name takes place in saints' homes, along roadsides, in the woods, at sinners homes, etc.. Three such situations can be identified: (A) when snakes are provided by sinners; (B) during serpent exchange; and, (C) by saints for personal purposes.

A. <u>Snakes Provided By Sinners</u>--As stated before, serpent-handling is important to the church's mission of bringing souls to salvation, in part by attracting sinners to the church. This is not restricted to formal occasions. Sinners sometimes bring snakes to saints' homes to see them handled. Such impromptu performances can be quite convincing to the sinner as the possibility of "doctored" snakes being used is eliminated. Also, this type of social interaction

•

199

e

between sinner and saint provides the saint with additional expressive contexts in which to validate his status as saint:

> Buford spent considerable time testifying about a serpent he had handled last evening. Just as he was going to bed, three sinner boys knocked on his door. . They had a rattlesnake for him. Buford became scared as he did not have the anointing. The snake was in the trunk of their car, in a snare. Buford grabbed it behind the neck and turned it loose. He started to feel something and went after it and took it up. He felt the anointing. The next day, the same guys showed up with two copperheads that had never been handled (except with the snare). . .

Brother Liston testified (tape transcription of church service, August 20, 1972) regarding serpent-handling outside of church:

> There's some people brought me an old big rattler, amen. . . There was nine people present. Lots of them, amen, was in the church here today saw hit and they. . . H'aint nobody didn't handle hit because hit was meaner than the rest of 'em. Amen, now listen, under the anointing power of God, amen, there ain't no mean ones, amen. . . All, everything comes subject to the anointing of God. Amen, had a big old gallon milk jug with a great old big mouth on it, and had it (snake) down in there. . . 'Now let's see you handle this' and I told them, I says, boys, I couldn't handle that at 'all, unless the anointing of God was on me. Amen, when I began to meditate to the Father, thank God, amen, I just, and the Devil told me, now the devil can talk to you a little bit. He said, 'when you get it up, how you gonna put it back in?' E sha ma ma ma ma hi. . . Thank God, amen, it don't matter after God told me to get it up how I'll get him back in. . . The Devil said, 'now what are you going to do?' There come a man with a big old paste board box, and I just dropped him after God gave victory and then I handled him like a rope. Good anointing of God. God, that wasn't me, Brother Ben, that was the anointing of God. I asked the boys, I said, boys, you sure you never pulled his teeth or done anything to him? They said 'we know and are fully convinced there's nothing done to him', amen. Amen, in the

bars and half of Newport done heard about that. Amen, now that wasn't me, that was the anointing of God. . .

x

The above examples show how serpent-handling is used as a convincing demonstration of God's power outside of formal services. In Liston's testimony, he emphasized how his "victory" over the serpent was talked about in the bars and all over Newport. He was careful to emphasize that personal power was not involved, but rather, the anointing of God.

An interesting outcome of serpent-handling at the homes of saints (where sinners supply the serpents) is that new, "wild" serpents become available for use in the church. This is an important consideration as many saints prefer to handle newly acquired serpents.

B. <u>Serpent Exchange--When saints of The Holiness</u> Church Of God In Jesus Name visit other serpent-handling churches, they often carry serpents with them to exchange for a larger or a different variety of snake. As already suggested, a positive value is placed on serpents that have not been taken up previously, or have not been taken up at a particular church. Members of the Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name like to acquire the large Black Rattlesnakes that are more abundant in the Kentucky Mountains or, the Western Diamondback Rattlesnakes that are available through snake shows, or through congregations in Alabama or Georgia. Through serpent-exchanges, many of the snakes originally provided by sinners find their way into an intricate exchange network

that potentially ranges from northern Florida to Detroit.

(See Birckhead 1975 for a further discussion of serpent exchange.) The following description of an exchange is illustrative (fieldnotes, November 26, 1972, Middlesboro, Ky. and Harrogate, Tenn.):

> Ben Laws, his mother, his wife, and a couple of kids were just leaving the church house in Niddlesboro when we arrived (Liston, Jimmy, and I) . . . Jimmy asked Ben if he had the serpents that he had promised him. Ben said, come up to the church house. . . Ben showed Jimmy the serpents and asked him how many that he wanted. Jimmy explained that we had just been up to London at a service and that he had given a rattlesnake to a brother from Blackmont, Ky. Jimmy said that he wanted two serpents. Ben said, 'pick y ou out one'. He asked Jimmy if he wanted the one back that Jimmy had given him awhile back. Jimmy said, 'no' (like of course not). He wanted the one that he had never handled before and that had been handled by only a couple of saints. Jimmy then directed me to go to his car and get the cedar serpent box. . . A women sitting in Ben's truck (his sister-in-law) asked me if they were going to handle snakes up there. I said no, they were just swapping serpents. She seemed excited and walked up the hill with me to the church house. When we entered the front door we saw a serpent crawling on the floor and Brother Ben had another one in his The woman who accompanied me took the hands. serpent up from the floor. Ben handed the serpent to Jimmy. Jimmy handled it and gave it back to Ben. Ben offered it to me by making a gesture of reaching it out. I did not reach for it so he handed it to After a few minutes of passing the serpents Liston. around, Jimmy put his newly acquired rattlesnake into the cedar serpent box. . . A couple of minutes later, the other serpent was placed into Ben's serpent box. . .

After leaving the church, we drove to Ben's home near Harrogate, Tennessee to pick up a large, Black Rattlesnake. Once there, another round of serpent-handling ensued, and Brother Jimmy acquired an additional snake. In the above case, Jimmy did not exchange serpents with Ben in a literal sense. Jimmy had given a rattlesnake to a preacher in London, Kentucky earlier in the day. As described in my fieldnotes (November 26, 1972):

> After church (London), the old pastor from Blackmont asked Jimmy for one of his rattlesnakes. Jimmy gave it to him and said that you should always give a brother a serpent when he asks for it. . .

On the whole, sempent-exchange is quite informal and is not based on a strict, balanced reciprocity. Rather, through this exchange, generalized patterns of interaction and reciprocity are set up between churches and between serpentowning brothers within a church. In the first case cited above, for example, Jimmy had supplied Ben with serpents in the past. Similarly, the next time that Jimmy would have visited at Blackmont, Kentucky, he could ask and be assured of receiving a snake from the pastor of that church.

With regard to rules of serpent-handling, the above case provides a dramatic example of when serpent-handling is not practiced as a sign, or demonstration for sinners, but rather as a ritual of exchange and solidarity among true believers. This type of serpent-handling occurs quite frequently and has, for the most part, been totally neglected in the literature.

C. By Saints For Personal Purposes--Finally saints engage in serpent-handling when collecting snakes in the woods or when transferring snakes from one box to another.

Serpent-handling sometimes takes place when a saint encounters a snake crossing the highway. This is how some in the church of first took up serpents:

> Junior testified about how he had wanted victory over the serpent and had never received it. But he prayed on the matter and the other day while he was driving down the road in his truck, a serpent crawled across the road. He stopped the truck and got the victory. (fieldnotes November 1, 1972)

From fieldnotes (July 28, 1971): "Jimmy and others handle the snakes outside of church when they feel the power. One brother was bitten yesterday while feeding a snake". Or, (August 11, 1973):

> Al was in the process of transferring a large rattle snake from the large snake drawer to the small box that he carries to church, when the snake got loose. Alfred did not have the anointing so he jumped on the dresser. He appeared very frightened. Brother Clyde did not seem to be afraid and he took up the unruly snake and tried putting it into the serpent box. The snake resisted and tried crawling onto the bed where I was sitting. . . Fortunately, Clyde succeeded in capturing the snake. . .

In none of the above cases were serpents taken of as a sign to unblievers. In the first example, the saint handled the snake in private. This might have served to confirm the Word for him personally, and to provide him with material for a testimony. In the other cases, the handling of serpents was primarily for pragmatic reasons.

Two considerations that have been glossed over or neglected in this discussion of serpent-handling, are the variables of sex and age. While ideal-ly serpent-handling is open to anyone with anointing, sex and age are limiting factors. Most serpent handling at The boliness hurble to ost In Jesus Name is done by ment. Serpents are handled by women in the church, but serpent handling is always initiated by brothers. The care and keeping of serpents is considered a male task. Serpent-boxes are carried to and from churb by men. Also, women are not involved in the collection. purchase, exchange, or ownership of serpents. Consequentees women have no part in the recounting of serpent lone requires to the acquisition, keeping, and exchange of serpents.

At The Holiness Church of God In lesis Name it is believed that a person will not be given the about in the task up serpents until he reaches such an age that he is spatial of understanding the demands of a "thristian life". Malesculthe church as young as fourteen or fifteen have handled the serpents on occasion. To date, I have not seen temales to the age handle the serpents. In a couple of cases in another church, a seven year old boy allegedly handled serpects. According to Brother Alfred, the seven year old was handled the serpents by his father. Most of the people at the other of do not believe that a child of that age should be all web to take up serpents. Brother Alfred reflects the spin not the majority of members concerning this (transcript, December 17, 1974):

RJB: Is there any particular age at which a particular sign?

Alfred: No it doesn't, a, age in years, doesn't have anything to do with the working of God. The only age

7 ....

requirement would be that a person be old enough to know right and wrong and to realize that there're a sinner and they need to repent and turn their heart to God and live for God, then there're old enough, if God sees fit to place a sing or gift in their life, then their old enough to operate it. Of course, we don't allow the children who are too young to understand or a person maybe, who would be mentally retarded or something of that sort. We watch after these people, don't allow them to get involved or to get where they could get hurt.

In a casual conversation with Brother Alfred, he stated that even if he felt that a child had the anoiting to take up serpents, he would not allow it to happen. Such an act, he reasoned, could have considerable legal and social repercussions if the child suffered injury or death from snakebite. This provides an excellent example of serpent-handlers' pragmatism in applying of the spirit to cargal realms, and affirms the rule that "everything be done with decency and in order".

D. "And if they drink any deadly thing, it shall not hurt them"--Unlike serpent-handling, poison drinking is practiced infrequently at The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name. In over twleve months at the church I witnessed only two episodes. In both cases, Jimmy Williams consumed carbontetrachloride.⁵ At some other serpent-handling congregations strychnine is more frequently consumed. This is not to suggest that poison is routinely consumed by whole congregations, but rather that a number of individuals in the church

20t

⁵As mentioned in a number of places in this study, Jimmy Williams and Buford Pack died from doses of strychnine (April 7, 1973). For a long time following their deaths, poison was not consumed at the Church. However, in the past year or so, saints have related to me that Brother Clude Ricker has consumed large amounts of strychnine.

consistently receive this anointing. Thus, saints report on this or that brother or sister who has consumed strychnine one hundred time or more--"Who drink strychnine by the gallon".

In many respects poison drinking is not as dramatic as serpent-handling. Part of this may be attributed to the fact that there is no potential danger for the onlooker. In the two cases of poison drinking that I observed, considerable advance testimony, preaching, and conversation preceeded the performances, taking more time than the act itself. Jimmy first consumed poison, for example, on the evening of Saturday, July 29, 1972. As early as July 6 of that year, he talked about "drinking deadly poison". The following excerpts from my field notes demonstrate this (July 6, 1972):

> Jimmy Williams spoke (during a church service) about drinking strychnine. He said that he felt that he had that anointing. He tried buying some, but it was in tablet form. The other drug store said that they would not sell it to him without a prescription. (We said that Brother Liston told him that he would get some strychnine for him tomorrow night and that he (Jimmy) would drink it. He might die, but he was sure that he was going to a better country. Williams then asked how many have seen the drinking of poison. No one raised their hands. He then mentioned that cyanide can also be used.

The next evening, July 7, 1972, Jimmy:

... testified briefly and said that he had hoped to find a vial of strychnine sitting on the pulpit. But, it was not there. He emphasized working in the various signs and emphasized his prowess at handling serpents...

Then on Saturday, July 8, 1972, Brother Liston told the congregation that:

He bought some strychnine and that it costs \$20.00 an ounce. If many of the brothers and sisters in the church took to drinking it, the church would not have money enough to keep them supplied. Liston said that he would not buy it for someone else as he wanted to pray, fast, and think about the anointing for awhile. . He is thinking the sign of drinking deadly things through very carefully as one must have good anointing to drink strychnine, as one drop on a straw can kill a man. (Liston seems to have checked into this quite carefully.)

Then at a tent revival in Brevard, North Carolina (Friday,

July 28, 1972):

Jimmy Williams was asked to sing, but said that he was not in the mood. He testified briefly. He said that a couple of days ago he went to the drugstore and bought some poison-deadly poison, just a little bit will kill you if you don't have the anointing. Even breathing the poison can be fatal. It says so right on the label. But, he forgot to bring it with him. Maybe there was a reason that he forgot it, as maybe he wasn't anointed to drink deadly poison that night. .

The following evening at The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, Jimmy consumed carbontetrachloride. As described in my fieldnotes (July 29, 1972):

> . . A glass of water and a bottle of carbontetrachloride were on the pulpit. At 8:10 p.m. after an extremely intense episode of serpent-handling (Jimmy handled two copperheads), Jimmy poured some poison into the glass of water and then drank about half of it.

After drinking the poison (and until the end of the service), Jimmy seemed to be perspiring excessively and appeared red in the face. . . A piece of tissue paper was placed over the top of the glass that contained the mixture of poison and water that Jimmy did not completely drink.

After the above incident, I have no further reference to poison drinking in my fieldnotes until Saturday, August 12, 1972. During this service, Liston made a passing reference to his

brother, Buford, who had consumed battery acid in North Carolina:

> . ...with the anointing a man can do almost anything. Brother Buford drank a quart of battery acid that some nonbelievers brought to Brevard last week. It did not hurt him at all. If he didn't have the anointing, it would have eaten away his tongue and all of his insides. . .

On Saturday, August 19, 1972, Buford testified about the anointing that he had received for drinking the battery acid. He emphasized that he was not bragging, just giving credit to the Lord.

Jimmy Williams also consumed poison on Saturday, November 18, 1972. This time some advance publicity preceeded the event. On Wednesday, November 15, 1972 Jimmy announced that: ". . he would bring his serpents to church and he would also have some deadly poison . . . so that if anyone got the anointing, they could obey the Lord" (fieldnotes).

On Saturday, November 18, 1972, Professor Thomas Burton (English/Folklore, East Tennessee State University) and a film crew attended the church to make a documentary film on the church ("They Shall Take Up Serpents"). The bottle of carbontetrachloride and a glass of water were displayed conspicuously on the pulpit. As before, Jimmy took up serpents and then poured the poison into the glass of water and drank it. While he was doing this, Brother Billy Jay Forrester was bitten by a rattlesnake. Jimmy's performance was eclipsed by Billy Jay's serpent-bite and by the confusion caused by the ÷

presence of the film crew.⁶

In some respects the drinking of poisons is a source of controversy in the church. Some saints argue that the Biblical passage, Mark 16:18--"and if they drink any deadly thing, it shall not hurt them"--applies only to cases in which "God's children" are given poisons by an enemy (unknowingly). Those with this belief emphasize the conditional nature of the passage. This contrasts with "they shall" (take up serpents). Brother Everett Fraley states that (in Pelton and Carden 1974:107):

> It says 'if'. 'Shall' and 'if' are a lot different, I think. It says you shall take up serpents and you shall lay hands on the sick. It says if you drink any deadly thing. . . I don't think it's a command when it says 'if'. I believe if you happen to drink something accidently that's poison, it wouldn' hurt you. I believe the Lord would let you survive it. But I don't think you should go out and get a bottle of strychnine and turn it up and drink it. The Bible don't say you shall.

Members emphasize that a strong anointing is necessary.

Brother Robert Fraley states (Ibid.):

I believe to drink strychnine at a church service you have to be anointed to drink it, with a lot stronger anointing than usual. . . I saw one man drink it who said he knew that he was doing, but he couldn't have stopped himself if he'd wanted to. He didn't feel any ill effects from it. Nothing.

⁶After the service I was at the front of the church talking to saints when Brother Rubel pointed out to me and the others standing there, that the poison (fieldnotes)

". ..had eaten a hole in the plastic glass. I examined the glass with the hole in it. .. Brother Ralph started to smell the poison that was left in the bottle but Sister Loal told him that he better not as it warned against it on the label. ..." E. "They Shall speak with new tongues"--Glossalalia

per se is not the focus of this section as considerable research has been carried out on this phenomenon (see, Abel 1974; Goodman 1969, 1971, 1972; Hine 1969; Jacquith 1967; May 1956; Samarin 1968, 1969, 1972; Ranaghan 1972; and, many others). Rather, I am concerned with how members utilize and manage glossolalia in various settings.

I take glossolalia to be (Samarin 1972):  $(\sim)$ 

A vocal act believed by the speaker to be language and showing rudimentary language-like structure but no consistent word-meaning correspondences recognizable by either speaker or hearers; (in Christianity, speech attributed to the Holy Spirit in languages unknown to the speaker and incomprehensible without divinely inspired interpretation. . .)

Glossolalia can be distinguished from "Xenoglossia" (Samarin 1968:52) which literally, "foreign tongue" (Goodman 1972:149). Many Pentecostals, including serpent-handlers, report on cases in which a member of a congregation was speaking in tongues and a foreign visitor recognized the utterance as being Greek, Yoruba, Japanese, etc.; but substantiated occurrences are relatively rare. At The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, one member claims to speak tongues in Korean. He spent time in Korea during the Korean War and his tongue speaking is distinguishable from other members of the church. How much credence members give to his claims is questionable.

Glossolalia can be distinguished from natural language because it has no true semantic structure. Glossolalic utterances do not correspond to replicable units of meaning.
This is not to suggest, as do some uninformed critics of Pentecostalism, that glossolalia is meaningless gibberish. Glossolalic utterances do possess a phonological structure. Samarin (op. cit., p. 60) states further that: "The principal linguistic feature which distinguishes them (glossolalic utterances) from gibberish is the remarkable number of phonological units at various levels". Or: "In other words, glossic syllables are not simply spewed out in a haphazard sort of way; there is in each glossa a kind of microsegmental syntax similar to that of natural languages".

The performance of glossolalia in a religious community, may be viewed as a total speech event in which meaning derives from the totality rather than from discrete parts of the utterance. The meaning of particular utterances is usually at a symbolic rather than a literal level and must be analyzed as situated in particular types of social settings in which background knowledge is partially or totally shared by members. Although glossolalic utterances may not have semantic meaning, they do convey various social meanings. It is in these social meanings and their management that this discussion addresses itself.

In the church, speaking in tongues can take place during any part of the service and in virtually any context outside of the formal service. Many utterances are short and repetitious or what Abel (1974:297) labels "stylized tongues". During an emotional part of the service two brothers might

shake hands and hug one another and produce a short utterance such as "iliamamamama, illiamamamamama, illiamahisign. . ." This particular sound pattern is heard frequently in the church.

Saints frequently disagree over the meaning and significance of speaking in tongues in the religious community. The problem arises in part because speaking in tongues (like most aspects of the religion) is sanctioned in the Scripture in more than one place and represents different "administrations of power". Consequently, it is governed by slightly different rules of applicability depending on the particular administration that is operative.

With respect to members' assignment of meaning to particular utterances, four distinctions can be made. Depending on the situation, saints seek to know if a glossolalic utterance is in fact the "unknown tongue", "new tongues", "other tongues", or "divers kinds of tongues". These distinctions are established in various passages of Scripture and are considered by saints to represent different modalities of speaking in tongues. Thus, for example, in Mark 16:17, it states: ". . . they shall speak with <u>new tongues</u>". However, on the day of Pentecost, Acts 2:4 reported that the Apostles: ". . . began to speak with other tongues" (some saints call this "<u>other language tongues</u>." I Corinthians 12:10 states that: ". . . to another <u>divers kinds of tongues</u>; to another <u>the interpretation of tongues</u>". In I Corinthians 14:1-5, a

tra -

number of references are made to "an unknown tongue".

The **Collowing passages** in I Corinthians 14:1-5 places additional qualifications of speaking in tongues:

> Follow after charity, and desire spiritual gifts, but rather that ye may prophesy. For he that speaketh in an unknown tongue speaketh not unto men, but unto God: for no men understandeth him; howbeit in the spirit he speaketh mysteries. But he that prophesieth speaketh unto men to edification, and exhortation, and comfort; but he that prophesieth edifieth the church. I would that ye all spake with tongues, but rather that ye prophesied; for greater is he that prophesieth than he that speaketh with tongues, except he interpret, that the church may receive edifying.

Members cite this text to insure that speaking in tongues is not overemphasized, as the passage clearly states that prophecy is a higher function. The passage also instructs members that the interpretation of tongues is important. In effect, this passage promotes the social functions of speaking in tongues over the individualistic and purely experiential dimension of glossolalia.

At The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, however, a number of Biblical ideals are routinely ignored. Unlike some serpent-handling congregations, prophecy is not emphasized,⁷ nor is the interpretation of tongues. Many tongue speakers at the church seldom preach or testify, ostensibly violating the premise that (I Corinthians 14:19):

> I thank my God, I speak with tongues more than ye all: Yet in the church I had rather speak five words with

•

•

Some more established "Trinitarian" congregations, for example, have a role category of "prophetess. (Elifson/Tripp personal conversation, April 2, 1976).

understanding, that by my voice I might teach others also, that ten thousand words in an unknown tongue. . .

In addition, saints consistently ignore the injunction that (I Corinthains 14:27): "If any man speak in an unknown tongue, let it be by two, or at the most by three, and then by course; and let one interpret. . ."

Brother Alfred, for one, is extremely critical of the way that glossolalia is used in the church (transcription of interview, December 1974):

. . . I guess I disagree with the church, most of the churches on this particular thing (tongues). The Bible does teach that if they speak in tongues, if a man speaks in the unknown tongue let him interpret and if there be no interpretor let him keep silent in the church. In the church unless a person is praying, or rejoicing, or praising God, whichever word you care to use, they shouldn't speak in tongues unless there is an interpretor, unless they interpret it. . . Just standing before a congregation of people and speaking in a tongue, whether it be other tongues or unknown tongue, there's no edification in it. Nobody is edifyed, other than the person doing it.

In the interview, I then mentioned to Alfred that "some people speak in tongues at almost every service. . . " He replied that:

> . . . I'm awfully afraid that about a good 70 or 80% of the tongues that's spoken in the churches is not inspired of the spirit of God. It's just simply either someone who is within their own flesh, within themselves, speaking just for their own edification, because they can or someone maybe who is possessed of a devil spirit. And then of course, there are the real tongues and they are right and it does happen in the church, and because people fake and because there's a lot of fake in it, does not take away from the fact that there is the real thing. You can't really put a label on it because you could run into a situation of maybe saying someone who was really in the spirit of

God, wasn't. 'Course, I can tell; but, then on the other hand there are a lot of other people who don't, are apparently unable to make the distinction between the two and, then it could be that its the real Holy Ghost talking and somebody else has had the interpretation, just failed to give it. This is a possibility and I believe, I truly believe that that happens many a time when someone had the interpretation, should have given it and didn't, and the person who was speaking was actually speaking in the spirit of God.

٩

A central dilemma in managing power effected behaviors is distinguishing the "real" from the "fake"--i.e., the appropriate from the inappropriate. This is a sensitive issue as the danger exists that in labelling behavior one ". . . could run into a situation of maybe saying someone who was really in the spirit of God, wasn't". Tonges, like all other expressions of supernatural power in saints' lives presents complex problems of negotiating meaning in ongoing situations. In distinguishing the appropriate from the inappropriate saints rely on the commonly shared rule that: "God's spirit will always follow His Word". Members have little difficulty in accepting this basic premise of the religion. The application of the rule to particular situations can be problematic, resulting in part from the wide range of interpretations regarding the meaning of the Word. The question can be raised: whose version of the meaning of the Biblical Word does God's spirit follow? This is no easy matter to arbitrate in a group where all members are legitimate interpretors of the Word, as well as legitimate recipients of supernatural power.

F. "In my name shall they cast out devils" -- Casting out demons is related to healing the sick, as illness is seen often as resulting from demon possession. Saints reason that if the demon is expelled healing will take place. For the most part, this is a simple and straightforward operation. The afflicted person approaches the front of the church and is prayed for by the brothers and sisters (in some cases) who "lay hands" on his/her head. While doing this, saints pray intensely and emotionally, often shouting out at the alleged demon saying things such as: "in the name of Jesus begone". Although saints report on cases where the possessed person assumed other personalities, fought the exorcists, projected strange voices, or exuded blood from their mouths, this is relatively rare and casting out demons is usually not this dramatic. Specifically, most exorcism occurs in the course of "Divine healing" of the sick. The sign of casting out demons lends emphasis to the point that, although all five signs are practiced in the church, some are deemed more useful or desirable than are others. This varies from congregation to congregation as well as within congregations from one time period to another. For a number of weeks in the spring of 1972, members at The Heliness Church Of God In Jesus Name devoted considerable time during church services to casting out demons. This emphasis was abandoned after the unsuccessful attempts to cast demonds from a mentally retarded girl.

G. "They shall lay hands on the sick, and they shall recover"--Divine healing" (sometimes called faith healing) is governed by at least five separate administrations of power. The "sign" of healing as specified in Mark 16:18 is one of the five. Healing under this administration can be effected by any brother or sister who has the requisite anointing. Healing is also handled by the "elders" of the church (James 5:14). This category is more specialized than the preceeding one as only "elders" are eligible. As "elders" are by definition males, this administration is both sex and role specific. Most of the attempts at healing in the church are conducted under the above administrations.

There are still other conditions. Healing may take place through the power of faith (Mark 9:23)--"Jesus said unto him, if thou canst believe, all things are possible to him that believeth". This type of faith is not to be confused with the "gift of faith". Faith as an act or state of being is subject to a variety of qualifications and is not unwavering. The "gift of faith" (I Corinthians 12:29) is only given in rare cases to especially holy people and (in its perfection) is viewed by saints as an unwavering, perfect manifestation of the power of God. Healing, or virtually any other act, can be effected through the gift of faith. Healing also can be effected through the "gift of healing" (I Corinthians 12:9). Unlike the "gift of faith", the power in this gift is epecified solely for healing. Like the "gift of faith", the

"gift of healing" is considered by saints to be a most pertect manifestation and is provided to few people. This is espeially true at a young church such as The Holiness Church f God In Jesus Name. Most members can think of perhaps only one og two people that they have known who possessed the perfect gifts of faith and healing.⁸

As discussed briefly at the beginning of this hapter the various administrations allow latitude and flexibility of interpretation in accounting for apparent lapses if dewer Most of the administrations contain inherent provises which delimit times and circumstances of their applicability. Faith, for example, can weaken or waiver. Anointing is defined as being variable and can be affected by distrations divisive spirits, etc.. Or, the "elders" of the church must not be of "one accord", thereby weakening healing power Similarly, the "gifts" may be imperfect, misunderstood, in misapplied.

Members commonly seek healing during church services fficiating preachers mention throughout the service that the "... sick and afflicted" should come up to the front it the church to be prayed for and/or anointed with oil. Se called "prayer lines" may be called a number of times during a service

21.9

⁸Considerable confusion exists in this area as neophytes sometimes are overly enthusiastic about their initial successes and tend to assume that they possess these special gifts. Unsuccessful healings and injury from serpent-bite usually persuades such individuals and the group as a whole that they were working in some less reliable administration, or without power.

This consists of asking sick people to come forward to be prayed for. Sometimes as many as five to twelve saints pray over a sick person. These sessions last only a few minutes. Prayed for saints often shake, shout, scream, speak in tongues, fall onto the floor, etc.. People request prayer for both major and minor illnesses. One saint may complain of heart trouble while another may ask members to pray over a sore foot or thumb. Other saints seek prayer for weariness, nervousness, or the pains and disappointments of life. Afflicted parts of the body are anointed with the (olive) oil. In The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, only individuals of the same sex apply the oil. (At some so called free love serpent-handling congregations this prohibition is not adhered to.)

Mealing is not restricted to prayer lines. The following excerpt from Brother Alfred emphasizes this and depicts some of the important features of healing that saints mention in their preaching and testimonies (tape transcription, Algust 20, 1972, church service):

> God's not dead, He's still alive! Glory to God! I believe today that He is still alive, Brother Rubel. Allelujah! He's not dead, amen. If you're sick hertoday, I want you to do just what these other two sisters done, amen. In any of my services or any of the services where I'm preaching or something, I don't want you to wait for a prayer line to be called. If you're sick, the minute that you feel that you can come up here, amen, and reach out to God and get what you want, that's the time to come.

Don't wait for a prayer line, amen, don't wait for a call to prayer for the sick, amen, because the minister

is your servant, amen, thank God. . . So when you get sick, amen and you need to get hold of God for something, amen, then you start working on your faith, amen, and building it up, glory to God, where you can reach out to God, amen. . .

Now, I'll tell you right now, if you come to the house of God when you sick, amen, and you come in there, you don't have to go to no one except to God's house to get your healing. And if you come in there and you pray and pray and you can't get hold of your healin' just go back home and start saying, God, what is it, what have I got between me and you that's separating me from you, amen, because God will do His work and if they's anything hindering it, it has to be you. ...

Brother Alfred emphasized that the onus is on the individual if healing fails, thus establishing the primary of faith in healing. Alfred also noted that some sickness should be viewed as being a "chastisement from God". Given this view, healing that fails may be explained by saying that perhaps God was notypet ready to "lift the chastisement"):

> . . . God sometimes uses sickness to chastise His people, to make them pray, and to bring them in line with the Word of God. And, in the event a person was afflicted under the chastisement of God, then, prayer won't heal 'em until the period of chastisement is past, until God is through chastising. Then, you can't heal a person even by praying the prayer of faith and actually the perfect gift of faith, or the perfect sign, a, would tell you right away, don't pray for this person, they're a, they're a chastised or something along that line. . . In other words if a person; God is dealing with a person and chastises them, then my praying for them wouldn't be effective because I would be trying, a, praying against the will of God . . .(Ibid.)

Not all healing is attempted as described above. Some people who desire healing, simply indicate this during prayer requests. Sick people who are not present during a service are also mentioned during prayer requests and are included in the prayers of church members. The sick who live some distance from the church, or who are hospitalized often request that "prayer cloths" be sent to them. These are small cotton cloths that are anointed with oil and prayed over by saints, (often in a very emotional fashion). Saints believe that power is transferred into the cloths, and that this power can facilitate healing. Saints also pray for one another over the telephone, or gather at a sick member's home or hospital room.

Praying for sick members is particularly crucial when someone has suffered from serpent-bite. Injured saints can become frightened and seek out medical aid. Community support through prayer has helped many saints overcome this fear. Often when saints are injured and need prayer, members from churches of 300 to 500 miles away might travel to the church to pray for and provide support for the victim.⁹

Healing often becomes a controversial issue for saints. Ideally siants hold that faith can heal every illness, but as stated by Brother Rubel: "Times are hard and faith is sometimes weak". Not all saints totally rely on Divine healing. In many cases physicians are called in for accidents and serious illness. How much, if any, reliance should be placed on

222

N

⁹I know of a case where a saint from Georgia was bitten at a service in Kentucky and members of his home church chartered a twin engine place to fly him bake to Georgia where members of the church could pray for him in unison. (Elifson/ Tripp, personal conversation, April 2, 1976).

physicians? This question is difficult for members to resolve. And, like other issues in the church, it is negotiated during ongoing interaction.

Working in the signs--A Summary--To this point in the discussion members' ritualized use of power has been examined. This aspect of serpent-handlers' behavior is relatively well known in the scientific and popular literature. I have attempted to deal with "working in the five signs" in a systematic fashion, as phenomena (interesting in themselves) which are important to the creation and maintenance of the community.¹⁰

¹⁰ Not mentioned in this discussion is fire handling. Although fire handling is not one of the five signs, it is used in a similar fashion--i.e,, as a demonstration of Gods' power to sinners. This practice is derived primarily from Daniel 3:25 (which refers to the Old Testament prophets who were placed into a fiery furnace and escaped harm). I have witnessed only one incident of fire handling at the church (in December 1974). The practice of fire handling was evidently quite important in serpent-handlings' past. Stories are told of saints at other churches who whild sit on hot stoves, handle burning coals or logs. A churches toda churches today in Appalachia are noted for their consistent performances of fire handling. The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name is not one of them. Just after the church was formed a couple of members attempted to handle burning newspapers, but this practice did not persist as most saints considered this an ineffective demonstration. During the summer of 1973 saints experimented with passing their hands and arms through a flame produced by sticking a wick into a pop bottle filled The, in December, 1974, I observed at least with kerosene. three or four saints pass their hands (or, in one instance, feet) through a small blow torch. As a ritual performance fire handling is extremely simple. A blow torch or other source of fire is placed on the pulpit at the beginning of the service. If anyone feels the anointing to handle fire, the torch is lighted with a match and the anointed person holds it while passing his hands through the flame. Some

Bounded ritual performances and their outcomes must be viewed against the background of members' everyday experiences. If this dimension is neglected, as it generally has been (see Birckhead 1976), an unbalanced picture of serpent-handling as a social movement emerges. This is not a unique problem in anthropological research. As noted by Pelto (1975:19): "Ethnographers often report the stereotype of the 'big wedding', . . . omitting mention of the more usual, less magnificant occasions".

Ritual uses of power in church services or related activities are of great importance to the community, but they do not exhaust the contexts in which saints report that power affects their lives. While only a handlful of saints in the church actually handle serpents or drink poison, most people of the community claim to experience various possession states outside the formal church setting. Some of these claims will now be examined.

Power and Everyday Life--The subject of power in everyday life provides a wide focus. Not all uses or experiences of

people pass their hands through the flame quickly while others keep their hands in the flame for longer periods of time. In one incident that I witnessed, a brother (Ralph Eslinger) took off his shoes and socks and held the flame to the soles of his feet for a number of seconds, apparently not affected by the flame. During this same service a teenage girl handled fire and I later learned that she was burned by it. This ritual is of minor importance at The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name and will not be dealt with further. (When this "sign" fails, people handle the disconfirmation the same as in other areas where power is utilized.)

can be dealt with here. Of particular interest are cases where serpent-handlers claim to experience, and testify about the effects of power in: (1) preventing personal catastrophes; (2) protecting "God's people" from their enemies; (3) in promoting the ongoing ministry of the church; and, (4) discernment. These broadly conceived categories are not mutually exclusive.

(1) <u>Preventing accidents</u>--Saints claim that God frequently intervenes on their behalf to prevent serious accidents from occurring. Liston Pack testified at an evening church service that (fieldnotes, July 26, 1972):

> . . . a miracle had been performed. Monday on his way home after the service, two cars were driving toward him. He did not know what to do as a telephone pole was in the way so he could not drive off of the road. There was only a few feet to spare. God pulled him through, as he could not have done it himself. The Devil tried making him believe that it was not done by God. He also wanted Liston to follow the car and get angry at the driver. Liston resisted the temptation and stuck with miracle interpretation.

Similarly, Brother Liston, a truck driver, related that (fieldnotes, November 26, 1972): ". . . once when he was tired his truck started to run off the road. He prayed to the Lord and he felt something overcome him and it was almost as if the truck was lifted back onto the road".

One final example will suffice. This case is taken from a transcript of a sermon by Rev. Elzie Preast of the Scrabble Creek Church Of All Nations (in Dickenson and Bensiger 1974:79):

I was going up a mountain one time with a truckload of slag, in low gear. / And I seen in a vision a car coming around the curve. Before the car ever come round the curve, f seen it in a vision. And the Lord let me see it--why? So I could be on the watch. T got up a little closer to the curve and here comes the car. Around the curve. On the wrong side of the road. Over against a barrier two or three feet high where they'd rised it up around the top of the bank with dirt. And he hit that pile of dirt on the wrong side of the road--which would have been on my side. . . Now you say the Lord doesn't show you, doesn't protect you? The Lord can warn you. He can warn you in dreams. He can let you see a vision. He can let you feel that something's coming. . . . He said he'd show you things to come. So evidently the devil must have been seeking my life. And the Lord let me see that and stopped him. Bless the Lord. Now whence comest thou? He may be driving an automobile, drunk. And he may be doped up. He may be smoking pot or he may be taking some kind of shot. That's what causes people to do what they do. It's the devil.

(2) <u>Protecting "God's People" from their enemies</u>--Related to the above are cases where saints perceive that God's power protected them from enemies. For example, Brother Johnny testified about how he was illegally taken to jail. In the jail cell one of his old "friends" (from before his conversion) wasted to "whup" him. Brother Johnny told the sinner: "You can't touch me." The power of God prevented Johnny from sustaining a beating (fieldnotes, November 1, 1972).

In another incident, two church sisters and the husband of one of them felt anointing to sing and testify on the courthouse lawn. Two women tried to push and harass the female singers, when the deputy sheriff (who allegedly hated snake-handlers) ". . . took a limb from a tree and switched

their legs (of the harrassing women)". As the saints reported: "The anointing will protect you one way or another. People can't get through it" (fieldnotes, December 1974).

Finally, on another occasion (November 12, 1972) someone attempted to set the church house of fire. The women's outhouse was destroyed and a hole was burned in the pulpit. In addition, an expensive set of drums was stolen. Saints found it reportable that the person attempted to burn the church house, but it would not burn as "the Lord protected it" (fieldnotes, November 12, 1972). This incident was reported on for a number of weeks after its occurance. As summarized by Brother Grooms (fieldnotes):

> This is the only church around here that preaches the truth and the Devil tried stopping it. The outside of the building was set on fire, but it didn't burn. Ordinarily it would have burned, but the Lord protected it and wouldn't let it burn. . .

(3) <u>Promoting ministry of the church</u>--Saints also cite incidents in which power is useful in the ongoing ministry of the church. Liston Pack, for example, reported that (fieldnotes, November 26, 1972):

> He was hauling to Carterville, Georgia and found himself leaving the Inter-State on the exit ramp. He could not figure it out, so he drove back onto the entrance ramp. A black man was standing there hitchhiking. Liston then knew why he had left the highway and what the Lord wanted him to do-give the man a ride. The hitchhiker had been standing there for about four days and had not eaten during that time. . Liston gave him his canned ham to eat and gave him some money.

This provided the preacher with an opportunity to witness to

the hitchhiker, as well as to manifest the ideal of Christian love and concern for one's brother.

On other instances, saints claim to receive the anointing to testify while on their jobs or during other circumstances. In the previously mentioned case involving the brother who was arrested, not only did he receive power to protect him from harm, but he also testified that he received anointing to preach to a cell mate ". . . who didn't believe in heaven or hell". After performing this task, Brother Johnny told the other men in the jail cell that he would be released at 7 a.m. the following day, and, indeed he was released at that time as he had predicted. As concluded by Brother Johnny: "When you have the anointing you can see these things" (fieldnotes, November 1, 1972).

(4) <u>Discernment</u>--What the brother was talking about in the above example is known by members as the gift of discernment. This gift is considered to be of great value in proselytizing for the church and in interpersonal relationships in general. Through this gift saints claim to be able to judge the hidden or true character of a person. Brother Alfred. Ball states regarding discerning spirits that (tape transcription, December 1974):

> The anointing of God can work anywhere, anytime. I've had it to work walking down the street . . . there's lots of different gifts and one thing in particular, the amointing of God, I have had it to move upon me with the gift of discernment and been able, as far away as I could see a man or a person, though I've

maybe never seen him before, didn't know who they ware, to immediately know what kind of person that was. To know if they were a Christian or if they were sincere or if they were hypocrite. The discernment, the gift of discernment can be so strong as to actually open the mind of a person just as if, just as if, and I am saying as if, just as if you were actually reading the very thoughts of their mind. It's not mind reading . . . I have had the gift of discernment to operate so strong as to actually reveal the very thoughts of an individual's mind to me. . .

The above examples illustrate some of the ways that saints utilize their belief that supernatural power mediates everyday life. Numerous other examples could be cited. Some saints report that because of God's power their work day in the carnal world seems much shorter. Saints frequently claim to experience auditory sensations of God's presence or report that they hear Him speak directly to them or see the Lord manifested in vivid visions. As previously discussed, saints claim to receive prophecies in demams and visions. Saints also receive power to testify and to preach at their places of work, to handle serpents outside of church, and to speak in tongues on any number of occasions. Family life is also said to be improved by the anointing power. And, saints routinely rely on power to save them from accidents and knemies, and in general to promote the ongoing ministry of the church.

### CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS

•This chapter has discussed power as conceptualized, experienced, acquired, and utilized by saints. These expectations and experiences may be seen as important factors in the creation and maintenance of a community of saints. Serpent-handlers' distinctive identity derives in large part from their notion of being a "separated people", "a peculiar people", or "God's children". Serpent-handlers like to think of themselves as saints and apostles.

230

:

In addition to their use of history, the saints continually employ daily experiences to reinforce their identity as "God's children". The reporting of these experiences to the congregation as a whole gives, mutual reinforcement of faith and makes into seeming fact the view that the saints as children of God, can expect power to act in a variety of beneficial ways. But supernatural power is unpredictable and socially explosive. How this force is socially harnessed will be explored in Chapter VIII.

#### CHAPTER VIII

# POWER AS PROBLEMATIC

Power is problematic on a number of levels. As already indicated throughout this study, power ostensibly "fails" on many occasions. As we have noted, a few members of the church have been bitten by rattlesnakes and copperheads and two members died from consuming strychnine. The sick sometimes are not healed and demons are not always routed. Church services and other activities are sabotaged occasionally by spirits and people are sometimes plagued by various demons. Dreams, visions, and discerning spirits sometimes reveal information and that is potentially socially disruptive.

In situations when the signs apparently fail or power . proves socially disruptive, serpent-handlers, it would seem, are faced with the problems of: (1) explaining "why" to the wider community of non-believers, including perhaps, the circuit court and neighbors and relatives; and (2) maintaining meaning and credibility within their own ranks. Not all participants effectively deal with apparent disconfirmations of faith. Indeed, many people in serpent-handling backslide or leave the religion permanently as a result of serious incidents of snakebite, etc.. Saints' difficulties in communicating with the outside world are heightened by the fact that

1

most outsiders do not share the sub-religious dialect of serpent-handling or even of fundamental Pentecostalism. In the face of this, however, sinners continue to be saved, new churches are being founded, and serpents are handled. It is this ongoing viability and vitality to which this thesis addresses itself. As will be demonstrated, dramatic as well as prosaic problems with the concept of power provide examples not only of saints' ongoing construction of a serpent handling reality but also, of the difficulties members encounter in translating individual mystical experiences, socially. This forms the basis of many conflicts in the church especially regarding questions of authority, meaning, consensus, and appropriate behavior for saints. The remainder of this chapter will describe and analyze specific cases. These cases will be divided into three general categories: 1 power and preaching; (2) when signs fail; and, (3) power and decision-making in everyday life. The problematic dimension of the utilization of supernatural power is emphasized. The presentation of the cases will be followed by an analytical conclusion.

# POWER AND PREACHING

Church services are ideally "led by the spirit" and do not follow a planned format. Consequently, some services last for only a half an hour while others might continue for four hours or longer depending upon whether or not a "good

spirit" is present. Ideally, then, the particular features of any given church service are prompted by the spirit. Due includes singing, testifying, preaching, feaching, working in the signs, duration and intensity. In other words, "people are free to follow the spirit" wherever it may lead. Thus ideal is potentially volatile if taken to its logication of the sion for inherent in it is the very real specter. If this anarchy.

While church services ideally proceed as fire technologies the spirit, there are definite rules of appropriateness of a to are faced with the task of translating the generalized, we of the spirit into appropriate social behavior. Freaction for example, is subject that number of constraints reparts is corpus, timing, style, relations lexicon, and context is the basic rule saints rely this regard is: "the spirit of God will never cause someone to go against His Word". It someone were to act in an unacceptable manner of we would be interpreted as demon possession, working in the " area: for d) or ignorance. Deciding what is spirit filled preaction is neither clear cur not is it final. Such a word: the start

. . .

Borker (1974) provides a number of examples trop Scottish Evangelical churches, of strategies utilized by preachers to deal with the situational constraints of presticute the gospel. Although this is not my specific focus, Borker's sociolinguistic approach to preaching could be applied * preaching strategies of serpent-handlers.

There may be as many as ten to twelve preachers present at any church service (consistent with the idea of the priestheed of all believers). Even at small, mid-week gatherin - two to five preachers often are present. As services usually do not last for longer than three or four hours, sometimes it is difficult for all the preachers where feel anointed to preach to find the opportunity to present a message. This is exacerbated by the fact that during ++. week night services people are anxious to leave at 1 1 1 hour as most are tifed from a hard days work. preachers may feel the anointing to preach and  $\pi$ afforded the opportunity. This can lead to bad the ronflict, and frustration. The converse situatio: . . . arises when it is difficult to find anyone who has t. ing to preach the message. At times like this the charge of the service inquires one by the tothe brothes in the amen corner, "who's got the set.

The problem of the preal second stitutes to preach even when the anointing has departed is problemly and their etically interesting. When this happens he is let out of ring people and prolonging the service, but even worse, taking of time that anointed preachers could utilize to present their spirit filled messages. The following excerpts from my tield notes provide examples of tow saints view this problem. Brother Alfred succinctly summarizes the attitude professed by saints (tape transcription, August 20, 1972 :

I, I talked a little bit here longer than I had intention of doing, but when God begins to talk to me, amen, cause that's the only time I could, amen. God can give me more to say to you in five minutes that I could think of in five days, and it'll help you more, amen. . .

Or, as Brother Robert points out (fieldnotes, November 1, 1972): "Some preachers drag out the service and talk even when the anointing is gone. Lets not drag it out".

A number of preachers are noted for dragging out church services. When this happens the preacher often will make an apology to the congregation. Etiquette demands that the preachers in the amen corner respond with: "Follow the Lord, Brother". This can serve either to encourage the preacher to continue if he is anointed to preach, or to remind him that preaching is appropriate only when anointing is present. For example, Brother Jimmy had been preaching for approximately an hour when he switched abruptly from a preaching to a conversational style saying that: ". . . he didn't mean to take so long, but he better stop because if he really got going, he would preach for quite awhile. Brother Liston and Brother Drew told him to obey the Lord" (fieldnotes, November 15, 1972).

Thus, the onus is placed on the preacher to present the message in such a way that it is evident that he has the anointing and is indeed obeying the Lord and not motivated by his own carnal mind. Often, however, preachers utilize stylized remarks such as made by Brother Jimmy to ascertain the

congregations' responsiveness to their continued preaching. If the speaker is to act appropriately, he must determine the meaning behind the brothers' admonition to "obey the Lord". In other words, are the brothers saying that he has talked too long or, are they in fact encouraging him to continue? This is an interaction scene that each preacher must negotiate by relying on his background knowledge of the community's subtle and tacit rules of appropriateness. Obviously, the speaker must accurately judge the mood of the congregation. The number of "amens" spontaneously proclaimed by individuals in the congregation, the number of people "slipping out" the back door, the level of whispering and fidgeting, the behavior of the musicians (whether or not they tune their guitars or strum cords during the preaching), are all indicators that the preacher has exceeded the appropriate time frame and is considered to have 1 st the anointing to preach. If all of the above cues are present and the preacher continues to present the message, he is leaving himself open to criticism. His inappropriate preaching might provide the basis for another preacher's sermon. Although the pracher will not cite the violator by name, the "guilty" person and the community of saints will have no difficulty in recognizing the meaning of the message.

On the other hand, young preachers are accused sometimes of not preaching often or long enough. For example, the pastor made the following point (fieldnotes, July 26, 1972):

. . . that Wednesdays were especially set aside for young preachers to gain experience as this might be their only chance. (He seemed to be rebuking an old brother for taking up so much time preaching). He then asked if any of the young preachers had anything to say. He called on Brother J. who

declined to speak. He called on Brother B. emphasizing to him that he was an ordained minister who seldom preached. B. declined. . .

The situation also occurs where preachers who had the anointing to preach did not actualize it and as a result left the services frustrated. Sometimes preachers who have experienced this frustration at one service will attempt to regain the anointing at the following service, or failing this, attempt to preach without the power. This can beget boredom and restlessness among the hearers. By way of a brief example (fieldnotes, August 6, 1972):

> Brother D. announced that last night he had the anointing to preach and should have done it. (It was getting late and I think that he felt a subtle

pressure not to preach.) Tonight he didn't have the anointing and could only testify. It was obvious that he did not have the anointing and was not up to the task of converting and prolonging a testimony into a message. B., J., and others in the congregation exchanged knowing glances. D. preached inspite of this pressure.

Ideally, a person "moved by the spirit" to speak has something to say and is serving as an instrument of the Lord. While any anointed person should be vital and interesting to hear, this is not always the case. Another dimension must be considered, that of interest. Members recognize a wide range of preaching competence and incompetence. Saints in fact have favorite preachers. Certain preachers are noted for preaching too long or for presenting boring sermons. Serpent-handlers account for this by saying that some preachers receive a better anointing to preach than do others. "Gifted" preachers "pay the price" by fasting, praying, and reading the Scriptures and are therefore blessed by God with a "good anointing to preach". Preachers who do this concentrate on certain themes as they study the Bible and through prayer and fasting achieve the proper mental set to best effect a competent performance. Even though preachers ideally receive their messages from God and eschew reading from a prepared text or preparing their sermons, many do study the Scriptures before hand, think in terms of certain Biblical themes, and in effect do the necessary background work so that when the "spirit moves" them to preach, they are ready. This helps insure that preachers do not misquote or misunderstand the

Word that they are presenting. Preaching heresy is always a possibility, especially for young preachers.

Consensus on such matters is difficult to reach and ultimately the matter is resolved by people informally discussing the issue in small groups or factions, and examining the pertinent Scriptures under debate. If the preacher incorrectly quoted or applied the Word, this is pointed out to him, usually after the church service. It is considered a breach of etiquette to interrupt a preacher who "has the pulpit". Sometimes these matters take weeks or months to resolve.

This discussion of preaching by no means exhausts all the relevant dimensions of this topic. My point here was --to illustrate some of the problems that arise from saints' reliance on supernatural power or order this aspect of their religious life, rather than to focus on preaching as a discrete domain and explicate all of its communicative features. In general, deciding whether or not power 'is operative proves problematic for saints. Hard and fast precedents are not established in this oral tradition and each situation must be negotiated and renegotiated for the purpose at hand, against saints' background knowledge.

### WHEN SIGNS FAIL

In looking specifically at signs that "fail" the emphasis is basically the same as in the discussion of the

problematic dimension of power and preaching. In this discussion ten cases will be presented to illustrate how accounts and meaning are arrived at through ongoing negotiations. These examples provide data on how members sustain the facticity of supernatural power even when performance claims seem to be contradicted. The examples cited here are selected specifically for the particular emphasis that they provide. My aim is not to present all of the instances that I have data on. Analysis will concentrate on inherent ambiguities in the system, differing interpretations of events, the resultant negotiation, the ongoing nature of accounting practices, and the translation of individuals' ecstatic experiences into appropriate social behavior.

-..

<u>Case I</u>--This case deals with an instance of serpentbite. The following account was presented by Brother Jimmy during his taking of prayer requests at the opening of a church service in December, 1972 (from tape transcription):

> . . . Amen, if God wants to work out a purpose, amen, He said He's send serpents and cockatrices amongst you and they will bite you sayest the Lord. Yea, amen. Amen, every now and then God works out a purpose, amen. There was one time, bless the Lord, the brothers brought in some big wild ones right out of the moutains, bless the Lord. There was one of the sisters sittin' back there at the back and one punched the other and said, 'Lord', said, 'if them brothers get bit with one of them serpents', said, 'they'll die before they get 'em out of this hollow'. Amen, just let me show you how the power of God works and how God's mind works. Amen, so the sister she thought if anybody got serpent-bit they'd die before they got out of Here. Amen, but that wasn't

the mind of God. Just as sure as the brother went in the serpent box he got bit. Amen. I know he really got bit. Bless the Lord! Amen, it swelled up his hand a little bit, that's all it ever done. Thank God! That showed, bless the Lord, right here, that God has got all power in heaven and in earth. Bless the Lord!

The case of serpent-bite Brother Jimmy was reporting on had occurred some two years earlier.² His account may be viewed as a selective reconstruction of action completed. My emphasis is on the dynamics and uses of this selectivity.

The account is clearly pedagogical in that the preacher explicates very important principles of the religion. The main principle being illustrated in that God can "work out a purpose" that may be beyond man's carnal comprehension. Brother Jimmy purported to provide some insight into ". . . how God's mind works". It is also of interest that he concluded the tale by affirming what I take to be the central organizing premise of the religion, ". . . that God has got all power in heaven and in earth". This is not unusual as saints accounts often emphasize the invariable prepositions of the religion.

To fully understand Brother Jimmy's narrative³ something must be said of the total lesson in which it was embedded.

³I am calling this account narrative after the work of Labove and Waletsky (1966:20-21), who view narrative as ". . . one method of recapitulating past experience by matching a verbal sequence of clauses to the sequences of events which

²It is noteworthy that Brother Jimmy did not specify when the incident of serpent-bite took place. This is consistent with saints' reckoning of time as discussed in Chapter II. Dates do not need to be provided as most members already share this knowledge by virtue of community membership.

Prior to recounting the incident of serpent-bite, Jimmy was instructing the congregation on the anointing to work in the signs. It is obvious that part of his purpose for presenting this material was to account for and make sense of the serpent-bite that Brother Bill had received a number of weeks before. (Brother Bill had quit attending services after his injury from serpent bite. This particular service was one of his first since the injury). What preceeded the account in question is as follows. (Important points are underlined):

> . . . Bless the Lord. Let's be much in prayer for all these prayer requests, amen. Now, Brother Bill, he was serpent-bit a few weeks ago, amen, just don't know how long ago it was, but he got serpent-bit, amen. And the Lord began to move, amen. I told Brother Bill that I believed that I had assurance from God that he was goin' to be completely recovered to where he wouldn't lose nothin'. Amen! Amen, you do something for God, He won't let you lose nothin'. Bless the Lord, amen! Now when you get serpent-bit, well, it's a bad thing, amen. I'll tell you tonight it is --when you really get serpent-bit. I'm not talking about sticking your hand in the box and getting it caught on the screen, punching a little hole in your finger or somethin' another. I'm talking about really getting serpent-bit. Bless the Lord! When you do, you better have God in the

actually occurred", utilizing ". . . the same order as the original events". This type of narrative structure is viewed as an emergent form of simple oral narrative rather than as ". . the more complex products of long-standing literary or oral traditions" (Labove and Waletsky 1966:12). What is interesting about these narrative accounts in serpent-handling is that they are embedded in sermons, testimonies, and casual conversations, which on the whole do not follow a narrative presentation sequence. It is my contention that serpent-handlers effectively use such accounts to provide particular emphasis to the illustration of abstract principles or in explaining apparent contradictions between belief and activity. I plan to develop this theme in a future paper, as it is not central ' to this study.

arrangements. If you don't, amen, you're going to suffer loss, you're goin' to get hurt. Amen! Now I've been serpent-bit before and I ain't nairy bit ashamed of it, thank God. I ain't ashamed of it at all, Brother Bill. Amen, I's tell the president or anybody, tell the sheriff downtown, the President of the United States or anybody. I've been serpent-bit twice and I've been hurt twice, amen. The anointing wasn't even there when I got hurt neither. Amen! But the Bible teaches me when the hedge is broken, then the serpent will bite. Amen, when that hedge gets broken for any reason whatsoever--whether God breaks it or you break it, amen, then you might get hurt. Amen, you might do that. Amen! Now I'm not goin' to tell you you won't get hurt. Amen, but you will get hurt just as sure as you miss the perfect anointing of God, amen. Amen, now God, bless the Lord! Let me demonstrate it just a little further, amen. I believe with all my heart that my mother is a, is a woman that loves me. Thank God! Amen, I believe my mother does, she really loves me, amen. I don't believe sh'ed send me to the spring for a bucket of water and knowing good and well they was a big lion down there on the trail goin' to jump on me. Amen! believe, amen, if God tells you to get in and take up serpents, amen, I don't believe there're going to hurt you. Amen, but if you get in there because you wanna get in there or for some other reason or some other purpose, amen, you might get hurt. You might get killed, amen, just anything might happen to you. Amen, if God wants to work out a purpose, amen, He said He'ed send serpents and cocatrises amongst you and they will . . . bite you, sayest the Lord. Yea, amen! Amen, every now and then God works out a purpose, amen.

There was one time. . .

(It was at this point in the instruction that Brother Jimmy gave the account of the case of serpent bite that is being discussed in this section.) In the above excerpt, Brother Jimmy mentioned a number of important features of taking up serpents and of the religion in general. God is viewed as trustworthy and protective of His children, not unlike one's own mother would be. Consequently, if one does "something for

God" and "has God in the arrangements" then injury or death will not occur. When Jimmy was serpent-bit and injured, he did not have the anginting. Yet, he emphasized that this is nothing to be ashamed of, implying that these are some ofthe rigors of acquiring religious knowledge. He also made a distinction between "really getting serpent-bit" and "punching a little hole in your finger" (on the box screen). This is an important point as saints have claimed that they were serpent-bit when actually they had scratched their hand on the screen. Some saints attempt to use such injuries to demonstrate that their anointing was so strong that they did not swell up. Most members of the community could make sense of this aspect of the testimony and relate it to specific cases because of the intimate background knowledge that they share. Jimmy also noted another underlying principle of the religion, that God can allow the "hedge to be broken" in order "to work out a special purpose".

Brother Jimmy concluded his testimony or lesson with the following warning to serpent-handlers:

1

. . . So that's good instruction. When you take up serpents, amen, keep 'em to yourself. Amen! When I'm sitting over here on the front seat or setting over here, amen, and God lays it on you Brother Al to take up serpents, amen, just stay back away from me. If I want 'em, I'll come and get 'em. Amen! Your anointing, Brother Al, don't work for me, amen. I have to feel it my own self. Amen, I can't sing your song and you can't testify for me. Thank God, amen! What right have I got, amen, to put my anointing over here and endanger your life, Brother Al? I ain't got no business whatsoever endangering Brother Lester's life. Un uh, amen. When I get hold of 'em, I take care of Yea! Amen! I want to protect you just like God does. Amen, thank God! Amen, if I bring you one over here, Brother Al, you'll be ready to take it. Yea Lord! If it bites you and hurts you, you can say that Brother Williams was wrong. Amen, thank God! Bless the Lord! When you get anointing to take up serpents, amen, just handle him right in here, amen. Don't get back in here amongst these children . . . because they might hurt somebody. Amen, they might do that, they've got power to do that. Just as sure as the devil moves in there that's just as sure as the devil will throw a wrench in the column. Bless the Lord! Amen! Amen, some people don't like it 'cause I'm talking this way, amen, but I'd rather tell you now than to wait till we get somebody down at the funeral

In the above instruction, Jimmy not only provided some procedural rules for serpent-handling, but in addition, provided some information on the workings of the devil. He also acknowledged (as preachers ferquently do) that not all members of the congregation would necessarily be in agreement with his teaching.

In looking at the above accounts a of conclu sions can be reached. Namely, it is noteworthy the amount of information the preacher was able to convey while he was ostensibly taking prayer requests. In this reqard, Brother Jimmy was not only reporting on particular events but through the reporting refining and elaborating the parameters of working with power. Through relating specific stories, Jimmy waspable to create a sense of the existence of external, rule governed logical principles that the religion is premised on. Finally, this case demonstrates how accounts of past events are reintroduced by preachers for the purposes at hand, in this

case, to create a context in which Brother Bill's serpect bite would appear as a routine feature.

Case II--This case deals with the serpent bite of sister Hammons of Greenville, South Carolina (1419-14, 2003) In reporting on the incident, Brother Floyd spastor (emphasized that the sister was "..., a good sister and lived a post life". In addition, she often took up serpents. As further explained by Brother Floyd (fieldnotes Guly 21, 1903)

> . . . she usually stood back and waited for El y: to take the serpents out of the box. She cast differ act like herself tonight. Instead of standing back and waiting, she proceeded to where Floyd was standing and looked at him. He shook his head and said, in Sister Hammons'. In other words Floyd was not read to take up serpents. She then proceeded into the serpent box and was bitten on the hand. She then calmly placed the serpent back into the beside the way prayed for. . .

> Brother Floyd decided that for some reason Sister Hammons got ahead of the anointing when she reaches into the box. She was obviously acting differently than usual. Something strange came over her. She wasn't herself. She obviously didn't have the activing at that time. Timing is an important consideration in dealing with the anointing. . .

In accounting for this event, Brother Floyd relied on the notion that one must "wait" on the anointing. Implicit in Floyd's reporting of the event is that sisters wait on the anointing--i.e. sisters usually do not initiate serpert-handling by reaching into the serpent-box.

One other aspect of the reporting of this case is e: interest. Saints were extremely worried about the sister's physical fate. She was known to have a bad heart and saints were concerned as she had such unbed to her dustand the presence and sought medical and. As less the dust  $\pi_{2,3}$  the dust  $\mu_{3,3}$ .

Once in Greenville At Floyd's heast there was much rehashing about Sister Hammons. Dester, A. Start and the other people talked about it. As a filloyd were quite concerned for her safety as she was don't hospital in intensive care. As both of them said Sister Hammons is old and has a bad heart. They to the fear when someone goes to the hospital with serpect bite. This is the work of the devil, as hospital treatment usually does the person more harm that a and discredits the church is a Astred said that a usually doesn't start to worry about someone contain they are taken to the hospital that is wrently trouble begins. Floyd agreed

In this instance, the reality of Starts starts starts and the second starts of the second sta

The next problem faced by the same was to a why the sister who lived a bary life worth to be the second second for healing instead if relying of the increase the second second Members had to decide if she had had a label to the second second However, the problem was partially resulted when when the second that she went to the hospital because if the transfer second to "make trouble" for the chirch if she had not be the good of the church as a while, she implies with the wishes of her non-believing husband. Most same second this as a valid reason, but nevertheless is expression.

In this case, as in the previous the the important of members' reporting is if lustrated. I maintain that the provident of the second s

•
the reporting on their behavioral scenes members but only convey contains but a sceneate a final within which we have the intermation itself can appear? Meetan and Wood letter, on the isothering that the factority that server handling way of life is established.

Tase 111 - Dus ase lears with a serpent by the reserver by Brothess images of the structure this includent, neclessed that people who were serpentation has not "call the prise". and were therefore culpable. A couple of months set is new we bitter, fimmy told me that fieldnotes, fly 25, 140. "Everyone needs't namile sequents in the church, class these get snakebit because they in 't really believed in ". However, Jimmy was bitten by a rattlesnake in early organized to the and became cute ill as a result. Because to this experience. he reported that he developed himility and a creater gravitation of the Word. He also realized that he had overestimated else personal powers and taken to much medicate reactions and rendered accounts of this includent of a current of the second to demonstrate that serpent fittes an server retain function and the emphasize that an intimized to entry the not reside in persons.

Case IV--This case is closely related to the treate we It deals with a serpent-to overved by Brother Alfreis Scienceally, Alfred's with was seriously out and the promised God that if He would allow her to recover he would gladly suffer serpent-bit. Alfred's wife was healed and Alfred was bitten by a copperhead. In the reporting of this story Alfred emphasizes that as a result of this incident he realized that this sort of bargain which ibe was not necessary in dealing with his God, who "is a strong God". One must frow and learn many hard lessons in this faith (fieldnotes July 29, 1973).

Case V--Brother Floyd was serpent-bit in Greenville, South Carolina (1971). In the reporting of the incident, he emphasized that since the copperhead bite he had not been bothered by kidney stones. The important feature of this account is that a serpent-bite can have a healing function.

Case VI--Richard Williams (Columbus, Ohio) died from a snake-bite he received in a Kistler, West Virginia Church service in 1974. In accounting for his death, members made the following general points (Associated Fress release in Edmonton Journal, June 15, 1974): (1) "Richard Lee was only 33, the same age as Jesus when he died"; 2 ".....that in ther laid down his life for his church and his belief"; 5 - 50 refused to go to the hospital or to take any medicines and, 4 he died a happy death--

> . . The Bible says the last enemy we face is death and we seen this boy's victory over death. We seen him change. There was a love of God in him that we had never seen before. I've never seen a happier man in my life . . . He said, 'Dad, don't worry about me

٩.

now, I wouldn't take nothing for my journey with Jesus'.

. **.**...

Others in the church reported that his death had been prophesized. The deceased brother's mother-in-law had a dream in which she saw him lying in a casket (Pelton and Carden 1976:163). (This case was cited primarily to demonstrate the variety of meanings arrived at by saints. As it is taken from secondary sources, it lacks a dynamic view of how meaning is negotiated.)

Case VII--This case deals with the rattlesnake bite received by Brother Billy Jay d. ...g a service on November 18, 1972 (already discussed in part in Case I), and was select ed to illustrate different levels of interpretations and to provide insight into saints' ongoing construction of meaning. Also, this incident looks at public as opposed + ...ackstage explanations. Unlike the other examples of Secret Diff. I witnessed this incident and observed members' handling if the situation as it unfolded.

Brother Billy Jay was bitten during a service which was being filmed by researchers (Burton and Schrader from East Tennessee State University for a documentary film "They Shall Take Up Serpents", 1973). After Brother Billy Jay was bitten he was taken to the home of Brother Jimmy where he rested and saints prayed over him. The film makers accompanied the injured brother to Jimmy's and were given the following account by Jimmy (from film sound dub, courtesy

Mary Jane Coleman, Sinking Creek Film Festival, Greenville, Tennessee, December 1974):

> All right, the purpose we're here, Brother Bill is serpent, been serpent-bit in the church services a few minutes ago. All of you people were there. The reason we take these serpents up is the Bible recommends to do it and all the Apostles did it, everyone that believes. Jesus said, 'these signs shall follow them that Believe', He said, 'in my name shall they cast out devils, they shall speak new tongues, they shall take up serpents, and if they drink any deadly thing, it shall not hurt them; they shall lay hands on the sick, and they shall recover'. Now if we believe that this interpretation of the Scripture is for them that believe, in other words, they that believe, they shall take up serpents.

Jesus said, 'they shall send serpents and cockatrices amongst you and they will bite you sayest the Lord. Amen, and we believe that serpents will bite you, amen, and large denominations and lots of people, different people, they teach that the serpent the Bible speaks of is a man or an unclean spirit, but, we teach and believe that the serpent crawls on its belly and eats the dust of the earth and these--what we know today as a rattlesnake or a copperhead, and the Lord said, 'they shall take up serpents'. We believe that them that believes have victory over them, bless the Lord. If they do bite you we don't put our faith and trust in a doctor but we put our faith and trust in the Lord, amen. We depend on Him to handle 'em, bless the Lord, and we depend on Him if they bite us. Bless God ! So, bless the Lord! They has been some people that were serpent-bit and died, but we believe that they died doing the service of the Lord just like any of His other Apostles that died doing the work of the Lord.

It might seem strange you folks being at our home tonight, we are gathered here tonight to pray for a brother that is serpent-bit, but, yet on the other hand most people go to the doctor when they get sick, just like the instructions in the Bible gives us--'They shall lay hands on the sick and they shall recover'. Amen, we believe in the Bible, we believe that it's a literal interpretation, it's natural as well as spiritual. We believe in Divine Healin', that all healin' comes from God regardless if you're in the hospital and you get healed, we believe it's God that does the work. The

doctor can only do what he has knowledge to do and it's God that does the healin'. So, we believe in Divine healin', it all comes from God. We're praying for the brother tonight that he will recover. He was serpent-bit in the service tonight. We believe God will be, God's going to heal him and we're still in the Lord. Regardless of how the outcome trustin' is or what happens, we will still believe in the Lord. We put God far above man. We do respect brothers, we respect men for what they are. We don't have anything against officials in government. We don't have any-thing against doctors or lawyers, but we believe in payin' tribute to whom tribute is due, but all power belong to the Lord and all praise and honor belongs to Jesus.

In the above interview Brother Jimmy discussed the incident of serpent-bite at a very general level. In communicating with a non-believing audience it was necessary for him to explain the basis of the faith and a number of other factors that would be a part of members background knowledge. He established the Scriptural basis of working in the signs, explained Divine healing, and communicated that no matter what the outcome members would not consider this a disconfirmation of faith. Jimmy also employed the theme that if a saint died from serpent-bite it would be in the "... service of the Lord just like any of His other Apostles that died doin; the work of the Lord". He concluded by noting a basic premise of the religion, that "... all power belongs to the Lord...."

Brother Jimmy's statement to the film maker was completely ad hoc. He did not collaborate with others in the church in its preparation as the interview took place almost immediately after Billy Jay was bitten. It is noteworthy that in the interview Jimmy did not establish specifically why

Billy Jay was bitten. Members' interpretations, however, reach a more specific level in attempting to ascertain the particular meaning(s) of the event. This can be noted in the following interactions between saints.

The morning after Billy Jay's serpent-bite at a church baptism, Jimmy told me that the Lord had to ". . . get Bill's attention" to break him of his smoking habit--a habit that members agreed was hindering him from reaching true holiness. Jimmy went on to emphasize that the Apostles suffered for their beliefs and suffered when working for the Lord. Liston agreed with this but maintained that it was better to be bitten and not suffer at all. This is even a better manifestation of the anointing, preferable to not being bitten at all. In effect, Liston agreed that Billy Jay's suffering could be explained but that it was not a very effective sign for unbelievers. I then asked Liston how he would interpret a death from serpent-bite. He said that he would not venture a guess to such an issue, the implication being that it was too complicated an issue to answer simply and that it could not be answered apart from the actual situation. As demonstrated throughout this discussion, when such situations actually arise members indexically construct meaning and arrive at satisfactory explanations. This is not to imply that one uniform explantion is arrived at, only that members do find meaning(s) for such events throught their interactional work.

After church service that evening a number of us went to visit Billy Jay at Jimmy's house. The ensuing discussion remained at a fairly general level with various saints relating accounts of when they had been serpent-bit. People exchanged stories, always affirming the routine nature of the event that had transpired. It was generally agreed on that when ". . . you handle serpents as often as we do", sooner or later "you" will get "bit". Saints discussed particular details of the event--why had he allowed the two rattlesnakes to stretch out along his arm, had he been distracted by the presence of the film crew causing him to lose the anointing. . . Alfred and Jimmy recounted how they "took up" the rattlesnake that had bitten Billy Jay to allay peoples' fear and to demonstrate that the "Word is still the Word". Both brothers admitted that they did not have the anointing that evening and had handled the dangerous snake on faith, a procedure that they considered quite precarious.

Regarding the injured brother's fate, he was fired from his job at a local plant because he had missed work without a doctor's excuse. Church members provided some financial support to him through the collection of love offerings. Church members were asked frequently to pray for him as it was felt that the devil was trying hard to "work on him". Right after Billy Jay was serpent-bit, for example, his father pressured him to seek medical attention. He resisted, however, and relied on the Lord and the community of saints for his healing.

**~**\$` 254 Within a few weeks of the serpent-bite it was reported by saints that Billy had "backsliden" on his faith. He no longer attended church services. eventually returned, however, although I do not think that he has taken up serpents since his injury.

After this incident of serpent-bite, the frequency of serpent-handling in the church seemed to wane until sometime after January, 1973. Prior to this event, the frequency of serpent-handling appeared to be increasing. Although members ordinarily do not lose their beliefs because of serpent-bite, such occurrences can instill fear and discourage the working of dangerous signs until people regain confidence.

<u>Case VIII</u>--Jimmy Willams and Buford Pack died from strychnine that they consumed during a church service on April 7, 1973. Concerning the spiritual fates of the deceased brothers, the expressed concensus was that they ". . . were in that better place". This view was arrived at utilizing evidence that would be found incompatible with Western formal logic. Explanations of the meaning(s) of the deaths relied on members' background knowledge and on information provided in dreams, visions, and prophecies. Similarly, a number of otherwise unrelated events were interpreted by saints as having meaning regarding the deaths and the spiritual fates of the deceased saints (see Birckhead, 1974). In the general reporting of the case saints emphasized the following features of the event's meaning (fieldnotes, April 1973 emphasis mine):

. . . at 7 p.m. or so, Jimmy drank strychnine without apparent injury. Later in the service when Buford consumed the poison, Jimmy drank another glass of it and fell over almost immediately afterward. He layed on the floor laughing before he passed out again . . The sheriff brought Liston to the county jail. Liston said to him, 'I don't mean to be hard on you, but we are still going to take up serpents. The Word is still the Word, that hasn't changed.'... Liston told people that Brother Rubel was going to give him a blow torch to keep behind the pulpit. He had been thinking about getting the anointing to handle fire. . . Everyone that I talked to at Liston's house on the day of Buford's funeral agreed that Jimmy and Buford died of of the Word. Liston took me up to Jimmy's grave. There were many flowers on it with notes saying, 'Jesus called His home'. . . Jimmy's widow stated, 'Jimmy was baptized on a rainy, icy day and he left the world on the same kind of day. . . (It was cold and snowy on the day of Jimmy's funeral. This was considered unusual for early April in Tennessee.)

. . At Buford's funeral (April 11, 1973), Alfred consoled their widows by saying that <u>Bu</u> and <u>Jimmy</u> are in a better place. They'll be waiting for you. They died serving the Lord in the Word. Brother John of of Detroit, Michigan preached the funeral. . . He said in his eulogy that God called Jimmy and Buford home because He wanted them. They are truly saints as they died in the Word doing what they believed in. The Word is still the Word.

Before the burial, Brother Rubel told me that the men at the plant where he worked have been asking him what the church says now that this happened. Rubel told them that many people had been saying that it was only water and not deadly poison that the saints had been drinking, and <u>now they know better</u>...

At the family cemetery where Buford was interred. . Liston and Clyde took up serpents and reiterated what Buford often said-that if one had enough faith the dead could be raised, and not just the spiritually dead. . . That evening at prayer service at the church preachers emphasized that "the Word is still the Word" . . . (Carden and Pelton 1976:81-101 present an excellent journalistic account of the events surrounding the strychnine deaths.) In one of the more reliable newspaper accounts of the deaths, Brother Liston emphasized prophecy in constructing his explanation (Newport Plain Talk, April 9, 1973 emphasis mine):

. . . Rev. Pack told the Plain Talk that the church had practiced handling snakes as well as drinking strychnine and battery acid. He said both victims had drunk strychnine on previous occasions and had even drunk more than the doses which killed them Saturday night. He said Rev. Williams had written a will in his Bible some three months ago. 'He undoubtedly knew something was going to happen', Rev. Pack said.

He said Buford Pack testified in the church Saturday night that a funeral would be held in four days, indicating that he felt his death was coming. . .

Liston went on to describe aspects of the service during which the men consumed the poison noting the following important features:

> . . . Before the services were over, Rev. Pack said he saw Rev. Williams lying on the floor of the church near the pulpit. He was laughing, Rev. Pack said. . 'One of these men was my brother, and I've worshipped with the other man for five years now', said Pack. 'I believe they felt the same way I do. If I am bitten by a snake or drink strychnine and die, I'll be that much closer to the kingdom of God'. .

The prophetic dimension was important for many in the church. Not only did Buford predict his death, but a number of brothers claimed that Jimmy had told them some five years ago of a vision in which the Lord told him that he had but five years to complete his work on earth. Also, considerable importance was placed on the fact that, as Liston related above, Jimmy had written a "will in his Bible some three months ago". The so called will specified the details of the manner in which Jimmy wanted his funeral conducted (the Williams' Family Bible):

Upon death, my funeral should be conducted at the Church by the Elders of the Church, sing 'Precious memories' and 'Why Not Tonight'. Use the cheapest casket. Open the Bible to Mark 16:15-18, take up serpents and drink poison if anyone can. Put my body on the hill from the Church, read II Tim. 4:6-8. Do everything you can to show people that God's ways are right and man's ways are wrong. No necktie, have the bro's that I have took up serpents with for pall barrers. J.R.W. 5,6

That the two saints received prophecies of their passing led members to conclude that the brothers were indeed called home. This interpretation was reinforced by a number of other happenings reported by participants. Sister Bea, for example, recounted that on the night that the man died she had seen two white doves in the moonlight and Jimmy's smiling face ascending toward heaven (conversation with Bea Eslinger, April 15, 1973, Sevierville, Tennessee'. From this, Sister Bea was assured that at least Jimmy was with God. She felt also that the men should not have consumed the poisen as the Biblical injunction--". . . and if they drink any leadly thing, it shall not hurd them"--applied only to those who

⁶With respect to the claims that I make in Chapter II concerning serpent-handlers' handling of time, it is of note that Brother Jimmy's "Will" is not dated.

⁵ II Tim.4:6-8, reads: "For I am now ready to be offered, and the time of my departure is at hand. I have fought a good fight, I have finished my course, I have kept the faith. Henceforth, there is laid up for me a crown of righteousness, which the Lord, the righteous judge, shall give me at that day: and not to me only, but unto all then also that love his appearing".

unknowlingly drank poison in the camp of the enemy. Saints were not, according to this view, to consume poison voluntarily However, Bea admitted that she did not understand it tall, Others in the church agreed with Sister Bea on this point of Scriptural interpretation. Similar to Bea's vision, Sister Eunice reported that at Jimmy's burial she saw him rise from his grave (conversation) with Eunice Ball, July 18, 1973- A+ one of the evening services following Jimmy's funeral, Brother Rubel Campbell gestified that he looked up toward the hillside graveyard and saw Brother Jimmy - anding above the grave shouting and clapping his hands as he did when he was alive. A number of other people in the church reported on dreams or apparitions of the dead men. (I also had a vivid dream about Jimmy and told it to my close friends in the church who viewed it as further evidence of his spiritual fate. Thus, although some disagreed with the brothers' act of frink ing poison, it was concluded, partially based on dreams, visions, and background knowledge, that the saints were "allright with God".

Part of the background knowledge shared by members : the community was the fact that both Jimmy and Buford had expressed a desire to die while working for Lord. Neither of these men feared death and both expressed this feeling on a number occasions. Jimmy stated regarding the drinking of strychnine that (fieldnotes July 6, 1972): ". . . he felt that he had that anointing . . . He might die, but he was sure he was going to a better country. . ." Buford stated after being

serpent-bit at a Brevard, North Carolina tent revival that (fieldnotes July 28, 1972). " .... he didn't care if he died", the implication being that is death he would find a moteabundant existence. For saidts is general, death is the service of the Lord is made comprehensible by the fact that christ and many if the early Apostles field for their tart And as seen by Brother Alfred strains tigt. Application the recorded by Ralph Eslinger is

> . . Don't you know thank God, toright, be called a man loses his life for the gospel sike, ment, bells take it up again, a, glory to God. Toright, l'm telling you, thank God, I'd rather less my life the gospel, amen, than any other way likew to tot I've got a promise, amen, thatk cod, that lose to tot it up again. . .

The general consensus is that it is pretroable to be the life in the service of the Lift than in an altow of the 'bar room brawl, or racing car mishage

In addition to the types it explanations and all loss cussed, a number of members initially were plottled to the deaths. As stated by Brother Alfred on the metricide the folfuneral: "... there is a reason for this, such plottled but it is not yet evident" dirednotes April 100000 Other saints responded to the deaths by asserting that "Dre Bible says we must not question God" (in Daily Beach Abria 30, 1973). From the theoretical perspective of this state the meaning(s) attributed to the death can be seen as emericant and dependent on members' origoing interactional work. The arr members retrospective accounting, the significant features of

Acres

the event's meaning are constructed and made evolute

×.,

One thind that people found meaningful was the that a number of relian is deeple who had previous one heard of the hurch gisted the **G**hur bosisequent recondeaths, claiming that they had been "sent by the lepton of such person was the Rev Richard Williams, at the ture secof serpent chandling congregations in C limble of the access west Virginia. He had read about the deather of a newscape while he was working the hight shift at a place of open the bond purportedly to find to travel to New concess the church. This was seen by members as being of the secal as it provided evidence that at list of the deather of a brought together. Brother Richard's message at the April 4, 1975 emphasized this tage transcription can.

> I've got the Holy Ghost, and when  $1 \leq 1 \leq m \leq 1$ newspaper and all these unbileverse standing and mocking, the more they mocked, the material sector • • • • • • • • Ghost got me stirred. . . amen amen, that's right, the more the deline e. e. . more power God's a gonna give as a taging of a your leader . . . if there was selected to the traction we are endeavoring to keep the same the same to We need to keep the unity i the spirit and the devil's number one objective is to present the spirit spirit the spirit sp of the Spirit. One writer teld it like these the the Spirit would go from treast the treast inter-Ain't this the Word of God - Allr. Att. or the say this tonight, if you got the spirit private market to breast and the devil breaks ne link of the reast electric line, if you got it to run from she and to another and you got electricity, Brother Eack, as you go to break it in two anyplace, you'l, have a power on the end of it. The same way with the side

of God. It gets from freast to freast and if yes get one person similar in the family, that power line will be broken. . .

The Revi Buidy Harris, a non-servent shandling preacher from Winsted Salem, North far lina, als claimed that the world to infinite travel to The moliness bud hold sed in lesis Name. His arrival provided additional evidence that the deaths bould be seen as part of Vadis Larger plan termining His people together. As expressed to Brother Astren dirich a stock service inclaturday, April 1000 Frother Astren dirich taped by Brother Ralph Eslinger

> . . . Well thank, a Brother Buddy Harris, amen, come over to be with us, amen. You know, God spoke to several people, amen, thank God tonight, and cust sent them this way. Glory to God tonight! You know God and His Word, He said all thinks work todether for the God of them that loves the Loric Thank con tonight, amen! You know God takes the trucks that' happened to us glory tonight, amen, and uses toward our good and I believe, Brother 'ampbell, that He's taken them, thank God, and let 'em work to the people. .

it withtar to Buddy Harris, Total memphase contractors apsped are pointed in and memphases" of arrest to a contractor trom Nashy of Cennessee also contractors to wall of the the Lord".

Besides the above methoned perpendit of the second state of the being brought to be the

Members also constructed meaning around the notion that the deaths served as a tatalyst for spreading the dospel. (And as discussed in Chapter III, the increased publishing of the dospel is seen as being one indicator that the "last dats" are at hand... Brother Liston recalled that fieldnotes, "nly 27, 1973::

> . . . at this point in time the church was starting to get scattered and the two deaths caused many people to learn of the church who ordinarily would not have heard of it. God had a purpose for a lof this. Joel Hemphill, Richard Williams, Buddy is and others first heard of the church this way. In addition, Liston now has the chance to reach millions of people with the Word of God because of this new found access to radio and television.

In this yein, freelance writers Pelton and Carden and a number of students (Barrett) were attracted to the church because : the deaths. Pelton and Carden 1974, 1978 as well as Barrett (1973) produced works on the church, thereby alting in the spread of the gospel.

Jimmy's widow claimed that relatives exerted considerable pressure on her to join the Baptist Church and to forsake the religion "that killed her husband" (fieldnotes, April 11, 1973). Other saints mentioned feeling harassed by the seemingly constant onslaught of reporters. Liston commented, for example, that he was getting tired of "... them looking at us like we're a bunch of animals" (fieldnotes, April 29, 1973).

Members generally agreed that the persecution was a part of God's plan and part of the reason that God called His saints home. Prior to the deaths, there were many unresolved issues that threatened to split the church. Many felt that the deaths and the resultant persecution would check this process. As discussed in Chapter V, persecution and a sense of being a "separated people" are important mechanisms for the creation of a serpent-handling identity. Given the sense if persecution and the media coverage members tended to emphasize a we/they dichotomy which, for a time, promoted a strate obesite, and an identity as a community under since.

As discussed in Chapter III, the deaths hat exceederable impact on the church with respect to factionalism, leadership conflict, and the meanings attributed to signs that "fail". For awhile, at least, the deaths seemed to instill a autious pragmatism in some about relying on supernatural power. For example, when one of Jimmy's sons developed infectious hepatitis in December, 1973, his mother and another sister in the church.

3

T. *

took the sick child to a doctor despite the admonishments of some members that "the Lord could heal". They agreed with the principle that faith <u>could</u> heal, but were adamant in saying that ". . . we don't need any more deaths in the church" (fieldnotes, December 1973).

To this point in the discussion I have demonstrated that saints went about reporting on the deaths in ways that made them meaningful as part of a larger plan that originated with God. Although some in the community felt that the mershould not have consumed the poison in the first place, there seemed to be little doubt that the men died in the faith serving God and were in a heavenly home. There seemed to be little question that the men died because they did not "live right" or "because they missed God's will" transcription, December 1974). One notable exception to this was the interpretation given by an infrequent visitor of the church. This brother made the statement during a church service sometime in 1974 that he thought that Buford and Jimmy were in hell. His rationale for saying this derived from his own particula: interpretation of anointing. From his perspective, if the brothers had had the anointing, they would not have field. As they died, they did not have the anointing (thus were not active in the will of the Lord) and consequently were in hell. Although not all in the church view the anointing and the Scriptures uniformly, most did not share the visitor's pessimistic conclusions regarding the departed saints' fates (Most

265

×

in the church felt that the brothers did indeed have the anointing, but the Lord caused the "hedge to be broken" for higher purposes). His pronouncement and his agressive manner antagonized many in the church (fieldnotes, November 28, 1974..

Case IX--This case deals with failure to cast demons out of a mentally retarded girl. My emphasis is not on exorcism per se, but on how the disconfirmation was managed and neogtiated. This failed attempt at exorcism created considerable controversy in the church and promoted factional conflict.

"A girl who appeared to be mentally retarded was led up to the altar by her mother or aunt to have the devil that was causing her problems cast from her. After considerable effort by a number of brothers it became evident to all that the "demon" would not be routed and her condition would not be altered. In fact, the attempted exorcism seemed to agitate her. As described in my fieldnotes (July 2, 1972): ". . . The girl appeared to be panicking and swung out wildly as she sobbed, moaned, and screamed". As soon as the brothers abandoned their efforts of casting out the demon, Brother B. "took the pulpit" and initiated the debate that ensued (fieldnotes July 2, 1972):

B. gave testimony and walked around the pulpit as he spoke. He told of how he had suffered last year when he was serpent-bit. . He was sick for about five days and lost his job as a result. He hadn't really

had the anointing then and thought that his powers were greater than they were--not unlike many of the brothers in that church. A man cannot take up serpents and especially not cast out devils without the anoint-One might reach down into the serpent box and ing. do all right with little anointing and much faith and may be all right nine tenths of the time. But casting out devils is a different matter. One mist have the anointing. Some brothers here may think they do, but they are wrong. There is too much self in it and not enough credit given to God. Without the anointing a man can do nothing. Witness the unsuccessful attempt of this evening. Now if I don't speak the truth just tell me. I am speaking the truth, (Yes from Brother W. and Brother P. In the am I not? amen corner. W. smiled when he said yes.) Now, I only get that type of anointing about once a year where I know for a fact that I have full power to cast out devils. I can take up perpentimmore often, as you can get by on faith and not as such anointing . . . It is necessary to fast the brden to cast out devils. (He was suggesting the brothers in the chur : 'hadn't paid the price'.) 'hadn't paid the price'.) 

(As an aside, it is in a right ing to note how B. utilized his account of serpent-big didactic purposes at hand.

B. concluded maniferrief admonishment and was succeeded in the pulpit by an elderly brother whom many consider to be senile. The elderly brother attempted to read from the Bible but was interrupted by Brother W. who said that he had some thing to say first. (This is considered a bad breach of preaching etiquette.) W. said that chelinotes, July 1, 1974

¥ .-

some can take up serpents, some can cast out devils. At that point, B. said to the people whom he had driver to church, 'come on, we're leaving'. As he was leaving, B. pointed at W. and shouted a correction to him saying that 'power is not in the self but comes through being anointed'. (Another breach of etiquette to interrupt a preacher who has the pulpit.) B. and his passengers then marched out of the church. W. responded by saying that if someone didn't agree with him they should tell him so, but he would never storm out of church because he didn't agree with someone. At this point the service was dismissed abruptly and people congregated outside in the church yard to discuss the events of the evening. Someone asked, 'what happened to Brother B.? The reply was that 'he was given a straight dose of the gospel and couldn't take it'. Before B. drove off, he walked toward the groups of people and said that 'he wasn't going to have anything to do with a church that doesn't preach the truth'. Brother P. said to me that he hoped that the next time that I came to church they would "get better victory".

The next evening, Monday July 3, 1972, (at a revival service), Brother W. made the following points concerning the events of the preceeding service (fieldnotes):

. . . Yesterday someone had said that he was a devil. I am not a devil, but I am d man. Just because I was anointed to take up serpents doesn't mean that I am a devil. A person can have nine spirits. . . Brothers and sisters are anointed with these different spirits, but no one that he knows Of, except Jesus, had them all at one time. If a person hasn't been fasting and praying, they have no business to attempt to drive out devils. Such people were only causing interference and would hinder the Spirit. We have allowed people who didn't have the anointing and who hadn't fasted, participate. He could tell if a man hadn't fasted and was more concerned with eating. (Brother P. said, yes, we haven't been strict enough with this.) W. said that the person must have paid the price and have been anointed before he should be allowed to participate. People who haven't paid the price with respect to a certain gift should not be attempting to use it. Also, people who speak heresy shouldn't speak. People who come to church with hate and jealousy in their hearts should stay home. Some have asked Brother W. why he doesn't empty the hosptial beds and cure the sick. Because some of these people have their afflictions Also, maybe he didn't have that anointing. from God. A pastor can't be travelling all around evangelizing, but must guide his flock. An evangelist or proplet would do that. There were two freshly caught copperheads outside and he would handle them tomorrow night

as he had the anointing to handle serpents. . . A church is a collection of many people; weak and strong, with various powers. No man has all of the power. One should not call one a devil because he uses one power and not another. A devil is a spirit, not a

Brother A. preached for awhile, making the point that (fieldnotes July 3, 1972):

> . . . Sometimes one can't heal because of the unrepented sins of the parents. He gave an example of a girl that he couldn't heal of deafness and dumbness because of her mother's sins. God puts afflictions on some. One must wait for the Word of God before knowing if a person can be healed or not. . .

Throughout this service saints affirmed what they believed about working in the signs, emphasizing that one must "... pay the price" before attempting to cast out demons or work in other signs. In effect, the service can be seen as a not so subtle denunciation of B.'s behavior and particular version of the meaning of anointing. It is noteworthy that B. also emphasized the notion that one must "pay the price". It appears that a number of B's points were adopted and then utilized to denounce him. If fact, as members' accounts fr =ceeded from the general to the specific condemnation of B. he ultimately was seen as  $b^{(1)}$ , at least a partial cause of why the demon was not cast out of the girl. The following comments made by Brother P. illustrate the point (fieldnotes is

... Brother P. talked about the retarded girl and said that she did have devils in her and once they were out, she would be all right. Also, he had felt the anointing to cast out devils last night, but felt interfered with by one who didn't and, therefore, he couldn't do it. (He also mentioned that his brother threatened to 'whup him', but he talked Don out of it and told him that he wasn't mad at the little girl, but at the Brother B. stayed away from church services at The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name until July 28, 1972. The so called "demon possessed" girl attended the service on Monday, July 3, 1972 and to my knowledge has not been back to the church since then. Occasionally at services (in 1973-74) someone will make a passing reference to her, saying that they saw her in town and how pitiful she looked or, she needs those demons cast out of her.

The following summary from my fieldnotes of July 9, 1972 is apt:

> I got the feeling that the church has just weathered another crises in faith. . . There has been much soul searching and re-evaluation and defining of positions. I think that the issue is resolved for the time being. The overall mood seems to be one of caution, of being very sure that the anointing is present before working in a sign such as casting out demons. . .

In other words through the exorcism that failed and the resulting conflict, members arrived at a new awareness of the constraints of working in this particular sign--an awareness that tended to restrict its use. Since that incident, I have not witnessed a comparable attempt at casting out demons. I have observed low keyed attempts at casting out demons to effect healing, but nothing to rival the incident (1 + 2), 1972. This is not to suggest that exorcism is no (1 + 2), of serpent-handling ideology, only that members approach it more cautiously and, perhaps as a result of their greater knowledge of its pitfalls, are much wiser and more skilled in to be suggest that a final solution to

this potentially problematic realm was arrived at. Casting out demons, like everything else in the church is subject to ongoing interpretation and creation of measures as action and reporting of action continually unfolds.

Case X--This case deals with the type of problems encountered by saints in speaking in tonques. Although instances for failure in this sign are less dramatic and less cricial than in some of the other signs it, nevertheless, provides a number of cases in which to examine how supernatural power is conceptualized and managed socially. This case not only looks at the negotiation of meaning, but also, if the varia bility and ambiguity in serpent-handlers' system of knowledge and how this is manipulated by saints in the origonic assignment of meaning to their environment. As in other cases, this due also illustrates the conflict between individual power effected behavior and the social interpretation of appropriateness.

Specifically, this case involves an elderly saint's attempt to chastise members for neglecting to render interpretation of their glossolalia. In doing this, the saint attempted to force a number of people to interprete glossolalia that he uttered. Members appeared to be offended by his behavior. Considerable conflict and hard feelings resulted. The incident unfolded as follows (fieldnotes, July 26, 1972):

> . . Brother W. spoke of speaking in tongues. . . It says in I Corinthians 14:27 that 'If any man speak in an unknown tongue, let it be by two, or at the most by three, and that by course; and let one interpret'.

> > ξ.

Speaking in tongues was meant as a sign to nonbelievers, but some of the brothers and sisters in the church spend most of their church time speaking in tongues. He said to Sister E., you once said that you could interpret tongues, didn't you? She said that she sometimes can. He told her to come up to the altar as he was going to speak in tongues and wanted it interpreted. (E. looked embarassed and started to move toward the front, hesitated, and the the brother that she did not want to go up there. He said, stay in your place then. (Sister L. and Sister E. exchanged glances as did L. with a sister in the back.) W. then asked if anyone else could interpret tongues. J. said that he could sometime: and P. indicated that he also could sometimes. E. J. and other saints appeared to be displeased with the brother's behavior. P., especially looked annoyed.) ъ,

Following his characteristic jerking and hand way.commotion - W. broke into a glossolalia utterance. It was not the short, punctuated variety usually heard at the church, but rather like he was speaking in larger phrases or sentences as in an African language. He spoke for only a couple of minutes. He then can ed on Sister E. for an inter. She looked impatient with him.) Neither J. nor - could he any literation or interpretive sense of the brother dominant the mich phone over to P. (who appeared to be giving string non verbal cues to W. to terminate his performance.

Wednesdays were especially set as the formation of preachers to gain experience as this mint to the only chance.

After this, Brother J. took the milliplane and presented the following discussion of the meaning of speaking in the series He emphasized that what he had to say was to thre tet addust Brother W. He only wanted to clarity the issue theids tee July 26, 1972):

. . . The passage says that 'they shall speak with new tongues' and that in all probability this foul: not be interpreted. It was meant as a sign te

demonstrate to non-believers. On the day of Pentecost, the Apostles were given the gift of other language tongues to enable them to carry the gospel around the world. Sometimes men educated in languages can under stand these tongues, but this is a special gift. (This is distinguished from understanding the spir meaning of an utterance.)

When Brother J. finished the above lesson, Brother D. indicated that he had a few words to speak. He enjoined people not + spread bad things about the church. Brother bu then said that he wanted to speak. He mentioned that he asudary fid not speak, but feat that he had to under the directmentationes. Earlier in the service a debate had developed between W = 1 of and P. over the meaning of 'fornication'. . . Br ther stated that:

> . . . if there were sinners present they would probably walk out because of the brothers between agreement and confusing the issue. The brothers need to get their stories straight before preaching. The church needs study workshops on Scriptures to get a standard interpretation. He said that maybe he was out of line bringing it up, but that is how he saw it. (The brothers in the ameniformer indicated that he had the right to say it, but all leaked if comfortable and put on the spot. The cooked antry art at one point kept waving his Bible, saying that is

Brother D. then jumped up asking it he preached anythono tratwas not the truth. F. and the others in the amening the answered by saying, "no brother D., you preached your contratcorrect." Brother W. then stood up and said rather harshop t Sister E., "You said You could interpret tongles but you couldn't interpret what I said". D. and E. and others all exchanged glances.) He then went on to say that Brother C. or no one else there could interpret what he had said to almost grabbed the microphone from him saying that we should read the Scriptures more before we start to speak. He they said that it was late and the service had to use. After a sign the service was dismissed. Brother 100 letting a tift so general contistor prevailed.

In this case, a number of issues proceed in roomat In effect, the variable interpretation of the comptute  $|\mathbf{a}|$ erning tengues was the root cause of the problem of peop cally over the distinction between "new torques"  $x_{ij}$  ,  $x_{ij} = 0$ language tongues". Thus, to members who allered to see distinction Brether Wis emphasis to interpretation was solved fluous in this case - imilarly, marking the species seemed to find his total performance to be clapping eleva group that emphasizes the leadership  $t \rightarrow t + i = j + i$ version was inacceptable. Bu temanding that the class of the second interpretation is his temples he assumed the structure of the second structure sould be rendered or command without the substance interaction of of the Spirit. When interpretations are made at the sole it is usually quite spontaneous and marifestic contents of the spirit possession. Moreover, W's 1, ss is a streated to the mechanical in comparison to the more island to that the spontaneous tongue speaking. Brother statistics to Baptist or related background, admonshed prothers to an at a standard interpretation of the Scriptures . This is a difficult achievement in a group where measure and applications

112

. 14

(d) the Bible is comparely dependent concerning compares compares on myBtical experiment.exponenties and compare process to experiment.

•

## POWER AND DEVICENMENTED ON THE READER DEVICE

As established in the created of the creation of the creation of the created of t

ise the assistant action to the second second

person or to take steps to prevent him from handling it.

The assistant pastor claimed that his behaivor was prompted by a dream that he had had the previous year in which a snake with Rudolf's distinctive markings viciously attacked and killed a serpent-handler whom he had not seen before. Shortly after acquiring Rudolf, the brother recognized that it was indeed the snake in his dream and he also recognized the snake's potential victim (an accomplished serpent-handler who had only recently started attending the church). To ' complicate matters, the man in question was an avid and enthusiastic snake-handler who took up serpents whenver he had the opportunity. (This followed from his belief that he stayed anointed twenty-four hours a day and could engage in the practice at anytime.) On one occasion this serpent-handler visited the assistant pastor's home and expressed interest in handling Rudolf. However, the assistant pastor claimed that he could not find the key to the padlocked serpent-box.

The following excerpts from my field notes (July 26, 1973) describe the assistant pastor's feelings on the situation:

> . . . The assistant pastor and I carried Rudolf into the back yard and he shot the snake in the head, through the screen of the serpent-box with a "22" . . He seemed reluctant to kill Rudolf and figured that if it were not for the dream that he probably would not have done it. It hurt him to kill almost anything, even 'mean old Rudolf', but he figured that it was better to kill it than to have this prophetic dream materialize. He said that he would have liked to get the anointing over Rudolf, but figured that if he ever was anointed to take up a particular snake that he could probably never bring himself to kill it. .

The saint's killing of the snake created a problem of credibility. The insinuation could be made by saint and sinner alike that the brother doubted the power of anointing in general or doubted that he had the ability to handle this particularly vicious snake. As church members often make decision based on dreams or visions, the assistant pastor's claim was plausible (at least to other saints). However, members assess and interpret the merits of particular cases based on their background knowledge of the situation. In this particular case, the saint's claims were taken seriously as members knew him as a person who consistently received strong anointing to handle serpents, had a thorough knowledge of the Bible, and who lived a Holiness lifestyle. This is not to suggest that a general consensus was arrived at, only that the issue did not find its way into sermons and did not develop into a major issue in the church. Its discussion remained at the level of insinuation in private conversations between saints. Like most other issues in the church dealing with power, a final resolution was not reached and the incident was kept alive through the telling and retelling of accounts.

This incident proved embarrassing to the assistant pastor and others in the church in their dealings with nonbelieving friends, relatives, and neighbors. The assistant pastor's next door neighbor had heard the gun shots and came outside to see what had taken place. The saint confided to me that he hoped that none would hear the gun shots as this would

be difficult to explain to non-believers. Not long after Rudolf was killed, the saint's brother-in-law stopped in for a visit and asked to see Rudolf. The assistant pastor explained that it had been shot and why this was necessary. The brotherin-law said that the snake was shot because the saint was afraid of it, suggesting that serpent-handlers only used snakes that were sluggish and docile.

Incidents like this can do considerable damage to serpent-handlers' performance claims. For this reason alone, some in the church remained critical of this act, even though the validity of prophetic dreams was not at issue.

## ANALYSIS AND CHAPTER CONCLUSION

One goal of this ethnography is to isolate underlying premises of the religion from which behavior and interpretations of behavior are generated. As abstracted from the analysis of the case studies, I am suggesting that The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name is generated and organized about four nonnegotiable premises:

1. The basic premise from which the other organizing rules are derived is that All power in the universe resides in God.

2. Establishing a relationship between people and power and giving this power (and God) meaning and immediacy is the fact that people have access of this power as specified in the King James Bible.

3. Delineating the potentialities of that power, power or anointing is channeled to men through various administrations that correlate roughly with specific works. 4. Providing the system with flexibility and a logical basis for members' negotiations:

(a) "It's impossible for you to get hurt in the anointing of God. . . but when the hedge is broken the serpent will bite";

(b) "God's Spirit will always follow His Word... but you can't dictate (or fully understand) to the Spirit... as all power in the universe resides in God..."

These four premises conform to Gasking's (1955:432, in Mehan and Wood 1975:9) notion of "incorrigible propositions", which:

> . . . you would never admit to be false whatever happens; it therefore does not tell you what happens . . . The truth of an incorrigible proposition. . . is compatible with any and every conceivable state of affairs. (For example: whatever is your experience on counting, it is still true that 7 + 5 = 12).

In essence, such propositions may be seen as "unquestioned and unquestionable axioms" (Mehan and Wood 1975:9). From an ethnomethodological perspective, incorrigible faith ". . . is not so much a faith about a fact in the world as a faith in the facility of the world itself" (Ibid.). Applying this principle to serpent-handlers: no matter what the outcome of particular performances, saints would not deny the existence of God, the validity of the Bible, or the notoin that power operates in saints' lives. Crucial to this is the fourth premise mentioned above, which avoids intolerable contradiction.

It is my thesis that members' acceptance of these premises forms the basis for cognitive sharing at The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name ----Members' acceptance of these presuppositions is not automatic neither is it unproblematic; but the validity of these presuppositions is not debated. I am not suggesting that these rules are behaviorally predictive. Rather, they are essential for "making sense" of the diverse, and apparently contradictory, phenomenal world of serpenthandlers.

As shown in the cases presented in this chapter, when power apparently fails saints rely on (as well as the essential "slipperiness" of the system) what Evans-Pritchard (1937:330) called "secondary elaborations". Through such elaborations saints may account for apparent disconfirmations, blaming poor timing, divisive spirits, lack of faith, and a host of other variables; without questioning their invariable premises.⁷

Polanyi (1964:287) arrived at similar conclusions in looking at Evans-Pritchard's work on Azande witchcraft. He states that:

⁷Cognitive dissonance theory may also be used to account for members' handling of a disconfirmation of beliefs. I purposely did not use this approach for a number of "reasons. Primarily, the use of cognitive dissonance theory is inconsistent with the goals of ethnographic analysis specified in this thesis. My aim is to discover members' organizing principles, not to impose arbitrarily a uniformist theory derived from the observer's assumptive world. In addition, the use of cognitive dissonance theory poses a number of methodological problems. How do we establish that a person is experiencing dissonance, let along an entire group! Or, following the line of thought presented in this study, how can we establish in a number of cases that a disconfirmation has indeed occurred? (It is possible that given the logical constructs of members they are unaware of disconfirmations seen by the analyst.) For a further critique of dissonance theory see Birckhead (1971). For an example of a fruitful ethnographic applicatin of cognitive **dissonance theory, see Sanada and Norbeck** (1975).

Our formally declared beliefs can be held to be true in the last resort only because of our logically anterior acceptance of a particular set of terms, from which all our references are constructed.

In essence, Polyani is suggesting a generative model for explaining members' ability to deal with apparent disconfirmations of belief. Specifically, from core principles of knowledge, members (Azande, serpent=handlers, or academics) are able to elaborate an almost infinite range of explanations.

Polanyi' conceptualizes a system based on secondary elaborations as "epicyclical" in that it can supply ". . .a reserve of subsidiary explanations. . . which will cover almost any conceivable eventuality, however embarassing this may appear at first sight" (<u>Ibid</u>., p. 291). For Polanyi, the success of such systems in explaining contradiction is attributable to their circularity. All explanations refer back to apriori underlying premises. Explanations that threaten to break this circle are inadmissible and are converted into the logic of the belief system. (This is exemplified by Evans-Pritchard's attempts to confront the Azande with principles of Western logic. Evans-Pritchard 1937:319).

Finally, Polanyi (<u>op</u>. <u>cit</u>., p. 291) attributes the persistence of epicyclical systems to members' penchant for handling logical objections to the system one at a time. Specifically:

> ... a new conception ... could be established only by a whole series of relevant instances, and such evidence cannot accumulate in the minds of people if each of them is disregarded in its turn for lack of the concept which would lend significance to it.

As already emphasized, Polanyi's concept of the "epicyclical system" has considerable relevance to the study of serpent-handling. For the purposes of this study, however, Polanyi's notion is seen as being relatively static.⁸ He (<u>Ibid</u>., p. 287) notes, for example, that ". . . Azande culture provides a number ready explanations"; but does not make explicit members' interactional practices this making these "ready explanations" emerge. Similarly, Polanyi does not account for variability in explanations or what this variability might mean to the group as a whole.

In looking at serpent-handling, we need to extend Polanyi's static model to include ways that saints negotiate the meanings of events and the implications that this has for the viability of the community. One way of approaching this is through an examination of saints' decision-making concerning the meaning of an event specifically, a case of serpent-bite. Figure III depicts the logical possibilities in a case of serpent-bite death.⁹

This model is an extremely simplified version of serpent-handlers' decision-making, showing the junctures where choice must be made, i.e., negotiated and debated. This basic model, however, is capable of generating a considerably more

٢

⁸This is not surprising as Polanyi did not collect the Asande data in the field but had only the reports of Evans-Pritchard to rely on.

⁹The type of Decision model used here is adapted from the work of Geoghagen 1971; and Keesing 1971.



;



283

,
complex decision-making matrix. But, in the end, no matter what paths are taken by negotiators the outcome remains and the basic premises of the religion are logically reaffirmed. Simply, a saint decides whether or not the deceased person was working the sign with anointing power. If the answer is yes, and it is determined that the anointing was from God, then it follows that the anointing departed or attenuated (the hedge was broken). He would then decide whether the hedge was broken by God, by the saint, by the devil, or by factors in the environment. Once this has been ascertained, any number of possible explanations within this category are available.

Saints have developed a large number of distinctions / within the "by saint" and "by God" explanations of why the hedge was broken. On both an empirical and theoretical level these two categoires appear to be of particular importance to the affirmation of the underlying premises of the religion; specifically, that man can and does receive power from God and, that "you can't get hurt in the anointing of God". Figure IV outlines some of the reasons saints give for why the hedge is broken.

In the above cases no matter what the outcome of saints negotiations the outcome of the simplified decision model (Figure III) is replicated--i.e., the Word is still the Word and the truth assumptions of the religion remain unaltered.

#### FIGURE IV

## HEDGE IS BROKEN

Environment

# By God

1. divisive spirit

٠.

2. distraction

3. Devil

- A. Special Purpose
  - 1. teach saint
  - 2. teach sinner
  - 3. heal saint
  - 4. units God's people
  - 5. spread gospel
  - 6. only God knows
  - 7. to be determined
  - 8. . . .
- B. To Fulfill Prophecy
- C. Can't Know In Carnal Nind
- D. Don't Question God
- E. Time Up, Call Saint Home, (saint gave life for church)
- **F**. . . .

-

# By Saint

- A. Break Rule Of Technique Or Belief 1. weak anointing
  - 2. weak faith
  - 3. timing
  - 4. meaning of sign
  - 5. same sign twice
  - 6. before same audience
  - 7. vain spirit
  - 8. sinful life
  - 9. wrong sign
  - 10. lost faith, saw doctor
  - 11. Ignorance
  - 12. Listened to Devil

٠

13. . . .

One final example of saints' decision-making will be examined to demonstrate further the type of secondary and tertiary elaborations negotiated by members. In this case, a member has been serpent-bit but does not suffer. If the person had manifested visible symptoms such as swelling, nausea, or passing out, saints' will (all things being equal) work within a decision-making matrix similar to the one outlined in Figure III. Nembers logically have the fallowing decisions to make in their negotiation of the meaning(s) of the incident. Although the particulars are different from those presented in the previous case, the final underlying conclusions remain the same--that the Word is still the Word and the premises of the faith validated.

In using the decision models I do not purport to account for all possible eventualities. The model depicts secondary and negotiable elaborations of saints' basic premises, invariable rules, or incorrigible propositions. Consequently, it is recursive and does not represent a finite and highly bounded domain. What is of interest here is that no matter what secondary elaborations saints rely on, the basic structure of the model remains unaltered, i.e., the underlying premises are affirmed and reinforced.

The apparent simplicity of the decision models masks the complexities of saints' negotiations and interactional work for making the meaning(s) of secondary elaborations emerge. Consequently, the decision models as used here are capable

FIGURE V



287

.

of explicating the logical structure of saints' negotiations, but not of predicting what specific elaborations saints will employ. This is consistent with the goals of ethnographic malysis introduced in Chapter I.¹⁰

The goals of this ethnography vary somewhat from those articulated by Geoghegan (1971:5-6), who posited that the goal of ethnographic analysis is not only to account for what: ". . . a native actor does under certain circumstances, but also how he decides what to do". To achieve this ideal, ". . . we have to know what information he is operating with and how it is being processed" (<u>ibid</u>.). This view rests on a number of assumptions about the nature of cognition in general and information processing in particular. Specifically, (<u>ibid</u>., p. 29):

> This commitment involves such fundamental notions as the itemization of information (i.e., the cognitive representation of information as discrete units and not as continuously variable magnitudes), the sequential processing of information, the tendency toward efficient cognitive systems, limitations on the amount of information that can be processed at one time, recoding, contrast between the states of an assessment ..., and so on. ...

It is instructive to note ways in which serpent-handlers' assignment of meaning or decision-making departs from Geoghegan's assumptions. In seeking to isolate how saints

10 Specifically, Frake (1964b:133) states that: "The model of an ethnographic statement is not: 'if a person is confronted with stimulus X, he will do Y,' but 'if a person is in mituation X, performance Y will be judged appropriate by mative actors'".

process information we are not dealing with a lineal information model.¹¹ Units of information--i.e., "suffering/not suffering", "anointed/not amointed", "on faith/not on faith", "Holiness lifestyle", "by God/by the Devil", etc.--all have non material referents and are validated by personal experience and group negotiation. For example, what constitutes visible symptoms of suffering and degree of suffering is variable--there being no once-and-for-all definition. Decisions about what really happened are based on an enormous reserve of background (perhaps "logically" irrelevant) information. In the case of serpent-bite with suffering, members' background knowledge concerning the individual and his behavior in the past; his lifestyle, personality, position with respect to factions in the church, how well he presents his case may all effect the diagnosis.

The secondary negotiable elaborations do not arrange themselves logically in neat and predictable sequences, nor in an invariant hierarchiacal structure based on rules of inclusion/exclusion. For example, "good" and "evil" do not appear to be of equal valence in this system: the Devil may act, but only at God's will (see Birckhead 1975:9-11).

Decisions made are not final. Saints are capable of (and comfortable about) changing and reformulating decisions as new information presents itself, often in prophecy, visions

288

ŧ

¹¹See Barth (1966) for a discussion of decision-making and the generative model.

or dreams. The fact that this is an oral rather than written tradition contributes to this open-endedness.

A final point not fully accounted for in a decisionmaking matrix is the belief that God can miraculously intervene, the rule being, that the spirit can make what appears to be not obvious, obvious. In other words, the spirit of God serves as a rule for breaking or rewriting rules (for the purposes at hand). As is shown in Figure IV (when the hedge is broken), this sort of explanation is used frequently. By involving God's will, judgement can be suspended, or an old decision can be flatly contradicted; and, the sense of being a community with access to power is not weakened but reaffirmed. This is crucial to our understanding of saints' management of apparent disconfirmations and ambiguities.

Although saints' decision-making is not predictable or totally accountable in terms of either/or junctures, decisions appear to be made against a background of nonnegotiable rules. The non-negotiable rules establish the logical basis out of which a wide range of interpretations (eg. secondary elaborations) can be generated. In other words, in the end, saints' negotiations and decision-making in cases where power is problematic all reach the same underlying, ... invariable conclusions--"the Word is still the Word. .. all power in the universe resides in God". What is interesting is maints' interactional practices for making obvious the underlying premises of the religion. The implications of

this for the ongoing creation of a community of saints will be discussed in the following chapter.

290

•

#### CHAPTER IX

## SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

In this thesis I have focused on ways in which members of a congregation of Southern Appalachian serpenthandlers create meaning for their practices, a distinctive identity as apostles and saints, and a sense of community. My central proposition has been that meaning, identity, and community are not fixed or inherent qualities, but emerge out of members' interactions.

The theoretical approach, technical language, and philosophical basis of this study were derived from ethnosemantics, socio-linguistics, transformational-generative linguistics, and ethnomethodology. Used in combination, these ideas, assumptions, and procedures raised pertinent questions and suggested methods and concepts applicable to the study.

Although the study combines the perspectives of a number of disciplines or sub-disciplines, they share a common concern with the complex question of meaning--how it is created, generated, managed, negotiated, and sustained. The general procedure is to probe beneath the varied phenomenal world to seek and interpret underlying invariances that generate and organize behavior and lead to interpretations of behavior by the actors.

An eclectic approach was used because the ideas and methods of no single scholarly field seemed adequate for organizing and interpreting my data on serpent-handling. the study began from an ethnosemantic perspective, but I found that this approach lacked vocabulary and methods suitable for dealing with change and variability of behavior. Through focusing on serpent-handling's terminological systems I was able to isolate the salient semantic domain of supernatural power. This provided a starting point from which to approach the community and to posit underlying organizing principles. Given this concern with underlying invariances, I found Chomsky's concept of a generative grammar to be useful. It provided an analogy for conceptualizing at the level of a community a limited number of incorrigible propositions, invariable rules, or non-negotiable premises that underlie and generate a seemingly limiteless number of negotiable or variable interpretations. This established the basic structure against which the meaning of members' negotiations could be viewed. It is at this level of social negotiations of derived rules and premises that much of the work of creating and sustaining a community is conducted. Although the incorrigible propositions are basic to and generate community interaction, they do not provide specific instructions for their applications in varied situations. This must be negotiated and arrived at by members.

In conceptualizing the meaning and structure of members' negotiation my perspective was derived from ethnomethodology. Ethnomethodology, although not ordinarily applied at a community level, provided a valuable tool for "making sense of" members' negotiation practices and for focusing on the constructed, problematic nature of social meaning. From this perspective, it was seen that meaning is constituted situationally rather than emerging from fixed or objective standards. Specifically, I suggested that through members' analyzing and reporting on the events of their social world, a sense of the logical and experiential reality of that world is created and sustained. With regard to serpenthandlers, I maintained that through their accounting practices the facticity of supernatural power is established and sustained.

Finally, the socio-linguistic concept of the speech community was used to emphasize the larger linkages and fluidity of a serpent-handling group. I found this to be a useful way of focusing on community definition, interaction and identity.

The basic organization of the thesis emphasized its underlying focus. Although chapters two through six provided historical, socio-economic, and social organizational background information and established the context for my analysis of supernatural power in chapters seven and eight; they also focused on the community as a product of members' practices. The specific emphasis here was on members' accounts.

Chapter II located serpent-handling historically. Two contrasting perspectives were explicated. History was viewed lineally, as traditionally conceived by social scientists and historians. This was contrasted with members' religious interpretations of their history. It was shown that saints mythically telescope history, thereby linking the present with the Apostolic era. Following from this, history was viewed as a resource or means of community creation. Specifically, members' theumaturgical expectations were created and justified, as well as their sense of being saints and apostles.

Chapter III focused on the origin and development of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, and on what I labelled members' "documentary practices". Besides accounting for the prosaic and spectacular events of a serpent-handling community, members' practices of preserving and creating documentation of their community activities was focused on. This is an important point for the researcher to grasp, for at the level of analyzing the past of one community, it was demonstrated that much of the available historical documentation is a direct or indirect result of members' practices. It was further demonstrated that through these practices members establish wide ties outside of the religious community as well as a sense of the community as an important (newsworthy) production.

Chapter IV focused on the socio-economic situation of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name, and provided a perspective on serpent-handling and society. Not only was saints' socio-economic position established, but it was shown that saints' interpretations of of their class position may be seen as a mythical construction. Specifically, in their accounts, members portrayed the religion as having a much wider constituency justified from the analyst's perspective.

Chapter V defined the notion of a community of saints and explored aspects of serpent-handlers' identity as a "separated people". The community was defined as being problematic and emergent. It was also seen as a community within communities--within a larger secular context, and situated within a larger religious network. Following from this, identity and identity maintenance were examined. It was shown that although saints in general espouse separateness as an ideal, its exact meaning and achievement are open to interpretation and negotiation.

Chapter VI accounted for aspects of the church's social and activity structure. The fluid nature of role and role playing, authority and leadership, social control, and social structure was established and analyzed. This chapter also explored the importance of saints' concepts of supernatural power in generating and organizing religious activity. It was shown that the King James Bible provides the basic guidelines for proper church organization and the work of "the spirit"

in the church. The Bible does not provide, however, specific instructions for members' role playing or for the implementation of ideal structure and organization. As throughout the study, it was emphasized that this emerges through ongoing interaction. The problematic aspects of leadership and social organization was demonstrated.

Chapter VII provided an overview of saints' concepts of supernatural power. It was demonstrated that the domain of power is complex and provides considerable flexibility and ambiguity. This chapter also established some of the basic ground rules and rules of etiquette for power effected performances. This discussion was organized around saints' concepts and saints' accounts about the nature of power.

Finally, Chapter VIII presented a number of cases that focused on the problematic aspect of saints' concepts of supernatural power. Three categories of events were examined: (1) Power and Preaching; (2) When Signs Fail; and, (3) Power And Decision Making In Everyday Life. In presenting these cases, four concerns were emphasized: (1) the translation of individual ecstatic experiences into appropriate social behavior; (2) the negotiation of meaning; (3) variability of explanations; and, (4) members accounting practices. This chapter concluded with a theoretical analysis of saints' negotiated decision-making about the meaning(s) of various power effected activities. In this anglysis, what I consider to be the four invariable premises of the religion were

examined, and the application of the generative model with regard to saints' interpretations was explicated.

Ľ

Throughout this thesis I have focused on the problematic nature of life in a serpent-handling community. The specific focus has been on members' ongoing negotiations of meaning. A number of examples and cases (primarily involving saints' concepts of supernatural power) of members' accounts and negotiations have been examined. I have argued that meaning must be viewed as unstable, situated, open to negotiation and reinterpretation--in flux.

A number of questions can be raised regarding the implications and applications of my findings: one, are the findings applicable to serpent-handling churches in general; two, what relationship do members' negotiation of meanings have in the maintenance of the church; and, three, does my approach have implications for an understanding of social life in general?

With regard to the application of my findings to serpent-handling in general, a number of points should be made. This is an extremely difficult question to generalize on, owing to a paucity of data. Although a number of serpenthandling churches have been studied by researchers, most studies have glossed over or neglected entirely, the question of meaning. From available evidence I am suggesting that the processes that I described and analyzed as operative in The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name are applicable to other

congregations. It is possible, however, that The Holiness > Church Of God In Jesus Name represents a somewhat extreme case. Specifically, it might be reasonable to argue that issues that prove problematic for this relatively youthful congregation might not create the same degree of difficulty for more established churches. However, many of the problems faced by members of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name can be seen as being inherent to the religion's belief and activity system. All serpent-handling congregations, by virtue of their belief in the efficacy of supernatural power, encounter similar difficulties in translating the individual's mystical experiences into appropriate social action. This may be seen as serpent-handling's underlying contradiction. To adequately answer this question, however, further research needs to be undertaken at a number of different serpenthandling congregations, with emphasis given to the dimensions of group life examined in this study. Considerable variability exists within the larger serpent-handling movement and it would be useful to examine ways in which varied groups attempt to reconcile the individual/group contradiction.

)

In looking at the role of negotiations in the maintenance of the church, the following conclusions are suggested. It was shown in Chapter VIII, that negotiations of the meanings of events are generated from and relate back to, four nonnegotiable premises or invariable rules. These rules or premises were been as forming the shared ideological basis of

the community. Saints' acceptance of these premises seems to be dependent largely on the conversion experience. This is not to suggest that if questioned, saints would list the four invariable premises. Rather, these premises are made evident by saints, referred back to, and continually reinforced through power-effected experiences and through the ongoing negotiation of the social meaning of those experiences. These premises regarding members' acquisition of power are of great interest to saints. What I am suggesting, is that negotiations and interpretations derived from the underlying premises provide the basis for, and generate social interaction. This is extremely important because without the resultant activities, the concept of saint would be meaningless.

In arriving at four non-negotiable premises, I do not mean to imply that saints are slaves to their culture or frozen in their actions. Rather, I see the open-endedness and flexibility of the system as promoting considerable creativity and contributing to the ongoing viability of the community of saints.

Finally, this work is not conclusive, nor does it exhaust all avenues of analysis. What I am suggesting and have attempted to demonstrate throughout this thesis is the fluid, negotiated nature of social life. The analysis of a small serpent-handling congregation poses theoretical and philosophical questions which have implications for the study of social life in general.

۰,



•

~

•



## REFERENCES CITED

-

٢

•

Abell, Troy D. 1974 The Holiness-Pentecostal Experience In Southern Appalachia. Ph.D. dissortation, University of Michigan Microfilms. Aceves, Joseph B. 1974 Identity, Survival; And Change. Morristown, N.J., General Learning Press. American Sociological Review 1968 Review Symposium (Ethnomethodology). 33:122-130. Barrett, Wayne 1973 They Shall Take Up Serpents (Video-tape). Johnson City, Tennessee, Southern Appallachian Video Ethnography Series. Barth, Fredrick The Analytical Importance Of Transaction. In Nodels Of Social Organization, Occasional Paper 1966 Of The Royal Anthropological Institute Of Great Britain and Ireland, 23:1-20. Bauman, Richard 1975 Verbal Art As Performance. American Anthropologist. 78(2):290-311. Bauman, Richard and Joel Sherzer, eds. 1974 Explorations In The Ethnography Of Speaking. London, Cambridge University Press. Bernard, Jessie 1973 The Sociology Of Community. Glenview, Illinois, Scott, Foresman and Company. Berreman, Gerald D. 1966 Anemic And Emetic Analysis In Social Anthropology. American Anthropologist 68(2):346-354. Birckhend, Roy James 1970 A Critique Of Weston La Barre's "They Shall Take Up Serpents: Psychology Of The Southern Snake-Mandling Cult", Unpublished Paper. 1971 Appalachian Serpent-Handling And Its Alternatives, Unpublished Paper.

Birckhead, Roy James

- 1971 A Dissonance Approach To Appalachian Serpent-Handling Cults, Unpublished Paper.
  - 1972 "Holy, Holy, Holy"--The Context And Structure Of Religious Action In A Southern Appalachian Pentecostal-Holiness Church "With Signs Following"--A Working Proposal, Unpublished Paper.
  - 1974 "God's Not Dead, He Is Still Alive"--A Study Of "Reality Management" In A Southern Appalachian Serpent-Handling Church. Paper read at the American Anthropological Association Meetings, Mexico City, 1974.
  - 1974 "God's Not Dead, He Is Still Alive"--A Study Of "Reality Management" In A Southern Appalachian Serpent-Handling Church--A Dissertation Proposal, Unpublished Paper.
  - 1975 "Sign" And Symbol In A Southern Appalachian Serpent-Handling "Community". Paper read at the American Anthropological Association Meetings, San Francisco, 1975.
  - 1976 "Power" And Everyday Life In A Southern Appalachian Serpent-Handling "Community". Paper read at the Southern Anthropological Society Meetings, Atlanta, 1976.

Borker, Ruth A.

1974 Presenting The Gospel: Religious Communication And Expressive Strategies In Three Evangelical Churches In Edinburgh, Scotland. Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, University of California, Berkeley.

Brown, James S. and George A. Hillery, Jr.

1962 The Great Migration, 1940-1960. In The Southern Appalachian Region A Survey, Thomas R. Ford, ed., Lexington, University of Kentucky Press, pp. 54-78.

Burling, Robbins

1964 Cognition And Componential Analysis: God's Truth or Hocus-Pocus? American Anthropologist 66:20-28.

Burton, Thomas and John Schrader

1973 They Shall Take Up Serpents (Film). Greenville, Tennessee, Sinking Creek Film Festival.

Bloch-Hoell, Nils 1964 The Pentecostal Movement. Oslo, Universitetsforlaget.

Callahan, North 1952 Smoky Mountain Country. New York, Duell, Sloan, and Pearce.

- Calley, Malcolm, J. C. 1965 God's People: West Indian Pentecostal Sects In England. London, Oxford University Press.
- Campbell, Will D. Which Is The Real Evil--Snake Handling Or The 1974 Establishment Church? A Study of Appalachian Folk Religion. Southern Voices 1(1) 41.
- Chattanooga News-Free Press
  - Woman, 40, Critically Bitten In Snake Rites. 1962 Chattanooga, June 19, (Clipping File, Chattanooga Public Library).
- Chattanooga Times

1948 Dolly Ponders Quit Handling Snakes: Trustee "Doesn't Have Faith Enough". Chattanooga, August 3. (Clipping File, Chattanooga Public Library).

1955 Cultist Dies Of Snakebite: Believed Dolley Pond Leader. Chattanooga, July 25, (Clipping File Chattanooga Public Library).

Chomsky, N.

1957 Syntactic Structures. The Hague, Mouton.

- Churchill, Lindsey
- Ethnomethodology And Measurement. Social Forces 50:185. 1971
- Clark, Elmer T. 1949 The Small Sects In America. Nashville, Abingdon Press.

Cobb, Alice L.

Sect, Religion, And Social Change In An Isolated Rural Community Of Southern Appalachia--With Case Story, Fruit Of The Land. Ph.D. dissertation, 1965 University of Michigan, Microfilms.

Colby, B. N.

1966 Ethnographic Semantics: A Preliminary Survey. Current Anthropology 7(1):3-32.

Collins, J. B.

1947 Tennessee Snake Handlers. Chattanooga, Chattanooga News-Free Press.

Daily Beacon, 'Serpent-Handlers' Worship God. . . To Their Own 1973 Conscience. Knoxville (University of Tennessee), April 30, pp. 2-3. Dallaş Morning News 1974 (No Title). October 24 (Clipping File, D. Bergfeld) Darnell, Regna Book Review Of Sociolinguistic Patterns (Labov). 1972 ms. Darnell, Regna and Anthony L. Vanek 1976 Introduction To Linguistic Anthropology. ms. Dickinson, Eleanor and Barbara Benziger 1974 Revival. New York, Harper and Row. Edmonton Journal A Preacher's Date With Death. Edmonton, June 15, 1974 p. 20. (No Title, Focus On People Section). Edmonton, 1976 March 10, p. 40. Eliade, Mircea Cosmos And History: The Myth Of Eternal Return. 1959 New York, Harper and Row. Elifson, Kirk W. and Peggy S. Tripp Development And Analysis Of Serpent Handling Ritual. 1975 Paper read at the Association For The Sociology Of Religion Meetings, San Francisco, 1975. The Belief System Of Serpent Handlers: Ritual And 1975 Bites. Paper read at the Society For The Scientific Study of Religion, Milwaukee, 1975. 1976 Ultimate Faith: The Religion Of Serpent Handlers. ms. Evans-Pritchard, E. E. Witchcraft Oracles And Magic Among The Azande. 1937 London, Oxford University Press. Foxfire Magazine 1973 Issue On Serpent Handling, untitled. 7(1). Frake, Charles O. 1961 The Diagnosis Of Disease Among The Subanun Of Mindanao. American Anthropologist 63.1:113-132.

Frake, Charles 0.

- 1964a A Structural Description Of Subanun "Religious Behavior". In Explorations In Cultural Anthropology, Ward Goodenough, ed. New York, McGraw-Hill, pp. 111-129.
- 1964b Notes On Queries In Ethnography. American Anthropologist Special Publication, Transcultural Studies In Cognition 66.3:132-145.
- 1972 The Ethnographic Study Of Cognitive Systems. In Culture And Cognition: Rules, Maps, And Plans, James P. Spradley, ed. San Francisco, Chandler, pp. 191-205.
- Garfinkel, Harold 1967 Studies In Ethnomethodology. Englewood Cliffs, Prentice-Hall.
- Geoghegan, William H. 1971 Information Processing Systems In Culture. In Explorations In Mathematical Anthropology. Paul Kay ed. Cambridge, Mass., M.I.T. Press, pp. 3-35.
- Gerlach, Luther P. and Virginia H. Hine 1970 People, Power, Change: Movements Of Social Transformation. New York, Bobbs-Merrill.
- Gerrard, Nathan L. and Louise B. Gerrard 1966a Scrabble Creek Folk, Part I, Mental Health. Unpublished report for Wenner-Gren Foundation.
  - 1966b Scrabble Creek Folk, Part II, Mental Health. Unpublished report for The National Institute Of Mental Health, Public Health Service.

Gerrard, Nathan L.

- 1968 The Serpent-Handling Religions Of West Virginia. Trans-action 5:22-28.
- 1971 Churches Of The Stationary Poor In Southern Appalachia. In Change In Rural Appalachia Implications For Action Programs. John D. Photiadis and Harry K. Schwarzweller, ed., pp. 99-114.
- Gerrard, Nathan L., Louise B. Gerrard, Auke Tellegen, and James 1969 M. Butcher Personality Characteristics Of A Serpent-Handling Religious Cult. In MMPI--Research Developments And Clinical Applications. James M. Butcher, ed. New York, McGraw-Hill, pp. 221-242.

Goffman, Erving

- 1959 The Presentation Of Self In Everyday Life. Garden City, N.Y., Doubleday and Company.
- Goldstein, Kenneth S.
  - **1964 A Guide For Field Workers** In Folklore. Hatboro, Penn., Folklore Associates, Inc.
- Goodenough, Ward H.
  - 1956 Residence Rules. Southwestern Journal Of Anthropology 12:22-37.
  - 1961 Property, Kin, And Community On Truk. New Haven, Conn., Yale University Publications In Anthropology.
  - 1963 Cooperation In Change. New York, Russell Sage Foundation.
  - 1964 Explorations In Cultural Anthropology. New York, McGraw-Hill.
  - 1965 Rethinking "Status" And "Role", In The Relevance Of Models For Social Anthropology. Michael Banton, Ed., Association Of Social Anthropologists Monograph No. 1. London: Tavistock pp. 1-24.

Goodman, Felicitas D.

1969 Phonetic Analysis Of Glossolalia In Four Cultural Settings. Journal For The Scientific Study Of Religion. 8(2):227-239.

- 1971 Disturbance In The Apostolic Church: Case Study Of A Trance-Based Upheaval In Yucatan. Ph.D. dissertation, University of Michigan Microfilms.
- 1972 Speaking In Tongues: A Cross-Cultural Study Of Glossolalia. Chicago, The University of Chicago Press.
- Goodridge, J. F.
  - **1966** Introduction, Piers The Ploughman (Langland). New York, Penguin Books.

Gumperz, John

- 1964 Linguistic And Social Interaction In Two Communities. American Anthropologist Special Publication. The Ethnography Of Communication. 66.6:137-154.
- 1972 Introduction. In Directions In Sociolinguistics: The Ethnography Of Communication. John Gumperz and Dell Hymes, eds., New York, Holt, Rinehart, and Winston, pp. 1-25.

Harris, Marvin

The Rise Of Anthropological Theory. New York, 1968 Thomas Y. Crowell Company.

Hine, Virginia H.

- Pentecostal Glossolalia: Toward A Functional 1969 Interpretation. Journal For The Scientific Study Of Religion. 8.2:211-226.
- Hollenweger, Walter J.
  - 1972 The Pentecostals: The Charismatic Movement In The Churches. Minneapolis, Augsburg Publishing House.
- Holliday, Robert Kelvin 1968 Tests Of Faith. Oak Hill, West Virginia, The Fayette Tribune Inc.

Hostetler, John A. and Gertrude Enders Huntington The Hutterites In North America. New York, Holt, 1967 Rinehart And Winston, Inc.

Hymes, Dell

- Directions In (Ethno-) Linguistic Theory. American 1964 Anthropologist Special Publication, Transcultural Studies In Cognition. 66.3:6-57.
  - Sociolinguistics And The Ethnography Of Speaking. 1969 Paper read at Conference of Association Of Social Anthropologists, Sussex, 1969.
  - 1972 Models Of The Interaction Of Language And Social Life. In Directions In Sociolinguistics: The Ethnography Of Communication. John Gumperz and Dell Hymes, eds., New York, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, pp. 35-71.
  - Toward Linguistic Competence. Texas Working Papers 1973 In Sociolinguistics, 16:1-151.

Jaquith, James R.

Toward A Typology Of Formal Communicative Behaviors: 1967 Glossolalia. Anthropological Linguistics 9.8:1-8.

Kane, Steven M.

- Aspects Of The Holy Ghost Religion: The Snake-Handling 1973 Sect Of The American Southeast. Master's Thesis, University Of North Carolina.
  - Aspects Of Spirit Possession In A Rural Southeastern 1974 Religious Sect: Some Preliminary Observations. Paper read at Meeting of The Southern Anthropologisal Society, 1974.

#### Kane, Steven M.

- 1974 Holy Ghost People: The Snake-Handlers Of Southern Appalachia. Appalachian Journal 4:255-262.
  - 1974 Ritual Possession In A Southern Appalachian Religious Sect. Journal Of American Folklore. 87.346:293-302.
- Kaske, R. E.

Patristic Exegesis In The Criticism Of Medieval 1968 Literature: The Defense. In Interpretations Of Piers Plowman, Edward Vasta, ed., Notre Dame, University of Notre Dame Press, pp. 319-338.

Keesing, Roger M.

1971 Formalization And The Construction Of Ethnographies. In Explorations In Mathematical Anthropology, Paul Kay, ed. Cambridge, Mass. M.I.T. Press, pp. 37-49.

- 1972 Paradigms Lost: The New Ethnography And The New Linguisitcs. Southwestern Journal Of Anthropology. 28.4:299-332.
- Kerman, Keith

Rattlesnake Religion. In Eve's Stepchildren. Lealon 1942 N. Jones, ed. Caldwell, Idaho, Caxon Printers, pp. 93-102.

La Barre, Weston

- 1962a They Shall Take Up Serpents: Psychology Of The Southern Snake-Handling Cult. Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press.
  - 1962b Transference Cures In Religious Cults And Social Groups. The Journal Of Psychoanalysis In Groups. 1(1)66-75.
  - The Snake-Handling Cult Of The American Southeast. 1964 In Explorations In Cultural Anthropology, Ward H. Goodenough ed., New York, McGraw-Hill, pp. 309-333.
- Labov, William

.

Sociolinguistic Patterns. Philadelphia, University 1972 of Pennsylvan'ia Press.

# Labove, William and Joshua Waletzky

1966 Narrative Analysis: Oral Versions Of Personal Experience. American Ethnological Society Essays On The Verbal And Visual Arts, Proceedings of the 1966 Meeting, Philadelphia, Seattle, University of Washington Press, pp. 12-44.

Life Magazine 1944 Holiness Faith Healers. 17(1):59-62. Littell, F. H. 1964 The Origins Of Sectarian Protestantism. New York, Macmillan. Lyons, John 1970 Chomsky, London, Fontana. May, L. Carlyle 1956 A Survey Of Glossolalia And Related Phenomena In Non-Christian Religions. American Anthropologist 58:75-96. Mayrl, William W. 1973 Ethnomethodology: Sociology Without Society. Catalyst 7:15-28. Mehan, Hugh and Houston Wood The Reality Of Ethnomethodology. New York, John 1975 Wiley and Sons. Moerman, Michael 1965 Ethnic Identification In A Complex Civilization: Who Are The Lue? American Anthropologist 67: 1215-1225. Murphy, Robert F. Social Distance And The Veil. American Anthropolo-1964 gist 66:1257-1274. The Dialectics Of Social Life. New York, Basic 1971 Books. Newport Plain Talk Two Holiness Church Members Dead After Taking 1973 Strychnine. New port, April 9, pp. 1 and 3. Nichol, John Thomas 1966 The Pentecostals. Plainfield, N.J., Logos International. Niebuhr, Reinhold 1949 The Nature And Destiny Of Man: A Christian Interpretation. New York, Charles Scribner's Sons. Norbeck, Edward 1974 Religion In Human Life: Anthropological Views. New York, Holt, Rinehart And Winston.

-

 $r_{22}$ 

۲.

Pearsall, Marion 1966 Cultures Of The American South. Anthropological Quarterly 39(2):128-141. Pelto, Pertti J. and Gretel H. Pelto 1975 Intra-Cultural Diversity: Some Theoretical Issues. American Ethnologist 2(1)1-18. Pelton, Robert W. and Karen W. Carden 1974 Snake Handlers: God-Fearers? Or, Fanatics? Nashville, Thomas Nelson Inc. 1976 The Persecuted Prophets: The Story Of The Frenzied Serpent Handlers. South Brunswick, N.J., A.S. Barnes. Petras, John W. and Bernard Meltzer 1973 Theoretical And Ideological Variations In Contempoary Interactionism. Catalyst 7:1-8. Polanyi, Michael 1964 Personal Knowledge. New York, Harper and Row. Preece, Harold and Celia Kraft. 1946 Dew On Jordan. New York, Dutton. Pruyser, Paul W. 1968 A Dynamic Psychology Of Religion. New York, Harper and Row. Quinn, Naomi 1975 Decision Models Of Social Structure. American Ethnologist 2(1):19-45. Ranaghan, Kevin Mathers 1974 Rites Of Initiation In Representative Pentecostal Churches In The United States 1901-1972, Volumes I and II. Ph.D. dissertation, University of Michigan Microfilms. Redfield, Robert 1956 The Little Community. Chicago, University of Chicago Press. Risley, Eleanor de la Vergne 1930 The Road To Wildcat. Boston, Little, Brown and Company. Robertson, Archie 1950 That Old-Time Religion. Boston, Houghton Mifflin.

Samarin, William J.

- 1968 The Linguisticality Of Glossolalia. Hartford Quarterly 8(4):49-75.
- 1969 Forms And Functions Of Nonsense Language. Linguistics 50:70-74.
- 1972 Tongues Of Men And Angels: The Religious Language of Pentecostalism. New York, Macmillan Company.
- Sanada, Takaaki and Edward Norbeck 1975 Prophecy Continues To Fail: A Japanese Sect. Journal Of Cross-Cultural Psychology 6(3):331-345.

Sanders, I. T.

1958 The Community. New York, Ronald Press.

- Sargant, William
  - 1949 Some Cultural Group Abreactive Techniques And Their Relations To Modern Treatments. Royal Society Of Medicine Proceedings 42(5):367-374.
    - 1957 Battle For The Mind. Garden City, New York, Doubleday.
- Saturday Evening Post 1957 America's Strangest Religion. September 28:25-30.
- Schwarz, Berthold E. 1960 Ordeal By Serpents, Fire And Strychnine. Psychiatric Quarterly. 34(3):405-429.
- Shearing, C. D. 1973 Towards A Phenomenological Sociology. Catalyst 7:9-14.
- Spradley, James P.
  - **1970 You Owe Yourself A Drunk: An Ethnography** Of Urban Nomads. Boston, Little, Brown and Company.
    - 1972 Foundations Of Cultural Knowledge. In Culture And Cognition: Rules, Maps, and Plans, James P. Spradley, ed., San Francisco, Chandler, pp. 3-38.
- Spradley, James P. and David W. McCurdy 1975 Anthroplogy: The Cultural Perspective. New York, John Wiley and Sons, Inc.

Stekert, Ellen J.

1963 The Snake-Handling Sect Of Harlan County, Kentucky: Its Influence On Folk Tradition. Southern Folklore Quarterly 27(4):316-322.

Sturtevant, William C. 1964 Studies In Ethnoscience. American Anthropologist Special Publication, Transcultural Studies In Cognition. 66(3):99-132. Synan, Vinson 1971 The Holiness-Pentecostal Movement In The United States. Grand Rapids, Michigan, William B. Eerdmans. The Native Stone 1973 Taking Up Rattlesnakes In The Name Of Jesus. Asheville, July 5, pp. 1-5. Time Magazine 1945 Paralyzing Prayers. 46(12):23-24. 1947 (No Title). 49(10):22-23. 1947 Georgia: Any Deadly Thing. 50(10):25. Thomas Jean 1942 Blue Ridge Country. New York, Duell, Sloan, and Pearce. Tripp, Peggy Sullivan 1975 Serpent-Handlers: A Case Study In Deviance. Masters Thesis, Georgia State University. Tyler, Stephen A., ed. 1969 Cognitive Anthropology. New York, Holt, Rinehart and Winston. U.S. Department Of Commerce, Bureau Of The Census United States Census Of; Population: 1970, Vol. I, 1970 Characteristics Of The Population, Pt 44, Tennessee. Vance, Paul R. L. 1975 A History Of Serpent Handlers In Georgia, North Alabama And Southeastern Tennessee. Masters Thesis, Georgia State University. Vansina, Jan 1965 Oral Tradition: A Study In Historical Methodology. Chicago, Aldine. Wallace, Anthony F. C. 1961 Culture And Personality. New York, Random House. 1962 Culture And Cognition. Science 135(3501):351-357.

. .

-. **7** 

Warburton, T. Rennie

1969 Holiness Religion: An Anomaly Of Sectarian Typologies. Journal For The Scientific Study Of Religion, 8(1):130-139.

Womeldorf, John A. 1947 Rattlesnake Religion. The Christian Century 64(50): 1517-1518. · · · · ·

Wood, William W. 1965 Culture And Personality Aspects Of The Pentecostal Holiness Religion. The Hague, Mouton.

Young, Mary M.

1974 Boundary Maintenance In A Religious Minority Group In Western Canada. Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, University of Alberta.

Zimmerman, Don H. and D. Lawrence Wieder

1970 Ethnomethodology And The Problem Of Order: Comment On-Denzin, In Understanding Everyday Life, Jack D. Douglas, ed., Chicago, Aldine, pp. 287-303.

## APPENDICES



;

1

•

314

. 4

APPENDIX I

A SERPENT-HANDLING LEXICON



•

#### APPENDIX 1

## A SERPENT-HANDLING LEXICON

Throughout this thesis I have included a number of terms and phrases used by saints. The meanings of the more important items are provided in this brief lexicon.

- Amen Corner--This refers to the right hand corner of the church, adjacent to the pulpit. A bench and chairs are placed here for preachers to sit in during church services. The name is derived from the fact that preachers often shout out "amen" during spirited sermons and testimonies. (see diagram)
- Anointing--This refers to the power of God that is received by members to perform supernatural signs of holiness, such as serpent-handling, to aid in the ministry of the church, and to aid saints in daily life. Power, victory, anointing power, in the spirit, got the spirit, (Holy Ghost), are used as equivalent expressions of possessing anointing or being anointed.
- Backslide-- This means to revert back to a life of sin, after one has been converted.
- Brother--A term of reference and address in the church. This referent may apply to male saints, Christians, members, or friends of the church. (I was referred to as Brother Jimmy. . .) Conversely, Sister is a term of reference and address applicable to females in the church (members, Christians, friends of the church, etc.).
- Carnal mind--This refers to thinking or reasoning that is not inspired by spiritual concerns. This referent is contrasted with spiritual mind, or thinking that is inspired by God or motivated by religious concerns.

Christian-- Is often used as synonymous with serpent-handling saint (or perhaps other fundamentalist). Term usually not applied to members of mainline protestant denominations. The implication here is that Christian is a state that is maintained through performance rather than mere membership.

- <u>Converted</u>-- Refers to the process whereby sinners are transformed into saints or Christians. One can speak of the <u>conversion experience</u>, which implies the experiential aspects discussed in this study.
- Evangelist -- Preachers in the church whose ministry includes travelling to various congregations to hold revivals or to preach.
- Footwashing--Refers to rite in the church where members of the same sex wash one anothers feet. This is done to instill humility and to re-enact the Last Supper where foot washing is said to have taken place.
- Free Love-- An orientation within some serpent-handling congregations that posits that members who are in the Spirit will not lust in the carnal mind. Consequently, brothers and sisters kiss one another during services, embrace, and dance together in the Spirit. Embracing, kissing, or dancing in the Spirit (with one of the opposite sex) is strictly prohibited at The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name.
- Hedge--Members believe that when they receive the anointing power they are surrounded by a protective hedge. As long as the hedge remains, it is felt that injury will not occur.
- Holy Kiss-- Male members greet one another by hugging and kissing on the neck.
- Jesus Name (Jesus Only) -- Jesus Name congregations (derogatorily known as Jesus Only) baptize, and end prayers in "the name of Jesus" rather than in the name of the Trinity. Members of The Holiness Church Of God In Jesus Name believe that the name of Jesus encompasses the rest of the Trinity. See Trinitarian.
- Laying on of hands--Refers to members placing their hands on the head and shoulders of sick saints who are being prayed for.

317

N 318

- Lord's Supper--A Communion rite that consists of brothers' breaking unleavened bread together, and consuming a small quantity of pure grape wine. This usually accompanies foot washing.
- Mourner's Bench--The bench or chairs at the foot of the pulpit. The name is derived from the fact that repentant sinners usually pray for forgiveness with their heads resting on this bench. (See diagram)
- <u>Preacher</u>-- A male in the church who has gone through an informal ordination ceremony, received a credential card, and who is recognized as capable of proclaiming the Gospel (preaching).
- Saint--One who has been "born again" through the conversion experience and baptism (of water and of the Spirit), and who lives a Holiness lifestyle. Can refer to either male or female, but is often used as equivalent to "apostle" (saints and apostles). In this sense, it is a referent pertaining to males. Saints may be contrasted to "sinners" or, those who are not saved (who have not been converted, baptized, and who do not live a Holiness lifestyle).
- Saved--This refers to a person's soul. Saved indicates that the soul has gained eternal reward in heaven. This contrasts with damned, or earning a place in hell. Saved, as used by some, (can also refer to the saint's condition after repenting and "living right". Thus, one might ask, "have you been saved"?, the implication being that repentance and "living right" will insure salvation.
- Signs-- This refers to the "five signs" that Mark 16:15-18 specifies as following believers. A sign is a manifestation of God's power and includes serpenthandling, poison drinking, speaking in tongues, etc. The performance of signs is referred to as working in the signs.
- Testimony--Consists of a short oral recounting (by brothers or sisters) of what the "Lord" has done for them and how the religion has affected them personally. Testifying contrasts with preaching as preaching is restricted to males; "usually more formal, lasts longer, and takes on a didactic or pedagogic function.

í

<u>Trinitarian</u>-Trinitarian congregations baptize in the Name of the Father, Son, and Holy Ghost. The Name of Jesus is not emphasized. This contrasts with Jesus Name congregations.

- Word-- Refers to The Word Of God, which saints conceive as the Bible.
- 319



## APPENDIX II

.

•

# SELECTED SOCIO-ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS, COCKE COUNTY, TENNESSEE (U.S. Census, 1970)

321

,

•

.

_____

## TABLE I

YEARS OF SCHOOL COMPLETED, COCKE COUNTY, (RURAL NON-FARM)

Total, 25 y	ears old and over	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	6,696
No School y	ears completed	•	•	•	•	•.	•	•	•	321
Elementary: 1 to 4 years		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	950
	5 to 7 years'	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	1,372
	8 years	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	1,544
High School: 1 to 3 years		•	•	•	•		••	•	•	885
	4 years	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	1,289
College:	l to 3 years	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	237
	4 years or more	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	98
Median Scho	ool years complete	d =	8.	5						

_____.

## TABLE II

MANUFACTURING IN COCKE COUNTY, TENNESSEE

ufacturing`	4,132	(No. of People
Furniture and lumber and wood products	723	
Metal industries	342	
Machinery, except electrical	83	
Electrical machinery, equipment, and supplies.	464	
Transportation equipment	5	
Other durable goods	232	
Food and kindred products	70 <b>4</b>	
Textiles and fabricated textile products	370	
Printing, publishing, and allied industries	32	
Chemicals and allied products	579	
Other nondurable goods (incl. not specified mfg. industries)	598	

.

 $\overline{\phantom{a}}$ 

323

# TABLE III

# PROFESSIONAL AND WHITE COLLAR EMPLOYMENT,

COCKE COUNTY, 1970

•

Other personal services	233	(No. people)
Entertainment and recreation services	48	
Banking and credit agencies	40	
Communications	19	
Insurance, real estate, and other finance	43	
Hospitals	58	
Health services, except hospitals	45	
Elementary, secondary schools, and colleges- government	530	
Elementary, secondary schools, and colleges- private	35	
Other education and kindred services	13	
Welfare, religious, and non-profit member- ship organizations	62	
Legal, engineering, and miscellaneous professional services	33	
Public administration	161	

 $\bigcirc$ 

## TABLE IV

•

INCOME OF ALL FAMILIES, COCKE COUNTY, 1970

All families										6,641	(No.
ess than \$1,000 .	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	513	
1,000 to \$1,999 .	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	644	
2,000 to \$2,999 .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	525	
3,000 to \$3,999 .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	664	
\$4,000 to \$4,999 .	•		•		•	•	•	•		682	
\$5,000 to \$5,999 .	•	•				•	•		•	669	
\$6,000 to \$6,999 .	•	•	•	•	-	•	•	•	•	755	
\$7,000 to \$7,999 .	•	•	•	•	•	<u>.</u>	•	•	•	497	
\$8,000 to \$8,999 .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	441	
\$9,000 to \$9,999 .	•	•	•		•	•		•		373	
\$10,000 to \$11,999	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	425	
\$12,000 to \$14,999	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	239	
\$15,000 to \$24,999	•	•	•	•	-	•	•	•		186	
\$25,000 to \$49,999	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	12	
\$50,000 or more	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	16	
										` <u>`</u> ``	

VITA VITA NAME: Roy James Birckhead PLACE OF BIRTH: St. Louis, Missouri (USA) YEAR OF BIRTH: 1943

POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION AND DEGREES:

St. Louis University St. Louis, Missouri 1961-1965 B.S.

University of Nebraska Lincoln, Nebraska 1965-1967

University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta 1969-1976 Ph.D.

HONORS AND AWARDS:

Intersession Bursary University of Alberta Summer 1971, 1972, and 1974

Graduate Research Assistantship University of Alberta ,1973-1974

Dissertation Fellowship University of Alberta 1974-1975

Travel Grant University of Alberta Spring 1976

#### RELATED WORK EXPERIENCE:

Teaching Assistant Department of Geography University of Nebraska 1965-1967 ÷

Instructor Department of Earth Sciences Tennessee Technological University Cookeville, Tennessee 1967-1969

Teaching Assistant Department of Anthropology University of Alberta 1970-1973

Instructor Department of Extension University of Alberta Spring 1974

Sessional Lecturer Department of Anthropology University of Alberta 1975-1976

Lecturer In Anthroplolgy Goulburn College of Advanced Education Goulburn, N.S.W., Australia 1976-

#### PAPERS READ:

3

.

- (1) "'God's Not Dead, He Is Still Alive'--A Study of 'Reality Management' In A Southern Appalachian Serpent-Handling Church", American Anthropological Association Meetings, Mexico City, 1974.
- (2) "'Sign' And Symbol In A Southern Appalachian Serpent-Handling 'Community'", American Anthropological Association Meetings, San Francisco, 1975.
- (3) "'Power' And Everyday Life In A Southern Appalachian Serpent-Handling 'Community'", Southern Anthropological Society Meetings, Atlanta, 1976.